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SKIN O’ MY TOOTH”

I. THE MURDER IN SALTASHE WOODS

I

The nickname stuck to him. To his friends, who, though 
few, were loyal, to his detractors, who were many, to the 
upper and underworld of crime, the eminent lawyer, Mr. 
Patrick Mulligan, my chief, was known as “Skin o’ my 
Tooth.” How the nickname originated no one knew, not 
even I, his confidant and faithful clerk for over thirty years. 
Some say that Lord Mallory was its lucky inventor, when 
the chief got a verdict of “Not guilty” for him in that 
ticklish forgery case. It was literally by the skin of his teeth 
that Lord Mallory escaped seven years’ penal that time, 
which, in my humble opinion, he fully deserved.

Of course, the public attributed this sensational verdict 
to the eloquence of Sir Arthur Inglewood, K. C., but I know 
well enough that neither eloquence nor a famous man would 
have saved Lord Mallory but for the marvellous intuition 
with which Mr. Mulligan had collected evidence for the 
defence. And that is where, in my opinion, his detractors 
are so terribly unfair. I dare say you have heard it said 
that such work as Patrick Mulligan does is more fitted to a 
Sherlock Holmes than to a member of so dignified a pro­
fession as the law, and that because of it Skin o’ my Tooth 
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has been almost ostracised by most of his colleagues; but 
my contention is that it is a lawyer’s business to get his 
client out of any mess he may have tumbled into, and if 
professional detectives have failed to collect sufficient evi­
dence to attain this end, and the lawyer happens to possess 
exceptional gifts of acumen and intuition, it would be 
criminal on his part not to exercise those gifts on his client’s 
behalf

Funny-looking man, too, old Skin o’ my Tooth—fat and 
rosy and comfortable as an Irish pig, with a face as stodgy 
as a boiled currant dumpling. His hair, I believe, would be 
red if he gave it a chance at all, but he wears it cropped 
so close to his bulky head that he looks bald in some lights. 
Then we all know that gentle smile of his and that trick of 
casting down his eyes, which gives him a look which is best 
described by the word “coy”; that trick is always a danger 
signal to the other side.

Now take the case of Edward Kelly. Everyone will 
admit that that young man came nearer being hanged for 
murder than any of us would care for.

But this is how it all happened.
On Tuesday, September 3rd, Mary Mills and John 

Craddock—who were walking through the Saltashe Woods 
—came across the body of a man lying near the pond, in 
a pool of blood. Mary, of course, screamed, and would 
have fled; but John, manfully conquering the feeling of sick­
ness which threatened to overcome him too, went up to the 
body to get a closer view of the face. To his horror he 
recognised Mr. Jeremiah Whadcoat, a well-known, respectable 
resident of Pashet. The unfortunate man seemed to John 
Craddock to be quite dead; still, he thought it best to 
despatch Mary at once for Dr. Howden, and also to the 
police station; whilst he, with really commendable courage, 
elected to remain beside the body alone.
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It appears that about half an hour after Mary had left 

him John thought that he detected a slight movement in 
the rigid body, which he had propped up against his knee, and 
that the wounded man uttered a scarcely audible sigh and 
then murmured a few words. The young man bent forward 
eagerly, striving with all his might to catch what these 
words might be. According to his subsequent evidence 
before the coroner’s jury, Mr. Whadcoat then opened his 
eyes and murmured quite distinctly:

“The letter . . . Kelly . . . Edward . . . the other.” 
After that all seemed over, for the face became more rigid 
and more ashen in colour than before.

It was past six o’clock before the doctor and the in­
spector, with two constables and a stretcher from Pashet 
police station, appeared upon the scene and relieved John 
Craddock of his lonely watch. Mr. Whadcoat had not spoken 
again, and the doctor pronounced life to be extinct. The 
body was quietly removed to Mr. Whadcoat’s house in 
Pashet, Mary Mills having already volunteered for the pain­
ful task of breaking the news to Miss Amelia, Mr. Whadcoat’s 
sister, who lived with him.

The unfortunate man was cashier to Messrs. Kelly 
and Co., the great wine merchants; so Mr.Kelly, of Saltashe 
Park, also Mr. Edward Kelly, of Wood Cottage, were ap­
prised of the sad event.

At this stage the tragic affair seemed wrapped in the 
most profound mystery. Mr. Jeremiah Whadcoat was not 
known to possess a single enemy, and he certainly was not 
sufficiently endowed with worldly wealth to tempt the high­
way robber. So far the police had found nothing on the 
scene of the crime which could lead to a clue—footsteps 
of every shape and size leading in every direction, a few 
empty cartridges here and there; all of which meant nothing, 
since Saltashe Woods are full of game, and both Mr. Kelly 
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and Mr. Edward Kelly had had shooting parties within the 
last few days.

The public understood that permission had been ob­
tained from Mr. Kelly to drag the pond, and, not knowing 
what to think or fear, it awaited the day of the inquest 
with eager excitement.

I believe that that inquest was one of the most memor­
able in the annals of a coroner’s court. There was a large 
crowd, of course, for the little town of Pashet was a mass of 
seething curiosity.

The expert evidence of Dr. Howden, assisted by the 
divisional surgeon, was certainly very curious. Both learned 
gentlemen gave it as their opinion that deceased met his- 
death through the discharge of small shot fired from a gun 
at a distance of not more than a couple of yards. All the 
shot had lodged close together in the heart, and the flesh 
round the wound was slightly charred.

The police, on the other hand, had quite a titbit of 
sensation ready for the eager public. They had dragged 
the pond and had found the carcass of a dog. The beast 
had evidently been shot with the same gun which had ended 
poor Mr. Whadcoat’s days, the divisional surgeon, who had 
examined the carcass, having pronounced the wound—which 
was in the side—to be exactly similar in character. A final 
blow dealt on the animal’s head with the butt-end of the 
gun, however, had been the ultimate cause of its death. As 
the medical officer gave this sensational bit of evidence, a 
sudden and dead silence fell over all in that crowded court, 
for it had leaked out earlier in the day that the dead dog 
found in the pond was “Rags,” Mr. Edward Kelly’s well- 
known black retriever.

In the midst of that silence Miss Amelia Whadcoat— 
the sister of the deceased gentleman — stepped forward, 
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dressed in deep black, and holding a letter, which she 
handed to the coroner.

“ It came under cover, addressed to me,” she explained, 
“on the Tuesday evening.”

The coroner, half in hesitation, turned the square en­
velope between his fingers. At last he read aloud:

“To the coroner and jury at the inquest, should a fatal 
accident occur to me this (Tuesday) afternoon in Saltashe 
Wood.”

Then he tore open the envelope and cast a rapid glance 
over the contents of the letter. Immediately everyone noticed 
the look of boundless astonishment which spread over his 
face. There was a moment of breathless, silent expectation 
among the crowd, while Miss Amelia stood quietly with her 
hands demurely folded over her gingham umbrella, and her 
swollen eyes fixed anxiously upon that letter.

At last the coroner, turning to the jury, said:
“Gentlemen, this letter is addressed to you as well as 

to myself. I am, therefore, bound to acquaint you with its 
contents; but I must, of course, warn you not to allow your 
minds to be unduly influenced, however strange these few 
words may seem to you. The letter is dated from Ivy 
Lodge, Pashet, Tuesday, September 3rd, and signed ‘Jere­
miah Whadcoat.’ It says: ‘Mr. Coroner and Gentlemen of 
the Jury, I beg to inform you that on this day, at 2.30 
p.m., I am starting to walk to Saltashe, there to see Mr. 
Kerhoet and Mr. Kelly on important business. Mr. Edward 
Kelly has desired me to meet him by the pond in Saltashe 
Woods, on my way. He knows of the business which takes 
me to Saltashe. He and I had a violent quarrel at the 
office on the subject last night, and he has every reason for 
wishing that I should never speak of it to Mr. Kelly and to 
Mr. Kerhoet. Last night he threatened to knock me down-
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If any serious accident happens to me, let Mr. Edward 
Kelly account for his actions.”

A deadly silence followed, and then a muttered curse 
from somewhere among the crowd.

“This is damnable!”
And Mr. Edward Kelly, young, good looking, but, at this 

moment, as pale as death, pushed his way forward among 
the spectators.

He wanted to speak, but the coroner waved him aside 
in his most official manner, while Miss Amelia Whadcoat 
demurely concluded her evidence. Personally she knew 
nothing of her brother’s quarrel with Mr. Edward Kelly. 
She did not even know that he was going to Saltashe Woods 
on that fatal afternoon. Then she retired, and Mr. Edward 
Kelly was called.

Questioned by the coroner, he admitted the quarrel 
spoken of by the deceased, admitted meeting him by the 
pond in Saltashe Woods, but emphatically denied having 
the slightest ill-feeling against “old Whadcoat,” as he called 
him, and, above all, having the faintest desire for wishing 
to silence him for ever.

“The whole thing is a ghastly mistake or a weird joke,” 
he declared firmly.

“But the quarrel?” persisted the coroner.
“I don’t deny it,” retorted the young man. “It was the 

result of a preposterous accusation old Whadcoat saw fit 
to level against me.”

“But why should you meet him clandestinely in the 
woods?”

“It was not a clandestine meeting. I knew that he in­
tended walking to Saltashe from Pashet through the woods; 
a road from my house cuts the direction which he would 
be bound to follow exactly at right angles. I wished to 
speak to him, and it saved me a journey all the way to
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Pashet, or him one down to my house. I met him at halt- 
past three. We had about fifteen minutes’ talk; then I left 
him and went back home.”

“What was he doing when you left him?” asked the 
coroner, with distinct sarcasm.

“He had sat down on a tree stump and was smoking 
his pipe.”

“You had your gun with you, of course, on this ex­
pedition through the woods?”

“I seldom go out without my gun this time of year.”
“Quite so,” assented the coroner grimly. “But what 

about your dog, who was found with its head battered in, 
close to the very spot where lay the body of the deceased?”

“Poor old ‘Rags’ strayed away that morning. I did 
not see him at all that day. He certainly was not with me 
when I went to meet old Whadcoat.”

The rapidly spoken questions and answers had been 
listened to by the public and the jury with breathless in­
terest. No one uttered a sound, but all were watching that 
handsome young man, who seemed, with every word he 
uttered, to incriminate himself more and more. The quarrel, 
the assignation, the gun he was carrying—he denied nothing; 
but he did protest his innocence with all his might.

One or two people had heard the report of a gun whilst 
walking on one or other of the roads that skirt Saltashe 
Woods, but their evidence as to the precise hour was un­
fortunately rather vague. Reports of guns in Saltashe Woods 
were very frequent, and no one had taken particular notice. 
On the other hand, the only witness who had seen Mr. Ed­
ward Kelly entering the wood was not ready to swear 
whether he had his dog wdth him or not.

Though it had been fully expected ever since Jeremiah 
Whadcoat’s posthumous epistle had been read, the verdict 
of “Wilful murder against Edward St. John Kelly” found 
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the whole population of Pashet positively aghast. Brother 
of Mr. Kelly, of Saltashe Park, the accused was one of the 
most popular figures in this part of Hertfordshire. When 
his subsequent arrest on the coroner’s warrant became gen­
erally known in London, as well as in his own county, 
horror, amazement, and incredulity were quite universal.

II

The day after that memorable inquest and sensational 
arrest—namely, on the Saturday, I arrived at our dingy old 
office in Finsbury Square at about twelve o’clock, after I had 
seen to some business at Somerset House for my esteemed 
employer.

I found Skin 0’ my Tooth curled up in his armchair 
before a small fire—as the day was wet and cold—just 
like a great fat and frowsy dog. He waited until I had 
given him a full report of what I had been doing, then he 
said to me:

“I have just had a visit from Mr. Kelly, of Saltashe Park.” 
I was not astonished. That case of murder in the Salt­

ashe Woods was just one of those which inevitably drifted 
into the hands of Skin 0’ my Tooth. Though the whole 
aspect of it was remarkably clear, instinctively one scented 
a mystery somewhere.

“I suppose, sir, that it was on Mr. Edward Kelly’s 
behalf?”

“Your penetration, Muggins, my boy, surpasses human 
understanding.”

(My name is Alexander Stanislaus Mullins, but Skin 0’ 
my Tooth will have his little joke.)

“You are going to undertake the case, sir?”
“I am going to get Edward Kelly out of the hole his 

own stupidity has placed him in.”
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“It will be by the skin of his teeth if you do, sir; the 
evidence against him is positively crushing,” I muttered.

“A miss is as good as a mile, where the hangman’s 
rope is concerned, Muggins. But you had better let Stanley 
know at once; we can go down to Pashet this afternoon. 
Mr. Kelly has formally entrusted me with his brother’s 
defence. I shall have to see Edward Kelly immediately, 
and I must get out of him the history of his quarrel with 
the murdered man.”

“Mr. Kelly did not know it?”
“Well, anyway, he seemed to think it best that the 

accused should tell me his own version of it. In any case, 
both Mr. Kelly and his wife are devoured with anxiety 
about this brother, who seems to have been a bit of a 
scapegrace all his life.”

There was no time to say more then, as Stanley, the 
chauffeur, with the car was ordered for one o’clock, and it 
was an hour’s run to Pashet. Edward Kelly had been told 
of our likely visit by his brother. He certainly looked ter­
ribly ill and like a man overweighted by fate and circum­
stances.

But he did protest his innocence, loudly and em­
phatically.

“I am the victim of the most damnable circumstances, 
Mr. Mulligan,” he said; “but I swear to you that I am in­
capable of such a horrible deed.”

“ I always take it for granted, Mr. Kelly,” said Skin o’ 
my Tooth blandly, “that my client is innocent. If the re­
verse is the case, I prefer not to know it. But you have 
to appear before the magistrate on Monday. I must get a 
certain amount of evidence on your behalf, in order to 
obtain the remand I want. So will you try and tell me, 
as concisely and as clearly as possible, what passed between 
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you and Mr. Whadcoat the day before the murder? I under­
stand that there was a quarrel.”

“Old Whadcoat saw fit to accuse me of certain defalca­
tions in the firm’s banking account, of which I was totally 
innocent,” began Mr. Edward Kelly quietly. “As you know, 
my brother and I are agents in England for M. de Kerhoet’s 
champagne. Whadcoat was our cashier and book-keeper. 
Twice a year we pay over into M. de Kerhoet’s bank in 
Paris the money derived from the sale of his wines, after 
deducting our commission. In the meanwhile, we have, 
jointly, the full control of the money—that is to say, all 
cheques paid to the firm have to be endorsed by us both, 
and all cheques drawn on the firm must bear both our 
signatures.

“It was just a month before the half-yearly settlement 
of accounts. Whadcoat, it appears, went down to the bank, 
got the pass-book, and cancelled cheques, and discovered 
that some £10,000, the whole of the credit balance due 
next month to M. de Kerhoet, had been drawn out of the 
bank, the amount not having been debited in the books.

“To my intense astonishment, he showed me these 
cheques, and then and there accused me of having forged 
my brother’s name and appropriated the firm’s money to 
my own use. You see, he knew of certain unavowed extra­
vagances of mine which had often landed me in financial 
difficulties more or less serious, and which are the real 
cause of my being forced to live in Wood Cottage whilst 
my brother can keep up a fine establishment at Saltashe 
Park. But the accusation was preposterous, and I was 
furious with him. I looked at the cheques. My signature 
certainly was perfectly imitated, that of my brother perhaps 
a little less so. They were ‘bearer’ cheques made out in 
replica of old Whadcoat’s handwriting to ‘E. de Kerhoet/ 
and endorsed at the back in a small, pointed, foreign hand.
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“Old Whadcoat persisted in his accusations, and very 

high words ensued between us. I believe I did threaten 
to knock him down if he did not shut up. Anyway, he 
told me that he would go over the next afternoon to Saltashe 
Park to expose me before my brother and M. de Kerhoet, 
who was staying there on a visit to England for the shooting.

“I left him then, meaning to go myself that same even­
ing to Saltashe Park and see my brother about it; but on 
my journey home certain curious suspicions with regard to 
old Whadcoat himself crept up in my mind, and then and 
there I determined to try and see him again and to talk 
the matter over more dispassionately with him, in what I 
thought would be his own interests. My intention was to 
make, of course, my brother acquainted with the whole 
matter at once, but to leave M. de Kerhoet out of the 
question for the present; so I telephoned to Whadcoat in 
the morning to make the assignation which has proved 
such a terrible mistake.”

Edward Kelly added that he left Jeremiah Whadcoat, 
after his interview with him, by the pond, in as excited a 
frame of mind as before. Fearing that his own handwriting 
on the cheques might entail serious consequences to him­
self, nothing would do but M. de Kerhoet as well as Mr. 
Kelly must be told of the whole thing immediately.

“When I left him,” concluded the young man, “he was 
sitting on a tree stump by the pond, smoking his pipe, and 
I walked away towards Wood Cottage.”

“Do you know what became of the cheques?” asked 
Skin 0’ my Tooth.

“Old Whadcoat had them in his pocket when I left 
him. I conclude, as there has been no mention of them 
by the police, that they have not been found.”

There was so much simplicity and straightforwardness 
in Edward Kelly’s nag^tiv^-lbat I, for one, was ready to

** Skin 0’ my Tooth " 2 
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believe every word of it. But Skin o’ my Tooth’s face was 
inscrutable. He sat in a low chair with his hands folded 
before him, his eyes shut, and a general air of polite im­
becility about his whole unwieldy person. I could see that 
our client was viewing him with a certain amount of irri­
tability.

“Well, Mr. Mulligan?” he said at last, with nervous 
impatience.

“Well, sir,” replied Skin o’ my Tooth, “it strikes me 
that what with your quarrel with the deceased, the assigna­
tion in the woods, posthumous denunciation of you as his 
assassin, and his dying words, we have about as complete 
a case as we could wish.”

“Sir------ ”
“In all cases of this sort, my dear sir,” continued Skin 

o’ my Tooth quietly, “the great thing is to keep absolutely 
cool. If you are innocent—remember, I do not doubt it 
for a moment—then I will bring that crime home to its 
perpetrator. Justice never miscarries—at least, when I have 
the guidance of it in my hands.”

It would be impossible to render the tone of supreme 
conceit with which Skin o’ my Tooth made this last asser­
tion; but it had the desired effect, for Edward Kelly 
brightened up visibly as he said:

“I have implicit faith in you, Mr. Mulligan. When shall 
I see you again?”

“On Monday, before the magistrate. I can get that 
remand for you, I think, and then we shall have a free 
hand. Now we had better get along; I want to have a 
quiet think over this affair.”
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III

On the Monday, Edward Kelly was formally charged 
before the local magistrates; and I must say that when I 
then heard the formidable array of circumstantial evidence 
which the police had collected against our client, I sadly 
began to fear that not even by the skin of his teeth would 
Edward Kelly escape from the awful hole in which he was 
literally wallowing. However, Skin o’ my Tooth hammered 
away at the police evidence with regard to the dog. The 
prosecution made a great point of the fact that Mr. Whad- 
coat and “Rags” had been killed by the same gun and at 
the same time and place, and the one point in Edward 
Kelly’s favour was, that neither his servants at Wood Cottage 
nor the witness who saw him enter the wood could swear 
that the dog was with him on that day. On the strength 
of that, and for the purpose of collecting further evidence 
with regard to the dog, Skin o’ my Tooth finally succeeded 
in obtaining a remand until the following Friday.

Personally, I thought there was quite sufficient evidence 
for the magistrates to commit the wretched man for trial 
without the testimony of the dead dog, but I am quite 
aware that my opinion counts for very little.

“Now, Muggins,” said Skin o’ my Tooth to me later in 
the day, “the fun is about to begin. You go down to 
Coutts’s this afternoon and find out all about those cheques 
which caused the quarrel and by whom they were presented. 
Don’t mix the police up in our affairs, whatever you do. If 
there is anything you can’t manage, get Fairburn to help 
you; he is discretion itself and hates the regular force. 
Beyond that, try and work alone.”

I had done more difficult jobs than that before now, 
and Skin o’ my Tooth knows that he can rely on me. I 
left him curled up in an armchair with a French novel in 

2* 
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his hand and started on my quest. I got to Coutts’s just 
before closing time, saw the chief cashier and explained 
my errand and its importance to him, asking for his kind 
help in the matter. He was courteous in the extreme, and 
within a few moments I had ascertained from him that 
cheques on Kelly and Co.’s account perfectly en règle, and 
made out to “E. de Kerhoet, or Bearer,” had been cashed 
on certain dates which he gave me. They were in each 
instance presented by a commissionaire in uniform, who 
brought a card—“M. Edouard de Kerhoet,” with “Please 
give bearer amount in £ 5 notes,” scribbled in pencil in the 
same handwriting as the endorsement on the cheques.

“The amounts varied between£1,200 and £3,000,” con­
tinued the cashier, still referring to his book. “Being 
‘bearer’ cheques, and signed in the usual manner, we had 
no occasion to doubt them, and, of course, we cashed them. 
The first cheque was drawn on July 3rd, and the last on 
August 29th.”

The cashier added one more detail which fairly stag­
gered me—namely, that the commissionaire wore a cap 
with “Kelly and Co.” embroidered upon it. If necessary, 
there were plenty of cashiers and clerks at the bank who 
could identify him. He was a tall man of marked foreign 
appearance, with heavy black hair, beard, and moustache 
cut very trim. On one occasion when he left he dropped 
a bit of paper which contained the name, “Van Wort, Turf 
Commission Agent, Flushing, Holland.”

I thanked the cashier and took my leave.
When I got back to the office I found Skin 0’ my Tooth 

placidly sleeping in his big armchair. I had had a hard 
day and was dead tired, and for the moment when I saw 
him there, looking so fat, so pink, and so comfortable, well 
—I have a great respect for him, but I really felt quite 
angry.
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However, I told him what I had done.
“Capital, capital, Muggins!” he ejaculated languidly. 

“But, by Jove, that’s a clever rascal. That touch about the 
name on the cap is peculiarly happy and daring. It com­
pletely allayed the suspicions of the cashiers at Coutts’s. 
Now, listen, Muggins,” he added, with that sudden, quick­
changing mood of his which in a moment transformed him 
from the lazy, apathetic Irish lawyer into the weird human 
bloodhound who scents the track. “That foreign commis­
sionaire is a disguise, of course; the cap hides the edge of 
the wig and shades the brow, the black beard and mous­
tache conceal the mouth and chin, the foreign accent dis­
guises the voice. We may take it, therefore, that the thief 
and his ambassador are one and the same person—a man, 
moreover, well known at Coutts’s, since disguise was neces­
sary. Do you follow me, Muggins? And remember, the 
motive is there. The man who defrauded Kelly and Co. 
is the same who murdered Whadcoat later on. Whadcoat 
was effectually silenced, the tell-tale cheques have evidently 
been destroyed. There would have been silence and mystery 
over the whole scandal until the defalcations could be made 
good but for Whadcoat’s letter to the coroner and his dying 
words: ‘The letter . . . Kelly . .. Edward . . . the other . . ?” 
He paused suddenly and seemed lost in thought, then he 
muttered :

“It’s that confounded dog I can’t quite make out! . . . 
Did Edward Kelly, after all . . .”

It was that great “after all!” which had puzzled me all 
along. “Was Edward Kelly guilty, after all?” I had asked 
myself that question a hundred times a day. Then, as I 
was silent—lost in conjectures over this extraordinary seem­
ingly impenetrable mystery—he suddenly jumped up and 
shouted :

“By Jove! I’ve got it, Muggins! ‘The other.’ What 
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a fool I have been! Go to bed, my boy; I want a rest, 
too. To-morrow will be time enough to think about ‘the 
other.’ ”

IV

From that moment Skin o’ my Tooth was a transformed 
being. He always is when he has a case “well in hand,” 
as he calls it. He certainly possesses a weird faculty for 
following up the trail of blood. Once he holds what he 
believes to be a clue his whole appearance changes; his 
great, fat body seems, as it were, to crouch together ready 
for a spring, and there is a weird quiver about his nostrils 
which palpably suggests the bloodhound; only his eyes 
remain inscrutably hidden beneath their thick and fleshy lids.

It was twelve o’clock the next day when we arrived at 
Saltashe Park, the lordly country seat of Mr. Kelly.

At the door, Skin o’ my Tooth asked for the master of 
the house; but hearing that he was out, he requested that 
his card might be taken in to Mrs. Kelly. The next mo­
ment we were ushered into a luxuriously furnished library, 
full of books and flowers, and with deep mullioned windows 
opening out upon a Queen Anne terrace.

The mistress of the house—an exceedingly beautiful 
woman—received us with every mark of eagerness and 
cordiality.

She welcomed us—or rather, my esteemed employer— 
most effusively; and when we were all seated, she asked 
many questions about Mr. Edward Kelly, to which Skin o’ 
my Tooth replied as often as she allowed him to get a 
word in.

“Oh, Mr. Mulligan,” she said finally, “I am so glad that 
you asked to see me. I have been positively ill and de­
voured with anxiety about my brother-in-law. My husband 
thinks that I upset myself and only get hopelessly wretched 
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if I read about it all in the papers, so he won’t allow me 
to see one now; but, I assure you, the uncertainty is killing 
me, as I feel sure that Mr. Kelly is trying to comfort me 
and to make Edward’s case appear more hopeful than 
it is.”

Skin o’ my Tooth gravely shook his head.
“It could not very well be more hopeless,” he said.
“You can’t mean that,” she said, while tears gathered 

in her eyes. “He is innocent, Mr. Mulligan. I swear he is 
innocent. You don’t know him. He never would do any­
thing so vile.”

“I quite believe that, my dear lady; but unfortunately 
circumstances are terribly against him. Even his dead dog, 
‘Rags,’ speaks in dumb eloquence in his master’s con­
demnation.”

“Rags!” she exclaimed in astonishment—“what can 
the poor doggie have to do with this awful tragedy? Poor 
old thing! it lost its way the very morning that the terrible 
catastrophe occurred. M. de Kerhoet was staying here all 
day, and I had taken him for a run in the car before 
luncheon. On the way home I saw ‘Rags’ in the road, 
looking very sorry for himself. I took him in the car with 
me and brought him home.”

Skin o’ my Tooth looked politely interested, but I hardly 
liked to breathe; it seemed to me that a fellow-creature’s 
life was even now hanging in the balance.

“‘Rags’ knew us all here just as well as it did its own 
master,” continued Mrs. Kelly; “and when my husband 
went out with his gun in the afternoon, ‘Rags’ followed 
him, whilst M. de Kerhoet and I went on to a garden 
party.”

“And what happened to ‘Rags’ after that?” asked Skin 
o’ my Tooth.

“To tell you the truth, the awful tragedy I heard of 
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that afternoon drove poor ‘Rags’ out of my mind; then the 
next day I am thankful to say, M. de Kerhoet left us and 
went back to Paris. I did hear something about the poor 
dog being drowned in the pond; he was a shocking rover, 
and really more trouble than pleasure to his master.”

Mrs. Kelly was sitting with her back to the great mul- 
lioned windows; she could not, therefore, see her husband 
who seemed to have just walked across the terrace and to 
have paused a moment with his hand on the open window, 
before entering the room. Whether he had heard what his 
wife was saying, I did not know; certain it is that his face 
looked very white and set.

“I remember now,” continued Mrs. Kelly innocently, 
“seeing my husband put away ‘Rags” collar the other day 
in his bureau. I dare say Edward will be glad to have it 
later on, when all this horrid business is over. You must 
tell him that we have got it quite safe.”

I all but uttered an exclamation then. It seemed too 
horrible to hear this young wife so hopelessly and inno­
cently denouncing her own husband with every word she 
uttered. I looked up at the motionless figure still standing 
at the window. Skin o’ my Tooth, who sat immediately 
facing it, seemed to make an almost imperceptible sign of 
warning. Mr. Kelly then retired as silently as he had 
come.

Two minutes later he entered the room by the door. 
He seemed absolutely calm and collected, and held out his 
hand to Skin o’ my Tooth, who took it without the slightest 
hesitation; then Mr. Kelly turned to his wife and said 
quietly :

“You will forgive me, won’t you, dear, if I take Mr. 
Mulligan into my study? There are one or two points I 
want to discuss with him over a cigar.”

“Oh! I’ll run away,” she said gaily. “I must dress 
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for luncheon. You’ll stay, won’t you, Mr. Mulligan? No? 
I am so sorry! Well, good-bye; and mind you bring better 
news next time.”

She was gone, and we three men were left alone. I 
offered to leave the room, but Mr. Kelly motioned me 
to stay.

“The servants would wonder,” he said icily, “and it 
really does not matter.”

Then he turned to Skin o’ my Tooth and said quietly:
“I suppose that you came here to-day for the express 

purpose of setting a trap for my wife; and she fell into it, 
poor soul ! not knowing that she was damning her own hus­
band. Of course, you did your duty by your client. Now, 
what is your next move?”

“To place Mrs. Kelly in the witness-box on my client’s 
behalf, and make her repeat the story she told us to-day,” 
replied Skin 0’ my Tooth with equal calm.

“And after that?”
“After that you must look to yourself, Mr. Kelly. I am 

not a detective, and you know best whether you have any­
thing to fear when once the attention of the police is directed 
upon yourself. I shall obtain Mr. Edward Kelly’s discharge 
to-morrow, of course. Backed by Mrs. Kelly’s testimony, 
and, if need be, that of Mr. Kerhoet in Paris, I can now 
prove that the dog could not have been shot by my client, 
as it was following you on the afternoon that the murder 
was committed. Since the chief point in the theory of the 
prosecution lies in the fact that Mr. Whadcoat and the dog 
were shot on the same day and with the same gun, and 
seeing that the animal’s collar was known to be in your 
possession the day following the crime, my client is ab­
solutely sure to obtain a full discharge and to be allowed 
to leave the court without a stain upon his character.”

Mr. Kelly had listened to Skin o’ my Tooth’s quiet ex­
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planation without betraying the slightest emotion; then 
he said:

“Thank you, Mr. Mulligan. I think I quite understand 
the situation. Personally, I feel that it is entirely for the 
best; life under certain conditions becomes abominable tor­
ture, and I have no strength left with which to combat fate. 
I did kill old Whadcoat in a moment of unreasoning fear, 
just as I killed ‘Rags’ because he made too much noise; 
but, by Heaven! I had no intention to kill the old man, 
and I certainly would never have allowed my brother to 
suffer seriously under an unjust accusation. I firmly be­
lieved that justice could not miscarry; and while I thought 
that you were sharp enough to save him, I also reckoned that 
I had been clever enough to shield myself from every side.”

He paused a moment and then continued, just like a 
man who for a long time has been burdened with a secret 
and is suddenly made almost happy by confiding it to a 
stranger.

“I had had many losses on the Turf,” he said, “and 
had made my losses good by defrauding our firm. It was 
a long and laborious plan, very carefully laid; I was always 
clever with my pen, and my brother’s signature and Whad- 
coat’s writing were easy enough to imitate. Then, one day, 
I found an old uniform in the cellar at the office—my 
father used to keep a commissionaire when he had the 
business. It was about my size and gave me the idea for 
the disguise. It all worked right, and I knew that I could 
make my defalcations good at the bank very soon. It was 
a positive thunderbolt to me when, on the Tuesday morning, 
I received a letter from Old Whadcoat, telling me that he 
was coming over to Saltashe that afternoon to see M. de 
Kerhoet and myself about a terrible discovery which he 
had just made. I knew that he would walk through the 
woods, and I found him sitting near the pond, smoking, 
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alone. I only meant to persuade him to hold his tongue 
and say nothing to M. de Kerhoet for the present. But he 
was obstinate; he guessed that I was guilty; he threatened 
me with disclosure, like the fool he was, and I had to kill 
him . . . in self-defence.”

Somehow, although he undoubtedly was a great criminal, 
I could not help sympathising with this man. The beautiful 
house we were in, all the luxury and comfort with which 
he was outwardly surrounded, seemed such terrible mockery 
beside the moral torture he must have endured. I was 
quite glad when he had finished speaking, and Skin 0’ my 
Tooth was able presently to take his leave.

Only a few hours later the evening papers were full of 
the sensational suicide of Mr. Kelly in his library at Saltashe 
Park. Almost at the same time that this astonishing news 
was published in the Press, the chief county magistrate, 
Lord Playford, had received a written confession, signed 
by Mr. Kelly, in which he confessed to having caused the 
death of Mr. Jeremiah Whadcoat in Saltashe Woods, by 
the accidental discharge of his gun.

A little frightened at first of any complications that 
might arise, he had said nothing about the accident at the 
time; then, when his own brother became implicated in the 
tragedy, and he felt how terrible his own position would 
be if he now made a tardy confession, the matter began 
to prey upon his mind until it became so unhinged that 
he sought in death solace from his mental agony.

“That man was a genius,” was Skin 0’ my Tooth’s 
comment upon this confession. “Strange that he should 
have lost his nerve at the last, for I feel sure that the 
crime would never have been brought absolutely home to 
him; at any rate, I could always have got him off. What 
do you think, Muggins?”

And I quite agreed with Skin o’ my Tooth.
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II. THE CASE OF THE SICILIAN PRINCE

I

I doubt whether full credit was given to Skin o’ my 
Tooth for the solution of that mysterious incident in the 
Saltashe Woods, which he—and no one else—brought 
about. Personally, I firmly believe that Kelly, of Saltashe 
Park, would have allowed his brother to hang, sooner than 
confess, if Skin o’ my Tooth had not succeeded in ab­
solutely cornering him. Now, in the case of the Sicilian 
Prince, no one could deny—but perhaps I had better say 
how it all happened.

The Swanborough tragedy was filling all London and 
provincial papers with its gruesome mysteries. Early on 
Tuesday morning, March 18th, the body of a man, shock­
ingly mutilated, was found on the level crossing, just below 
the Swanborough station of the London and North-Western 
Railway. It is always difficult to dwell on the grim details 
which are the usual accompaniment to this type of drama; 
suffice it to say, in this instance, that the body was found 
lying straight along the metals, so that the passing express 
had gone clean over the trunk and face. What mutilation 
the train had left unaccomplished had been completed by 
the sparks from the engine. The face was unrecognisable, 
the hair had been singed, the flesh on hands and neck had 
been charred. The peculiar position of the body, so care­
fully laid down, with the feet pointing towards Swanborough 
station, and the head towards Bletchley, disposed of any 
theory of accident that may at first have suggested itself. 
Moreover, some articles of clothing—a coat and waistcoat 
—were subsequently found lying in a field close by. It 
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was clearly either a case of murder—the unfortunate man 
having, presumably, been rendered unconscious and then 
placed on the metals—or one of deliberate suicide.

The grim tragedy immediately assumed the appearance 
of complete mystery. Though Swanborough is but a tiny, 
straggling village, and this part of Buckinghamshire but 
scantily populated, no one seemed to have missed a re­
lative or friend, or to recognise the clothes that were found 
lying in the field nor those that were upon the mutilated 
body. The police had published a description of these 
clothes and articles, and of the body, as far as this could 
be done. The unfortunate man seemed to be about thirty- 
five years of age, five feet nine inches in height, and of 
slight build. He was evidently in the habit of wearing a 
green silk shade over one eye, for one was found lying on 
the ground quite close to the head; the right forearm 
showed a very recent wound caused by the burning of some 
acid—probably vitriol.

The people of Swanborough, however, in spite of the 
horrible gruesomeness of the tragedy, seemed to take very 
little interest in the elucidation of its mysteries; perhaps, 
too, they had the average English yokel’s horror of having 
anything to do with the police. Be that as it may, it was 
not until the following day that a more enlightened or 
more enterprising villager bethought himself of walking to 
the police station and informing the inspector there that 
“maybe the murdered man was Mrs. Stockton’s lodger.”

It appears that Mrs. Stockton, who rented a small cot­
tage not far from the railway, had had a lodger on and off 
for the past six months. No one in the village had ever 
seen him; if he ever went outside the cottage, he must 
have done so at nights; but young Stockton had sometimes 
talked to the neighbours about his mother’s lodger. He 
was a foreigner, he said, “and no end of a swell,” with a 
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name no decent body could pronounce, as it was about 
half a yard long. He was certainly very odd in his ways, 
for he used to go away quite suddenly and not come home 
for a week or so on end. Mrs. Stockton never knew where 
he went to; and then he would turn up again, mostly in 
the very early mornings.

Life in rural districts is wonderfully self-centred; still, 
the police thought it odd that this tardy information did 
not come from Mrs. Stockton herself or from her son, if, 
indeed, her lodger were missing just now. The detective­
inspector immediately went down to the cottage. Finding 
the door locked, and getting no answer to his repeated 
knocks, he forced his way in, followed by two constables.

Parlour and kitchen were empty, but up on the floor 
above, in one of the three little bedrooms, the men found 
the unfortunate woman lying in bed with her throat cut. 
There was no sign or trace anywhere of young Stockton.

The mystery, of course, had deepened more and more. 
Nothing in the cottage seemed to have been touched; there 
were even a couple of sovereigns and some silver lying in 
a money-box. So far it appeared that two purposeless and 
shocking murders had been committed probably within a 
few moments of each other, as Mrs. Stockton had evidently 
been dead a good many hours. The detective-inspector 
instituted immediate inquiries in the neighbourhood on the 
subject of young Stockton, who certainly had unaccountably 
disappeared. It seems that he was a platelayer by trade, 
lately in the employ of the North-Western Railway, but 
recently dismissed owing to ill-conduct.

A description of the missing man was telegraphed to 
every police and railway station in the kingdom, but so far 
not a trace of him had been found. The theory of the 
police was that he had boarded the very train which had 
mangled the body of his victim, and then dropped off it 
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again a good deal farther down the line. Whether he had 
murdered the “foreign swell” for purposes of robbery, and 
killed his mother in order to get rid of an inconvenient 
witness, was, of course, a mere matter of conjecture; cer­
tain it is that he had vanished, almost as if the earth had 
swallowed him up.

II

From the first, Skin o’ my Tooth was greatly interested 
in the Swanborough tragedy. The enigmatic personality of 
one of the victims, the veil of complete mystery which the 
murderer had succeeded in throwing over his crime, the 
“foreign swell” who lived in the English cottage, all ap­
pealed to my chief’s love for what was dramatic and mys­
terious.

It was on the afternoon of the 20th, just after I had 
come in with the evening papers, that there was a timid 
rap at the outer office door. I went to open it, and, to my 
amazement, saw before me the daintiest vision that had 
ever graced our fusty old office in Finsbury Square. I had 
never seen such a lovely young girl. She could not have 
been more than seventeen or eighteen, and she was ex­
quisitely dressed in something soft and black, and wore 
the daintiest pair of shoes I had ever set eyes on. She 
asked me if she could speak to Mr. Mulligan immediately. 
It was such an unusual thing for us to receive visits from 
charming young ladies that for the moment I quite forgot 
to ask her name.

However, Skin 0’ my Tooth was quite ready to receive 
her, whoever she was, and the next moment I had shown 
the lady into the private office.

She walked up to my esteemed employer and held out 
a daintily gloved hand to him.

“My name is quite unknown to you, Mr. Mulligan,” she
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began. “I am Miss Marion Calvert, and I would not have 
ventured to come like this to your office without any intro­
duction, and all alone, but I want the best possible legal 
advice, and------ ”

“Yes?”
“My friend, Miss Morton, who is engaged to Mr. Ed­

ward Kelly, of Saltashe Park, told me all about you once, 
a long time ago, and how much you had done for Mr. 
Kelly. I remember then making up my mind that if ever 
I were in trouble and wanted a lawyer, I would come to 
you; and now------ ”

She had undone her furs and seated herself beside the 
desk. Skin o’ my Tooth gave me a wink. I knew what 
that meant. I was to sit in my usual corner behind the 
wooden partition—a position which my chief poetically 
called “behind the arras”—and take shorthand notes of 
everything the lady said.

“Mr. Mulligan,” she resumed very abruptly, “I was en­
gaged to Prince Sieronna, who was murdered the other day 
on the railway near Swanborough.”

“Then, indeed, you are in trouble,” said Skin o’ my 
Tooth very gently, “and that is why you have come to con­
sult me. Tell me, what can I do for you?”

“I am afraid that my story will seem a very foolish 
one to you. I was only a schoolgirl then. It was six months 
ago,” she explained with touching naïveté. “I had just 
left school, and was going down to Buckinghamshire with 
one of the governesses to stay with my uncle, Mr. Percival 
Lake, and his wife, when I first met Prince Sieronna. It 
was in the train between Euston and Swanborough, and he 
was so kind and attentive, and oh! so interesting. He told 
me that he was a Sicilian, and he talked about Italy and 
about Fascismo, and the Sicilians who had suffered in the 
war. He himself was an exile from the country he loved
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so well, because he had taken part in an anti-Fascist rising. 
He had large estates, but they were temporarily confiscated 
by Signor Mussolini; so he had to come to England, which 
he loved, and he lived in a small cottage amidst roses and 
lilies, and dreamt there of Italy and her liberty.

“You may imagine how delighted I was when he told 
me that this ideal cottage was in Swanborough, close to 
where my uncle lived, for I had hopes then that I should 
see him again. Well, Mr. Mulligan, I won’t bore you with 
all the details of what was the happiest time of my life. 
Mrs. Lake was kindness itself, but she kept rather a strict 
eye over my movements. However, very soon I discovered 
that I could always slip out in the evenings, while she went 
to sleep over her game of patience, and then I used to meet 
Amadeo—Prince Sieronna—in the fields at the bottom of 
the garden. Very soon we had both realised that we loved 
one another passionately.”

“But surely your uncle------ ?” suggested Skin o’ my
Tooth.

“My uncle was away during the first fortnight of my 
stay in Swanborough. When he came, things were very 
much altered. Someone —one of the servants, perhaps—had 
evidently spied upon me and had told him of my meetings 
with Prince Sieronna, for he read me a long lecture on the 
subject of foreign adventurers and English girls with money, 
and forbade me ever to see this Sicilian Prince again. Of 
course, I was obliged to obey him then, as he kept a pretty 
sharp lookout over my movements, and I saw nothing of 
Amadeo for a week; but the moment Mr. Lake went back 
to town we were able to resume our happy evening meetings 
in the fields.

“This went on for some time, during which my love 
for my future husband grew with every obstacle my uncle 
placed in my way. But Mr. Lake was often obliged to be

“Skin o’ my Tooth" 3 
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absent from home on business, and you may be sure that 
Amadeo and I made the most of these happy intervals. 
We had agreed that we should be married as soon as I 
was of age and free to do as I pleased.

“During all this time, Mr. Mulligan, I was in absolute 
ignorance of my future financial position, and Amadeo, with 
a delicacy that was positively sublime, and which put to 
shame Mr. Lake’s cynical insinuations, had never asked me 
any questions on the subject. I knew vaguely that my 
father had left me some money, under the trusteeship of 
Mr. Lake, and I concluded that I should have the use of 
my small fortune when I came of age.

“To my astonishment, however, on my eighteenth birth­
day, which was the ninth of this month, my uncle informed 
me that by the terms of my father’s will I was now to be­
come sole mistress of about £ 20,000 which he had left me. 
The next day Mr. Lake took me up to his office in London 
and rendered me an account of his guardianship; he then 
placed into my hands a large packet, which contained my 
£ 20,000 worth of securities, chiefly railway and mining 
shares, he said, and told me that I was free now to do with 
them what I pleased. It had been ostensibly arranged that 
I should stay in London a few days with some school friends 
of mine, but, secretly, Amadeo and I had planned to spend 
long, happy days together. I took a room in Victoria Street, 
and he used to come up from Swanborough in the mornings 
sometimes, and we would go out to see the sights of Lon­
don. We meant to get married almost immediately and go 
and live abroad. What with my money and the revenues 
from Amadeo’s estates which Signor Mussolini was about to 
restore to him, we would be able to live, not only in com­
fort, but even in luxury.”

She paused. It seemed as if she could not continue her 
narrative; so far it had been one of simple, delicate love
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romance, in which only the mysterious personality of the 
foreign adventurer appeared as a dim presage of coming 
evil; now, for the first time since the terrible tragedy oc­
curred, the young girl—little more than a child—found 
herself forced to speak of it to a stranger, and her very 
nerves must have quivered at the ordeal. But Skin o’ my 
Tooth did not speak. He sat in the shadow, watching the 
play of every emotion upon the delicately chiselled face 
before him.

“Last Monday, Mr. Mulligan,” she resumed at last, with 
an effort at self-control, “Amadeo went down to Swan­
borough in the afternoon, after having spent the day in 
town with me. He meant to settle what small accounts he 
had in the village and stay in London until our marriage. 
I was sitting quietly at tea at a shop yesterday when I heard 
someone close to me read aloud from a newspaper the 
account of the mysterious tragedy at Swanborough. A man 
had been found killed on the level crossing, his body and 
head shockingly mutilated. A description of his clothes 
followed—one or two articles found near the body. Oh, it 
was terrible, Mr. Mulligan! From those descriptions I knew 
that the murdered man must be my fiancé, Prince Sieronna.”

There was a long silence in the fusty old office. Skin 
o’ my Tooth was giving the young girl time to recover her­
self, when he said quietly: “It must indeed have been hard 
to bear in your peculiarly isolated position. But you have 
not yet told me how I can be of service to you.”

“Oh! it’s about the money, Mr. Mulligan—my whole 
fortune. Prince Sieronna had charge of it all, of course, 
and now I am penniless.”

“ You need have no fear; we can easily trace those secur­
ities for you; the thief won’t be able to negotiate them.”

“Oh, the securities!” she said naively; “they were all 
sold.”

3*
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“Indeed?” was Skin 0’ my Tooth’s very dry comment.
“Yes. At Amadeo’s suggestion I instructed the brokers, 

Messrs. Fumivai and Co., to sell my shares for me. They 
sent me a cheque for £20,000, which I endorsed, and 
Prince Sieronna cashed the cheque. He had all the money in 
notes, and he told me to write my name at the back of 
each. On the Monday we went round together to several 
foreign banks, where we changed our English notes into 
foreign money. You see, we intended to live in Paris, and 
meant to start for France almost immediately.”

I wished then that I could have caught a glimpse of 
Skin 0’ my Tooth’s face; as it is, I thought I heard the 
peculiar low whistle he usually gives when a point in a case 
particularly strikes his fancy.

“I see,” he said at last. “And that money? Did the 
Prince carry it about with him?”

“He gave me fifty pounds, as I meant to go shopping 
after he left me; the remainder he kept in his pocket-book.”

“H’m! Life’s strange ironies!”
But, fortunately for her many illusions, the young girl 

did not catch the -drift of this last remark, for she said 
with great vehemence: “You see now, Mr. Mulligan, that 
there could be no question of accident or suicide. Prince 
Sieronna was murdered and robbed, and I have come to 
you so that you may help me to track his murderer.”

“I will do my best,” said Skin 0’ my Tooth, with a 
smile; “and at the same time we must hope to track your 
lost fortune for you. But I think that is all I need trouble 
you about this afternoon. Where are you staying?”

“I am still at 182, Victoria Street.”
“Then I can easily communicate with you. I will see 

the detective-inspector in charge of the case, and, of course, 
let him know about the money, which should be found in 
the murderer’s possession. Was the money French or Italian?”
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She shook her head.
“I really couldn’t tell you. You see, Amadeo saw to 

everything.”
Skin o’ my Tooth sighed. So much naïveté and blind 

confidence would be ridiculous were it not sublime.
Five minutes later I had shown the lady downstairs, 

and when I returned I found Skin o’ my Tooth lounging 
in his big armchair.

“It was a case of biter bit with a vengeance, wasn’t 
it, sir?” I said, with a laugh, whilst I carefully col­
lected my notes. “This so-called Prince seems to have 
been as complete a scoundrel as the man who murdered 
him.”

“Muggins, you’re an ass!” was the only comment my 
esteemed employer made during the whole of the rest of 
that afternoon.

Ill

In the meanwhile the evening papers had brought no 
further news of the Swanborough mystery. No trace of the 
missing platelayer had been found, and it was pretty clear 
that at the inquest, which was fixed for to-morrow (Friday), 
the police would have no important evidence to add to the 
scanty scraps already collected and published.

“The local authorities will resent my interference in 
this case,” said Skin o’ my Tooth to me; “but I must 
chance that. If I leave them to blunder on as they have 
done over this murder, I shall never get Miss Calvert’s 
money for her, for the scoundrel will succeed in slipping 
through our fingers.”

He sent me down to Scotland Yard the next morning 
to make the necessary declaration with regard to Prince 
Sieronna’s antecedents as related to us by Miss Calvert, and 
also to the missing quantity of foreign money. The de- 
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tective-inspector who was watching the case was greatly 
excited to hear my news.

“This gives us the motive for the crime,” he said, “and 
the foreign money in the possession of an uneducated 
Buckinghamshire yokel like Stockton is sure to lead to his 
discovery and speedy arrest. At any rate, the local people 
have asked for one of our men, so now that we have so 
much fresh data I will send Mason, who is very capable, 
down to Swanborough. I will give him instructions to place 
himself at Mr. Mulligan’s disposal should he require any 
local information.”

When I went back to the office I found the car at 
the door and Skin o’ my Tooth waiting for me with his 
hat on.

“Come down to Swanborough with me, Muggins,” he 
said. “I have worked out this case in my own mind, and 
I want to ascertain, by studying the geography of the place, 
whether I am right or wrong.”

We went down to Swanborough, and during the whole 
of the run Skin o’ my Tooth never spoke a word. He sat 
leaning back in the car with that funny little smile of his 
playing round the corners of his fat mouth, and the thick 
lids drooping as if in semi-somnolence. But every now and 
then I caught a flash, a steely, almost cruel look, in his lazy 
blue eyes, and then his nostrils would quiver like those of 
a hound who has just found a scent. I knew those symp­
toms well. I had seen them in him whenever the sharp and 
astute lawyer was for the time being merged in the tracker 
of crime. Skin o’ my Tooth had all the instincts of a 
bloodhound. Placed face to face with a murder, he would 
follow the trail of the assassin with almost superhuman 
cunning. He did not deduce, he seldom reasoned; he felt 
the criminal. I believe firmly that he scented him.

When we drew up outside the small country station 
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a little after 2 p.m., we found that Mason, the detective, 
who was personally known to Skin o’ my Tooth, had 
already come down by train. He was standing talking 
to the booking clerk when my chief went up to speak 
to him.

I think that he was none too pleased to see a lawyer 
mixed up in a case which he no doubt considered strictly 
the business of the police; but Skin o’ my Tooth seemed to 
have armed himself for the afternoon with a limitless fund 
of Irish urbanity.

“I won’t detain you long, Mason,” he said, with a 
bland smile. “I should presently like to have a look at 
the body with you; and in the meanwhile, I dare say, 
while we walk through the village you will put me au fait 
of the latest news in connection with this interesting case.”

“There is very little news,” said Mason, with marked 
impatience. “The case is a very troublesome one, and if 
it is meddled with I don’t believe we shall ever get at the 
rights of it.”

“I see that you were having a chat with the young 
booking clerk here,” said Skin o’ my Tooth, quietly ignor­
ing the detective’s rudeness. “I wonder what his impression 
was of the Sicilian Prince. So few people seem to have 
seen him; but he always travelled up and down by train, so, 
of course, at the railway station they must have known him 
by sight.”

“ The porters and the booking clerk only saw him once, 
and that was on the Monday, when he came down by an 
afternoon train, and one man saw him soon after eleven the 
same evening. It was just after the last slow train had 
gone through, and they were closing the booking office; he 
was then walking along the line with young Stockton towards 
the level crossing.”

“What sort of a looking man was he?”
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“Oh, a regular foreigner, it appears, with thick black 
hair falling back over his forehead, and a heavy black mous­
tache. He had a huge scar right across the left side of his 
face—from a wound, I suppose. They say it looked like a 
sabre cut, and it seems to have injured his eye as well, for 
he wore a guard over the left one. Anyway, he is quite 
unrecognisable now,” he added grimly.

Mason had led the way along the platform while he 
was talking, and we had followed him. He was now walk­
ing along the railway line, about two paces in front of us. 
On our left a tall and neat hedge fenced off a field, and 
some two hundred yards ahead was the level crossing, where 
a road cut the line at right angles.

About twenty yards from the level crossing there was a 
wide gap in the hedge. Mason pointed this out to us.

“It is supposed that Stockton enticed his victim into the 
field under some pretext or other and rendered him un­
conscious there; then he dragged him on to the metals; at 
any rate, that is where the murdered man’s coat and waist­
coat were found; whether he took them off himself or 
whether Stockton took them off after he killed him, and why, 
remain a puzzle.”

“A puzzle indeed,” Skin o’ my Tooth assented blandly.
“This gap,” Mason went on, “Mr. Lake tells me, used 

to be quite a small one. It has obviously been broken and 
widened quite recently.”

“Mr. Lake?” queried Skin o’ my Tooth.
“Mr. Percival Lake. This field is his property; his house 

and grounds are at the opposite end of it.”
“Oh! Ah, yes! I am glad to hear that, as I should 

like to call on Mr. Lake before I leave Swanborough to-day.”
We had come to a standstill on the very spot where the 

awful and gruesome murder of the mysterious foreign prince 
had been perpetrated. Skin o’ my Tooth was looking at 
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the surroundings and at the ground before him, and every 
now and then I could hear him snorting, and caught sight 
of that weird and quick flash in his eyes which gave his 
jovial, fat face such a cruel look. Then, without word or 
warning, he suddenly darted through the gap in the hedge 
into the field beyond. With an impatient shrug of shoulders 
Mason followed him, and I brought up the rear.

It was mid-December, and the ground was as hard as 
nails; a few patches of dead grass only showed here and 
there. We were in a field of about thirty acres, triangular 
in shape, with the same tall hedge surrounding it, and the 
house and grounds forming its apex. A road ran on either 
side of it, converging on the other side of the house.

The afternoon had rapidly drawn in. It was past three 
o’clock, and a thick mist had descended. Mason followed, 
with evident and unconcealed ill-humour, Skin 0’ my Tooth’s 
peregrinations through that field. At first he had offered 
certain hints and volunteered some information, but at last 
he seemed to have resigned himself to the part of a bad- 
tempered man in charge of a lunatic.

We walked straight across the field to where the house 
and its thick shrubbery formed its extreme boundary. 
There, too, a small gate led to a cottage and tiny garden, 
which occupied a piece of ground that seemed to have been 
sliced out of Mr. Lake’s property,

“It is Mrs. Stockton’s cottage,” explained Mason, in 
answer to Skin 0’ my Tooth’s inquiry. Quite close to the 
gate there was a tool-shed, which seemed to interest Skin 
0’ my Tooth immensely, for he lighted match after match 
in order to examine it inside and out. However, he ex­
pressed no desire to view the interior of the cottage, and 
at last, when I was quite numb with fatigue and cold, he 
turned to Mason and said quietly: “I am quite ready to go 
to the station now and have a look at t,he body.”
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For a moment I thought that Mason meant to go on 
strike, but evidently he had had his orders, or perhaps he, 
too, began to feel, as I had done so often, that curious 
magnetic influence of Skin o’ my Tooth’s personality, which 
commands obedience at strange moments and in strange 
places. Be that as it may, he refrained from making any 
remark, but, passing through the gate and cottage garden, 
he went out into the road. About five minutes’ brisk and 
silent walk brought us to the village and then on to the little 
police station. Still without a word, Mason led the way 
into an inner room. There upon a deal table, and covered 
over with a sheet, lay the body of the murdered man.

IV

It is not often—thank Heaven for that!—that I have 
to go through such unpleasant moments in my faithful ad­
herence to my duty towards my employer. I shall never 
forget the terrible feeling of sickly horror which overcame 
me when Skin o’ my Tooth so quietly lifted the sheet which 
covered the dead man. The whole scene is even now viv­
idly impressed upon my mind—the small, low-raftered 
room, the electric light from the ceiling throwing its glitter 
upon the gruesome thing on which I dared not look, and 
upon the strange, bulky figure, so marvellously impressive 
at this moment, of my chief. Mason stood close by in the 
shadow. I could see that even he did not care to cast too 
long a look at the hopelessly mutilated face of the murdered 
man. Skin o’ my Tooth, however, was quite unmoved. 
He had dropped the sheet, and calmly, one by one, he took 
up each garment from the pile of clothes which lay neatly 
folded beside the body.

“These were found upon the deceased, I understand?” 
he asked. The detective nodded.
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“All,” he replied, “except the coat and waistcoat in the 

field and the gloves, which were in the grip of the hand.”
“And which this man could never have worn,” com­

mented Skin o’ my Tooth drily, “though they are quite 
old; they are two sizes too small for the hand.”

There was a silence again for a few moments; then 
Skin o’ my Tooth, having carefully examined each indi­
vidual garment, put the last one down; then, placing his hand 
upon the pile, he said: “I hope for your sake, Mason—and 
for mine, too, for that matter, since it would save argument 
—that you have arrived at the only possible and complete 
solution of the so-called mystery.”

“The only mystery in this matter,” retorted Mason 
gruffly, “is the real personality of the deceased. We know 
who murdered him all right enough, though we don’t know 
where the murderer may be at the present moment.”

“The personality of the deceased is no mystery to me. 
He was a young man named Stockton, a platelayer by 
trade, and an inhabitant of this village,” said Skin o’ my 
Tooth, making this extraordinary announcement as if he 
were stating the most obvious and commonplace fact.

Mason shrugged his shoulders and looked almost ap­
pealingly at me, as if he wanted me to take charge of this 
raving lunatic.

“The only thing that puzzles me,” continued Skin o’ 
my Tooth imperturbably, “is that it never struck any of 
you gentlemen in charge of this case how very badly some 
of these clothes must have fitted this man.”

“People don’t always have their clothes cut by a Lon­
don tailor,” muttered Mason sarcastically.

“Undoubtedly. But in this case the fit is so erratic; 
while the trousers would be at least three inches too short, 
the coat sleeves would be much too long. This man could 
not have had these gloves on at all; and every time he 
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wore these boots, which are not new, he must have endured 
positive torture, yet he has no corns on his feet”

“The clothes might have been a scratch lot, bought at 
a second-hand clothes shop,” suggested Mason.

“A man does not buy second-hand boots that are much 
too small for him.”

“What is your idea, then?”
“That they are another man’s clothes,” said Skin o’ my 

Tooth quietly.
“But------ ”
“Note one thing more. The suit of clothes are good, 

such as a gentleman might wear; boots, gloves, hat—all 
are of an expensive kind; but the underclothes are of the 
commonest and coarsest make.”

“That often happens,” muttered Mason obstinately.
“It certainly in itself would mean but little were it not 

for the fact that with almost superhuman cunning every­
thing has been devised in order to completely destroy the 
identity of the victim. From the clothes every tag and 
some buttons have been removed which might bear the 
tailor’s name; on the forearm vitriol was used, in order, 
obviously, to obliterate some mark—tattoo, perhaps—which 
might have made the body recognisable, whilst the same 
corrosive substance destroyed the finger and toe nails, which 
might have told a tale.”

“The accepted theory is that deceased was engaged in 
some work which necessitated the use of sulphuric acid.”

“That might account for the corroded finger-nails, if 
the man was particularly careless, but not for the wound 
on the forearm nor for the condition of the toe-nails. Think 
of it all carefully, Mason, and then bear in mind the fact 
that the only person who might by chance have identified 
the body, in spite of its mutilation, was also murdered.”

“You mean Mrs. Stockton?”



ГНЕ CASE OF ГНЕ SICILIAN PRINCE 45
“The mother, undoubtedly,” replied Skin o’ my 1’ooth 

quietly. “Surely you see for yourself now that the body 
we have here before us is that of Stockton, the platelayer, 
whereas it is this so-called Prince Sieronna, this arch­
scoundrel, thief, liar, and assassin, who so far has escaped 
the vigilance of the police.”

“You may be right,” murmured Mason, convinced, as I 
could see, in spite of himself, with the firm logic of Skin 
o’ my Tooth’s arguments; “but, as far as I can see, you 
have not by any means solved our difficulty. It was quite 
one thing to hunt for a Buckinghamshire yokel who would 
be trying to pass a quantity of foreign money and could 
not speak any language but his own, and quite another to 
search through the continent of Europe now for a foreigner, 
of whose real appearance I presume even your client, his 
sweetheart, is ignorant.”

“You won’t have to search through the continent of 
Europe, my man,” said Skin o’ my Tooth, with a jovial 
laugh. “You just apply—as quickly as you can, too, for 
the gentleman may slip through your fingers yet—for a 
search warrant and warrant for arrest of Mr. Percival Lake, 
of Swanborough. You will find most of the £ 20,000 there 
in foreign money, Italian or French. That money belongs 
to my client, Miss Marion Calvert, who will file affidavits to 
this effect to-morrow.”

“You are mad!” retorted Mason.
“Mad, am I?” laughed Skin 0’ my Tooth jovially. 

“Why, man, you know as well as I do by now that I am 
right. Why, I guessed the trick the moment Miss Calvert 
told me her pathetic little history; then I came down here, 
and I saw how admirably the geography of the place was 
adapted to that arch-villain’s infamous plot for robbing his 
young ward. Why, you have only to remember three points 
to realise how absolutely right I am. Point number one: 
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whenever Mr. Percival Lake was at home Miss Calvert could 
never see her sweetheart. The moment he was supposed 
to go back to town she found him at the trysting-place in 
the field; but always at night, remember, when the disguise, 
the scar, the black hair, would more easily deceive the young 
girl. It was only when he had got her money absolutely 
in his possession that he became more audacious and saw 
her in London in broad daylight.”

“I have always thought that that scar and the thick, 
black hair meant a disguise,” muttered Mason. “Some 
people are so clever at making-up, and Mr. Lake is a little 
bald and clean-shaved.”

“The change of costume was so easy of execution with 
that convenient little tool-shed in his own shrubbery, se­
cluded from all eyes and, until recently, fitted with a good 
lock and key, which have since, very obviously, been re­
moved. Why, nothing in the world could be more easy 
than for an arch-scoundrel like that man Lake ostensibly 
to leave for town in the evening, carrying his bag, and, 
walking through his field, to spend the night in the tool­
shed, and emerge therefrom in the very early morning as 
Prince Sieronna; then to reverse this performance whenever 
the foreign adventurer had to resume his original part of 
Mr. Percival Lake, Miss Calvert’s stern guardian. Add to 
this point number two—that the man who played the trick 
on Miss Calvert must have known all about her financial 
position and the full terms of her father’s will, by which 
she came of age at eighteen.”

“That certainly brings it nearer home to Lake than 
ever. And your third point, Mr. Mulligan?”

“That this so-called foreigner was supposed to have 
gone up to London from Swanborough very frequently 
during the week, when he met Miss Calvert in town nearly 
every day, and helped her to transfer her English securities 
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into foreign money, and yet no one at the Swanborough 
railway station had ever seen him before the night of the 
murder. Then, he wished to show himself, openly, in the 
company of the platelayer, so that, when he had murdered 
Stockton and dressed up his body in his own cast-off dis­
guise, everyone should fancy that they recognised in the 
mangled remains the personality of the Sicilian Prince. He 
did the murder at dead of night, of course, and in the 
privacy of his own fields; he used vitriol where the marks 
of identification might reveal the platelayer; then he mur­
dered Mrs. Stockton and slipped home quietly to bed. I 
dare say his wife was an accomplice. Some women are 
very loyal or very obedient to their husbands. But come 
along, Muggins,” he said, suddenly altering the tone of his 
voice and turning to me, “we must be up in town by 6.30 
and it can’t be far off that now; besides which, Mason will 
want to think all this over.”

“No, I shan’t, sir,” said Mason firmly. “I am going 
up to Swanborough police station at once.”

“What for?”
“To deliver my report and to get a warrant for the 

arrest of Percival Lake.”
* * * * *

Everyone remembers the arrest of Mr. Percival Lake on 
a double charge of murder. In his safe at his house in 
Swanborough were found French and Italian notes amount­
ing in value to about £20,000. Tracked to earth, the 
scoundrel made but a poor defence. Fortunately for his 
relations, since he was well connected, he died of sudden 
heart failure during the subsequent magisterial inquiry, and 
was never committed for trial.

This all happened three years ago. Miss Calvert is 
married now, and has evidently forgotten her former pas­
sionate love for the mysterious Sicilian patriot.
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III. THE DUFFIELD PEERAGE CASE

I

It was through the merest coincidence that Skin o’ my 
Tooth got mixed up with this remarkable case, which 
brought him suddenly into such great prominence before 
the public, and was really the foundation-stone of his sub­
sequent more fortunate career. In those days—it seems 
very long ago now—money was often very tight at the 
Finsbury Square office; it was spent as soon as earned, for 
Skin o’ my Tooth never learnt its value, principally, I think, 
because he never exerted himself to earn it. The gentle 
art of self-advertisement was totally unknown to him, even 
in its most elementary stages, and had I not made friends 
with the sub-editor of the Surrey Post, and got him to in­
sert that excellent puff, beginning: “Mr. Patrick Mulligan, 
the most eminent and learned lawyer on criminal cases, is 
now in our midst,” etc., etc., no doubt the Duffield Peerage 
Case would have drifted into other far less competent hands, 
and Heaven only knows what the upshot of it all would 
have been.

We had gone down to Guildford in connection with 
the Wingfield Will Case, and finding the sweet little Surrey 
town peculiarly attractive, Skin o’ my Tooth had decided 
to stay on for a few days, and, under the pretence that he 
would feel lonely, he insisted on my remaining with him. 
We had spent a week of delightful idleness, and my chief 
had devoured a large supply of his favourite French novels, 
when the murder of Mr. Sibbald Thursby, a noted solicitor 
of Guildford, threw the whole town into a veritable state of 
uproar. From the very first the wildest rumours were
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circulated on the subject of this appalling tragedy, and it 
became increasingly difficult to sift the real facts from the 
innumerable surmises and embellishments indulged in by 
the imaginative reporter of the Sui-rey Post. The truth, 
however, as far as I ultimately succeeded in gathering it 
for the benefit of my chief, who seemed interested in the 
case, was briefly this:

Mr. Sibbald Thursby had an office where he trans­
acted his business in Guildford High Street, but he lived 
in a tiny house just outside the town, on the Dorking Road; 
his household consisting of himself and a man and his 
wife named Upjohn, who shared the duties of cook, gar­
dener, maid and man of all works between them. On 
Friday last the Upjohns went upstairs to bed as usual at 
9.30 o’clock, leaving their master at work in his study on 
the ground floor. This room had windows opening out on 
to the small garden at the back and also a little con­
servatory leading to it. Mr. Thursby always bolted the 
windows and locked the conservatory the last thing before 
going to bed. The Upjohns heard someone knocking at 
the front door some ten minutes after they went upstairs, 
but both having already got into bed, they seem to have 
been too lazy to get up. Whether Mr. Thursby himself let 
his belated visitor in or not, they could not say, for they 
heard nothing, and very soon were both sleeping the sleep 
of the just.

But next morning, when Mrs. Upjohn went into the 
study, she was horrified to find her master lying on his 
side across the threshold of the conservatory door; his 
clothes—the clothes he was wearing the night before—were 
covered with blood, his face was obviously that of the dead. 
Upjohn, summoned by his wife’s screams, quickly ran into 
Guildford for the doctor and the police: the former pro­
nounced life to be extinct, Mr. Thursby’s throat having 
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been cut from ear to ear, obviously with the short, curve- 
bladed knife found in the conservatory. There had been 
no time even for a short struggle for his life on the part 
of the unfortunate solicitor. According to the theory im­
mediately formed by the police, he had been attacked with 
extraordinary suddenness and fury, practically at the very 
moment when he was opening the conservatory door in 
order to let the assassin in. The latter must at once have 
gripped his victim by the throat, smothering his screams, 
and only used the knife when the poor man was already 
senseless. In falling backwards, Mr. Thursby had seized 
the portière curtain and dragged it down with him in his 
fall, otherwise nothing was disturbed in the room. The 
windows were found carefully bolted; the lamp even had 
been extinguished. The few little articles of silver and bits 
of valuable china in the cabinets were left untouched; the 
unfortunate man’s watch and chain, the loose cash in his 
pocket, were found intact; and to the police the crime 
seemed as purposeless as it was mysterious.

At the inquest, which was held on the following Tues­
day, a verdict of “Wilful murder against some person or 
persons unknown” was returned, and the public had per­
force to rest satisfied that everything was being done to 
throw light upon this tragic and awful affair. But gradually 
a rumour, more persistent and positive, and less vague than 
others, began to find general credence. The Surrey Post 
had brought the news that a lady—a stranger to Guildford 
—had gone to the police to request the return of certain 
papers which had been in the charge of Mr. Sibbald Thurs­
by, and for which she held a receipt signed by him. 
Rumour went on to assert that a search was made for 
these papers, and that they had not been found, but that 
one of the constables, when he was carefully surveying the 
room where Mr. Thursby was murdered, had discovered a
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handful of ashes of burned paper in the grate. Twenty- 
four hours later the news had spread throughout England 
like wildfire that the lady whose papers had so unaccount­
ably disappeared claimed to be the lawful wife of the Earl 
of Duffield, and that those papers were of paramount im­
portance to the legal aspect of her claim and that of 
her son.

Skin o’ my Tooth had stayed on at Guildford all these 
days, chiefly because the case interested him from the very 
first; with his unerring instinct in criminal matters, he had 
scented a mysterious complication, long before the many 
rumours anent the lady claimant had taken definite shape.

“I imagine Lord Duffield won’t enjoy this washing of 
all his family linen in public, which seems to me quite in­
evitable,” he said to me one morning, when he had read 
his Surrey Post.

We had just finished the excellent breakfast provided 
by the Crown Hotel, and Skin o’ my Tooth had suggested 
the advisability of my running up to town to get him a 
batch of French novels, when one of the waiters came up 
to our table, with a great air of importance and mystery, 
and holding a card upon a salver.

“His Lordship is in his carriage,” he murmured with 
the respect befitting so important an event, “and desires 
to have a few minutes’ interview with Mr. Mulligan.”

I glanced at the card, which bore the name, “The 
Earl of Duffield,” while Skin o’ my Tooth quietly intimated 
to the waiter that he would see his Lordship in the sitting­
room.

Lord Duffield was a stout, florid, jovial-looking man of 
about fifty, decidedly military and precise in his dress and 
general bearing, but at the present moment obviously 
labouring under strong emotion, which he was making 
vigorous efforts to conceal.

4
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“Mr. Mulligan, I believe,” he said.
“That is my name,” replied Skin o’ my Tooth. “To 

what can I ascribe the honour of this visit?”
“I read your name in the local papers, Mr. Mulligan, 

but of course I had heard of you before, in connection— 
er—with criminal cases. The present instance—but,” he 
added, looking somewhat dubiously at my humble per­
sonality, “this gentleman . . .?”

“My confidential clerk, Lord Duffield. You need have 
no fear of speaking before him.”

Satisfied on that point, Lord Duffield sat down, then 
he said abruptly:

“It is about this murder of Sibbald Thursby. The 
turn this affair has taken forces me to place the matter, 
as far as I am concerned, into the hands of a lawyer. Our 
own family solicitor is too old and has never had any ex­
perience of this sort; whereas you . . .”

“I am entirely at your disposal.”
“To make the matter clear to you, I shall have to take 

you back some thirty years, when I, a young subaltern in 
a line regiment quartered in Simla, had no prospects of 
ever inheriting this title and property. When I was barely 
twenty, I fell in love, like the young fool I was, with a 
noted beauty of Simla, a Miss Patricia O’Rourke, whose 
reputation already at that time was none too enviable. 
After a brief courtship, I married her, in the very teeth of 
strenuous opposition on the part of all my friends; and less 
than six months after my marriage I had undoubted proofs 
that Miss O’Rourke was of more evil character than even 
Simla had suspected, for at the time she married me she 
had a husband still living—a man named Henry Mitchell, 
as great a blackguard, I believe, as ever trod the earth.

“Half crazy with grief and the humiliation of it all, I 
at last succeeded in obtaining sick leave, and soon sailed 
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for England, determined, if possible, to turn my back for 
ever on the woman who had blighted my life, and on the 
scene of my folly and my shame.

“Well, Mr. Mulligan, I dare say experience has taught 
you that grief at twenty is soon forgotten. Within a year 
of that saddest period of my life, my uncle, the late Earl 
of Duffield, lost his only son, and I became his heir. He 
obtained for me an exchange into the Coldstream Guards, 
and soon after that I married Miss Angela Hutton, the 
daughter of America’s great copper king. The following 
year my uncle died, I inherited the title and property, and 
then my son Oswald was bom, and I became a widower.

“In the meanwhile, Miss O’Rourke, or Mrs. Mitchell, 
had disappeared from Simla. No one knew where she had 
gone to; some of my friends thought that she was dead.

“I was obliged to tell you all this, Mr. Mulligan,” re­
sumed Lord Duffield after a slight pause, “so that you may 
better understand my position at the present moment. Re­
member that I have been during all these years under the 
firm impression that my marriage with Patricia O’Rourke 
was an illegal one, and that our son born of that union 
was not legitimate. I had what I considered ample proof 
that Henry Mitchell was alive at the time that she married 
me. When I taxed her with the crime of bigamy, she not 
only did not deny it, but calmly told me to go my way if 
I liked. Now, after thirty years, she has once more appeared 
upon the arena of my life. Not only that, but she has 
come forward with a claim—a strong claim for herself and 
her son. She has obtained affidavits, sworn to by people 
of unimpeachable position, testifying to the death of Henry 
Mitchell in Teheran—where he had settled down in business 
—three clear days before her marriage to me.”

“After thirty years?” commented Skin o’ my Tooth in 
astonishment.
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“She went to see Sibbald Thursby, who, as you know, 
perhaps, was the most noted lawyer in Guildford. He was 
a very old and very intimate friend of mine. She put all 
the facts before him and showed him all her papers. He 
came and told me himself that the affidavits were perfectly 
en règle, duly signed and witnessed by the British Consul 
in Teheran; one had been sworn by Dr. Smollett, a leading 
English medical man who attended on Henry Mitchell in 
his last illness.”

“But why thirty years?”
“Well, it appears that she had all along been morally 

convinced that Henry Mitchell had died before our mar­
riage; but she had lost trace of him for some months, and 
had been unable to obtain the necessary proofs to convince 
me of his death. However, when I left her, she resolutely 
set to work to obtain these proofs; but by the time she 
had succeeded, some years had elapsed, and she also had 
lost sight of me. She did not know that Adrian Payton 
had become the Earl of Duffield, you see. A mere accident 
revealed this fact to her, and, immediately realising her 
duty to her son, she then set sail for England.”

“Mr. Thursby, I understand, as a lawyer, thought well 
of the lady’s claim?”

“He thought that there could be no two opinions on 
the subject.”

“There usually are, though, in law,” said Skin o’ my 
Tooth, with a smile.

“Yes. And you may be sure that I did not mean to 
allow my son Oswald to lose his rights and become name­
less without a struggle. But Sibbald Thursby had shown 
me the affidavits which my wife—I suppose I must call 
her that—had given in his charge, and I am bound to 
confess that her case seemed remarkably clear. Still, I 
meant to fight to the bitter end—then----- ”
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“Then? And now?”
“Now? Have you forgotten what has happened? Sib- 

bald Thursby has been murdered, and those same papers 
have been stolen or destroyed.”

“According to you, by whom?” asked Skin o’ my Tooth 
quietly.

“Ah! Heaven only knows! Look at me, Mr. Mulligan. 
Am I capable of such a crime? And yet public opinion 
has already built a veritable scaffolding of base insinua­
tions against me and my son Oswald. My wife has gathered 
round her an army of partisans; the London papers utter 
scarcely veiled accusations, and the people of this county 
cut me in the street.”

“But what about your son, Viscount Dottridge, I mean?”
“What about him, Mr. Mulligan? I tell you there is an 

infamous conspiracy against him. He went out on the after­
noon preceding Sibbald Thursby’s death to pay a visit to 
some friends about twenty miles the other side of Guildford. 
He was all alone in the small two-seater which he always 
uses, and he was driving home late in the evening when 
just outside Guildford his engine developed some trouble 
or other, so he took the car round to Rashleigh’s in the 
High Street, and when they told him that the repair would 
take about an hour he thought that he would kill time by 
having a chat with Sibbald Thursby. He went round to 
The Cottage. It was then a little before ten. He knocked 
at the front door, but, receiving no answer, he went away 
again and went for a stroll in the lanes until his car was 
mended. He called for it at Rashleigh’s at a quarter past 
ten; it was then ready, and he drove home.”

“Yes. And------ ?”
“And while he stood for a moment irresolute upon 

Sibbald Thursby’s doorstep a couple of workmen saw him, 
and have informed the police of this fact. If you have 
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read the local paper this morning, Mr. Mulligan, you will 
have noticed that they announce ‘Sensational Developments 
in the Guildford Mystery.’ That sensation will be, I take 
it, that my son Oswald will be accused of having murdered 
Sibbald Thursby, in order to destroy the papers which 
would have robbed him of his inheritance.”

“Of which crime you assert that he is innocent. Pray 
do not misunderstand me. Mine is at present an open 
mind; I have only followed the case very superficially. 
Since you have honoured me with your confidence, I will, 
of course, go very fully into the matter. Your position from 
a legal point of view is secure for the moment. Failing the 
proofs that Henry Mitchell was dead at the time of your 
marriage with Miss Patricia O'Rourke, your proofs that he 
only died after the marriage hold good and make your 
position unassailable. In that way the murderer of Mr. 
Sibbald Thursby has certainly done you—or rather your 
son—a good turn, for the lady may, perhaps, never succeed 
in getting her proofs together again. Teheran is such a 
long way off, and the creditable English witnesses are prcb- 
ably dead or dispersed by now. But, of course, there is 
public opinion, and no doubt you yourself cannot estimate 
at the present moment how far it will force your hand.”

Lord Duffield groaned.
“At present,” he said, “I only seem to care about the 

danger to my son Oswald.”
“Quite so; and if you will allow me, I will now at 

once see the detective-inspector in charge of the case, and 
you may rest assured that everything that can be done 
will be done to throw daylight upon these unfortunate 
events.”

Lord Duffield seemed as if he would like to prolong 
the interview. He looked to me as if he had something on 
his mind which he could not bring himself to tell, even to 
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his lawyer. Skin o’ my Tooth, with his keen insight, also 
noticed the struggle, I am sure, for he waited silently for 
a moment or two. However, after a brief pause, Lord 
Duffield rose, shook hands with my chief, nodded to me, 
and with a few parting instructions he finally left the room.

П

I don’t suppose that even Lord Duffield realised how 
very strong public opinion was already against him in this 
matter. The lady—small blame to her—had made it her 
business to let the whole town know the full history of her 
case, and I must say that, as it now stood, it did not 
redound to the credit of the noble lord and his son. The 
detective-inspector, on whom Skin o’ my Tooth called that 
same afternoon, was quite convinced that Lord Duffield 
and his son had planned and executed the destruction of 
the documents. The murder, he admitted, might not have 
been intended, but merely committed as an act of self- 
defence, when the noble thieves had found their friend 
awake and alert, instead of in bed, as they had supposed. 
There was no doubt that Viscount Dottridge was seen to 
loiter round The Cottage at about ten o’clock at night. 
The Upjohns were firm in their statement that they had 
heard a noise at the front door at about that time. The 
theory of the police was that the young man had then 
gone round to the garden and tried the conservatory door; 
Mr. Thursby, hearing a noise, had gone to see what the 
noise was, and was probably gripped by the throat before 
he could utter a scream.

“Personally, Mr. Mulligan, I have very little doubt that 
his Lordship was in this game, somehow,” concluded the 
detective-inspector at the end of our interview with him; 
“but I think you will agree with me that the position is 
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remarkably difficult. What in the world am I to do? Duty 
is duty, and there must not be one law for the rich and 
another for the poor. The matter can’t be hushed up now. 
Lady Duffield—I suppose she is that, really—won’t allow 
the matter to rest. As long as she remains in the country 
she will keep public opinion well stirred up. I wish she 
could be persuaded to leave the matter alone now. Even 
if we succeed in getting together sufficient evidence to bring 
a charge of murder against Viscount Dottridge, it won’t 
give her son any better chance to make good his claim, 
will it, sir?”

“Certainly not,” replied Skin o’ my Tooth; “and you 
have put the matter in a nutshell. As you say, it would be 
far better if the lady vacated the place and left you a free 
hand to hush up this part of the business or not, accord­
ing to the discretion of your chiefs.”

It was clear from this interview that the detective-in­
spector did not know how to act. Torn between his respect 
for the title and position of the Earl of Duffield and his 
own sense of duty, he was certainly inclined to keep the 
matter quiet until more conclusive proofs of Viscount Dot- 
tridge’s guilt forced him and his chiefs to act openly.

But in the meanwhile Skin o’ my Tooth had announced 
to me his intention of seeing the lady who seemed to be 
the real centre of the many tragic events of the past few 
days.

We walked round to the Duffield Arms, where we under­
stood that she was staying, and two minutes later we were 
shown into the private sitting-room which she occupied at 
the hotel.

I must say that I looked with some interest at the 
woman round whom such exciting events seemed to have 
gathered. Though she must have been nearly fifty years of 
age certainly, there was even now a wonderful amount of 
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fascination about her entire personality, and a power of 
magic in her blue eyes. Her son, whom she introduced to 
us as Viscount Dottridge, was with her when we came into 
the room, and it was quite impossible not to be struck im­
mediately with the distinct resemblance which he bore to 
his father. Legally or not, this young man was undoubt­
edly the son of the Earl of Duffield—Nature had taken 
special care to prove that fact, at any rate—and my sym­
pathies immediately went out to him and to his beautiful 
mother, for there was no doubt that luck had treated them 
very roughly.

She received my chief very graciously, and, bidding 
him be seated, she listened with a smile to what I may 
term the presentation of his credentials.

“I am Lord Duffield’s legal adviser in this matter,” he 
said; “but I think I may safely say that I am the friend of 
both parties. Whilst I serve my client to the best of my 
ability, I have every desire—believe me—to be of service 
to you and to your son.”

She shrugged her shoulders.
“I have been a fool, Mr. Mulligan,” she said. “I ought 

never to have parted with those papers. Now I fear that 
no one can help me.”

“Surely you are wrong. There is no reason why the 
lost papers should not be replaced. It certainly may take 
some years and------ ”

“Money,” she interrupted impatiently, “which I have 
not got. Those who murdered Mr. Thursby and stole 
the papers knew what they were about. They have left 
me absolutely helpless; and even if the perpetrator of 
the dastardly outrage were punished with the full rigour 
of the law, I should still see my son ousted from his 
rights.”

“Would you mind telling me the exact contents of the 
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papers you considered most valuable to the furtherance of 
your cause?”

I thought she looked at him a little suspiciously then; 
but, evidently reassured by his genial smile, she said:

“There were two sworn statements made—one by a 
Dr. S mollet, who was a well-known English doctor in 
Teheran, the other by an English nurse named Dawson; 
both these persons were with Henry Mitchell at the time 
of his death, and remembered all the circumstances con­
nected with it. Dr. Smollet is dead now. As for the nurse, 
I have lost sight of her for ten years; it is very doubtful if 
I could ever trace her.”

“But surely these statements were made before the re­
sident British Consul at Teheran?”

“Oh yes, of course they were. Sir William Courteen 
was Consul at the time. He subsequently became Governor 
of the Gold Coast, and died, if you remember, some three 
years ago.”

“Fate has indeed dealt harshly with you,” murmured 
Skin o’ my Tooth with genuine sympathy.

“To tell you the truth, it never struck me at first that 
Lord Duffield would contest my just rights. When I under­
stood that Mr. Thursby was a personal friend of my hus­
band’s, I left my papers in his hands, thinking that no 
doubt he would show them to Lord Duffield, who, feeling 
the unimpeachable justice of my claim, would resign him­
self to the inevitable and give willingly to my son, and his, 
what, after all, is his due.”

“That being a very unlikely contingency now, Lady 
Duffield, might I ask you what you intend to do?”

“Failing my rights, Mr. Mulligan, which I suppose from 
what you say will now never be granted to me, I can always 
fall back on that barren enjoyment—revenge. Yes, revenge!” 
she added with sudden vehemence. “He would deprive me 



THE DUFFIELD PEERAGE CASE Ó I

of my position and leave my son nameless? I tell you, Mr. 
Mulligan, that with Heaven’s help I will so rouse public 
feeling against him that, when his son has been hanged for 
the murder of Sibbald Thursby, he in his turn will have to 
flee this country as a pariah and an outcast, for no honest 
man after this will shake him by the hand.”

She had spoken with so much vindictive fury that I felt 
a cold shiver creeping down my back. Skin o’ my Tooth, 
smiling blandly, was obviously smitten by the fire of her 
magnificent blue eyes.

“I think,” he said, “you will reconsider your very severe 
mandate.”

“Never.”
“Surely, if my client realised that you had certain un­

doubted claim upon him—I only speak without prejudice; 
but you have a son, and revenge, though sweet, might not 
prove very useful in his career.”

“I never looked upon it in that light,” she said coldly, 
and rising from her chair as if she wished to end the 
interview.

“You would not care to name a figure?” suggested 
Skin o’ my Tooth insinuatingly—“without prejudice.”

For the first time during the interview she turned to 
her son and seemed to consult him with a look, but he 
shook his head very energetically.

“Not now,” she said to Skin o’ my Tooth, and then, 
with a charming smile, she intimated that she wished the 
interview to cease.

“You will, in any case, always find me at your ser­
vice,” concluded my chief blandly, as we finally took our 
leave.
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III

As the days wore on, the mystery around the Guildford 
tragedy seemed to deepen more and more. We had another 
interview with Lord Duffield, at which his son—the only 
son he would acknowledge—was present, and I must say 
that, seeing those two men, typical of the English, country- 
bred, but high-born gentlemen, it was almost impossible to 
conceive that they could lend their hand to the dastardly 
murder of an old friend. Skin o’ my Tooth had received 
overtures on the part of the claimants, who seemed to have 
finally realised that revenge was but sorry pleasure, and ex­
pressed themselves ready to accept a monetary compromise 
in return for their permanent residence out of England.

To my intense astonishment, Lord Duffield fell in readily 
with this arrangement, which, after all, was nothing but a 
bribe, and first gave me the idea that perhaps he and his 
son had something on their conscience. It is quite certain 
that a constrained feeling seemed to exist between father 
and son. Undoubtedly I often caught Lord Dottridge cast­
ing furtive glances at his father, and once or twice Lord 
Duffield looked long and searchingly at his son, then sighed 
and turned his head away.

I don’t pretend to any deep insight into human nature, 
but it certainly struck me that these two men had begun 
almost to suspect one another. And no wonder! Who else 
but they had any interest in destroying the papers which 
would have made good the cause of the claimants? And 
I had seen the detective-inspector that morning, and knew 
that the police now believed that they held sufficient proof 
of the guilt of Viscount Dottridge to apply for a warrant 
for his arrest on a charge of murder.

That same afternoon Skin o’ my Tooth at last obtained 
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leave to go over The Cottage. The police—who always 
resent outside interference in such matters—had so far, on 
some pretext or other, always refused permission. But my 
chief was on his mettle. Lord Duffield had promised him 
£10,000 if he succeeded in elucidating the mystery and in 
averting the disgrace which threatened him and his son. 
To-day, at last, Skin o’ my Tooth was able, not only to 
make a vigorous effort towards obtaining that substantial 
reward, but also to indulge his passion for ferreting out the 
mysteries which lurk around a crime. I don’t think I ever 
remember seeing his weird faculties more fully in evidence 
than over the elucidation of the Guildford tragedy—that 
faculty which literally made him feel the criminal even be­
fore he held any clue to his guilt.

The late Mr. Sibbald Thursby had been buried the day 
after the inquest, but in his house everything had been left 
just as it was the night of the appalling tragedy. The Up­
johns had gone, refusing to sleep another night in a place 
where so terrible a murder had been committed, and as 
we let ourselves in by the front door our footsteps echoed 
weirdly within the deserted house. We were accompanied 
by two constables who, however, took but little interest in 
Skin o’ my Tooth’s wild ramblings through the tiny garden, 
the conservatory, and the study. It seemed as if he ex­
pected the ground to give him the final key to the mystery, 
of which he already had studied the lock; he was walking 
along with his eyes glued to the floor, his hands buried in 
the capacious pockets of his ill-fitting coat, and every now 
and then I could hear him muttering to himself:

“There must be a bit, only a bit—there always is.”
Then at last he seemed to have found what he wanted, 

for he darted forward towards a fine large palm, all dead 
and dry now for want of water, which stood in an orna­
mental pot close to the grate. Inside the pot, and covered 
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with dust and mud, there glimmered a piece of paper. 
Skin o’ my Tooth seized it as if it had been a most precious 
piece of jewellery; then furtively he thrust it in his pocket, 
and signed to me to hold my tongue, as the constables had 
just come into the room.

After this short episode, Skin 0’ my Tooth expressed 
himself satisfied with all he had seen, and together we re­
turned to the hotel.

Once alone in the privacy of our sitting-room, he took 
the dirty piece of treasure from his pocket, carefully knocked 
the dust out of it, and then spread it out smoothly before 
him on the table.

“You mayn’t think it, Muggins,” he said, “but this 
piece of dirty paper is worth an earldom and a good many 
other things besides, including the life of a man, who with­
out this wee scrap would very probably have ended on the 
gallows. It is also worth £ 10,000 to me.”

Eagerly I looked over his shoulder. The scrap of 
paper was about the size of my hand, and had obviously 
been torn off another larger sheet. The words I could 
decipher were: “. . . ry Mitchell . . . anuary 22nd, 1895 
. . . my presence,” and lower down, what was evidently a 
signature written in a different hand, “. . . nor Daw­
son.”

“And what is it, sir?” I asked.
“What an ass you are, Muggins!” he said impatiently. 

“Can’t you see that this is all that is left of one of the 
affidavits which proved that Henry Mitchell died on the 
22nd of January, 1895, or three days before Adrian Payton 
married Patricia O’Rourke? The signature is that of the 
nurse Dawson, who swore this particular affidavit.”

“But it’s no use in this state, is it, sir?”
“Oh yes, Muggins. An affidavit is always useful, even 

in this condition. Send word round to Stanley. I want
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the car very early to-morrow morning. I am going up to 
town with this scrap of paper.”

He would not tell me anything more then, and the 
next morning Stanley drove him up to Town and there he 
stayed away all day. I saw the detective-inspector in the 
afternoon, who told me that the warrant for the arrest of 
Lord Dottridge was actually out, but that he had had a 
wire in the morning from Scotland Yard “to await further 
instructions.”

“I fancy,” he added with a grin, “that Mr. Mulligan 
has not deserved his nickname this time. He can’t get 
Lord Dottridge out of this hole, not even by the skin of 
his teeth.”

In the evening, however, Skin o’ my Tooth came home, 
dead tired and triumphant He called for me at “The 
Crown,” and together we drove round to the police station.

“I have been waiting to see you, Mr. Mulligan,” said 
the inspector. “We cannot delay any longer, and to-night 
we must execute the warrant against Lord Dottridge.”

“You can throw that warrant into the fire, inspector,” 
replied Skin 0’ my Tooth quietly, “and to-morrow you can 
apply for another. You’ll have to be pretty quick, too, as 
I fancy your game smells a rat already, and may yet slip 
through your fingers.”

“What do you mean?”
“Only this. When you kindly allowed me to view the 

scene of the interesting murder case you have had on hand, 
it was my good fortune to come across this interesting 
document.”

And Skin 0’ my Tooth once more carefully unfolded 
that dirty scrap of paper on which he had set such store.

“What in the world is this?" asked the inspector.
“That is the very question put to me under the same 

circumstances by my clerk, Mr. Alexander Stanislaus Mullins.
“ Skin 0' my Tooth *’ $
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This paper, inspector, is all that is left of one of the affidavits 
which were to prove the legality of certain claims made by 
a charming lady and her son. You will notice the signature,

. nor Dawson.’ I may tell you that the lady in question 
had lost sight since ten years of Nurse Dawson, who 
attended upon her husband in his last illness. This same 
illness occurred thirty years ago. We have no official 
knowledge as to when this affidavit was filed, beyond the 
fact that it was more than ten years ago; but if you will 
examine very carefully the paper on which it was written, 
you will notice a remarkably interesting fact.”

And Skin o’ my Tooth held up that dirty scrap of 
paper against the lamp, allowing the light to show through 
it. In the extreme corner, the water-mark, “C. & Sons,” 
became clearly visible.

“Looking through the list of English paper-makers,” 
continued my chief, quietly pointing at this with his thick 
finger, “I came across the name of Clitheroe and Sons, of 
29, Tooley Street, London. This afternoon I interviewed 
the manager of that firm, who informed me that the letter­
ing of the water-mark in this particular bit of paper in­
dicated that it was manufactured by Clitheroe and Sons 
in 1924.”

“I don’t understand,” gasped the inspector, staring 
with all his might first at the dirty bit of paper and then 
at the unwieldy, bulky figure of Skin 0’ my Tooth, as he 
quietly revealed the key to the mystery which had so long 
puzzled the astute detective.

“Yet it is very simple,” he said, with one of his bland 
smiles. “Personally, I had suspected it all along, from the 
moment that I first saw Lord Duffield and his son, and 
realised that they had—if I may so express it—not the 
brains to carry out so daring a crime successfully. Had 
that very amiable, but not otherwise brilliant young man
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committed that murder, believe me, he would have left 
plenty of evidence of his guilt. The fact that you yourself, 
in spite of your acumen, had been unable to bring the 
crime really home to him, showed me that a cleverer head 
than his, and a subtler mind, had been at work: but until 
you favoured me with a permission to view The Cottage, 
I had not a single indication on which to work. When I 
first saw the lady, I realised that hers might have been the 
head; my instinct told me that her son’s was the hand; 
but there seemed such a total lack of motive, the whole 
theory seemed so topsy-turvy, that I hesitated even to follow 
it up. Then you courteously allowed me to view the scene 
on which the crime itself was committed. At once the fact 
struck me very forcibly that whoever had come on that 
fateful night to steal the affidavits knew where to lay his 
hand on them. Nothing in the room or in the desk had 
been disturbed, and yet obviously the murderer would turn 
down the lamp as low as possible immediately his nefarious 
deed was done, lest the light from the windows should 
reveal his presence. Then, again, you know, no doubt as 
well as I do, how seldom it is that a murderer does not 
leave a single trace or clue behind him. That is most 
fortunate in the cause of justice, otherwise many crimes 
would remain unpunished. I reckoned in this instance 
that a man after committing what I presupposed would be 
his first crime would necessarily have his nerves very much 
on the jar. His hand, presumably, would shake, and in 
tearing up the papers by the very much subdued light of 
the lamp, and in the presence of his victim lying dead on 
the floor, it is impossible, I say, that some scrap should 
not have escaped his trembling hands—you know how 
paper flutters—and lodged itself momentarily out of sight, 
ready to reappear as a damning witness against him.”

The inspector was silent. I could see that he was 
5* 
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hanging, breathless, upon Skin o’ my Tooth’s lips. And 1, 
too, saw it all now before me, even before my chief gave 
us the final explanation of his unanswerable logic.

“In ascertaining the fact that this paper was manu­
factured two years ago, whilst purporting to have been 
written on and signed more than ten years previously, it 
became clear to me that the affidavits setting forth Miss 
Patricia O’Rourke’s, alias Mrs. Henry Mitchell’s, claim were 
a pack of forgeries. From this conclusion to the under­
standing of her clever plan was but a quick mental problem. 
After all, it was simple enough. Having forged the docu­
ments, she entrusted them to Sibbald Thursby. Then her 
son chose his opportunity, the best he could find, to steal 
and destroy them. After that she hoped so to rouse public 
indignation against Lord Duffield by openly accusing him 
of the theft that he would either throw up the sponge 
altogether and recognise her rights, or at worst pay her a 
handsome compensation to clear out of the country and 
leave him alone. Remember, she all but succeeded. You 
ycurself suggested this alternative as the simplest solution 
of the difficulty, and Lord Duffield was quite ready to fall 
in with these views.”

“But as it is,” suggested the inspector at last, “do you 
think we shall be able to bring the crime home to these 
people? They seem to have been very clever.”

“You could bring the accusation of forgery and fraud 
undoubtedly home to her. You might succeed in proving 
the murder against her son, but I don’t think that you will 
get a chance of doing either.”

“Why not?”
“I think you will find your birds flown already.”
“That would be tantamount to an acknowledgment of 

guilt, and then we could overtake them wherever they may 
have fled.”
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“It certainly is an acknowledgment of guilt, as you 
say,” concluded Skin o’ my Tooth, rising from his chair 
and stretching his great, loose limbs. “But, personally, I 
do not think that you will overtake them if they have 
succeeded in making good their escape.”

Skin o’ my Tooth’s prophecy proved to be correct. 
The detective-inspector, I think, has remained convinced to 
this day that my esteemed employer was not altogether 
innocent in the matter of the escape of Mrs. Henry Mitchell 
and her son from the clutches of the law. They had left 
for London that very evening, and thence had gone to 
Dover, where all trace of them had ostensibly vanished. 
I believe that their lucky escape from justice cost Lord 
Duffield a pretty penny, but, of course, he felt that enough 
family dirty linen had been washed in public, and he was 
willing to pay a good sum to save even an illegitimate son 
from the gallows.

IV. THE KAZAN PEARLS

I
You are quite right there: Skin o’ my Tooth did have 

everything to do with the unravelling of that complicated 
knot which the sensational press at the time called the 
Great Pearl Mystery, and my opinion—which is shared by 
many in authority—is that but for the activities and courage 
of my chief, a grave miscarriage of justice would have been 
perpetrated.

What happened was this: the Countess Zakreoski, an 
American lady married to a Russian of great wealth, late 
of the household of the murdered Tsar, had dined one 
evening with her husband at the Majestic, their host being 
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the Honble. Morley-Everitt, son of the Countess’ first hus­
band, who was Lord Everitt of Rode, and brother of the 
present peer. Mr. Morley-Everitt was a very popular and 
smart young man about town, and a devoted attendant 
upon his stepmother, whom he helped in her entertainments 
and to whom he acted as a kind of secretary and factotum 
in her magnificent house in Belgrave Square. She, in return, 
kept him lavishly supplied with money, and the two were 
more like actual mother and son to each other than is 
usually the case with children of a former marriage.

The dinner party in question consisted, in addition to 
the Count and Countess Zakreoski and the host, of the 
Marquis and Marquise de San Felice of the Italian Embassy, 
Lady Dewin, who was a connection of the Everitts, Ma­
dame Hypnos, a Greek lady, friend of Countess Zakreoski, 
and of a certain Major Gilroy Straker, lately come over 
from Australia on some business or other connected with 
Empire products; he had brought letters of introduction 
from well-known people in Australia, to other equally well- 
known people in London. The party stayed on till rather 
late, and then went home in two motors, the one a large 
Rolls-Royce belonging to Count and Countess Zakreoski, 
and the other, a small Essex, belonging to Mr. Morley- 
Everitt. The latter took Lady Dewin and Madame Hypnos 
with him, the others all went in the Rolls-Royce.

On that occasion the Countess Zakreoski wore—as she 
often did—the famous Kazan pearls, an heirloom of great 
value and historical interest, around which many a Russian 
romance has been woven: the pearls have been the envy 
and admiration of every jewel expert in Europe and America 
ever since they were first brought out of the family strong­
room by Count Zakreoski and presented to his bride, the 
present Countess.

They consisted of three ropes, magnificent in size and 
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lustre and perfectly matched; their value was said to be 
incalculable. They were insured for £50,000.

The Countess only discovered the loss of her pearls 
when she got home, and her maid helped to divest her of 
her cloak. I won’t, of course, recapitulate all the details 
of the search which was immediately instituted, inside and 
outside the house, in the garage and the motor; there were 
telephone calls to the Majestic, to the police, to the chauffeur, 
and half the night was spent in setting the machinery going 
towards the recovery of the priceless gems. Subsequently 
as much as £ 10,000 reward was offered, and amateur as 
well as professional detectives were employed by the score, 
not only in England, of course, but all over Europe and 
America.

But all these efforts were of no avail. Day followed 
day and no news of the missing pearls. The police was 
hopeful still, but the public shrugged their shoulders and 
marvelled what the thief could hope for except the reward, 
as surely such remarkable gems would not easily be 
marketable.

The loss, or rather theft, of the Kazan pearls was how­
ever, only the first phase of an extraordinary tragedy, 
wherein accident and coincidence played their several sinister 
parts. It was about a fortnight later, and the sensation about 
the Kazan pearls had vanished in favour of a world-famed 
prize fight, when Madame Hypnos, who had many friends 
in London society, was found murdered in the flat which 
she occupied in Curzon Street, Mayfair.

The flat consists of three rooms and bathroom opening 
on a narrow passage; two of the rooms, bedroom and 
sitting-room, communicate with one another, the third is 
just a small kitchenette. The unfortunate woman’s body 
was found lying on the floor of the sitting-room. She had 
been stabbed in the back with a large curved knife of 
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Eastern design, which lay close beside her. The discovery 
was made by a Mr. and Mrs. Mortimer who had a flat on 
the same floor. They had been at the theatre, and on re­
turning home had heard a fearful row going on in Madame 
Hypnos’ flat. They paused for a moment or two on the 
landing in order to listen, and they heard Madame’s voice 
shouting repeatedly:

“You shan’t! you shan’t!”
However, they felt that it was no business of theirs, 

and after a while they went unconcernedly into their own 
flat. About five minutes later they heard an awful shriek. 
Mrs. Mortimer was in the kitchenette at the moment, heat­
ing up some cocoa, while her husband was in the bedroom 
changing his shoes. For a moment she felt paralysed with 
horror. Suddenly she heard the front door of the flat 
across the landing open and close, and footsteps clamber­
ing downstairs. Then only did she put down the saucepan 
which she had been handling and ran to her husband. 
He, too, had heard the shriek and was debating in his 
mind what he should do when his wife ran in to him. To­
gether they went out on the landing. The well of the 
stairs was in total darkness, which was odd, because one 
light was always kept up on each landing all through the 
night. These lights were controlled by a single switch in 
the main entrance hall, and someone must have turned 
that off after the Mortimers had gone into their flat. The 
man’s first instinct was to run downstairs as fast as dark­
ness would allow and turn the lights up again. When he 
came back to his own landing he found his wife almost 
swooning with terror. She was speechless and with trem­
bling hand was pointing in the direction of Madame 
Hypnos’ flat, from whence could be heard at intervals 
heartrending groans.

This time without pausing to think, Mr. Mortimer ran 
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into his own flat, got a poker, smashed the stained-glass 
panel of the door of Madame Hypnos’ flat, put his hand 
through the hole, and turned the handle of the door. The 
wretched woman, who was lying in a pool of blood, was 
even then drawing her last breath.

Mr. Mortimer sent his wife back to her own rooms 
and ran down to rouse the hall-porter and sent him for 
the police.

On the face of it, robbery appeared to have been the 
primary motive of the crime, because every article of furni­
ture in the place had been ransacked: drawers had been 
pulled open and locks smashed; the mattress and pillows 
on the bed, as well as upholstery, had been ripped up, and 
with the same knife, probably, that had finally done the 
deed.

Inspector Richards, one of the most able men of the 
C.I.D., was at once put in charge of the case. A few facts 
immediately jumped to the eyes, others appeared there and 
then to obscure the main issue. One thing was certain, 
the murderer had been on familiar terms with his victim: 
the flat had not been broken into. Whoever it was who 
had come to visit Madame Hypnos that evening had been 
let in by her in the ordinary way. She kept no servant of 
her own; as a matter of fact, no one kept a servant in 
these little flats, which were what are known now as “service 
flats.” The visitor had been made welcome by Madame: 
there was a half-bottle of whisky and siphon on one of the 
tables; two tumblers which had contained whisky stood on 
the mantelpiece, together with an empty cigarette box, and 
there were a couple of ash-trays filled with dead matches 
and cigarette ends.

But the great disappointment that confronted Richards 
was the total absence of finger-prints other than those of 
the murdered woman herself. These, strangely enough, ap­
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peared on both the tumblers that stood upon the mantel­
piece, and also—though here they were very much blurred 
—upon the handle of the knife with which the crime had 
been committed. But beyond that, nowhere, although 
Richards, who is as keen after a clue of that sort as a 
bloodhound after a trail, put every single article in that 
flat to the finger-print test.

What he soon discovered, however, was the actual 
motive of the crime. To begin with, there was, lying close 
beside the fender, a torn and crumpled copy of The Times. 
It looked as if the reader had thrown the paper down in a 
fit of rage and stamped upon it. Richards smoothed out 
the creases and looked at the date; it was a week old. 
The page that lay uppermost was the front one, and there 
in flaring letters in the personal column was the advertise­
ment of the assessors, offering £10,000 reward for the re­
covery of the Kazan pearls.

This gave Richards the clue of what the thief or thieves 
had been after. With more deliberation than he or they 
had displayed, he set to work to search the flat, and it was 
after three hours’ minute search, when he had almost given 
up hope, that he chanced to turn over a gallipot that con­
tained washing soda, and there, hidden underneath the soda, 
was a handful of pearls, some clinging to their string, others 
loose—one of the three ropes of the Kazan pearls.

Richards now was hot on the scent; inquiries from the 
hall-porter of the flats and also the other occupants of the 
block brought to light the fact that Madame Hypnos re­
ceived many visitors—mostly in the evenings, and mostly 
men: the hall-porter thought that Madame was usually on 
the lookout for them; anyway, he never saw them halt on 
the landing. It seemed as if her front door would always 
be left ajar, so that the visitors could just push it open and 
walk in. Asked to describe some of these visitors, the man 



ГНЕ KAZAN PEARLS 75
hesitated. He never, he said, saw any of them very clearly. 
One gentleman, he thought, had a black beard and curly 
black hair; he wore a slouch hat and an overcoat with the 
collar turned up to his ears. Another wore a heavy white 
cavalry moustache. He was lame and very stout. Madame 
had not been in the flats very long, and the hall-porter 
had not had time, as yet, apparently, to take stock of her 
visitors. But there was one young gentleman who had 
recently come once or twice to the flat. Mr. and Mrs. 
Mortimer had seen him too; he was young and tall, they 
said, with fair, curly hair and blue eyes and small tooth­
brush moustache. The first time this young man called 
was about three weeks ago, and he came quite openly and 
asked the hall-porter if Madame Hypnos lived there. After 
which Mr. and Mrs. Mortimer volunteered the information 
that on the evening of the tragedy that same young man 
had called at the flat; they were just off to the theatre 
when he got out of a taxi outside their front door. They 
took that same taxi on to the theatre. It was then a quarter 
past eight.

The taxi, advertised for by the police, was easily enough 
traced. The chauffeur said that he had originally been 
taken up by a gentleman outside the Dominions Club in 
Hanover Square and had driven him to a block of flats in 
Curzon Street, Mayfair, where a lady and gentleman had 
taken him to the Duke of York’s Theatre. Inquiries at the 
Dominions Club elicited the fact that one of the members, 
a certain Major Gilroy Straker, had been one of the party 
at the Majestic when the Countess Zakreoski lost her pearls. 
He always kept a room, it seems, at the Dominions Club, 
having been one of its founders and therefore privileged. 
He was summoned to give evidence at the inquest, identi­
fied by the taxi-driver, the hall-porter of the flats, and Mr. 
and Mrs. Mortimer, and even before he had begun to give 
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evidence the police obtained a search warrant against him, 
and amongst his effects in his room at the Dominions Club 
they found the Kazan ropes of pearls, with the one row 
broken and about fifty or sixty pearls missing.

II

At the close of his evidence Major Gilroy Straker was 
arrested, and the verdict of the coroner’s jury was one of 
wilful murder against him. His arrest created a great sen­
sation in London, more particularly in the little coterie that 
had taken him up. It was a very smart coterie, by the 
way, one chiefly made up of wealthy foreigners who had 
either made their home in England or were passing through. 
Countess Zakreoski and her husband were among its leaders; 
they had relations and friends all over Europe and America; 
no foreigner of distinction ever came to London without an 
introduction to the popular couple. They would sponsor 
the ladies and married couples, and Mr. Morley-Everitt 
would introduce the bachelors to the smart clubs in Lon­
don. In this instance both the Zakreoskis and Mr. Morley- 
Everitt felt that they owed an apology to their friends for 
the introduction of Major Straker to this charmed circle. 
He had come to London with introductions to the Countess 
from friends of hers in Sydney, and she had, as it were, 
passed him on to Mr. Morley-Everitt, her stepson. The 
latter had been more than kind in seeing to it that the 
young colonial, who, by the way, had served with distinc­
tion with the A.E.F., had a good time in London. This 
was an easy task, as the Major was good looking and an 
excellent dancer, and he had been made very welcome. 
With regard to Madame Hypnos, matters were not quite so 
simple. It seems that Countess Zakreoski had only been 
kind to her at the request of Major Straker: she had only 
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had her once to tea at her own house, and Mr. Morley- 
Everitt had—again at Major Straker’s request—very kindly 
asked her to be of the party that night at the Majestic. On 
inquiry it turned out that neither Mr. Morley-Everitt nor 
Count and Countess Zakreoski, nor any of the party that 
night, knew anything about Madame Hypnos beyond the 
fact that she was a friend of Major Straker.

Skin o’ my Tooth, I must tell you, was from the first 
very much interested in this case: he always had a wonder­
ful flair for intricacies and problems long before they 
cropped up in evidence. He and I went daily to Bow Street 
to hear the Australian Major give an account of how he 
came to be in possession of two ropes of pearls belonging 
to the Countess Zakreoski, whilst the third rope, or a part 
of it, was found in the flat of a lady whom he had 
visited the very evening on which she came by a violent 
death.

Of course, to most people his history appeared so 
curious as to be unbelievable. No wonder that the police 
turned his statements inside out and that the magistrate 
had no option but to commit him for trial. What Major 
Straker had told the police, the coroner, and the magistrate 
was this:

He had arrived in England, he said, about three months 
ago from Australia, where he had been managing director 
of a firm of wool merchants in Sydney. He had gone out 
to Australia when quite a lad, but had—until quite recently 
—a mother and sister living in Worcestershire, which was 
his original home. He had been to see them after he landed 
at Southampton, and then came up to London to have a 
good time. He was taking a long holiday, and had brought 
letters of introduction to Countess Zakreoski and one or 
two other people in town from some smart friends in Syd­
ney. During the war he had helped to found the Dominions 
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Club for colonial officers, and a room was from the first 
reserved for him there, whenever he should happen to come 
to London again.

Count and Countess Zakreoski and Mr. Morley-Everitt 
were very kind to him; he soon made friends and went 
about a good deal. He had met Madame Hypnos at one 
of the smart charity balls at the Albert Hall. She was in 
the crowd at the buffet and appeared to be distressed at 
being jostled; he offered his services to get her something 
to eat and drink. She accepted gratefully; said she had 
been cut off from her friends in the crowd and was afraid 
that they had left her in the lurch. Major Straker had no 
cause for complaint: she was pretty and charming; he asked 
her to dance, and she was an exquisite dancer; then he 
asked her to supper, and she accepted. She suggested 
Eugene’s, and thither they went. Mr. Morley-Everitt hap­
pened to be there having supper with a friend; mutual in­
troductions ensued; they all spent the rest of the evening 
very happily together, and finally the Major saw Madame 
Hypnos home to her flat in Curzon Street. She asked him 
to call again, which he did the very next day, and once or 
twice after that he took her to a theatre or to a restaurant. 
She did not seem to have many friends in London, and 
she did not tell him anything about herself ; he never heard 
her mention the people who had left her in the lurch at the 
Albert Hall ball, and he asked no questions: he just took 
her as he found her, as any young man would take the 
friendship of a pretty woman who made herself agreeable 
to him. In the meanwhile it appeared that Mr. Morley- 
Everitt had also been greatly taken by the pretty Greek 
widow—she did say that she was the widow of a Greek 
officer killed in the war—he had also called upon her and 
taken her out to theatre and restaurant; he had even gone 
to the length of presenting her to his stepmother, and finally 
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asked her to the dinner-party he gave at the Majestic on 
the night when the Kazan pearls were stolen.

“That night,” Major Straker went on with his statement, 
“I was driven home from the Majestic by Count and 
Countess Zakreoski, and took leave of them outside their 
house in Grosvenor Square and started to walk home to 
the Dominions Club. It was long past midnight then, and 
I had just turned into Maddox Street when out of the 
narrow passage immediately behind St. George’s Church two 
men fell upon me with the suddenness of lightning: one 
had me by the throat, whilst the other got hold of my legs 
and very nearly brought me to the ground. However, I 
had been what might be called a noted athlete in Sydney, 
and I was taught ju-jitsu by a famous Japanese exponent. 
Anyway, we had a brief but desperate struggle, my assailants 
and I, and they were already getting the worst of it when 
fortunately a policeman’s whistle sounded somewhere quite 
close, and they took to their heels. So quickly did they 
run that by the time a couple of bobbies appeared at one 
end of the street they had disappeared down the other. 
Well, I didn’t want to be bothered with any police, and I 
had suffered no damage from my adventure, so, before the 
bobbies finally arrived, I, too, had vacated the scene of ac­
tion and turned into the Club.”

All this, of course, you will say, appeared reasonable 
enough; it was the remainder of the Major’s story which the 
coroner and the coroner’s jury, as well as the police magis­
trate, absolutely refused to believe. Major Straker said, 
namely, that when he undressed that evening he found the 
pearls in the outside pocket of his smoking suit. He had 
not the remotest idea how they got there. Just for a mo­
ment the thought darted through his brain that the assault 
upon him was in some way connected with those pearls. 
But it seemed too preposterous a conjecture to be dwelt on 
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for long. He looked out of the window to see if the police­
man on the beat was anywhere about. If he had been, he 
would have run down and spoken to him about his find. 
But the street by now was quite deserted; not a soul in 
sight, and, as he felt just a little shaken by his recent fight 
with two determined stalwarts, he thought the best place 
for him now was bed.

“I had,” the Major went on to say, “the fullest inten­
tion to take the beastly things to the Lost Property Office 
at Scotland Yard the very next day, but the first thing in 
the morning, before I had time to glance at any paper, a 
telegram was brought up to me. It was from my sister in 
Worcestershire. My mother had had a seizure. Her life 
was only a question of hours; could I come immediately? 
So, without thought of anything else, I threw7 a few things 
into a suitcase and was off to Paddington and down to 
Worcestershire by the first available train. I suppose that 
I did buy a paper at the station and that I glanced at it 
on the wray, but I have no recollection of what 1 read. I 
was away a week or ten days, long enough to see my dear 
mother buried and to make arrangements about the letfing 
of the house. My sister had a pal in London to whom she 
was very much attached, and she expressed a wish to go 
and stay with her for a few weeks, until she and I had 
time to think about the future.

“I suppose that when I left London I just stuffed those 
stupid pearls into a box; probably if they had been left 
lying loose in a drawer I should have seen them and taken 
them to the Lost Property Office as I had originally in­
tended. But there it is! I thought no more about them, 
and, as you know, by that time the sensation about them 
had given place to something more recent. At any rate, I 
saw nothing about it in the papers. Amongst the letters 
which were waiting for me at the Club on my return were 
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two or three from Madame Hypnos, asking very kindly 
what had become of me, and desiring me to come and 
see her. It seems that she had also telephoned more than 
once to ask after me, and when she was told that I was 
away she wanted to know my address, which I had quite 
forgotten to leave with the hall-porter. After that she again 
telephoned repeatedly to know if I had returned. Frankly, 
I was not in a mood to see anybody just then, but during 
the course of the day the lady telephoned again. This 
time the hall-porter, unfortunately, told her I was in and 
put me through without telling me who it was calling. She 
recognised my voice at once, and then entered into a 
voluble explanation about the loss of some beads, the last 
time we had dined together at Eugène’s. She described 
the beads to me. ‘Three long rows,’ she said, ‘of imitation 
pearls. They are of no value really, but I miss them rather, 
as they were good of their kind.’

“Still on the telephone she recalled the incident of her 
loss: ‘Don’t you remember?’ she asked me, T told you 
that I had broken the clasp, so I took the beads off and 
stuffed them into the pocket of your coat. I forgot to ask 
you for them when we met again at Mr. Everitt’s dinner­
party, and I suppose you forgot about them, too. You 
must remember!’ Well! I didn’t remember the incident at 
all, and told her so. I had found some pearls in the 
pocket of my coat, and she described these so accurately, 
clasp and all, that I had no doubt whatever that the pearls 
were hers, and that in the sorrow and worry consequent 
on my mother’s death, I had just forgotten all about the 
incident which Madame Hypnos had described.

“You may think it all very strange,” Major Straker went 
on with a shrug, “but I tell you, I know nothing about 
pearls. I had never handled any in my life, and I had 
not seen anything about any theft of pearls or reward for
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their recovery in any newspaper. When I arrived in Wor­
cestershire my mother was dying; two days later she died; 
two days after that was the funeral: I had plenty to do 
without bothering about London papers. Anyway, I had 
no suspicion whatever as to the truth of Madame Hypnos’ 
story, and I promised that next time I came to see her I 
would bring the beads along with me.

“She begged me to come at once. Well! I could not 
do so that day or the next, but on the Friday at about 
eight o’clock Madame telephoned again, and as I was sick 
of the whole thing, I got into a taxi and drove round to 
her flat with the pearls in my pocket. Madame, however, 
appeared quite indifferent when I gave them to her, which 
rather surprised me, considering all the fuss she had been 
making, and she left them lying on the mantelpiece. At 
one moment she got up to get something or other out of 
the next room, and while I was waiting for her, I picked 
up The Times which was lying on a table close by. The 
first thing that caught my eye was the advertisement for 
lost pearls in the ‘Personal’ column. I must say that I had 
to read it through three times before its full significance 
entered into my brain. £10,000 reward! and three ropes 
of pearls lost at the Majestic on such and such a night— 
but, even so, I was only vaguely conscious of the connection 
between this advertisement and my adventures with Madame 
Hypnos and those pearls. I remember picking them up 
from the mantelpiece and weighing them in my hands, 
when Madame suddenly re-entered the room. She stood 
for one moment in the doorway looking at me, her eyes 
blazing with fury. The expression on her face confirmed 
my vague suspicions. I taxed her with trying to cheat me 
out of the reward which I should get for the recovery of 
the pearls, and I deliberately stuffed them back into my 
pocket. But she was upon me like a vixen, tearing and
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scratching and biting, with teeth and nails. There was a 
curiously shaped knife on the table, and at one moment 
she seized that and would have gone for me, only that I 
managed to wrench it out of her fist. What she did suc­
ceed in doing, however, was to get hold of a part of the 
pearl rope that was protruding out of my pocket. We fought 
for that, and my! she was strong and artful. During the 
fight the rope broke, some of the pearls were scattered, and 
for an instant she slackened her hold on me in order to 
watch them rolling on the carpet. That was my opportunity : 
I had had enough of this fighting vixen, and I made a 
bolt for it. I was out of the flat before you could say 
‘ knife.’

“My intention was to restore the pearls to their rightful 
owner the very next morning, and claim the £ 10,000 re­
ward. I did not see why I should not, although I had 
come by them in a mysterious way; I felt perfectly guiltless 
in the matter. The trouble was that when I had glanced 
at the copy of The Times in Madame’s flat, I had not the 
time to make a mental note of the name and address of 
the assessors who were advertising for the pearls: and when 
I bought a copy of The Times that morning, the advertise­
ment did not appear in the ‘Personal’ column. What I 
did see in the paper, however, was the murder of Madame 
Hypnos. Of course, I was horribly shocked, and very 
much intrigued to know what in the world had happened 
in that flat after my departure. Needless to say that I, at 
once, connected the tragedy with those wretched pearls. 
To be quite frank, I got a touch of cold feet after that, 
not in connection with the murder of Madame Hypnos, but 
because I realised that my story of how I came to be in 
possession of those pearls might sound unbelievable. Any­
way, I was going to see my lawyer next day; he is an old 
family friend, and I made up my mind to tell him the 
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whole story and get his advice. Anyway, I could do nothing 
till I had got an old copy of The Times that had the name 
and address of the assessors in it.

“I don’t think I was alarmed or even very much 
astonished when the following morning I received a sum­
mons to attend the inquest on Madame Hypnos. You 
know the rest: while I was in attendance at the coroner’s 
court, the police had obtained a search-warrant and the 
pearls were found among my things. And”—the Major con­
cluded with a quaint little sigh—“that’s all there is to it.”

Ill

The arrest of Major Gilroy Straker on a charge of 
murder was one of the sensations of that memorable London 
season. I forget who it was that advised him in the first 
instance and through the preliminary inquiry at Bow Street: 
I suppose it was the old family solicitor of whom we had 
already heard. Anyway, the evidence against the un­
fortunate man appeared overwhelming, and his own defence 
a story quite unbelievable: even the sensational press did 
not refer to the case as “mysterious.” It seems that his 
youth had been rather wild, and that he had originally 
gone out to Australia in consequence of some trouble, 
w'hich probably was no more than youthful folly, but which 
the police had raked up and were using in order to bolster 
up their case against the unfortunate young man. In the 
end the magistrate committed Gilroy Henry Straker for 
trial on the capital charge. He pleaded “Not Guilty” and 
reserved his defence.

A moving figure throughout the magistrate’s inquiry, 
and also at the inquest, had been the sister of the accused, 
a pale-faced youngish woman whose eyes rested with the 
most tender solicitude and unvarying trust upon her un- 
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fortunate brother. It was the day after the magistrate had 
committed Straker for trial that she called upon Skin o’ my 
Tooth. I saw her when she entered the office, dressed very 
quietly in black, her poor eyes bearing the traces of count­
less tears. She sent in her name, Mary Straker, and when 
I told her that Mr. Mulligan would see her immediately, a 
pathetic look of joy lit up her sad face. As usual, I took 
my place “behind the arras,” notebook in hand. Unseen, 
I watched the play of the poor girl’s features throughout 
her interview with my chief.

She began by explaining to him that the solicitor, a 
very old friend of the family, who was looking after her 
brother’s interests had himself advised her to call. “He is 
the biggest-hearted man in the world, Mr. Mulligan,” she 
said, “and the most modest. His firm has been established 
in Worcester for over a century, but he is old now, and 
he felt that he might not be able to do for my brother 
what a younger and more astute man could.”

It seems that the fame of Skin 0’ my Tooth had reached 
that remote corner of England through his sensational de­
fence of Gaston Ricketts in the celebrated cattle-maiming 
case. Ricketts was a Worcestershire man and his acquittal 
had made a great stir in the county.

“My brother and I have got a little bit of money, Mr. 
Mulligan,” Mary Straker went on with a wan, little smile. 
“You only need to name your fee------ ”

But this part of the interview was soon got over. Skin 
o’ my Tooth said very little—he never does say much—he 
just let her go on talking about her brother, his early youth, 
his misdemeanours, his life, which had been rather wild, 
then his departure for Australia, his determination to make 
good, his love for his mother.

“She died in his arms, Mr. Mulligan,” the girl con­
cluded, with a catch in her throat; “and he swore to her 
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then that he would continue to make good and always lead 
a straight life for her sake. To imagine for a moment after 
that, that he would go and quarrel with that bad woman 
over some wretched pearls, that he would murder her and 
then swear lies to the police, is impossible. He did not do 
it, Mr. Mulligan. God knows he did not do it ; but human 
justice does err at times, and—well, it’s no use saying any­
thing more—is it?”

I knew from the first that Skin o’ my Tooth would 
take the case up. It was just the sort of intricate problem 
that would appeal to him.

He asked her a great many questions which at the 
time must have appeared as irrelevant to her as they did 
to me, such as whether her brother always wore a smoking 
suit when he went out to dinner, and whether he habitually 
wore gloves. But what he did say to her at the close of 
the interview was characteristic of him and of his methods.

“Can you,” he asked the girl with that earnestness of 
conviction which had brought hope to so many despairing 
hearts, “can you cast aside all sorrow and fear outwardly 
for a time? Have you sufficient confidence to act a part 
under my guidance and sufficient pluck to see it through?”

She looked him straight between the eyes and replied 
briefly: “Any amount.”

“Then listen to me,” he concluded solemnly. “If your 
brother is innocent he shall not hang, for I will bring the 
murderer of Adèle Hypnos to justice.”

Matters being satisfactorily settled thus far, Skin o’ my 
Tooth started on what he called his preliminary tour of 
inspection. He had a long interview with Major Straker, 
which apparently put him in rare good humour, after which 
I was allowed to accompany him and his friend Mr. Alver­
son of the C.I.D. to Madame Hypnos’ flat, where we were 
met by Inspector Richards, who was inclined to be both 
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truculent and argumentative. He and Skin 0’ my Tooth 
had never been friends.

Many days had, of course, elapsed since the tragedy, 
and even a super-Sherlock Holmes would have been hard 
put to it to find those traces of cigar-ash and burnt matches, 
or fragments of dust so dear to the amateur detectives of 
fiction. Richards had in his precise self-satisfied way re­
constituted the crime for us, pointing to each and every 
object just as he had found it, when first he arrived on 
the scene.

Nothing had been moved except the body of the 
murdered woman: there were the glasses with the dregs 
of whisky in them, upon the mantelpiece, the curved knife 
lying on the floor, the gallipot with the washing soda, the 
open drawers, the torn furniture. Skin 0’ my Tooth, silent, 
with eyes downcast and a gentle smile upon his nice pink 
face, made no attempt to interrupt. When Richards had 
finished he went all over the flat with him and examined 
every object as it was pointed out to him.

“How do you account for the absence of finger-prints?” 
he asked Richards when the tour of inspection was ended.

The inspector shrugged his wide shoulders.
“Just my contention, Mr. Mulligan,” he said; “Straker 

is an experienced criminal. He very nearly escaped gaol, 
as you know, when he was only nineteen. He took the 
precaution in this instance to wear gloves. We found a 
glove button in this room, with a bit of the glove clinging 
to it, where it had been torn during the struggle with his 
victim.”

“But you didn’t find the torn glove among my client’s 
effects, I understand.”

“No, we did not,” Richards replied. “He was clever 
enough to get rid of it before we came on the scene.”

“Though not clever enough to dispose of the pearls be­
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fore he went to Worcestershire. But there’s no accounting 
for criminal psychology, is there?” Skin o’ my Tooth con­
cluded with his imperturbable smile. “May I see the glove­
button, when next I call at the Yard?”

“Of course,” the inspector replied laconically. “You 
can have a good look at it whenever you like.”

IV

“An innocent man’s only hope of safety hanging on a 
glove - button, with a scrap of yellow washing kid still at­
tached to it!” Skin o’ my Tooth remarked to me when 
we were back at the office. “Give me the evening paper, 
Muggins, and let’s think of something else.”

And not only did he think casually of something else, 
but he appeared deeply absorbed in the account of the loss 
of a flexible diamond and emerald bracelet belonging to a 
certain Mrs. Dunfie. She had dined three or four nights 
ago at the Diplomatic Club, and on her return home had 
missed her bracelet. Advertisements and offers of reward 
had so far been of no avail. Skin o’ my Tooth became 
quite excited over a short paragraph in the Evening News 
relating to this matter and ordered me to bring him twenty 
or thirty of the latest back numbers of The Times. These 
we always keep at the office for a whole year, after which 
the files are accessible to the public at the British Museum. 
After Skin o’ my Tooth had turned over fourteen or fifteen 
of the most recent numbers, he gave a sigh of satisfaction.

“You’ll be interested to hear, Muggins, that Lady Orliffe 
lost a valuable diamond brooch the night she dined at Eu- 
gène’s just three weeks ago.”

After that he let the matter drop.
My chief wasn’t at the office the whole of the next day, 

but I went round in the evening to see him at his rooms.
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He was sitting in dressing-gown and slippers reading a 
French novel: his face was pink, his eyes downcast, and I 
was quite sure that the smile which curled round his lips 
was not due to the humour of M. Dekobra.

“I’ve done a good day’s work, Muggins,” he said to me.
“I’m sure you have, sir,” I replied. Then as he re­

mained silent and still smiling I ventured to add: “Any 
further clues?”

“Only the glove-button, Muggins,” he rejoined with a 
sigh. “Only the glove-button and an Italian waiter.”

“Yes, sir?”
“We dine at the Majestic on Wednesday next, Muggins,” 

he went on with a chuckle. “Swallow tails, you know, and 
all that.”

“By ourselves, sir?”
“No, Muggins, no. I am the guest of the Count and 

Countess Zakreoski, and you will dine with Mr. Alverson and 
Richards at the next table. You’ll have some fun, Muggins, 
I promise you.”

“I’m sure of that, sir,” I retorted.
The following evening I was ordered by my chief to 

come round to his rooms at about ten o’clock. I found 
him in hat and coat, waiting for me: “Come along, Mug­
gins,” he said, “we’re going out”

My chiefs rooms are in the Adelphi. We took a taxi 
as far as the corner of Tottenham Court Road; then we 
walked up in the direction of Soho. Presently we turned 
into a smart-looking little restaurant in Percy Street. The 
name of the licensee over the door was Italian—Pincetti, I 
think it was—and the restaurant, I saw at a glance, was 
run on foreign lines—that is to say, the tables had been 
cleared of cloths, and so on, and the marble tops gave the 
appearance of a café rather than a restaurant. Some people 
—not many—sat about, some drinking coffee, others 
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liqueurs, and so on. It all looked very clean and respect­
able. We sat down at a table in a corner of the room and 
ordered coffee; my chief asked for the evening papers; no­
thing happened for a time. Skin o’ my Tooth appeared 
entirely absorbed in the Evening Standard, but I, over the 
edge of the Westminster Gazette, took stock of the company.

It was getting late. Signor Pincetti’s customers went 
out in groups of twos and threes until only two tables, be­
sides our own, remained occupied. At one of these sat a 
man who looked like a prosperous wine merchant or the 
manager of a successful catering establishment; he wore a 
top-hat on the back of his head, and had on a frock-coat, 
striped trousers, white spats, and a white waistcoat strained 
over a very portly stomach. His eyes were small and his 
face red and clean-shaven; a few strands of lank and greasy 
hair were carefully brushed across his bald cranium. He 
was in the company of two young women, who were smeared 
with paint up to their eyes and very showily dressed, and 
all the time that he talked with them, with great volubility, 
he was chawing the end of a fat cigar; though at times he 
raised his voice to make a facetious remark or utter a loud 
guffaw, he would quickly lower it again, and for the most 
part talked in a kind of hoarse whisper, quite impossible 
to follow. The women said very little; they smoked cigar­
ettes all the time and giggled in response to the man’s 
jokes.

At another table sat a quiet-looking man who might 
have had something to do with the Russian Ballet or been 
a member of the Queen’s Hall Orchestra. He looked like 
a Scandinavian, but might have been a German. He had 
quantities of untidy, very fair hair, one unruly curl of which 
fell right down over his left eye, and a fair beard and 
moustache. His dress was very slouchy, and he wore his 
shirt in that horrible foreign fashion, open very low down 
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at the neck, with a wide, soft kind of Eton collar and a 
huge butterfly bow of a tie. He was with a very quiet­
looking middle-aged woman, and the two did not appear 
to hold much conversation together.

Behind the desk sat a fat, foreign-looking woman of the 
usual type, and a pale-faced boy in a white coat and black 
trousers was in attendance behind the bar.

I had just finished taking stock of this mixed company 
when a belated customer came in—obviously an Italian, 
who might have been a waiter. He was quite young and 
very neatly dressed. He threw his hat down on a chair 
and then sat down and ordered a vermouth. For the next 
quarter of an hour he appeared to be absorbed in an Italian 
newspaper which he had taken out of his pocket, but it 
struck me that he cast more than one glance in our direc­
tion. Presently he got up and went to the bar, presumably 
to pay for his drink, but I couldn’t see exactly what he was 
doing, because his back was towards us. Then he went out 
of the restaurant. It was getting near closing time; the 
man in the frock-coat and the top-hat called to the waiter 
and paid for his drinks; the Scandinavian, on the other 
hand, did the same as the Italian and paid at the bar. We 
were the last to leave.

We walked for a bit and then took a taxi. As soon as 
we were inside, Skin o’ my Tooth rubbed his hands to­
gether as if in complete satisfaction, and said:

“Now our little party will be quite complete.”
Then he told me what he had done. He had prevailed 

on Count Zakreoski to organise a dinner-party at the Majestic 
which would comprise all those who had been present on 
the night when the Kazan pearls were stolen.

“I wanted not only the same guests to be there, but 
the dinner served by the same staff of waiters. At first I 
approached the Countess herself. She is a very handsome 
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woman, Muggins, and knows her own mind; though I be­
lieve that her father was a window-cleaner in Seattle, she 
treated me from the height of her aristocratic position as if 
I were dirt. Her decision was final; she would have no­
thing to do with any scheme that might defeat the ends of 
justice. In her view, Major Straker had murdered his con­
federate, that odious Madame Hypnos, and the best thing 
that could happen would be that he should be hanged.

“I couldn’t move her,” Skin o’ my Tooth went on with 
a chuckle, “until her husband unexpectedly appeared upon 
the scene. He was very stiff and pompous too, but ap­
peared sympathetic, and, what’s more, his magnificent wife 
seemed to stand somewhat in awe of him. Anyway, in spite 
of the lady’s antagonism, I told him about my scheme, and 
in his pompous and condescending way he fell in with it, 
and simply ignored his wife’s opposition. She was furious 
with me, of course, and if looks could kill I shouldn’t be 
here now. The dinner-party was then fixed for Wednesday 
next, and Count Zakreoski promised me that he would in­
vite all the same guests who had been present at the 
previous gathering. The next question was that of the staff 
of waiters. I went to the Majestic and interviewed the head 
waiter. A substantial tip got me what I wanted—namely, 
the man’s promise that all the waiters who had served 
dinner on the previous occasion would do so again this 
time. Then he hesitated a moment and said: ‘I was for­
getting; Boceo is no longer here.’ Boceo was one of the 
waiters, it seems, and he had left some time ago to go to 
Eugène’s. I flew to Eugène, only to be told that Boceo was 
now at the Diplomatic. Here I ran my elusive gentleman 
to earth. I got Richards to set one of his men watching 
his movements, and heard this morning that Boceo went 
most nights to have a drink at the Restaurant Continental 
in Percy Street, also that he was apparently out of work, 
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having lost his job at the Diplomatic a few days ago. Back 
I went to the Majestic, and once more by dint of a tip 
prevailed on the head waiter to offer Boceo a temporary 
job, and as Count Zakreoski has also fallen in with a 
pleasant little scheme of mine, I feel sure that our little 
party on Wednesday will be very successful.”

I was rather intrigued to know why Skin o’ my Tooth 
had been so keen on running that one waiter to earth. At 
the time of the loss of the Kazan pearls all the waiters had 
been closely interrogated, searched, and watched. I didn’t 
quite see what the chief hoped to attain by this reunion of 
all the minor actors in the previous drama.

“It didn’t strike you, Muggins,” he said with a smile, 
“that Lady Orliffe lost her diamond brooch at Eugène’s a 
fortnight after the Kazan pearls episode, and that Mrs. 
Dunfie lost her bracelet at the Diplomatic a fortnight after 
that. Compare that with Bocco’s odyssey, and you will 
understand why I am so keen on his being a member of 
our pleasant little party on Wednesday.”

The evening came. Mr. Alverson and Richards met me 
at my rooms, and we went on to the Majestic, well supplied 
with money for our dinner, given to us by Skin o’ my Tooth. 
Soon after we arrived, Count Zakreoski’s party filed into the 
restaurant. I had understood from my chief that he would 
be with them, but he certainly was not there. To my 
astonishment, however, a little later on I saw Mary Straker 
come in. She looked excessively pretty, and not only was 
she beautifully dressed, but she wore a beautiful row of 
pearls round her neck; indeed, I didn’t recognise her at 
first, so different did she seem to the pale-faced, tearful girl 
I had seen at our office. She was accompanied by a stout, 
florid man of obviously foreign nationality, with thick black 
hair and heavy dark moustache. They sat at a table not 
far from Count Zakreoski’s party.
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It was towards the end of the dinner that Count 
Zakreoski, turning casually in the direction of Mary Straker 
and her foreign companion, seemed to recognise the latter 
and, rising from his seat, went to greet him most cordially. 
They talked as if they were old friends, and Mary Straker 
was then introduced to the Count. The result of this little 
episode was that Count Zakreoski persuaded Mary Straker 
and her companion to join his friends for coffee and liqueur 
in the lounge. Mr. Alverson, Richards, and I also adjourned 
to the lounge, and the first thing I noticed was that it was 
the waiter Boceo who was serving coffee to Count Zakreoski’s 
party. The next moment I had recognised my chief in 
Mary Straker’s foreign companion. Never had I seen such 
marvellous disguise, and it said much for Count Zakreoski’s 
powers of self-control that, though he was, of course, aware 
of the comedy, never for one instant did he betray nervous­
ness or surprise.

The Countess was gay and chatty. She certainly wras 
a very handsome woman. Mary Straker had evidently 
been given the task of flirting w’ith Mr. Morley-Everitt, and 
this she was doing to perfection. The party broke up just 
before closing time. My chief had appointed to meet me 
directly after that at the Continental Restaurant in Percy 
Street, whilst Mr. Alverson and Richards lingered a little 
while longer in order to give final instructions to the staff 
of detectives outside, who were being told off each individ­
ually to shadow every single member of the party as well 
as every one of the waiters.

I was the first to arrive at the Continental. The place 
was not very full. Sitting at a corner table I noticed the 
florid man whom on our previous visit we had put down 
as a prosperous caterer. He was alone this time. Soon 
Skin o’ my Tooth turned up. He was still in his marvel­
lous disguise as the black-haired foreign plutocrat. I noticed 
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that, as he entered, the florid man gave him a quick, 
searching look and then glanced across to the pale-faced 
boy at the bar, who gave an almost imperceptible shrug. 
Presently the young, shock-haired Scandinavian came in. 
He, too, was alone this time. The florid man gave him a 
sign, and he then went across and sat down at the other’s 
table. They both glanced once or twice in our direction.

It was now close on eleven o’clock; all the other 
customers had left. There were only the four of us in the 
place: Skin o’ my Tooth and I at one end of the room, the 
fair-haired Scandinavian and his florid friend at the other. 
Presently Skin o’ my Tooth rose and went across to the 
other table.

“You will forgive my saying this to you, my friends,” 
he said with a marked foreign accent, “that that ass Boceo 
will ruin us all if he goes on in that way.”

Quick as lightning the whole aspect of the room had 
changed the moment Skin o’ my Tooth began to speak. 
The boy at the bar ceased polishing his glasses, and came 
out, as it were, into the open; the fat woman at the desk 
had put down her pen, and, resting her elbows on the top 
of her books, appeared like a veritable statue of tense 
attention. Instinctively I had jumped to my feet, because 
I had seen that the shock-haired Scandinavian had sud­
denly thrust his right hand inside his coat. But Skin o’ my 
Tooth remained perfectly bland: he put up his podgy hand 
with a gesture intended to calm the agitation of all these 
persons so keenly on the alert, and, without waiting for an 
invitation, he sat down beside the young Scandinavian.

“It would be a mistake to try and shoot me, my young 
friend,” he said urbanely. “Shooting makes so much noise, 
what? . . . and the police, you know? . . . eh? . . . Would 
I know about Boceo if I was not your friend?”

Then, as the other two made no reply, but sat there 
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sullen but attentive, the Scandinavian still with his right 
hand inside his coat, Skin o’ my Tooth continued:

“Boceo made a mistake the night when he pinched 
the Kazan pearls . . . not? He had instructions to put 
them into the pocket of the young gentleman who sat at 
the left hand of our late lamented sister, Madame . . . 
what was her name? . . . Hypnos? . . . Like a fool he 
slipped those bee-oo-tiful pearls into the pocket of the young 
gentleman who sat on her right. And see what a lot of 
trouble we have had since . . . and our poor sister, Ma­
dame—er—Hypnos—what? She had to be put out of the 
way because she would not part with the few bee-oo-tiful 
pearls our young friend the Australian Major had unwill­
ingly left in her lily-white hands. . . . Pity, not? And now 
again this mistake. . . . Tut-tut! . . .”

“What do you mean, and who the devil are you?” the 
florid man blurted out in a rage, while the Scandinavian 
half drew his hand from under his coat, and from where 
I stood I caught sight of a small Colt which he was 
clutching.

“Who the devil are you?” he echoed, muttering be­
tween his teeth.

“Luckily,” Skin o’ my Tooth replied with a smile, “I 
am the man in whose pocket that fool Boceo slipped the 
pearls which he pinched at Claridge’s to-night, or we should 
have had more trouble . . . not?”

And, still smiling amiably, he drew out of his pocket 
the row of pearls which Mary Straker had been wearing at 
dinner. He passed them once or twice through his podgy 
hands, and then slipped them back quietly into his pocket. 
The others made a menacing gesture, and the pale-faced 
boy came a step or two nearer.

“Easy, easy, my friends,” Skin o’ my Tooth rejoined. 
“I am not going to quarrel with you over this business. I
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can’t get on without you, and you can’t get on without me, 
eh? In my nice little shop in Amsterdam I sell the trinkets 
which you find for me in England—not? I like you, my 
friends. I did not even quarrel with you when I did not 
get the Kazan pearls, which I should have had. So why 
quarrel now?”

Then he beamed at everyone around, including myself, 
and, pointing to me, he said:

“That is a young English friend of mine. He had a 
little misfortune a few years ago in connection with that 
forgery affair on the Colonial Bank, and so he is very 
devoted to me—very devoted to me. Now, shall not our 
other young friend here put up the shutters, and we will all 
have a bottle, or even two, of the best champagne this ele­
gant restaurant can supply. What?”

Again he beamed on us all. At another sign from him 
the pale-faced boy went to put up the shutters and closed 
the door of the restaurant. Skin o’ my Tooth was rubbing 
his podgy hands contentedly together, the woman at the 
desk smiled benignly, and the florid man appeared quite 
cheerful. Only the Scandinavian still looked somewhat 
sullen. When the boy had closed the shutters he fetched 
a couple of bottles of champagne from the back of the bar 
and placed them in their ice-buckets upon the table; he 
also brought four glasses.

“No! no!” Skin o’ my Tooth rejoined cheerily. “Are 
we not all friends? Are we not seven of us here to rejoice 
that that fool Bocco’s mistake did not bring more trouble 
on us all? Madame, too, eh?” he concluded, making a 
polite gesture of invitation in the direction of the woman 
at the desk, who came forward obviously very pleased. We 
now sat round the marble-topped table, I on one side of 
Skin o’ my Tooth, who had the Scandinavian on his left. 
He was still beaming on the company in general while he
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poured out the champagne. The florid man and the 
Scandinavian had exchanged a quick glance. I could see 
that suspicion still lurked in their minds. Then the Scan­
dinavian shrugged his shoulders, and both the men dived 
into their pockets and brought out a pair of gloves, which 
they proceeded to put on, while Skin o’ my Tooth con­
tinued to chatter pleasantly:

“Ah!” he said, turning to the Scandinavian, “a very 
wise precaution—very wise indeed. One never knows, eh? 
Finger-prints are tiresome things—not?—on glasses or bottles 
of champagne, eh? You are wise, my friend, very wise, to 
make it a hard-and-fast rule never to------ ”

The next moment he had grabbed the Scandinavian’s 
right hand, and at the same time shouted to me:

“Shoot, Muggins!”
Acting on his instructions, I was armed with a Colt 

that night.
While Skin o’ my Tooth gave the word of command, 

“Hands up!” which was instantly obeyed, he kept his eyes 
fixed on the Scandinavian, and his hand gripped the man’s 
wrist. No one knows better than yours truly how steel-like 
my chief’s grip can be, and I could see the Scandinavian’s 
cheeks blanch with the pain. I had already fired off my 
Colt. It was a signal for Richards and his men, who had 
made their way into the house through the back entrance. 
They came into the restaurant with a rush. I was covering 
the florid man, who I thought was probably armed and 
might offer desperate resistance; the other two were ob­
viously terrified and gave no trouble whatever.

“Take off that elegant fair wig from my friend here,” 
Skin o’ my Tooth said to Richards, “and the beard, of 
course. A charming disguise, my dear Mr. Everitt,” he 
continued blandly. “I myself was deceived the first time 
I saw you here.”
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Indeed, no one was more surprised than I was when, 

after Richards had removed the shock-haired wig and the 
beard, Mr. Morley-Everitt appeared before us all, all the 
starch gone out of him, his face beneath its make-up wan 
and drawn from the terrible vice-like grip still upon his 
wrist.

“And now the glove, Richards,” Skin o’ my Tooth 
went on calmly.

Just for an instant Everitt made a desperate effort, not 
so much to free himself as to destroy the proof of his guilt 
in the murder of Madame Hypnos. Lowering his head, 
he dragged at the glove on his right hand with his teeth. 
But, of course, the effort proved futile. Already he was in 
the grasp of Richards and his men, who held his arms 
pinioned while Skin o’ my Tooth quietly removed the 
glove. There was the tell-tale tear; the button with the 
piece of kid still hanging to it fitted the place exactly.

Once the police held the principal members of this 
gang of malefactors, they quickly enough followed up the 
clue till they brought the whole lot to justice. All Skin o’ 
my Tooth’s deductions proved to be correct. The florid 
man—whose name was Pincetti, and who was the pro­
prietor of the Continental Restaurant—was the head of 
the organisation; Boceo the waiter and Morley-Everitt were 
his principal lieutenants, but there were about a dozen 
others, all of them young men about town, smart, im­
pecunious, who had chosen this means of earning a liveli­
hood. Boceo was a marvellous sleight-of-hand trickster; it 
was his business to detach the piece of jewellery from a 
woman’s arm or neck, and he had orders to drop “the 
swag” into the pocket of any member of the gang who 
happened to be present. At the time of the theft of the 
Kazan pearls he had never seen Morley-Everitt without 
disguise. As Skin o’ my Tooth so cleverly, guessed, he had 
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been ordered to slip the pearls into the pocket of the 
young man who sat on the left of Madame Hypnos, and 
by some unexplainable error he thrust them into Major 
Straker’s pocket, who sat on her right.

Viewed from that angle, and with Sir Arthur Inglewood 
as his counsel, the case against the Australian soon col­
lapsed. But the jury at the trial of Morley-Everitt did not, 
I suppose, consider the evidence of the glove button suf­
ficient on which to find him guilty of murder. It went to 
prove that Everitt had visited the flat that night, but not 
that he had murdered the woman. Anyway, the whole 
gang got several years’ hard labour, and are still doing 
“time.” The Countess Zakreoski fought hard to get Morley- 
Everitt’s share in the whole thing hushed up, but the hus­
band refused to be a party to an attempt at trying to 
defeat the ends of justice. He had fallen in with wonderful 
sympathy with Skin o’ my Tooth’s scheme on behalf of 
Major Straker, and had played his own rôle in the comedy 
admirably. I suppose, on the other hand, that he con­
sidered it luck that the Countess’ name was not dragged 
into the case, for everyone was convinced that she herself 
was a party to the theft of her pearls; she probably knew 
nothing about the gang and thought that her stepson would 
be the one to restore the lost pearls to her and to receive 
the £10,000 reward offered by Count Zakreoski, her hus­
band.

V. THE CASE OF MAJOR GIBSON

I

I have always wondered why Skin 0’ my Tooth was so 
unpopular in his own profession. He had very few friends 
among his colleagues, but those he had were certainly very 
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stanch. I have heard it said that his ways were “un­
professional”; certain it is that he avoided actual litigation 
for his clients whenever that was possible. I suppose that 
would be called unprofessional.

Personally I never met a man of such varying moods. 
Over that Swanborough murder case he was alert, un­
canny, and irritatingly active; over Major Gibson’s case he 
always looked as if he were going to sleep and as if any 
trashy French novel were more interesting than the honour 
of his client.

Now, I remember when Major Gibson first called upon 
him and told him his story, I thought to myself: “Here’s 
the prettiest kettle of fish that ever Skin o’ my Tooth had 
placed before him.” He was a good-looking man, this 
Major Gibson; but the day he called at the office he looked 
as white as a ghost. He began by saying that unless Mr. 
Mulligan would help him, he had made all arrangements 
for committing suicide.

I could see that he did not quite know how to begin; 
Skin o’ my Tooth did not evidently come up to the imagin­
ary portrait the gallant Major’s imagination had drawn for 
himself. I must say that my esteemed chief looked par­
ticularly fat, pink, and inane that morning.

“I always like to hear the story from the beginning,” 
he said as he quietly—without asking his client’s leave— 
lighted a huge German long-stemmed pipe. For a moment 
I thought that the Major was going to make an ass of 
himself and leave the room and go and commit suicide, 
sooner than tell his tale to an ill-mannered Irish lawyer; 
but he was in a tight hole, and he kept his temper.

“About a month ago,” he began at last very abruptly, 
“I was staying at Belcher Hall, Mr. Everard’s place in Rut­
landshire. There was a good deal of gambling going on 
there in the evenings. I am not a rich man; I disapprove
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—on principle—of playing games of hazard; nevertheless, 
I played and lost one night------ ”

“Dates, please, wherever possible," interrupted Skin o’ 
my Tooth quietly.

“October 18th,” said Major Gibson, whilst I, knowing 
what would be expected of me presently, made as rapid 
shorthand notes as my imperfect training would allow. “At 
about 11 p.m. I at last left the baccarat-table at Belcher 
Hall, with my last possible cheque on my current account 
drawn to bearer, and promissory notes amounting to close 
on £8,000 in the hands of various gentlemen, my fellow­
guests in the hospitable mansion of Belcher Hall. I must 
say that Everard was exceedingly nice to me later on in 
the billiard-room, when we had a smoke and a drink to­
gether. I was a fool, and mistook his kind words for 
genuine sympathy; I admitted to him that I had lost a 
great deal more than I could possibly afford, and that 
there was nothing for it but I must exchange into some 
Indian regiment and put off my proposed marriage until 
I had in some measure retrieved my heavy losses, or, if 
the lady were unwilling to wait, to give her back her word 
and her liberty. I think Everard must have understood 
how hard this would be to me. Only a month ago I had 
become engaged to his wife’s niece, Miss Marion Sutcliffe, 
to whom I was passionately attached. I am not a young 
man, and I do not fall in and out of love as quickly as 
some of my contemporaries.”

He broke off abruptly; evidently the subject of Miss 
Marion was still a sore one.

“How long did the interview last—with Mr. Everard, 
I mean?” asked Skin o’ my Tooth quietly.

“At twelve o’clock precisely I left him, intending to go 
to bed; but as I knew I should find it very difficult to get 
to sleep, I strolled into the library, a beautiful room on the 
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ground floor, with deep-mullioned windows. I meant to 
get a book and then retire to my bedroom. I remember 
that the room was quite dark when I went in. as the heavy 
curtains had been drawn closely across the deep window 
recesses. As I did not know where and how to switch on 
the electric light, I went up to one of the windows, meaning 
to draw the curtains aside and to let a flood of moonlight 
into the room. But the garden looked so fine and poetic, 
and I felt so moody and wretched that, quite contrary to 
my usual habits, I sat down in one of the deep window­
seats and stared out, mooning, thinking of nothing in par­
ticular, into the garden before me. How long I remained 
there I cannot tell you. Certain it is that suddenly I be­
came aware that someone was in the library besides myself. 
I had not heard the door open or shut, and I did not know 
who the someone was. I only inferred that it was a lady, 
for I could hear the tap-tap of high-heeled shoes upon the 
parquet floor as she, in her turn, went up to one of the 
windows.”

Major Gibson paused a moment here, giving me time 
for the space of thirty seconds at least to stretch out my 
cramped muscles. Skin o’ my Tooth had not said a word; 
he was looking down at the meerschaum bowl of his long­
stemmed pipe, whilst a coy and gentle smile played round 
the fat corners of his mouth. Major Gibson passed his 
hand across his forehead once or twice; I know that he 
was cursing himself for the fool he had been at 1 a.m. on 
the memorable night of October 18th last.

“I can assure you,” he said at last, “that nothing in 
particular crossed my mind when I heard the tap-tap of 
those high-heeled shoes; certainly the next moment I should 
have made my presence known to the midnight wanderer; 
but just then I happened to have my head turned towards 
the garden, and to have caught sight of the figure of a 
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man cautiously making his way towards the library windows, 
whilst keeping as much as possible within the shadow of 
the trees. A second later I had heard a gentle whistle, the 
window farthest from the one in which I was sitting was 
opened, then shut, and I realised that the most discreet 
and prudent thing I could now do was to keep as quiet 
as I possibly could for the present, and, if I were detected 
later on, to feign a deep and uninterrupted sleep.”

“Discreet and prudent,” commented Skin o’ my Tooth 
with a smile. “It is strange how we all differ in the 
meaning of those two words.”

“I am wise, too, now, after the event,” retorted Major 
Gibson a little impatiently. “At the time I did not think 
I was doing the slightest harm, either to myself or to the 
two who were having this clandestine meeting at this extra­
ordinary hour. Remember, the room was quite dark; the 
man, whoever he was, had evidently slipped in through the 
window, and no one had drawn the curtains. I heard 
some hurried whispers, then the man spoke impatiently. 
‘Have you brought them, anyway?’ What the lady replied 
I could not hear, but it was evidently satisfactory, for he 
said quite loudly: ‘That’s all right—let’s have a look.’ I 
remember it struck me at the time that the midnight inter­
view did not seem particularly tender. It came very soon 
to an end, too. Curiosity is supposed to be a feminine 
vice, but I can assure you that at that moment I was 
positively devoured with curiosity as to who the lady was 
who could thus risk the whole edifice of her social position 
for the sake of some individual who was evidently un­
scrupulous, and obviously was none too tender. I again 
heard the click of the shoes: the lady was returning to her 
own room, leaving the man to find his way out alone. I 
put one finger on the curtain, hoping to catch a glimpse 
of her, but I only saw the shimmer of a green satin frock 
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as a ray of moonbeam caught it when she glided out of 
the room.

“I remembered all the ladies who were staying in the 
house; I had seen them in the drawing-room before that 
miserable baccarat party. I remember, too, that Mrs. 
Everard, our beautiful hostess, who was very fair, wore a 
magnificent green satin gown. I also remembered that 
Marion—my Marion—Mrs. Everard’s niece, had looked 
bewitching in a clinging green frock all shimmering with 
beads. Of course, Marion was out of the question—you 
will understand that, won’t you?—the very thought was 
preposterous; but Mrs. Everard, my friend’s wife, young, 
pretty—I assure you my head was in a whirl. I had not 
moved. I had forgotten the man until a flood of brilliant 
light startled me from my dream. I had pushed aside the 
curtains. Immediately beneath one of the electric light 
brackets, which he had evidently just switched on, a man 
was standing with his back to me; he was examining in­
tently something which he held in his hand. My instinct 
was to knock him down then and there, like the foul thief 
he was; but I suppose I must have made a noise when I 
crossed the room, for he turned before I could reach him. 
I then saw what he held in his hand. It was the long rope 
of pearls which I had before now seen round Mrs. 
Everard’s neck.

“I really don’t think,” continued Major Gibson, after 
another little pause, “that I can tell you exactly what 
happened after that. All I can remember is that I had 
him on the floor, and that I would have killed him if he 
had not at last reluctantly given me back that rope of 
pearls.”

“It did not strike you that it might be best to ring for 
some of the servants and to give him in charge like the 
thief he was?” asked Skin 0’ my Tooth after, a while, dur- 
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ing which he was contemplating the unfortunate Major 
through his half-closed lids.

“I thought of it for a moment—but----- ”
“But you did not do it?”
“No.”
“Why?”
“Because he swore to make a scandal if I denounced 

him. I had not seen the woman, and I was not sure; but 
there, on the floor, close to the door, was a bunch of pink 
roses which I had given to Marion a few hours ago.”

“I see,” said Skin o’ my Tooth, with a smile. There 
was silence in the room for a time, whilst I had a chance 
of cracking my knuckles, which were horribly stiff and 
cramped.

“I think I can guess what happened after that,” said 
Skin o’ my Tooth, at last taking the pipe out of his mouth. 
The Major did not reply, and he went on: “You sent the 
thief about his business, and you yourself were discovered 
five minutes later with that rope of pearls in your hand, 
unable or unwilling to give an account as to how you had 
come by it.”

Major Gibson nodded moodily.
“I met Everard just outside the library. He caught 

sight of the pearls in my hand, even before he had re­
covered from his surprise at finding me there at that hour. 
He asked me for an explanation. I could give him none— 
that is to say, I gave him one as near to the truth as I 
dared, which he, of course, disbelieved. I gave him back 
the pearls, and he told me at what hour I could get a train 
back to Town. He was supposed to be a friend of mine, 
but he thought me guilty. You see, he knew how heavily 
I had lost at cards. I had myself told him that I was sore 
pressed for money, and might have to break off my en­
gagement, and even to leave for India----- ”
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“Will you tell me what lie—I mean what explanation 
—you did give Mr. Everard?” interrupted Skin o’ my Tooth 
quietly.

“I told him that, on going into the library late at night 
to fetch a book, I had found a man there with Mrs. 
Everard’s pearls in his hands, that I had succeeded in get­
ting the pearls from him, but that he, in his turn, succeeded 
in getting away through the window.”

“He naturally asked you why you did not raise an 
alarm?”

“He did.”
“And also whether you would recognise the supposed 

thief if you saw him again? Quite so. Your replies not 
being very lucid, he drew his own conclusions. But forgive 
my interrupting you. You have not quite finished, I think?”

“I haven’t much more to tell you. It appears that the 
ladies went up to their rooms soon after twelve, the men 
staying down in the billiard-room to smoke. But at last 
everyone retired, and Everard himself was about to do the 
same when his wife—fully dressed still—met him on the 
stairs with the news that one of her most valuable strings 
of pearls had been stolen. She was putting away the jewels 
which she had just been wearing when she noticed that one 
of the cases was empty. Everard persuaded her to go back 
to her room, and he himself started on a tour of inspection 
round the house.”

“And met you?”
“And met me, as you say.”
“Then is that all you have to tell me?”
“That is all. Everard was up in time to see me before 

I left in the morning—he and Lord Combermury, the 
colonel of my regiment. Both tried to persuade me to con­
fess, and promised, as an inducement, that if I made a 
clean breast of it to them, and agreed to exchange into 
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some native regiment and to break off my engagement with 
Miss Sutcliffe, the whole matter should be hushed up.”

“And you promised------ ?”
“I promised nothing.”
“The result being------ ?”
“That the scandal has gone the round of the town. I 

have been requested to hand in my papers, and in my clubs 
it has been strongly hinted to me that I should be turned 
out unless I succeeded in clearing my character.”

“And so far you have not attempted to mention the 
lady’s name?”

“Would I not be branded as a worse blackguard than 
before for slandering a woman in order to try and save my 
own skin? And I was not sure, remember. I did not know 
who the lady was.”

“Have you any conviction now?”
The Major hesitated a moment, then he said quietly, 

“No.”

II

There was silence in the room for a long time after 
that. The Major was staring moodily into the fire, and Skin 
o’ my Tooth was puffing away at his old German pipe, 
smiling gently to himself. Presently he began to hum a 
tune, and looked so coy, and fat and comfortable, no wonder 
he jarred upon the unfortunate Major’s nerves.

“Well, sir?” said the latter at last very irritably.
Skin o’ my Tooth smothered a yawn.
“I was waiting,” he said.
“What for?”
“To hear what you are going to do.”
Here the Major swore vigorously.
“Do you think I should be here now,” he said, “if I 
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knew? The few friends I have got left advise a slander 
action, and I have come to consult you, as someone has 
told me that you were the ablest man in London in cases 
of this sort."

“That ‘someone,’ no doubt, said to you that you had 
a jolly bad case and required an unscrupulous devil like 
Patrick Mulligan to pull you through," remarked Skin o’ 
my Tooth drily.

I could see from the deep red on the Major’s bronzed 
cheek that my esteemed employer had guessed right.

Skin o’ my Tooth settled himself within the depths of 
his large, shabby leather armchair. He smothered another 
yawn with an attempt at politeness. He looked, in fact, as 
if he were getting very tired of the whole thing, and longed 
to get back to his favourite French novel, the yellow paper 
cover of which was even now protruding from one of the 
pockets of his ill-fitting coat.

“A slander action in this case would be a very ticklish 
matter," he said at last. “Mr. Everard, against whom, I 
suppose, you would enter it, would plead justification, and 
you must own that the circumstances of the case are de­
cidedly in his favour. He finds you in a very ambiguous 
position, and the explanations you give are terribly lame. 
You might get ‘damages one farthing,’ which would do you 
more harm than good, and effectually kill the last shreds 
of reputation you have got left. But there is one thing, of 
course, which can put you right, and that is a confession 
from the lady.”

“Impossible!”
“Why?”
“Is it likely?”
“I think so. You have come to me for advice. It is 

the only one I can give. Some of my more eminent col­
leagues would, no doubt, suggest an action. But these same 
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eminent gentlemen wili tell you that Patrick Mulligan has 
no reputation to mar. His ways are tortuous, his means 
unscrupulous. Perhaps they are right. Are you willing to 
adopt these wrays and means and follow my advice un­
reservedly? You will scrape through this hole by the skin 
of your teeth, I tell you, but I will pledge the evil reputa­
tion I have got that we’ll obtain a confession from the un­
known lady.”

“It would have to be a public one now, I am afraid, 
to do me any good.”

“It will be sufficient. I give you my------ No! I won’t
give you my word; it wouldn’t be much good to you; but 
ask the most disreputable character in the London slums 
when Skin o’ my Tooth has said, ‘I’ll do it,’ whether he is 
the man to break his word.”

No wonder the Major looked a new man. I have seen 
many a poor chap look like that when once they have had 
a square talk with Skin o’ my Tooth. By gosh! but he 
knows how to carry conviction with him; when he talks to 
a client or to the jury, it’s all the same—they run after him 
like a pack of sheep.

“And now, my dear Major,” he concluded, “which day 
will it be convenient for you to meet Mr. Everard?”

“Meet Everard?” gasped the Major. “I wouldn’t care 
to . .

“Sir,” said Skin o’ my Tooth, with his gentle smile, 
“just now I used the word ‘unreservedly.’ I will not move 
in this matter unless I possess your entire confidence.”

The Major hesitated no longer. Skin o’ my Tooth was 
his last straw.

“You do what you think best,” he said doggedly; “but 
Everard will refuse.”

“Wednesday next, shall we say, at 3 p.m.? That will 
suit you? Muggins, make a note of that.”
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“Everard will refuse,” repeated the Major.
“I think not,” said Skin o’ my Tooth, with a smile. 

“Have I your permission to proceed?”
“As you will.”
“And you place yourself unreservedly in my hands?”
For one brief second the Major hesitated, while his 

sharp, clear, honest eyes scanned quickly the fat, unwieldy 
figure huddled up in the armchair, the sleepy eyes with 
their drooping lids, the ill-fitting, shiny black coat, with that 
yellow-backed French novel protruding from its pocket.

Skin o’ my Tooth sat there, with that coy smile of his 
playing round the comers of his mouth.

Then the Major, with a sudden, frank gesture, put out 
his hand and said firmly: “Without reserve.”

“Muggins, show the Major out,” said my chief, with 
sudden, obvious alacrity.

When I came back—having shown Major Gibson down­
stairs—I found Skin o’ my Tooth absorbed in his French 
novel. I waited for awhile; then, as he did not speak, I 
asked at last: “What am I to do now, sir?”

“Nothing, my boy, nothing,” he said airily. “Confine 
yourself to not being an ass for the rest of the afternoon; 
that will always be something accomplished. In the mean­
while, you can hand me down ‘Burke’s Landed Gentry’ 
from that shelf.”

I gave him the book he wanted.
Then he added: “By the way, Muggins, copy out your 

notes on a sheet of parchment and engross them neatly. 
We may require them in that form later on.”
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ПІ
Mr. Everard, strange to say, was willing enough to 

meet Major Gibson and his solicitor, and talk the matter 
over amicably if possible. I fancy he is a decent enough 
sort of a man, and was only too ready to see the end of 
this unfortunate business; moreover, I don’t suppose that 
he, either, cared to take his chances of defending a slander 
action. If by any chance Major Gibson did succeed in 
making his case good, he would get such thundering 
damages as even Mr. Everard—rich as he was—would not 
care to pay. It was finally arranged that Major Gibson, 
accompanied by Mr. Patrick Mulligan and myself, should 
be at Mr. Everard’s house in Park Lane on Wednesday at 
3.30 p.m. Of course, Mr. Everard’s solicitor would be 
present; also Lord Combermury, and—by the special re­
quest of Major Gibson, as represented by Mr. Mulligan— 
Mrs. Everard and Miss Marion Sutcliffe.

I had not the least idea, of course, what Skin 0’ my 
Tooth was up to, but the whole of that morning, while he 
was reading his French novel, I saw him smile to himself 
with that funny, coy, and gentle smile which always meant 
mischief to his adversaries.

I remember feeling at that interview very like a char­
acter in a French play. Everyone wore a black morning­
coat—except myself. Skin 0’ my Tooth’s was very shabby, 
and fitted him badly, and from the tail-pocket a yellow- 
backed book protruded very conspicuously.

We were shown into a fine dining-room, oak-panelled, 
magnificently furnished. There was a large fire in the big 
open grate, and the two ladies, when we came in (I did 
not know which was Mrs. Everard and which Miss Sutcliffe), 
were sitting close beside it.
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Skin o’ my Tooth put down his hat and drew from his 
pocket the notes of Major Gibson’s case which I had made 
and carefully copied out and engrossed. This he placed 
on a little side-table which stood close to the mantelpiece. 
Then all the gentlemen sat down round the large dining­
table, and the fun began.

Skin 0’ my Tooth started talking very quietly, I won­
dering all the time what he was driving at, and how he 
hoped to benefit the unfortunate Major by this extraor­
dinary comedy; but he went on talking, and I must confess 
that never in my life had I heard such a fine string of lies 
so magnificently uttered.

“I must thank you, ladies and gentlemen,” he said, 
“for so kindly acceding to my client’s request. He felt, as 
I do—as you will, I am sure—that nothing could be more 
deplorable than the dragging of this unfortunate affair be­
fore the public. Major Gibson has been—quite involun­
tarily, I feel confident, but still grossly—maligned. I will 
ask you, gentlemen, not to interrupt me just now; you can 
have your fling at us later on; for the present you must 
allow me to state positively that Major Gibson is not only 
absolutely innocent of the ugly charge of theft proffered 
against him, but is even now the victim of a code of honour 
as chivalrous as it is misdirected.”

Skin 0’ my Tooth then, with perfect suavity, started a 
highly-coloured account of the incidents in the library at 
Belcher Hall, as related to him by Major Gibson. The 
moonlit garden, the dark room, the tap-tap of the high­
heeled shoes, the clandestine meeting. The half-dozen 
people there present, all except myself, did their best to 
try and stop him, to sneer at him; ejaculations, muttered 
in a whisper, broke out from every side. The ladies looked 
indescribably shocked and witheringly contemptuous. Mr. 
Everard looked ready to knock Skin o’ my Tooth down, 

“ Skin 0' my Tooth ” 8 
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and his legal adviser talked of “extraordinary allegations,” 
of “slander,” and “thumping damages.” But Skin o’ my 
Tooth sailed serenely on. When the interruptions became 
too loud, he shouted louder, and that was all.

“Now, gentlemen,” he said, “when you have quite done 
calling me a liar, I can get on all right. I don’t blame 
you. I don’t even mind telling you that I called Major 
Gibson a liar myself when I first heard his tale. You see, 
he kept telling me that he had no proof, no witnesses to 
corroborate what he had said. Now, I am not one for be­
lieving that there is ever a truth without any proof; and 
when my client left me I said to myself there must be some 
proof, some witness somewhere. Major Gibson did not re­
cognise the lady. Good! But in that large house and 
grounds of Belcher Hall, full to overflowing with visitors 
and servants, someone—I cared not who—must have seen 
that unknown woman in the green gown, or that man; 
some trace somewhere would be left of her passage or his, 
some sign, some indication, whether traced by man or by 
Fate.”

Gradually, as he spoke, I noticed that the attitude of 
his hearers had become considerably modified. There 
were no interruptions now, no whispered comments. Mr. 
Everard and the legal gentleman hung upon my chief’s 
words. The Major himself looked as if suddenly a bright 
vista of hope had been opened before him. As for the 
ladies, one looked pale and breathless, while the other, 
leaning back in her chair, kept up that air of dignified 
hauteur which some English ladies know how to wear when 
certain matters which they deem objectionable are dis­
cussed in their presence. In fact, when Skin o’ my Tooth 
paused for a moment and began fumbling in his pockets 
as if in search of something, this same haughty lady said 
quietly: “Do you think, Archibald, that in view of the
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matters which—er—Mr.—er—Mulligan seems fit to discuss 
here, I and my niece had better go?”

“I beg a thousand pardons,” said Skin o’ my Tooth 
urbanely. “I have finished, I assure you. Please do not 
go. The matter will interest you both. Have I your per­
mission to proceed? Many thanks. It is not necessary, I 
think, for me to dwell here upon the ways and means I 
employed on behalf of my client. You may imagine that 
I left no stone unturned.”

I was literally gasping, I can tell you. I am a pretty 
good liar myself on occasions. I would not enjoy Skin o’ 
my Tooth’s confidence if I were not. But I had to confess 
humbly to myself that in the face of Skin o’ my Tooth’s 
last assertion with regard to those stones, which to my 
certain knowledge were made of paper and were all yellow- 
backed, I was only a bungling botcher. But what I could 
not make out was what all his fumbling in his coat-pockets 
meant. I thought that he was looking for the notes, which 
I had written out so neatly, and which he had placed on 
the little side-table close to the mantelpiece. Not a bit of 
it. When I made a movement to get them for him, he 
looked at me, and I understood that I had better sit still 
and wait.

“I am quite sure,” continued Skin o’ my Tooth, after 
a dramatic pause, during which I noticed that his whole 
bulky figure seemed as it were to crouch ready for a spring, 
“that you will understand what a glorious day it was for 
me and for my client, Major Gibson, when at last my 
strenuous efforts were crowned with success. No, ladies 
and gentlemen! I was not mistaken. In that densely popu­
lated, magnificent mansion I had unearthed a man who, 
on that memorable night, was present near enough to the 
library of Belcher Hall to see the mysterious lady in the 
green gown give Mrs. Everard’s pearls to an unknown thief.

8*
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This man saw the whole scene from beginning to end. 
Reasons which I will explain to you presently, but which 
seemed paramount to him, forced him to silence, until I 
compelled him to speak. He saw, and would know again, 
the man who, like a thief in the night, bullied, then robbed, 
the woman who was fool enough to ruin her reputation for 
his sake; he heard the whispered conversation, saw the 
necklace pass from her hand to his; he recognised the 
mysterious lady in the green gown, and picked up, after 
she left, something which had belonged to her, which he 
holds still. . .

Skin o’ my Tooth was surpassing himself. All of us 
there felt as if electricity filled the air. I am sure I was 
shaking with excitement from head to foot; both Major 
Gibson and Mr. Everard were as pale as death, and I 
thought one of the ladies was about to faint. The other, 
whom I now knew was Mrs. Everard, had risen from her 
chair; she was now standing close to the little side-table, 
almost immediately behind Skin o’ my Tooth, who, sud­
denly dropping his voice and lolling placidly in his chair, 
said with gentle smile, in perfect matter-of-fact tones:

“Unfortunately, misfortune has dogged my steps, or 
rather those of my poor client. The witness I had so care­
fully unearthed died a couple of days ago most unex­
pectedly.”

I wondered if I were mistaken, but I certainly thought 
that I heard a very obvious sigh of relief from somewhere. 
Certain it is that the spell of excitement under which we 
all had lain was broken, and one or two ironical comments 
came from that end of the table where.Mr. Everard sat with 
his legal adviser.

But I knew that Skin o’ my Tooth had something up 
his sleeve; I knew that smile of his.

“However, before the man died, I had succeeded in 
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persuading him to swear an affidavit stating all that he had 
seen. This affidavit I have brought with me to-day, 
and . . .”

Then I knew what he had been driving at all along. 
He was on the alert, and so was I. In the midst of 
his neatly-told lie he stopped and pointed to my notes, 
which were lying on the side-table quite close to the 
chimney.

“Give me that affidavit, Muggins, my boy,” he said.
But before I could reach them, before even anyone 

else had realised what she was doing, Mrs. Everard, as 
quick as lightning, had seized the notes and thrown them 
into the fire, while she turned on Skin 0’ my Tooth and 
said defiantly:

“At any rate, that unfortunate woman’s name will now 
remain a secret for ever.”

Then I understood. I cared nothing about burning my 
fingers, but I did want to rescue the remaining fragments 
of my notes, as I knew they would be wanted.

Mrs. Everard was glaring at old Skin o’ my Tooth as 
if she were a hungry tigress. If looks could kill, my 
esteemed employer would have been a dead man then. 
As it was, he smiled placidly, and taking the fragments of 
half-burned paper from me, he quietly smoothed them out 
and placed them on the table before Mr. Everard; then 
he once more turned towards the angry lady.

“My dear lady,” he said very gently, “I feel that I 
have behaved towards you absolutely like the cad my 
eminent colleague here present no doubt will call me. Just 
at this moment I know that you hate me for the odious 
comedy I had devised in order to extort an unwilling con­
fession from you. Yes, my dear lady, a comedy and a 
confession. I don’t think that I am the only man present 
who knows that the Hon. Thornby Oakhurst, your brother, 
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is the grave thorn in a distinguished family’s flesh. That 
with somewhat impulsive thoughtlessness you tried to be of 
material assistance to him at a time that he was actually 
flying from the police and unbeknown to your husband, is 
only natural. That in trying to shield him and your own 
family honour, you allowed an innocent man to suffer so 
severely is only what, under the same circumstances, most 
of your sex would have done. Let me in my turn confess 
to you, and to Mr. Everard, to whom I must also offer my 
humblest apologies, that the only witness present on that 
fateful night was Major Gibson himself, and that the affi­
davit which you hoped to destroy consisted of my clerk’s 
notes of the facts taken under my unfortunate client’s dicta­
tion. There is no woman’s name mentioned throughout its 
few pages, but I think you will admit yourself that in try­
ing to burn that document you yourself with your dainty 
hand have plainly written your own.”

It is wonderful with what dignity Skin o’ my Tooth can 
speak when he likes. Mr. Everard looked as if he had 
some difficulty in standing straight. He did not look at 
his wile, and she did not attempt to speak. What would 
be the outcome of this extraordinary scene I could not 
conjecture. Evidently Skin o’ my Tooth was satisfied, for 
without another word he bowed to everyone, and, with 
Major Gibson, left the room, followed by my humble self. 
As I passed out of the door, I gave a final look round at 
the actors whom we had left on the stage. Mr. Everard 
had gone up to his wife, who had fallen sobbing into a 
chair. Miss Sutcliffe was kneeling beside her, trying to 
comfort her, and Lord Combermury and the solicitor looked 
as if they wished themselves safely out of the way.* * * * *

I must say Mr. Everard behaved very well in the matter; 
both he and Lord Combermury made it their business to 
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see that no shadow of a stain remained on Major Gibson’s 
reputation, though Mrs. Everard’s name has, of course, 
never been mentioned.

Major Gibson was married to Miss Sutcliffe about a 
month ago, and Mr. and Mrs. Everard gave a magnificent 
reception in their fine house in Park Lane in honour of the 
bride and bridegroom.

I suppose there was supper served in the room in 
which we had sat on that day.

Skin 0’ my Tooth was not asked to the wedding or to 
the reception. He would not have gone, anyhow.

VI. THE INVERTED FIVE

I

I think that I have made it clear by now why it is 
that Skin 0’ my Tooth is not popular among his colleagues. 
We all know that there is prejudice and petty spite in all 
professions, and the Law is no exception to this general 
rule.

Moreover, Skin 0’ my Tooth is totally unacquainted 
with the use of kid gloves. He works for the best of his 
client; let the other side look to themselves, I say.

Now take the case of young Newton Dampier. If ever 
I saw a man with the fatal noose already round his neck, 
there he was: good looking, not particularly intelligent, not 
particularly straight-laced where women were concerned, 
but a gentleman for all that, he had got himself into one 
of the worst messes a man had ever floundered in, and 
had it not been for Skin o’ my Tooth . . . but I am an­
ticipating.

How well I remember that morning when Sir Leopold 
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Messinger first called at the office. I took in his card 
myself, and as I went through I glanced at it. The card 
told me nothing, save his name and that of his club—the 
National Conservative. I had vaguely heard the name be­
fore in connection with racing, yachting, and other pluto­
cratic habits, including the fitting up during the war of his 
sumptuous yacht as a hospital ship for naval officers and 
the presentation of it to the Admiralty, which act of gener­
osity got him his title and half a column of fulsome flattery 
in the evening papers. Glancing through the window of 
our outer office, I had already caught sight of a gorgeous 
Hispano-Suiza, which was in thorough keeping with our 
visitor’s reputation for wealth, as well as with his appearance, 
which, despite his title and all that he had done for Eng­
land during the war, was not altogether English.

A minute or two later, while one of the boys showed 
Sir Leopold into the chief’s office, I took up my seat in the 
alcove, which, as I said before, Mr. Mulligan so poetically 
calls “Behind the Arras.” From this spot, sitting at my 
desk, notebook and pencil in hand, I could, without being 
seen, see and hear everything that went on during my 
chief’s interview with his clients, and record in shorthand 
every word of the conversation that passed between them. 
I believe that this practice of using a confidential clerk as 
a faithful and secret recorder of interviews and conversations 
is peculiar to Skin o’ my Tooth, and, I am told, that had 
it been universally known, at the time that he was still in 
practice, he would never have seen another client across 
his doors. But it is neither my purpose nor my business 
to justify so great a man as Patrick Mulligan in any one 
of his actions. Ali I need say is that my shorthand notes 
have done much in their time to save a man’s life from 
the gallows or secure the acquittal of one wrongfully ac­
cused.
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But to return to Sir Leopold Messinger. As I said be­
fore, he was distinctly un-English in appearance; large, 
stout, florid, with black hair carefully brushed across his 
cranium to hide the first signs of oncoming baldness. He 
wore a perfectly cut suit of dark tweed and held between 
his thick fingers a large cigar. His eyes, on the other 
hand, were extraordinarily kind and benevolent, his voice 
was gentle and persuasive, and his manner toward my 
chief particularly courteous and even deferential. He came 
very quickly to the point.

The governess of his children, a French girl of good 
family, who had been with him about six months, had 
mysteriously disappeared. She lived alone in a small flat 
in Maida Vale and came daily to Grosvenor Square at 
nine o’clock, gave lessons to the children, stayed to lunch, 
went out for a walk with them, and after tea went back 
to her flat. On Saturdays she usually went home directly 
after lunch.

Last Monday (this was Friday morning) she did not 
turn up, nor had she sent a note of excuse, which was 
curious, but at the time aroused no definite suspicion. But 
day followed day and still no news of Mlle, de Mery.

“I began to feel anxious,” Sir Leopold went on, “and 
yesterday I drove round to her flat in Maida Vale. There 
a neighbour of hers, a respectable-looking woman whom I 
happened to meet on the stairs, told me that nothing had 
been seen or heard of the girl since the previous Sunday, 
when she started off, presumably for a walk, sometime in 
the afternoon. Now what had not occurred to my in­
formant but struck me at once, was that last Sunday was 
a very foggy day. I tackled the woman about this, ex­
pressing my astonishment that she had done nothing in 
the way of informing the police when for days on end she 
had seen nothing of her neighbour. But you know what 
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people are in that class of life—clerks, shop-assistants, and 
so on; they have so many worries of their own they don’t 
trouble—as they call it—about other people.”

Sir Leopold’s large, kind eyes—in expression some­
thing like an amiable Pekingese—fixed themselves inquir­
ingly on the chief. But Skin o’ my Tooth’s face was utterly 
expressionless. I don’t know if you have ever seen him: 
vulgar minds have compared him to a Yorkshire pig. His 
skin was certainly roseate in colour, and he was what might 
be called corpulent. I think I mentioned before that he 
was as bald as an egg, and that his eyes were very small 
but penetrating, like gimlets. Usually they were expression­
less, encased in their fleshy lids, but at times he would 
have a way of looking down and pursing his mouth, for 
all the world like a coy Mid-Victorian maiden. I could 
detect now a certain hesitation in Sir Leopold’s manner, as 
if he were sorry he had come for advice to this fat fool of 
an Irishman. They all went through that phase, and Skin 
o’ my Tooth, as keen an observer as anybody, never made 
the slightest attempt to gain their confidence. He just 
would let them flounder along. Invariably they came round, 
and after the first interview trusted him implicitly.

Sir Leopold appeared to be pulling himself together as 
if he were making a desperate effort to chase away a night­
mare, then he resumed:

“It took me some time to persuade Mrs. Tomkins, or 
Hawkins—I think that was the name—firstly to make an 
attempt at effecting an entrance into Mlle, de Mery’s flat, 
and when this was proved to be impossible, her front door 
being locked, to inform the police at once. I felt, you see, 
that it was more her business than mine, but it was only 
after we had argued the point for nearly half an hour and 
other neighbours had assembled, adding their shrill voices 
to those of Mrs. Hawkins, that, in a fit of exasperation, I
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declared that I would go to the police myself at once, but 
that the Hawkins’ were not to be astonished if the police 
blamed them severely for failing to notify them of this 
mysterious disappearance. This frightened the woman 
effectually, and she promised me that directly her hus­
band came home—he was a clerk in an accountant’s of­
fice—she would see to it that he went to the police im­
mediately.”

Sir Leopold paused, and I must frankly admit that at 
this point I was completely off the scent. The way I had 
figured it out in my own mind was that Sir Leopold feared 
to be involved in some way in the disappearance of his 
children’s daily governess—that perhaps he had made love 
to her, even got her into trouble perhaps, and either he 
feared that the poor girl had thrown herself into the river, 
or he knew something about her fate, something that might 
land him in a criminal’s dock. But, as I say, I was follow­
ing the wrong scent. Sir Leopold Messinger had by now 
lost all traces of hesitation; his good-natured, doggie eyes 
were fixed with a pathetic, appealing glance on the chief, 
who sat behind his desk, immovable and coy, giving him 
no help in the unfolding of his narrative.

“I dare say you wonder, Mr. Mulligan,” he went on 
more glibly, “why I have come to you with this tale. I 
won’t talk platitudes and speak of your reputation. When 
I tell you that a man for whom 1 have the greatest respect, 
not to say affection, may be involved in this mysterious 
affair, you will easily understand my coming for advice to 
the one man who can throw light upon it. I am speaking 
of my confidential secretary, Mr. Newton Dampier. He has 
been with me for over two years. A finer, straighter 
character it would be impossible to conceive.”

Sir Leopold paused once more; his cigar had gone out, 
he groped in his pocket for matches, struck one or two 
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unsuccessfully, put down the cigar, pulled a handkerchief 
out of his pocket, and mopped his streaming forehead. 
But Skin 0’ my Tooth’s fat, pink face expressed nothing at 
all. He glanced down in that coy, Early-Victorian manner 
of his on his highly polishèd finger-nails, then he said 
with apparent indifference:

“And what about this Mr. Newton Dampier, Sir Leo­
pold?”

“He was passionately in love with Mlle, de Méry,” Sir 
Leopold replied slowly. Then he dropped his voice almost 
to a whisper and added: “On the Sunday afternoon in 
question he had arranged to call for her at her flat. They 
were going out for a walk together. This arrangement was 
rather vexing to me, because my family and I were spend­
ing the week-end with some friends at Brighton, and, as I 
had a great many arrears of correspondence to attend to, 
I wanted Dampier to come down with us. However, he 
put the matter of his engagement with Mlle, de Méry so 
urgently before me that I did not like to stand in the way 
of young lovers. My wife, the children, and myself motored 
down to Brighton on Saturday afternoon and returned on 
Monday morning. As I told you, we saw nothing of Mlle, 
de Méry either that day or the next. I questioned Dampier. 
He declared that he knew nothing about her—had, in fact, 
not seen her that Sunday afternoon; when he arrived at her 
flat, he rang and knocked in vain. She was obviously not 
at home, and had apparently forgotten her appointment 
with him. Dampier’s manner was very strange.” Sir Leo­
pold continued with a grave shake of the head: “Even 
my wife, who is not at all observant, remarked upon his 
gloominess and obvious abstraction. During the next two 
or three days, whenever I tried to question him, he answered 
me evasively, sometimes almost rudely. Of course, I made 
allowances for all that------ ” Sir Leopold gave a deep sigh; 
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when he spoke again there was a quiver in his gentle, even 
voice, but he looked Skin 0’ my Tooth very straight in the 
face. “One thing,” he said slowly, “that Mrs. Tomkins, or 
Hawkins, told me was that on the Sunday afternoon she 
saw a young gentleman, whom she had often seen before 
in the company of Mlle, de Méry, on the stairs, as if 
coming away from the girl’s flat. Mrs. Hawkins described 
him to me as looking very agitated and flushed, and as he 
went downstairs he was muttering incoherent words to him­
self.”

“Disappointment," Skin 0’ my Tooth murmured gently, 
“at finding the lady gone.”

“So it would appear, Mr. Mulligan,” Sir Leopold ad­
mitted with a sigh, “at first sight. But I must tell you 
that all along I was very uneasy about Dampier; his manner 
was so very strange. But what brought my anxiety to a 
head, and actually caused me yesterday to drive over to 
Mlle, de Mery’s flat, was that in the morning, after I had 
dictated a couple of letters to Dampier, he told me that 
he had a terrible headache and asked me if I would mind 
his going home to rest for an hour or two. He hoped to 
be better by the afternoon, and would then return. Natur­
ally, I urged him by all means to go and rest. After he 
had gone I had occasion to go to the room in my house 
where he has his desk and typewriter and does his work 
for me. Theie was a fire in the grate and some charred 
papers among the ashes. One of these, only partially 
burned, was lying in the fender. What prompted me to pick 
it up I could not for the life of me tell you. But I did 
pick that paper up, and I glanced at it. Here it is, Mr. 
Mulligan,” Sir Leopold concluded, and his trembling fingers 
fumbled in the pocket of his overcoat, drew out a pocket­
book, and, extracting a creased, half-charred scrap of paper 
from it, held it out to my chief.
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That letter—it was a mere fragment—was subsequently 
photographed, and here is a reproduction of it:

My chief looked at the fragment carefully, turned it over 
and over between his fat fingers, then asked briefly:

“The handwriting?”
“Unmistakably that of Mlle, de Méry,” Sir Leopold 

replied. “I know it well.”
“Anyone else know it?”
“Oh yes! My wife—the children------ ”
“And the signature?”
“Likewise. Her name was Florine. There must be a 

specimen of it in the children’s exercise books.”
There was silence for a moment or two after that, 

Skin o’ my Tooth sitting with his podgy hands clasped 
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before him. I could hear the ticking of the old clock on 
the mantelpiece. Somehow I did not feel great interest in 
this commonplace tale of lovers’ quarrel, culminating in 
crime. One hears so many tales of that sort these days. I 
thought, too, that Mr. Mulligan looked bored, and was 
marvelling whether he would refuse to take up the case on 
some pretext or other. Presently he asked his client:

“And what is it, Sir Leopold, that you wish me to do 
in the matter? For the moment I don’t quite see------ ”

“Of course you don’t,” Sir Leopold broke in eagerly. 
“I should have told you at once, but I am so upset, you 
understand? Newton Dampier is like a son to me, and— 
Mr. Mulligan, I am as convinced as that I am alive that 
the boy is innocent, that I foresee trouble for him, and I 
want you to see that he gets out of it. Spare no expense, 
Mr. Mulligan; I am footing this bill.”

Once more there was silence in the fusty old room. I 
imagined that the chief was weighing the importance of the 
affair in his mind. Personally I didn’t think that Sir Leo­
pold’s request stood much chance. Skin 0’ my Tooth at 
the moment had several Crown cases on hand, notably one 
relating to some mysterious cases of cocaine smuggling; 
this in addition to his other work was taking up so much 
of his time that I had often recently heard him declare that 
he would not undertake any more work, unless it were of 
a specially interesting character. My astonishment was 
great, therefore, when, after a moment or two, he broke the 
silence which appeared to be weighing down Sir Leopold’s 
spirits.

“Do you happen to know, Sir Leopold,” he said, and 
with one podgy finger tapped the scrap of paper which he 
still held in his hand, “what caused Mlle, de Méry—is that 
the name?—to write this letter to your friend?”

Sir Leopold appeared to hesitate before he replied :
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“I don’t know, Mr.Mulligan—that is----- ”
“Had she another lover?”
“Yes!” Sir Leopold replied more resolutely. “She had, 

I am certain. Otherwise she never would----- ”
“Could he, for instance,” Skin 0’ my Tooth went on as 

his client paused, obviously irresolute, as if unwilling to 
put his thoughts into words, “ could he have been the man 
whom Mrs. Hawkins saw on the stairs that Sunday after­
noon ? ”

“I’m afraid not,” Sir Leopold replied. “She described 
the man to me: tall, fair, curly hair, hazel eyes, slight 
toothbrush moustache. The description was unmistakable. 
Whereas the other man whom Mlle, de Méry had favoured 
of late was very dark and foreign looking----- ”

“Do you know him? Personally, I mean?”
“Yes! Horatio Dreyfus. He is a distant relation of my 

wife’s. He came to lunch one day at my house, and there 
met Mlle, de Méry.”

“And he lives?”
“Abroad mostly. But just now he is staying at the 

Majestic.”
Without any further comment, Skin 0’ my Tooth touched 

the bell-push on his desk. This was the signal for me to 
slip out of my cubby-hole through a door behind me, and 
then ostentatiously to knock and enter by the main door 
of the office.

“ Ring up Mr. Alverson at Scotland Yard,” the chief 
said to me, as soon as I appeared, “and ask him what has 
been done in connection with the disappearance of the 
French girl which was reported to the police last night.”

I don’t, of course, know what occurred between the 
chief and his new client in the interval while I was on the 
telephone, but when I returned 1 found Sir Leopold on the 
verge of tears of joy and gratitude.
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“ If you get the boy out of this mess, Mr. Mulligan,” he 
was saying, “there is no fee that you could ask me that I 
would find too high.”

Skin o’ my Tooth was twiddling a cigarette between his 
fingers, his eyes were downcast, and there was a gently coy 
smile playing round his lips. He listened apparently un­
moved to Sir Leopold’s expressions of exuberant gratitude 
then, and his calm appeared in strange contrast to the other 
man’s excitement. He asked quietly:

“ What did you know of this Mlle, de Mery, Sir Leopold, 
before you engaged her as governess for your children?”

“I didn’t engage her,” Sir Leopold replied; “my wife 
did. She had put an advertisement in The Times. Mlle, de 
Mery presented herself. She appeared pretty, refined, very 
well read: she had what the French call her Brevet Supé­
rieur, which showed her to have had a splendid education; 
she also had some warm letters of recommendation from 
the Mother Superior of a convent in Belgium who had 
known her intimately.”

“And on the strength of these facts you engaged her?”
Sir Leopold shrugged his massive shoulders. “My wife 

took to her,” he said, “and I must say that she never had 
cause to regret her choice. We were all of us very fond of 
Mlle, de Méry.”

“And what about this convent in Belgium? Where 
is it?”

“Ah!” Sir Leopold replied with a quick sigh, “that’s 
the trouble. My wife and I were trying to recollect the 
name and address. We questioned the children. But alas! 
neither name nor address impressed itself upon our minds.”

At this point Skin 0’ my Tooth looked up and caught 
my eye. I had, of course, to deliver the message which had 
come to me over the phone.

“What is it, Muggins?” he queried curtly. It was his
“Skin 0' my Tooth" 9 
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pleasure, you understand, to call me Muggins, though my 
name is, as you know, Alexander Stanislaus Mullins. I gave 
him the message which I had received from Mr. Alverson, 
a personal friend of my chief who is on the staff of the 
C.I.D. at Scotland Yard. He told me that, as a matter of 
fact, the body of an unknown young woman had been lying 
for two days at the Thames Police Court mortuary pending 
identification. The body was found under Wapping Bridge, 
and, according to the divisional surgeon’s testimony, had 
then been in the water three days. The face had been so 
battered in by some heavy instrument that, in consequence 
of the terrible wounds so inflicted, decomposition had al­
ready set in very rapidly. Undoubtedly it would prove un­
recognisable save to a very intimate friend or near relative. 
The body, on the other hand, had one distinguishing mark, 
a circular scar something like a large vaccination mark, on 
the right deltoid, which, in the opinion of the divisional 
surgeon, had been made comparatively recently by the 
application of corrosive acid.

There was no clothing of any kind on the body, but it 
was wrapped round from neck to foot in several yards of 
black material, like swaddling clothes, held in place by a 
large metal brooch of hammered metal, triangular in shape, 
with, in the centre, a large inverted five. A stained linen 
handkerchief was knotted loosely round the throat—it liad 
no initial on it, only a laundry mark—and underneath the 
handkerchief the neck showed the marks of a thin cord 
wound round with sufficient force to cause strangulation.

The police had already taken the usual steps to try and 
establish the identity of the victim of this terrible outrage 
when Mr. and Mrs. Hawkins, of Harberton Mansions, called 
with their story of the disappearance of a neighbour of 
theirs, a French girl living alone in the flat next to theirs. 
They were asked to view the body, but entirely failed to 
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identify it. Mrs. Hawkins had immediately fainted, and all 
Mr. Hawkins could say was that the French girl certainly 
had hair the same colour and texture as that on the head 
of the deceased. Questioned as to the curious brooch found 
upon the body, they both said that they had never seen 
Mlle, de Méry wearing it.

While 1 delivered this message, Sir Leopold Messinger 
showed signs of the greatest distress; his agony of mind 
was pitiable to see, and when I had finished speaking he 
exclaimed in a voice broken with sobs:

“ That brooch ! I can identify it, Mr. Mulligan, so can 
my wife and the children. The poor girl had it on one day, 
I remember. I was very much interested in it because I had 
once seen one exactly like it somewhere abroad. I forget 
where. For some reason or other my wife got the idea that 
it was unlucky, and told Mlle, de Méry so, who laughingly 
promised that she would never wear it again.”

“You didn’t by any chance ask her at the time how 
she came by that brooch?” Skin 0’ my Tooth asked 
presently.

“Yes,” Sir Leopold replied, “we did ask her. Naturally. 
But she answered rather curtly that it was a present.”

“ She did not say from whom ? ”
“No. But I remember that Horatio Dreyfus’ name was 

mentioned in connection with the thing, and that both my 
wife and I remained under the impression that the brooch 
was given her by Horatio Dreyfus.”

“Was Mr. Dampier present when this episode oc­
curred ? ”

“No. He was away at the time; he had gone up North 
for a couple of days for me on business.”

After that there was a long pause. My chief was 
weighing the matter in his mind, and Sir Leopold’s kind, 
doggie eyes were fixed more and more hopefully upon him.

9*
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He had sufficient tact—I could see that—not to press his 
plea any further. Another word from him might have up­
set his chances altogether. As it was, after some two or 
three minutes of absolute silence, which must have seemed 
an eternity to the anxious man, Skin o’ my Tooth said 
quietly :

“You may send Mr.Newton Dampier to me to-morrow, 
Sir Leopold; I’ll see him.”

Once more Sir Leopold showed himself tactful and 
understanding. He did not indulge in profuse expressions 
of gratitude. Almost without another word, he rose to take 
his leave.

“At what hour shall I send him?” was all he asked.
“In the early part of the afternoon. Say at three 

o’clock.”
Sir Leopold’s whole expression had undergone a change. 

He appeared comforted now, almost cheerful. His last 
words to my chief before he left the office were spoken 
most solemnly:

“The boy is innocent, Mr. Mulligan,” he said. “I would 
take my dying oath on that.”

When I returned to the office after escorting him to 
the door, I found Skin 0’ my Tooth rubbing his podgy 
hands contentedly together.

“This is going to be an exciting case, Muggins,” he 
said. “Just ring up Mr.Alverson again, will you?”

What passed over the phone between my chief and his 
friend of the C.I.D. I didn’t know at the time. When next 
I saw Skin 0’ my Tooth he was absorbed in the perusal of 
M. Victor Margueritte’s latest French shocker.
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II

At three o’clock precisely the following day Mr. Newton 
Dampier came to see the chief. I, of course, was “behind 
the arras” during the interview and could study the young 
man’s face and his manner. He appeared to me both 
dejected and “jumpy,” but as far as I could judge he was 
not at present conscious of being in any kind of danger. 
No wonder that the poor young man was “ jumpy.” He had 
just been through the terrible ordeal of viewing the dead 
body of the girl to whom he had been so passionately 
attached. He had, however, been quite unable to swear 
positively as to her identity, although he, too, declared that 
the hair was certainly that of Mlle, de Méry.

Sir Leopold and Lady Messinger, who had also magna­
nimously come forward, could not do more either. But they 
did identify the brooch, and for the time being the police 
appeared satisfied that the deceased was indeed Florine 
de Méry who had disappeared from her flat in Harberton 
Mansions the previous Sunday.

Questioned by Skin 0’ my Tooth, Mr. Newton Dampier 
managed to give a clear and straightforward account of 
his sentimental friendship with Mlle, de Méry. It had been 
an entirely happy one until that Sunday afternoon when 
he received a curt letter from her, telling him, in effect, 
that she no longer loved him and thought it would be best 
that they should cease to meet.

“How did you get that letter, Mr. Dampier?” Skin 0’ 
my Tooth asked him. “There is no post in London on 
Sunday.”

“I found it in my letter-box,” lie replied, “just as I 
was starting out to keep my appointment with Mlle, de 
Méry. How it got there I do not know.”
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“What have you done with it?”
“Carried it in my pocket the first few days,” the young 

man replied with a sigh, “then threw it in the fire in an 
access of rage.”

Skin o’ my Tooth drew the fragment of charred paper 
out of his letter-case and placed it before Mr. Dampier.

“ Is this a portion of it?” he asked.
“It is,” the other replied. “But how did you come by 

it? I thought I had destroyed it completely.”
“It was found, fortunately, by a friend who brought 

it to me.”
“You mean Sir Leopold?”
“Yes! If it had come into the hands of the police-----
“The police?” young Dampier broke in excitedly. 

“Surely you don’t mean----- ?”
“ Well ! ” Skin o’ my Tooth put in with his bland smile. 

“I put it to you—lovers’ quarrels have led to murder be­
fore now.”

Mr. Dampier’s eyes, filled now with horror, were staring 
at Skin o’ my Tooth, while he passed a trembling hand 
once or twice across his forehead.

“My God!” he murmured hoarsely. “Murder? I? I 
confess,” he went on more calmly, “that after I had read 
the letter I flew round to Mlle, de Mery’s flat in a frenzy 
of grief. But I only meant to argue and to plead. I would 
no more have injured one hair of her head than I would 
deny my own existence.”

And suddenly, without any transition, Skin o’ my Tooth 
came out with what seemed an irrelevant question.

“ Did you know a Mr. Horatio Dreyfus ? ”
Dampier blinked his eyes once or twice like a man 

waking from a dream.
“Well, yes,” he replied. “Slightly. Why do you ask?” 
“Were you aware of his attentions to Mlle, de Méry?”
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The young man appeared to hesitate a moment before 

he replied: “Yes, in a way I was, but I did not think 
that Florine—Mlle, de Méry, I mean—would ever respond 
to them.”

“And do you know anything about the curious brooch 
with the inverted five which was found upon her body?”

“No, Mr. Mulligan, I don’t. As a matter of fact, that 
brooch puzzles me. I never saw Florine wear it.”

Skin o’ my Tooth was silent for a minute or two after 
that. I was watching young Dampier, speculating how he 
would take the blow which was about to fall upon him. 
Guilty or innocent, it would stun him, but how would he 
behave afterwards? I had received the message from Mr. 
Alverson not half an hour ago, so I knew what was coming, 
and I felt the tenseness of those few minutes; my nerves 
were taut as if stretched on a rack.

“ Mr. Dampier,” Skin 0’ my Tooth now resumed very 
quietly, “you read in the paper, did you not? or Sir Leo­
pold must have told you, that a handkerchief bearing a 
certain laundry mark was found knotted loosely round the 
throat of the deceased?”

“Yes, I knew that, Mr. Mulligan,” Dampier replied 
equally calmly.

“ But you didn’t know, did you ? that the police had 
succeeded in tracing that laundry mark to a laundry which 
not only works for you, but which actually identified the 
handkerchief as one belonging to yourself.”

1 must say that he took the blow like a man. That he 
understood its full significance was undoubted, because 
his face became the colour of lead, and his eyes, which 
still stared at Skin 0’ my Tooth, became suddenly glassy.

“ My Lord ! ” was all he said.
With this dramatic climax, and as far as important 

matters were concerned, the interview was practically 
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ended, although Mr. Dampier remained another half-hour 
in my chief’s office, asseverating his innocence and an­
swering various questions put to him by Skin 0’ my Tooth 
in a dazed though for the most part straightforward manner.

That he was in a tight hole he quickly realised. Skin 
0’ my Tooth warned him that a warrant for his arrest on 
the capital charge would certainly be out before evening. 
But my chief was in one of his best moods.’. There was no 
resisting his optimism, or his confidence.

“If you are innocent, Mr. Dampier,” he said em­
phatically, “ I will get you out of this hole. You may stake 
your life on that.”

“My life is at stake,” the young man rejoined. “But 
if you do not believe that I am guiltless of this foul 
deed----- ”

“I neither believe nor disbelieve,” Skin 0’ my Tooth 
broke in with some impatience. “I haven’t had time to 
think over that laundry mark yet,” he added grimly.

When Mr. Dampier had gone my chief sent for me.
“Ring up Sir Leopold Messinger,” he said, “and ask 

him kindly to arrange a meeting between Mr. Horatio Drey­
fus and myself. Tell him I would suggest his asking us 
both to lunch at his club to-morrow, as I don’t want the 
meeting to appear pre-arranged.

Ill

That meeting, however, never took place, although 
Skin 0’ my Tooth actually went to lunch at Sir Leopold 
Messinger’s house in Grosvenor Square. But the other guest 
was absent. The night before the body of a well-dressed 
youngish man of somewhat foreign appearance was found 
on a seat in Hyde Park with a silken cord tied tightly 
round the throat. Death was due to strangulation. The 
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news reached Sir Leopold by telephone, just as he and 
Skin 0’ my Tooth were sitting down to lunch. No attempt 
had been made to conceal the identity of the victim of this 
terrible outrage. Visiting cards in his letter-case, which was 
untouched, revealed his name as Horatio Dreyfus, whilst 
“Majestic Hotel” was scribbled by hand in the corners. 
Inquiries at the Majestic elicited the fact that Mr. Dreyfus 
had certainly been staying there, having arrived from Paris 
about a month ago. He went out a great deal, received 
some letters and telegrams. Beyond that nothing was known 
about him; and when the police searched among his 
effects, the one thing that was not found was his pass­
port. But he had entered his name at the hotel as a 
British subject born in London. The hall-porter at such 
a large hotel as the Majestic was necessarily a very busy 
man, and apparently an incurious or unobservant one: he 
certainly did not remember, when questioned, the name of 
any person who at any time had called on Mr. Dreyfus.

The chief reception clerk, on the other hand, was able 
to give the name and address of the bank on which the 
deceased had drawn the cheques for payment of his weekly 
hotel bills. Inquiries at that bank elicited the information 
that Mr. Dreyfus had only been a customer for about a 
month, that he had been originally introduced by Sir Leo­
pold Messinger, and that he still had a balance of about 
£200 to his credit. The police then got into touch with 
Sir Leopold, who had very little to say, except that the 
deceased was a distant relation of his wife’s who had 
always been considered by the family as something of a 
rolling stone and a bad egg. Sir Leopold had only seen 
him very occasionally, either in Paris or some other Conti­
nental resort. About a month ago he turned up in London, 
apparently full of good resolutions; he was going to settle 
down in life, and he begged Sir Leopold to help him get 
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something to do in the City or anywhere. He had about 
£500 loose in his pocket, which he professed to have won 
at Monte Carlo, and as a matter of goodwill Sir Leopold 
gave him an introduction to the manager of one of the 
banks with which he had business relations.

And beyond that, nothing. Neither Sir Leopold nor 
Lady Messinger seemed to know anything more about Mr. 
Horatio Dreyfus. Advertisements and notices were sent out 
in all directions by the police, solicitors kept an advertise­
ment going for three days in the personal column of The 
Times, but no one came forward able or willipg to throw 
any light on the recent habits or doings of Mr. Horatio 
Dreyfus. His personality remained as mysterious as the 
circumstances connected with his death. According to Lady 
Messinger’s evidence at the inquest, he was an only child of 
parents long since dead, who at one time had considerable 
property in Germany. This they sold and settled down in 
London, where the boy was bom. Lady Messinger knew 
them all, when they had a house in Lancaster Gate, but she 
had seen nothing of Horatio since his parents went back to 
Germany, which was over twenty years ago, when he was 
a boy of about fifteen.

The inquest in this case, as in that of the unfortunate 
Mlle, de Méry, was adjourned for a month to enable the 
police to collect further evidence. It was through his friend, 
Mr. Alverson of the C.I.D., that Skin o’ my Tooth got two 
remarkable pieces of information, which, so far as the Press 
was concerned, were still kept a secret: the one was that 
in this case, like in the other, the same shaped round scar 
caused by the application of some corrosive acid was found 
upon the body, on the right deltoid. The other strange fact 
was that the silk cord—a black one—with which the un­
fortunate man had been strangled was weighted with a 
metal pendant of exactly the same design as the brooch 
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found on the body of Mlle, de Méry—namely, a triangle 
with, in the centre, an inverted five.

And in the meanwhile my chief’s latest client, Mr. 
Newton Dampier, had been arrested on a charge of mur­
dering Fiorine de Méry on a certain Sunday in November; 
he had been brought up before the magistrate and re­
manded; but there was no doubt that within the next day 
or two he would be committed for trial. Was I not right 
when I said that here was a man literally with the hang­
man’s rope around his neck?

IV

I must say that during the next few days Skin 0’ my 
Tooth appeared more interested in M. Dekobra’s latest 
thriller than in the affairs of his client. Never once did 
he go and see him. He always sent me, and I would go 
and try and instil some measure of hope into the poor 
young man’s dejected spirits. It was all very well for 
Skin 0’ my Tooth to say that he expected his clients to 
believe implicitly in him. But away from him such belief 
was liable to wear threadbare, and the first thoughts of 
despair would inevitably creep into the brain.

I alone knew that, as a rule, the more uninterested 
in a case Skin 0’ my Tooth appeared to be, the more pas-< 
sionate really was his enthusiasm for it; and the more 
trashy French novels he devoured—he never read the fine 
ones—the deeper were his thoughts in a wholly opposite 
direction.

During the third week in November, Newton Dampier, 
having, on Skin 0’ my Tooth’s advice, pleaded “Not Guilty” 
and reserved his defence, was committed for trial on the 
capital charge. In the meanwhile the coroner’s inquest on 
Mr. Horatio Dreyfus was concluded with a verdict of wilful 
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murder against some person or persons unknown, and that 
on the unknown woman, presumed to be Florine de Mëry, 
with a verdict of wilful murder against George Newton 
Dampier.

A day or two later, when I was coming away from an 
interview with our client, I happened to take a stroll along 
the Embankment when I was accosted by a disreputable­
looking character begging for alms. I tried not to listen to 
his tale, which was supposed to be that of a broken- 
down gentleman on his beam-ends—an ex-officer and so 
on—the usual tale. I hurried on after I had bestowed 
half a crown upon the creature, when an ironical laugh un­
expectedly struck my ear. The broken-down gentleman 
on his beam-ends was none other than Skin 0’ my Tooth, so 
admirably made up that even I had failed to recognise him.

I was far too well trained to ask questions then; he 
took me by the arm and, whispering an address in my ear, 
he ordered me to meet him there in half an hour. I knew* 
the place well, of course—a slum in Hoxton, where my 
chief rented a couple of rooms in an evil-looking lodging­
house; here he kept every sort and kind of disguise, mostly 
filthy rags, also ragged uniforms and togs of all sorts. It 
was the sort of place where questions are never asked and 
where the police seldom penetrate.

When I arrived I found my chief already waiting for 
me. Without wasting time, he pointed to a bundle of rags 
and told me to put them on. Ten minutes later we emerged 
into the street once more, looking as seedy a pair of black­
guards as anyone would wish to see.

Silently I followed Skin 0’ my Tooth as he threaded 
his way through the network of streets that lie around the 
river bank.

No one knew his London better than Skin o’ my Tooth, 
and within an incredibly short time that peculiar smell 
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made up of hemp, tar, oil, and coal-dust revealed the fact 
that we were nearing one of the docks. Presently we came 
to a halt, at a distance of about twenty yards from a gaily 
lighted restaurant, from whence came the strains of a lively 
jazz band. Here we took up our stand, a pair of silent, 
motionless figures, with our backs to a greasy, dank wall. 
Skin 0’ my Tooth had drawn a bundle of bootlaces from 
his pocket, and these, together with boxes of Swan vestas, 
he was apparently offering for sale. Many people passed 
us by; sailors or soldiers with their girls, foreigners of 
every description, Orientals from every clime ; some 
dropped a few coppers into my cramped hand, some went 
by with an ugly word for two able-bodied oafs. Skin o’ my 
Tooth never said a word, and here we stood for nearly 
two hours, after which we went back to Hoxton, changed 
back into our own clothes, and returned home, hardly 
having exchanged a word.

The next evening we went through the same per­
formance, and again the evening after that. On the third 
evening, however, there was a change in our adventure. A 
man, short and slender in build, dressed in perfectly 
tailored clothes, was about to pass us by when Skin 0' my 
Tooth’s voice was suddenly raised in pitiful appeal:

“For the love of God, sir,” he cried, “you are a 
gentleman. Have pity on a broken-down wretch of your 
own class.”

The man paused—instinctively, I think, rather than 
from any sense of compassion. He peered quizzically into 
Skin 0’ my Tooth’s face.

“A broken-down gentleman, are you?” he asked with 
a sneer. “ Lots of ’em about these days, especially in Lime­
house, eh?”

His speech betrayed what I had already guessed from 
his face, which was sallow and flat-featured, with almond­
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shaped, up-slanting eyes. Underneath the soft grey hat 
which he wore his hair appeared black as coal. In spite 
of his Western dress, it was easy to guess that here was a 
man bom in China.

But Skin o’ my Tooth was continuing his piteous appeal. 
He had served as a temporary officer in the war, had been 
twice wounded, and mentioned in despatches. His son— 
and he pointed to me—had been gassed twice and had lost 
hearing and speech through shell-shock. He was entirely 
on his beam-ends and would do anything in the world— 
anything—to earn a decent living.

“An honest one?” the Oriental queried with his habitual 
sneer.

“Not necessarily,” Skin o’ my Tooth retorted boldly.
By way of an answer the other nodded in the direction 

of the restaurant, then he said curtly:
“Wait here till five minutes before closing time, then 

go in there and well talk.”
With that he strode away, and presently disappeared 

within the restaurant.
At five minutes before eleven my chief and I duly 

entered the gaily lighted place. No one took any notice 
of us. Indeed, there were others quite as disreputable to 
look on as we were. We sat down at a vacant table. The 
band had just ceased playing and were packing up their 
instruments. There was the usual hubbub and bustle 
attendant on closing time in these sort of places, and 
presently we found ourselves alone in the now dimly lighted 
hall. Everyone had gone. A Chinese boy was busy putting 
up the shutters.

After a while he came back into the hall, gave us a 
nod and a wink, which we took to mean that we were 
to come along with him. We followed on his heels and 
he led us along a dark passage to what appeared to be 
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a room built over the backyard of the house. Our guide 
knocked at the door. It was at once opened, and I caught 
a transitory gleam of a well-furnished room with a large 
desk in the centre and leather-covered club chairs, also of 
our friend—the Chinaman in Western clothes—and of an­
other man dressed in an elaborate Chinese garment and 
wearing a black mask over his face. The next moment our 
guide pushed Skin 0’ my Tooth into the room and I was 
about to follow when the door was incontinently slammed 
in my face, and I found myself alone and in semi-darkness. 
Knowing that I had the part of a deaf and dumb man to 
play, I did not call out, only tried to grab the Chinese boy 
who had brought us here, by the sleeve. He wriggled 
away, however, like an eel, and soon his shuffling footsteps 
died away down the long passage.

I glued eye and ear to the keyhole, but could neither 
see nor hear anything. But after a moment or two I 
heard my chief’s voice raised for an instant and then im­
mediately subdued. It was not raised in any way in distress, 
but you may well imagine that I stood on guard at that 
door ready to hurl myself against it, if I got the least 
idea that Skin 0’ my Tooth was in any danger. Frankly, 
I had no fears for him. There was nothing about his person 
to suggest that he was anything but what he professed to 
be : a down-at-heel gentleman ready to undertake any shady 
job that would put a few pounds in his pocket.

I had been on the watch a quarter of an hour or so, 
when, feeling restless, I started pacing up and down the 
dark passage. There was a stairway at the end of it leading 
to the basement, and as I went by I heard the sound of 
crockery and banging of pots and pans, and above the din 
a man’s voice speaking pigeon-English and raised in 
threatening accents. A second or two later there was a 
bang, a sound as of the smashing of crockery, followed by 
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a woman’s cry. Then a scuffle. I was on the point of 
running down the stairs to see what was happening down 
there, when a woman came rushing up, with touzled hair* 
eyes wild, and hands outstretched, who almost threw her­
self into my arms.

“Allee lightee!” came in sarcastic tones from down 
below. “ Play the fool. Mr. Wang Sen, he here directly.”1

I don’t pretend to be either an athlete or a preux 
chevalier, but by the feeble light of a solitary gas-jet on 
the stairs I saw that I was holding in my arms a woman 
in distress. That she happened to be young and pretty did 
not in any way add to my desire to help her.

“What is it?” I whispered hurriedly. “Can I do any­
thing ? ”

But she only moaned: “Oh! why don’t they kill me? 
Why don’t they kill me?”

“Come, we’ll get the police!” 1 urged, and tried to 
drag her away with me. There was no one else about, 
and the bully down below showed no signs of coming up 
in pursuit. But the girl resisted me with all her feeble 
might.

“I can’t, I can’t,” she whispered hoarsely, “I must go 
back.”

Finding persuasion useless, I tried force. Here was 
clearly a case for the police to interfere for the protection 
of this woman who was obviously in the hands of bullies. 
So without more ado I picked her up in my arms—she 
looked half starved, poor thing, and was as light as a 
feather—and hastened along in the direction of the restau­
rant and the front of the house. It was pitch-dark, but 
by groping with one hand along the jamb of the door, my 
hand encountered the electric switch, and I turned on the 
light The girl had by now partly lost consciousness. I 
deposited her on a chair and went round inspecting the 
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place. The iron shutters were up all along the front, and 
the door through them was padlocked and immovable. I 
felt like a rat in a trap, and looked round despairingly at 
the unfortunate girl, marvelling what in the circumstances 
I could do for her. She half lay, half sat in a chair, her 
head down, her eyes closed: her dress, I forget of what it 
consisted, had slid off her right shoulder. And suddenly 
I felt myself giving a gasp, for there on the right deltoid 
was a round scar, in shape like a large vaccination mark.

I felt dazed and stupid for the moment, face to face, 
as I knew now, with some ugly bypaths of mysterious crime. 
If only my chief were here! And suddenly the comforting 
thought came to me that he would be here—soon—if only 
I had time to warn him, and he had time to think and 
to act.

I picked up the girl as if she were a bundle of goods 
and deposited her behind a screen which masked an iron 
stove in one corner of the room. I then groped in my 
pockets for a pencil and a scrap of paper, and scribbled 
the few words that would enlighten my chief—these had 
to be as few as possible, of course. After which I switched 
off the light, registering a silent prayer that the girl might 
not recover consciousness before we had an opportunity to 
get her away from this den of brigands.

A few seconds later I was back at my post against the 
door at the end of the passage. I squatted in the corner 
feigning to sleep, my nerves on the rack. How long my 
ordeal lasted I know not. Presently I heard some kind of 
hubbub and then a shuffling. The door was opened. Our 
original friend stood silhouetted under the lintel against the 
light. He clapped his hands three times. My chief was 
immediately behind him, and sitting straight upright at the 
desk was the man with the mask and the elaborate Chinese 
costume.

“Skin 0' mv Tooth" IO
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In answer to the clapping the Chinese boy presently 
appeared, shuffling along the passage, and the man I call 
our original friend said something in a language I did not 
understand—presumably Chinese. He then gave me a 
vigorous kick, whereupon I struggled to my feet. My chief 
helped me to get up, and I was thus able to pass the note 
which I had scribbled into his hand. All I had written 
was: “Girl in distress, behind screen in restaurant. Im­
mediate case for police.”

V

The door of the back room had closed behind us. 
Our guide led the way along the passage once more through 
to the front restaurant. As we passed the top of the back 
stairs I thought I saw a grinning face peering upwards at 
us. Our guide switched on the light in the restaurant and 
then made for the iron door in the shutter. While he 
busied himself with the padlock, Skin o’ my Tooth quickly 
glanced at my message, then, without any warning, threw 
one arm round the neck of the Chinese boy, smothering 
his screams. The scuffle was of the briefest, for my chief 
is both athletic and heavy. While he brought the boy to 
the ground, I made my way round to the back of the 
screen. The girl was slowly struggling back to conscious­
ness. At sight of me a look of terror crept over her face, 
and before I could stop her she gave a piercing shriek.

Skin o’ my Tooth had just silenced the Chinese boy 
by banging his head against the floor, but in a moment 
the house appeared alive with footsteps—shuffling foot­
steps hurrying, scurrying up and down stairs. We were 
indeed caught like beasts in a cage, our only apparent 
means of egress barred by iron shutters. But my chief is 
a man whose inductions are as swift as his actions. He 
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picked up the girl who now was struggling like a wild cat, 
and shouted to me to follow him. He had reckoned, you 
see, that those devils over in the end room had secured 
for themselves a means of escape that way, in case the 
police ever came in by the front.

Scared, no doubt, by the woman’s shriek, the two men 
in there had just opened the door when my chief, still 
carrying the woman, hurled himself against them and 
pushed them back into the room.

“Close the door, Muggins,” he shouted to me as I 
slipped in in his wake, and he allowed the woman to slide 
out of his arms.

I had just time to close and bar the door. And there 
followed a scuffle such as I had never experienced in all 
my life. The man in the Western clothes very nearly did 
for me, I must say, while there was a veritable tornado 
going on at the further end of the room where the masked 
man and Skin o’ my Tooth were at close grips. I do think 
that my last hour on this earth would effectually have 
sounded at one moment, but for a double hoarse cry 
which suddenly stayed the hand of my antagonist.

“Sir Leopold Messinger! by all that’s wonderful!”
“Patrick Mulligan! by all that’s damnable!”
The tornado had momentarily subsided, but all I could 

see for a moment were two hands held aloft, one brandish­
ing a black mask and a Chinese mandarin’s hat, and the 
other clutching the wig and false beard which had so 
effectively transformed my beloved chief into a seedy, out- 
at-elbows gentleman.

At this point, fortunately for both of us, the girl seemed 
suddenly to realise that we were her friends. I only knew 
later why she had struggled so violently against our attempts 
to save her; for the moment I had only thought that she 
was either demented or just a fool. But now, when above 

io* 
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the tattered Chinese mandarin’s garments she saw the hot, 
steaming face and round Pekingese eyes of Sir Leopold 
Messinger, she seemed suddenly to recover her senses, and 
while the struggle between us four men still continued, she 
ran round and round the room, until she discovered a 
doorway, which she promptly threw open.

“This way,” she cried, and in an instant she had 
switched off the light and plunged us all into darkness. 
But the outside air guided us. After a final desperate 
effort, I succeeded in breaking loose from my opponent. 
Skin 0’ my Tooth, by far the finest fighter of the lot of us, 
had rendered the over-fed, over-indulged plutocrat quite 
helpless already. The next few minutes saw us speeding 
out in the open toward the Commercial Road, the girl 
bravely keeping up with us.

VI

It was a curious story which Skin 0’ my Tooth un­
folded before the coroner at the resumed inquest on the 
body of the unknown woman presumed to be Fiorine de 
Méry. She was not Florine de Mery at all, and has re­
mained unknown, poor wretch, to this day.

Sir Leopold Messinger was the head of a gang of 
cocaine smugglers. This gang consisted entirely of men 
and women who had been gentle people, who were on their 
beam-ends and were ready to do any dirty job for the sake 
of earning a competence. These Messinger would pick up 
mostly in the streets of London, Paris, or any other Con­
tinental city. Florine de Méry was one. Pursued, when 
quite a young governess in her first place, by the attentions 
of the son of the house, she had been put in the wrong by 
her employers and dismissed without character or reference. 
For a time she supported herself by teaching, but the re- 
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lentless enmity of her employers, who were influential 
people, pursued her, and she fell on evil days. Messinger 
picked her up outside a squalid little cabaret in Paris 
where she had been working as kitchen-maid, and had just 
been turned out by the proprietress for refusing to accept 
the attentions of drunken customers.

So much for poor Fiorine de Méry. Horatio Dreyfus, 
rolling stone, gambler, out-at-elbows, was such another. He 
was no relative to Lady Messinger, who was as clever a 
liar as her husband. Wah Sen, who acted as butler in the 
Messinger household, was the instrument which Sir Leopold 
used for the punishment of any of the gang who dared to 
show signs of breaking away or of revolt. While he secured 
for himself an unimpeachable alibi, Wah Sen, silken cord 
in hand, would see to the effectual silencing of the recal­
citrant.

During the interview which Skin o’ my Tooth had with 
those scoundrels in the back room of the Limehouse restau­
rant, he learned some of the conditions which governed the 
enrolment of unfortunates into the gang of malefactors. 
They had to submit to being branded on the right deltoid 
with a distinguishing mark which would be recognised by 
every cocaine smuggler throughout Europe or the Far East. 
They were to play a lone hand, and never enter into any 
intimacy with their fellow-criminals. Obedience was, of 
course, to be implicit. At the slightest hint of an attempt 
at betrayal, death would follow, swift and sure. W’ah Sen 
never failed. The inverted five was the mark he left upon 
his victims to show to the others that his sinister hand had 
been at work. Thus by terror he held them. The poor 
governess, the out-at-elbows gentleman, the cashiered officer, 
were all equally held in bondage.

What caused Sir Leopold Messinger to engage Florine 
de Méry as governess to his children is difficult to say.
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She may have been peculiarly clever at the nefarious deed, 
and he may have wished to keep her under his own eyes 
and hand. She confessed later to Skin o’ my Tooth that 
Sir Leopold had promised her some very special work, 
which would have brought her handsome remuneration and 
ultimately gained her her freedom. But in the meanwhile 
he had discovered Dreyfus’ growing admiration of the girl, 
and fearing that a secret intimacy would spring up between 
them, he decided on the death of both of them. It seems, 
however, that Wah Sen had also cast eyes of admiration on 
the pretty governess, and when the time came to execute 
the abominable orders of his chief, he chose some other 
unfortunate member of the gang for the foul deed, taking 
care to obliterate all traces of her identity. He kept Florine 
de Méry a prisoner, threatening her with the death of 
Newton Dampier unless she consented to link her fate per­
manently with his own. Whether she would ultimately have 
yielded to this threat, for she was very fond of Newton 
Dampier, 1 don’t know. Skin 0’ my Tooth and I certainly 
arrived on the scene in the nick of time. The death of 
the young secretary had anyhow been decided on, as it was 
feared he may have learned something through his intimacy 
with Mlle, de Méry. But Messinger conceived the diabolical 
idea of first manufacturing such evidence against him as 
would prove him guilty of murder, and so put the police 
off any track which may have led to himself or to Wah 
Sen. I mean, of course, the handkerchief with the tell-tale 
laundry mark, and the fragment of the letter, which, it 
seems, was never written by Mlle, de Méry. He played the 
part of the distracted friend to perfection, and there is no 
doubt that had chance led him to any other lawyer or to 
an ordinary detective his last villainous schemes would have 
been completely successful.

Leopold Messinger was indicted at the Central Criminal 
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Court for being in possession of I don’t know how many 
ounces of cocaine. Other crimes, still more unavowable, 
were brought home to him, including that of being an 
accessory to the murder of one Horatio Dreyfus, and of an 
unknown woman. Wah Sen, committed at the same time 
on the capital charge, was duly hanged. Messinger got 
fourteen years. His wife and unfortunate children have 
disappeared.

But young Newton Dampier proved himself a true 
Briton, for he remained loyal, in spite of everything, to the 
girl he loved, and married her. He has gone out to 
Canada and is doing very well, I believe.

It was the black silk cord and the brooch of Oriental 
design which had first given Skin 0’ my Tooth an inkling 
of the truth. After that, the Chinese butler in the Messinger 
household set him thinking. He had Wah Sen shadowed, 
until he discovered that he was in the habit of frequenting 
a certain restaurant in Limehouse. Sir Leopold Messinger’s 
identity as the leader of the gang was a revelation in the 
end. Skin 0’ my Tooth owned to me that he had not sus­
pected this denouement.

VII . THE TURQUOISE STUD

I
The mysterious drama began, as no doubt you re­

member, with the daring burglary in Lord Ар-Owen’s house 
in Berkeley Square.

Let me remind you how it all happened.
At ten o’clock, or thereabouts, the servants had gone 

up to bed, with the exception of the butler, who had his 
evening out, and of a young footman named Cranston, who 
was still busy putting away a few things in the servants’ 
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hall. It was about half-past ten when there was a ring at 
the back door. Cranston, thinking that it was Mr. Tabb, 
the butler, who perhaps had forgotten his key, went to 
answer it. No sooner had he opened the door when two 
men fell upon him; one struck him violently on the head, 
and before he could recover from the blow a scarf was 
wound tightly round his mouth, and his arms were pinioned 
and tied behind his back.

After that he must have lost consciousness, for he re­
membered nothing more until he heard, as in a dream, Mr. 
Tabb’s voice calling out lustily:

“Good heavens, Cranston, what the devil are you doing 
down here?”

Mr. Tabb then untied his hands and took the muffler 
away from round his throat. He still felt very shaky, and 
his head ached furiously, but a hot drink and bed soon 
put him right; and by next morning he was none the worse 
for his adventure. Directly his Lordship returned he tele­
phoned to the police, who sent an inspector round im­
mediately. Cranston told him his story as circumstantially 
as he could. The passage, he said, leading to the back 
door was quite dark; as he thought it was Mr. Tabb, he 
had not troubled to switch on the light; but there was a 
vague glimmer through the servants’ hall door round the 
corner, and he had a short glimpse of his mysterious 
visitors, one of whom was tall and thin and had a small 
toothbrush moustache; he wore a light-coloured overcoat 
over his evening dress. The other was small and slender, 
more like a lad than a full-grown man; he, like his com­
panion, wore a soft hat pulled down right over his eyes. 
Cranston was under the impression that he was the boss of 
the expedition, for he said something like “Now then, 
quick!” to the other man, just before the latter knocked 
him, Cranston, on the head.
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But, as a matter of fact, the assault had been so sudden 

and so violent that the boy could not swear to anything; 
he was quite sure that he would not be able to identify 
positively either of the men, and he was not really certain 
whether there were two men or more.

Not much of a clue for the police to go on, you will 
admit. And while the wretched footman lay gagged and 
bound and unconscious down below, the burglars had found 
their way upstairs to Lady Ар-Owen’s dressing-room; they 
had forced open a small safe and got away with jewellery 
and money to the value of £5,000.

The burglary in Lord Ap-Owen’s house would have 
been a nine days’ wonder and would soon have been for­
gotten except for the fact that it was followed, less than 
a week later, by another equally daring and equally mys­
terious.

On this occasion the victim was Sir Andrew Border- 
Peile, who owns that magnificent house in Prince’s Gar­
dens which has been talked about so much of late, and 
which is filled to repletion with art treasures and bric-à- 
brac of all kinds. The procedure of the miscreants was 
similar to that employed at the house of Lord Ap-Owen, 
which naturally led the public and police to conclude that 
the same gang had a hand in both. The only difference 
was that the ring was at the front door this time, but it 
was also late one night when Sir Andrew and Lady Border- 
Peile were out to dinner and to a theatre afterwards. All the 
servants had gone to bed with the exception of the butler, 
an elderly man, who was sitting up awaiting the return of 
his master and mistress.

The second footman had just gone round to the garage, 
as the car had been ordered for eleven o’clock, and it was 
his turn to do duty beside the chauffeur. The butler then 
went to open the door, and no sooner had he done so 
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than two men fell upon him, struck him a violent blow on 
the head, gagged and bound him as they had done in the 
case of Lord Ар-Owen’s footman, and left him lying un­
conscious in the hall, where he was discovered an hour 
later by Sir Andrew Border-Peile, who had opened the 
front door with his latch-key, and was the first to enter the 
house. The burglars in the meanwhile had made their way 
to the reception-rooms upstairs and broken open some cases 
which contained a collection of Italian sixteenth-century 
jewellery of great value; they had also helped themselves to 
half a dozen or more eighteenth-century French and Eng­
lish miniatures and to some pieces of Elizabethan silver and 
gold ornaments. Altogether the loss was estimated at some­
thing like £30,000.

The butler, questioned by the police, was rather more 
circumstantial in his description of the men who had as­
saulted him than Lord Ар-Owen’s footman had been. 
Though he only caught sight of them for a fraction of a 
minute, he saw them quite distinctly. There were two of 
them, he said. One was tall and thin with straight features, 
fair hair, and a small toothbrush moustache; the other was 
short and dark and very slender, more like a lad of about 
eighteen than a grown man. The butler was practically 
sure that he could identify the former if he saw him again, 
but he was a little more doubtful about the other. Both 
had their hats pulled down hard over their eyes, so that 
only the lower part of their faces was visible; but it was 
the tall, fair man who had knocked him, the butler, down; 
the young, dark lad had kept his hands buried in the pockets 
of his overcoat.

But unfortunately this was not by any means the last 
exploit of the daring gang, for less than a month afterwards 
they turned their attention to Sir Arthur Seligman’s house 
in Carlton Gardens, and a week after that to the house of 
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the American millionaire, Mr. Josiah E. Habutt, in Park 
Lane, and always the same procedure: the ring at the front 
or back door, at about 10 or 10.30 on a night when the 
family happened to be out, the sudden assault, the obvious 
knowledge, not only of the house and its contents, but of 
the habits and routine of the household.

The footman at the house in Park Lane, as w’ell as Sir 
Arthur Seligman’s butler, both agreed that one of their 
assailants was tall and fair and had a small toothbrush 
moustache, and the other short and dark and clean-shaven, 
but with that blue tint about the cheeks and chin peculiar 
to very dark people—especially foreigners—who have a 
strong growth of dark beard. This peculiarity, which had 
escaped Sir Arthur Border-Peile’s butler, did away with the 
idea that one of the burglars was quite young—little more 
than a lad. In every instance, however, the miscreants, 
with their soft, broad-brimmed hats, had effectually succeeded 
in concealing the upper part of their faces.

Needless to say that by this time the public was getting 
restive. Everyone wanted to know what the police was 
about; householders in Belgravia or Mayfair no longer felt 
safe within their homes, and servants in those fashionable 
quarters of London could not be induced to sit up at night 
when the family was out. Presently, however, the news­
papers had it that the police knew more than they chose 
to tell. As a matter of fact, they added, there were im­
portant developments pending, and the detective in charge 
of the case had already a clue as to the identity of the 
dark young man with the blue chin. He was supposed, on 
his last visit to a Mayfair mansion, to have left an important 
clue behind him. There were also hints of a conversation 
overheard in a Soho restaurant, and gradually the public 
was led to understand that the gang of burglars would 
turn out to be a set of swell mobsmen whose arrest was 
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imminent and would cause unparalleled sensation in 
London.

Through Mr. Alverson, who was Assistant-Commissioner 
in the Criminal Investigation Department and a great per­
sonal friend of Mr. Mulligan, we knew that all these 
rumours were absolutely unfounded. The police held no 
clue whatever. But what the public never knew was that 
it was on Skin o’ my Tooth’s advice that the rumour that 
the C.I.D. did hold a clue was allowed to gain ground. 
My chief had discussed the case—in which, by the way, 
he took a keen interest—with Mr. Alverson, and the dis­
cussion had, as you will understand presently, very remark­
able results.

II

But in the meanwhile the mysterious burglars were un­
deterred by all these rumours. After one or two minor ex­
ploits they created a further sensation by turning their 
attention to the house of Lady Mary Wern in Grosvenor 
Street. That charming and beautiful lady, whom all Lon­
don knows through the numerous photographs of her 
published almost daily in the illustrated papers, had gone 
out to dinner that night with some friends. The women 
servants had, it appears, gone to bed, and the butler, a 
man named Lemon, was awaiting her Ladyship’s return 
when there came a ring at the front door-bell. Lemon 
subsequently told the police that he went to answer it with­
out the slightest fear or suspicion, but as soon as he had 
opened the door he was knocked down and left semi-con­
scious in the hall, whilst the miscreants made their way up­
stairs and once more got away with money and jewellery- 
worth some hundreds of pounds.

Unfortunately, in this case the loss was not covered by 
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insurance. Lady Mary Wern was a young war widow who 
had so far not thought of a second marriage. Her late 
husband, Colonel Wern, had seemingly left her very well 
off, for she kept up her house in Grosvenor Street in very 
nice style, entertained lavishly, went out a great deal, and 
was always dressed to perfection; but evidently she had no 
business head and had no one who looked after her affairs, 
or the matter of the insurance against burglary and theft 
would have been attended to before now.

It was at this stage of the mysterious drama that the 
name of Captain Alaric Stegand first came prominently 
before the newspaper-reading public. Captain Stegand was 
one of those young colonial officers who had found life in 
London very agreeable during the war when they were on 
leave. He was good looking, an excellent dancer, fine 
tennis-player, and so forth, and soon made many friends. 
Incidentally he fell desperately in love with Lady Mary 
Wern, a passion which she in no wise reciprocated. We 
must suppose that after a season or two he understood that 
his suit was a hopeless one. Lady Mary’s friends declared 
that she told the young man this in no measured words; 
nevertheless, not only, it seems, did he refuse to take “No” 
for an answer, but his luckless love turned to insane jealousy. 
Even in public he was always ready with reproaches and 
unpleasant scenes, which very naturally irritated the lady 
beyond endurance, but what to her was still more unbear­
able, he took to dogging her footsteps, watching her wher­
ever she went, questioning her servants, and generally 
playing rather the part of a jealous husband than of an 
unsuccessful lover.

Thus did the matter stand between these two when, on 
May 26th, the burglary occurred in Lady Mary Wern’s 
house in Grosvenor Street. Less than a week afterwards 
the affair took on a highly sensational turn, when the even- 
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ing papers announced that a certain Captain Alaric Stegand, 
a well-known young man about town and member of one 
of the best clubs in London, had been arrested on a charge 
connected with what was called by the Press “the West 
End burglaries.”

The police were, as usual, very reticent, but gradually 
certain facts leaked out, which led the public to draw a 
sigh of satisfaction at the thought that one at least of that 
gang of miscreants would speedily be brought to justice. 
The others would soon follow suit.

What had happened was simply this: Lady Mary Wern’s 
butler had made a certain statement to the police. He told 
them that at the moment when he was struck violently on 
the head he had put out his hand to ward off the blow. 
As he did so his hand came in contact with the breast of 
his assailant; he grabbed at what turned out to be the 
miscreant’s shirtfront; after that he turned giddy and sick 
and remembered nothing more until he came to, about an 
hour later. He struggled to his feet and turned on the 
light, which the burglars had taken the precaution to switch 
off. And there on the hall carpet, close to where he had 
measured his length on the ground, he found a shirt-stud 
consisting of a turquoise surrounded by tiny brilliants.

Of course, once the police got hold of that stud, they 
set the best brains in the C.I.D. to follow up the clue. But 
frankly, at first, little progress was made, for although the 
detectives soon discovered that the stud had been manu­
factured by the Jewellers’ Alliance of Hatton Garden and 
Sloane Street, the firm was unable to furnish them with the 
identity of the customer who had happened to buy it. 
Many young gentlemen came in, the managers of both 
branches explained to the Assistant-Commissioner, and 
made purchases of jewellery over the counter; young ladies, 
too, would buy a present for their fiance or their brother.
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Names and addresses of such chance customers were not 
required and were not asked for.

In the end, as is so often the case in real life, when 
the hard-working detectives, weary of fruitless journeys and 
long, purposeless interrogatories, were beginning to lose 
heart, it was sheer coincidence that shed the first ray of 
daylight on this extraordinary and mysterious affair and 
led the police on the track of the owner of the turquoise 
stud. In this case the deus ex machina was none other 
than a young footman named Thomas Hinks, who had been 
until quite recently in the service of Lady Mary Wern and 
was now valet to Captain Alaric Stegand, having been 
recommended to that gentleman by her Ladyship herself. 
Hinks had still been in her Ladyship’s service the night 
that the burglary occurred, having only taken up his new 
duties a week or two later. He had, of course, been inter­
rogated by the police, like the other servants of the Gros­
venor Street household, and said that he knew about, and 
had seen, the turquoise stud.

It seems that on the very first evening that he waited 
on his new employer he noticed that Captain Stegand had 
a stud exactly like the one which Lemon the butler had 
found on the floor of the hall in Grosvenor Street after the 
burglary, and, what’s more, it had obviously been one of a 
pair, for there was the case in which it was kept, with the 
place—obviously made for its fellow—empty. Thomas 
Hinks, who did not seem to be a particularly bright lad, 
had, nevertheless, so he told the police, thought it his duty 
to come and tell them of his discovery. Whereupon Chief 
Inspector Rogers, one of the ablest men at Scotland Yard, 
called personally upon Captain Stegand at the latter’s rooms 
in Clarges Street. It was then close on eight o’clock in the 
evening. The Captain was out, but expected in any mo­
ment. He was going out to dinner, and Hinks was getting 
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his things ready for dressing. He had his master’s dress 
shirt ready with the one turquoise stud in it, and he was 
able to show Inspector Rogers the empty case, which, very 
obviously, was constructed to hold a pair.

When presently Captain Stegand arrived at his rooms 
and found himself being questioned by the police, he was 
highly indignant; denied, of course, having any connection 
with any gang of swell mobsmen, and when interrogated 
on the subject of the missing stud, he declared that he had 
no idea that the twin of the one which he always wore was 
missing from its case. As a matter of fact, he said he hardly 
ever wore two studs, and had certainly not done so for 
weeks, and therefore had never missed the second stud; 
whereupon Burke, who was with Inspector Rogers, and who 
is an uncommonly keen detective, had the brilliant idea of 
turning out the soiled-linen basket which stood in a corner 
of the Captain’s dressing-room. And in the basket, sure 
enough, was a soiled shirt, with two stud-holes, recently 
worn.

“Has this shirt been in this basket for weeks?” In­
spector Rogers asked coolly.

The Captain frowned, obviously completely taken aback 
by this mute contradiction of his positive assertion.

“I don’t know,” he said hotly, “I never wore that shirt, 
I swear it.”

“Is your valet in the habit of wearing your shirts?” 
Rogers queried still quite coolly.

Thomas Hinks, obviously terrified out of his wits, looked 
ready to sink through the floor; the two police officers could 
not help smiling, when they compared his short, stubby 
figure with the tall, slim appearance of his master. The 
neckband of the Captain’s shirt would not meet round 
Hinks’ thick, bull-neck by an inch. Burke called the 
former’s attention to this fact.
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Captain Stegand shrugged his shoulders.
“I am just as much puzzled as you are,” was all he 

said.
“Absent-minded,” Rogers commented with a grin. 

“That’s what you are sometimes, eh? Young gentlemen 
like you are often absent-minded.”

Whereupon Captain Stegand lost his temper, which, of 
course, did not help matters. In the end he followed the 
men readily enough to the police station, where he was 
further questioned by the Assistant-Commissioner. Asked 
to state if he remembered how he had spent the evening 
of May 26th, the Captain answered promptly:

“I remember perfectly; I was dining that night with a 
party of friends at the Savoy.”

“And no doubt the party did not break up till close 
upon midnight—or later?” he was asked.

Just for a second or two the Captain hesitated, then 
he replied curtly:

“Earlier than that, I think.”
“At what hour, then?”
“I could not say,” he replied equally curtly.
But he gave, willingly enough, the names of his guests 

on that occasion.
The police did not detain him on that day, but you 

may be sure that he was closely watched, while investiga­
tions were rapidly pushed along and the Captain’s story 
verified. He certainly had dined at the Savoy that night. 
The head-waiter had still the record of the tables which 
had been reserved by customers for dinner on that date: 
one stood in the name of Captain Alaric Stegand, with a 
party of eight. He was very well known at the restaurant, 
where he often entertained. But what was established 
beyond a doubt was that the party broke up soon after 
ten o’clock.

“Skin 0' my Tooth" 11
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It seems that the whole party had assembled at 8.30 
in the lounge, the whole party, that is, except one, Lady 
Mary Wern, who telephoned her regrets at the last moment 
saying that she had caught a slight cold and was unable 
to go out. Her absence appeared to cast a chill over the 
merry little party, but more especially over the host, so that 
the dinner fell rather flat, and by a quarter-past ten the 
last “good-nights” and “thank-you’s” had been said. The 
host’s silence and obvious chagrin was commented on by 
the ladies with some amusement, because everyone knew of 
Captain Stegand’s hopeless passion for Lady Mary, of his 
insane jealousy of her, and his habit of dogging her foot­
steps, which had the effect of still further alienating the 
lady’s regard for him.

The party having, as stated by all the guests, broken 
up at 10.15, Captain Stegand was asked how he spent the 
remainder of the evening, seeing that there was at least one 
witness ready to state that he had not come home until 
close upon midnight; a certain Mr. Lucas Mander, who had 
rooms in Clarges Street, in the same house as the Captain, 
and who had seen and spoken to him on the doorstep com­
ing in at about that time. But to this question Captain 
Stegand only gave a very evasive reply. He had walked 
about the streets, he said, aimlessly.

“In which direction?” the Assistant-Commissioner 
asked him.

“I walked up from the Savoy,” the Captain replied, 
“and strolled for awhile in the Park.”

“Nowhere near Grosvenor Street, I suppose?” he was 
asked.

“I may have been that way. I don’t remember.”
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III

Thus, you see, the net was gradually being drawn closer 
round the suspected man. Captain Stegand’s position was 
anything but an enviable one: firstly, there was the question 
of the turquoise stud, the exact fellow of one in his pos­
session, and fitting into the empty space of a case, obviously 
made for it and its twin. The Captain swore that he did 
not even know that he had lost it; he did not, in fact, miss 
it as he so seldom wore a shirt with two stud-holes; and 
yet there was the tell-tale shirt recently worn and found in 
the soiled-linen basket.

Then came the question of the alibi—which was not 
one really, as the Captain found it quite impossible to ac­
count for over an hour of that memorable evening. He 
had walked the streets, he said, between 10.30 and close 
on midnight, and that was just the time during which the 
burglary had occurred in Lady Mary Wern’s house and her 
butler, Lemon, was assaulted.

Thirdly, there was also the question of identification: 
there had been a hue and cry all along after a thin man 
with fair hair and a tooth-brush moustache, and Captain 
Stegand was tall, fair, thin, and wore a tiny moustache. 
And, what’s more, Lord Ар-Owen’s butler thought he could 
identify him as the man who had assaulted him, and 
Lemon, Lady Mary Wern’s butler, positively swore that he 
was the man. But what brought matters to a head and 
decided the magistrate to grant a warrant for the arrest 
of Captain Stegand on a charge of assault and burglary 
was the testimony of two witnesses, an insurance clerk 
named Pomeroy and a girl, Alice Jenkins; these two came 
forward voluntarily in answer to an advertisement put in 
the daily paper by the police. They stated that at eleven 
o’clock on the evening of the 26th they were walking down 

и*
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Grosvenor Street when they noticed a gentleman in evening 
dress standing outside one of the houses, as if waiting for 
someone. They had failed to notice the number of the 
house, as they were on the opposite side of the road, but 
just at that moment a car drove up to that same house and 
a lady got out. She had on a dark cloak, and she was 
making straight for the steps which led up to the front 
door, when she caught sight of the gentleman in evening 
dress, and gave what sounded like a startled cry. Pomeroy 
and Miss Jenkins had passed on by this time, as the in­
cident did not interest them particularly, but not before they 
had heard the lady say in a kind of rasping voice:

“What are you doing here?”
The gentleman appeared to mumble something, and then 

the lady, who by this time had rung the bell on her front 
door, said still more angrily:

“I call it an outrage—and you’ll have cause to regret 
it one day.”

Questioned on the subject, Captain Stegand refused 
either to admit or deny the incident; but the two witnesses 
identified him quite positively as the gentleman in evening 
dress whom they had seen that evening in Grosvenor Street.

Nor did Lady Mary deny having seen and spoken to 
Captain Stegand outside her house on that occasion. She 
had not spoken of the incident before, because, as a matter 
of fact, she explained that, directly after the incident, and 
as soon as she entered her house, she heard of the burglary, 
which event put everything else out of her head.

Captain Stegand, then, was arrested on the 13th of 
June, rather more than a fortnight after the attack on Lady 
Mary Wern’s house. After formal evidence of arrest was 
given before the magistrate, the accused was allowed bail— 
it was for a large sum, I remember—and that same after­
noon he walked into our office and asked to see Mr. Mui- 
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ligan. I was not the least surprised to see him; his was 
just one of those cases which invariably gravitated in the 
direction of Skin 0’ my Tooth. Sitting as usual in my 
cubby-hole, I could see our new client clearly: the straight 
features, the fair hair, the tell-tale little moustache. He 
protested his innocence very vigorously, but admitted that 
his position was giving him and his friends a certain amount 
of anxiety.

“I seem to be floundering, Mr. Mulligan,” he said, dur­
ing the course of the interview, “in a morass of adverse 
circumstances. That confounded shirt, for instance, I have 
no idea how it got into the soiled-linen basket, and I swear 
I never missed that second stud.”

“We won’t bother about the shirt and the stud just 
now,” Skin o’ my Tooth said with that quiet manner of his 
which always had the effect of calming fears and recreating 
hope. “We’ll just concentrate, if you don’t mind, on the 
actual evening of the 26th, and the hour when you left the 
Savoy and walked up to Grosvenor Street. You did go 
straight to Grosvenor Street, did you not?”

“Yes,” the Captain admitted, “I did.”
“Why did you?”
Captain Stegand frowned. Obviously he did not like 

this kind of questioning, but Skin 0’ my Tooth, looking 
bland and fat and coy like a Victorian maiden in her teens, 
raised kind eyes to his.

“You must be frank with me, you know, Captain 
Stegand,” he said quite pleasantly but with an unmistak­
able note of firmness in his voice, “or I shall be asking you 
not to waste your time and mine.”

“You are quite right, Mr. Mulligan,” the Captain re­
joined with engaging frankness, “and I should be a fool 
not to trust you implicitly. I left the Savoy that night in­
tending to call at Grosvenor Street to see Lady Mary Wem 
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if she was well enough to receive me. She had telephoned 
to me just before dinner that she much regretted not being 
able to join the party as she had promised to do, but she 
had a slight cold and was afraid to venture out. I was 
walking up Bond Street when I saw Lady Mary’s car turn 
out of Grosvenor Street, and passing quite close to the kerb 
where I had come to a standstill, it went down Bond Street 
and then disappeared in the direction of Piccadilly. Lady 
Mary was sitting in the car. I did not think then that she 
had seen me, but I knew later on that she had. Well, Mr. 
Mulligan,” the young man went on with a sigh, “I don’t 
see why I should conceal the fact from you that I am 
deeply attached to Lady Mary Wern, and that an almost 
insane sense of humiliation and jealousy caused me to for­
get what was due to her and to myself. Regardless of time 
or weather, I am ashamed to say that I took my stand out­
side her house determined to wait all night if necessary and 
to make what I suppose would be called a scene directly 
she came home.”

“And when the lady did come home,” Skin o’ my Tooth 
put in with a smile, “she gave it you straight from the 
shoulder, eh? and you went home very much chastened, eh?”

“You have hit it,” the young man admitted with a 
shamefaced sigh.

There was a slight pause, during which I could see the 
Captain’s anxious eyes fixed searchingly upon my chief.

“Well, Mr. Mulligan?” he asked abruptly after a while.
“Well, Captain Stegand,” Skin o’ my Tooth replied 

slowly, “I don’t think I need detain you further to-day. By 
the way,” he went on, as if on an afterthought, “you know, 
of course, that while you were on the watch outside Lady 
Mary Wern’s house the butler, so he states, was attacked 
by two burglars, who afterwards rifled the house and stole 
some valuable jewellery?”
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“1 know that now, Mr. Mulligan,” the Captain replied, 
“but I did not know it at the time.”

“Didn’t you see anything?”
“No.”
“Not the two men who rang at the front door and 

knocked the butler down?”
“No. If I had I might have been of some use.”
“Of course you might," Skin o’ my Tooth assented 

blandly. “I hadn’t thought of that.”
“I suppose it all occurred just before I got there.”
“I suppose so.” Again there was a slight pause, a 

moment’s silence, during which I had to be very careful— 
had to hold my breath almost—lest I betrayed my presence 
behind the arras. And presently Skin o’ my Tooth rose, 
intimating that the interview must now come to an end. 
Captain Stegand still looked very anxious, and, obviously, 
there was something on his mind over which he was debat­
ing with himself whether he would speak of it or no. As 
usual, Skin 0’ my Tooth guessed what was troubling his 
client.

“In the words of the poet, Captain Stegand,” he said 
quietly, “you must trust me not at all or all in all.”

“I know, I know,” the Captain retorted with a slight 
frown, “but it’s always difficult------ ”

“Where a lady is concerned,” Skin o’ my Tooth said, 
completing the broken sentence. “But not in such a simple 
case as this, my good sir. What is it?”

“Well, all I wanted to say,” the Captain rejoined, as if 
taking a sudden resolution, “is that you must keep Lady 
Mary Wern’s name out of all this business. I can’t bear to 
think that she should be worried. I would sooner------ ”

“Go to penal servitude for a crime you did not commit? 
Is that it?”

“Well! Not exactly, but------ ”
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“Set your mind at rest, Captain Stegand,” my chief 
concluded with a pleasant smile, “we needn’t worry the 
lady about your affairs. And when all this has blown over, 
you can get married, and on your honeymoon forget all 
about it.”

The Captain slowly shook his head, and for a moment 
or two his lips were tight set. Then he said with an attempt 
at light-heartedness.

“I am afraid she won’t have me, Mr. Mulligan. I 
offended her irretrievably that night, I am afraid.”

“Well, you know,” Skin o’ my Tooth rejoined, “no lady 
likes to feel she is being watched by a jealous admirer. 
And,” he added, “I suppose it wasn’t the first time.”

“I’m afraid not,” the Captain admitted, “and I sup­
pose I was a fool. She had already warned me once or 
twice, but------ ”

He sighed, and I felt really sony for him: he seemed 
so depressed. But, nevertheless, he gave me the impression 
that in spite of his unfortunate love-affair, and his still more 
unfortunate position, he appeared to be comforted. Skin o’ 
my Tooth had a wonderful way with him, especially when 
his clients thoroughly trusted him, and Captain Stegand 
very obviously did so. I was sorry for that young man, 
and firmly believed that he was the victim of circumstances. 
He certainly did not look to me the sort of man who could 
be the leader of a gang of daring miscreants; but then, of 
course, appearances are so often deceptive, and in any case 
they do not weigh in the opinion of the officials of the 
Criminal Investigation Department.

IV

Two days later my chief desired me to call for him at 
his rooms in the Adelphi at eleven o’clock in the evening.
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“Come just as you are, Muggins,” he said to me, “and 
don’t forget to slip your little Colt in your pocket as well 
as your police whistle.”

He wouldn’t tell me then where we were going, but as 
soon as I arrived at his rooms at the appointed hour, he 
said to me: “We are going to do a little bit of burglary 
on our own account, Muggins, and show them what we 
can do.”

“Yes, sir,” I said. “Where?”
“At the house of Lady Mary Wern, my friend. From 

private information received, I happen to know that her 
ladyship is going to the first night of Gabriel Cowlen’s play, 
and won’t be back before midnight. Now I have a par­
ticular reason for wishing to enter that house. We may get 
a rough reception, in which case I shall know that I have 
made the greatest mistake of my career; but,” he added, 
with that inimitable chuckle of his, whilst he cast down his 
eyes and assumed that coy Early-Victorian expression which 
always meant mischief for an evildoer, “I make so few mis­
takes, that I am going to risk being put in charge of the 
police for housebreaking; and if any of the household look 
like attacking me personally, you can at once make play 
with your Colt. We are armed burglars for the time being, 
remember.”

I have been trained never to make a remark when 
Skin o’ my Tooth tells me of any of his plans, so without 
a word now I followed him. We took a taxi as far as 
Burlington House and then walked up to Grosvenor Street. 
I forget now the number of Lady Mary’s house, but any­
way, we got there after a few minutes’ brisk walking and 
rang at the front door. It was quite mild, but there was 
a nasty drizzle, and I was glad that I had thought of put­
ting on an overcoat. I confess to having felt strangely ex­
cited; this was just the sort of adventure that appealed to 
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me, even though—or perhaps because—I hadn’t the least 
idea what lay ahead of me. Skin o’ my Tooth appeared 
to be highly elated. He was smoking a huge cigar, and 
while we waited on the doorstep he rubbed his hands to­
gether and chuckled audibly. We waited some time, and 
at one moment it seemed as if a shade of disappointment 
passed over my chief’s fat, complacent features; the next, 
however, I once more heard that gleeful chuckle of his. 
Footsteps were crossing the hall, and a few seconds later 
the front door was opened by a middle-aged man, sleek 
and well groomed, in dress trousers and shirt under a 
morning coat—obviously the butler. Before I had time to 
realise what was happening, my chief’s arm shot out and 
his clenched fist landed the butler full on the chest. The 
man staggered, at which I did not wonder, as I know the 
strength that lurks in Skin o’ my Tooth’s fat body, and 
would have measured his length on the hall carpet but for 
the fact that his hand came in contact with a heavy oak 
table, to which he clung, while making desperate efforts to 
recover his breath.

“Quick, man,” Skin o’ my Tooth now said aloud to me; 
“the dining-room silver first. Front room on this floor.”

Remember that I was all at sea. But it was one of my 
chief’s favourite jokes to spring all kinds of impossible 
adventures upon me, and then watch with amusement how 
quickly I succeeded in guessing his intentions. In this in­
stance it was not very difficult. I knew that for some reason 
which I should understand later on we were supposedly 
swell mobsmen come to ransack Lady Mary Wern’s house. 
I turned at once in the direction indicated to me by Skin 
o’ my Tooth, but had not gone more than a step or two 
when the butler, suddenly regaining his breath, called out 
loudly :

“Thomas! Help! Quick!”



THE TURQUOISE STUD I 7 I

The door beyond the one leading to the dining-room 
flew open and a young man, short and of stoutish build, 
rushed out. At sight of us he paused, and for the space 
of a second or two he stared at us with eyes in which per­
plexity and fear were clearly indicated. The next moment 
I could see that he would have fallen on Skin o’ my Tooth, 
but I had my Colt out already, and he threw up his hands.

“Ah, Mr. Hinks,” Skin o’ my Tooth said with a pleasant 
smile. “I had no idea I should have the felicity of meeting 
you here. Well, my mate and I want you two gentlemen 
to go quietly back into the library while we have a little 
look round. Don’t be anxious: we won’t disturb the maids.”

With his hands still up, the fellow Hinks backed into 
the library. The butler, to my astonishment, had made no 
attempt to defend either his friend or his mistress’s house. 
To me he seemed more puzzled than frightened; presently 
he shook himself like a dog who has had a whipping, and 
straightened his clothes; then he took a step or two in the 
direction of the library door.

“The telephone is quite conveniently placed in there, I 
think,” Skin o’ my Tooth continued blandly. “You’ll be 
able to call up the police, won’t you?”

Hinks had already gone into the library. The butler 
appeared to hesitate for a moment or two, but without 
further parley Skin o’ my Tooth gave him one of his vigor­
ous punches, which sent him sprawling into the room in the 
wake of his friend. Skin o’ my Tooth then closed the door 
and turned the key upon them.

“I suppose they will ring up the police now,” I whis­
pered.

“Not they,” my chief replied with a chuckle; “but they 
may ring up the captain of their gang, or else make a bolt 
of it through the window; so while I see to one or two 
matters, both upstairs and down, you wait here with your 
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ear glued to the keyhole. Should our friends in there attempt 
to use the telephone, give me our usual emergency call.”

He switched off all the lights in the hall, and, guided 
only by his pocket electric torch, he made his way upstairs, 
while I remained in total darkness, with ears open for any 
sound that might come from the library; but none came. 
A few minutes later Skin o’ my Tooth came down again. 
His fat face was beaming and he was rubbing his pink, 
podgy hand against his leg—a sure sign that he was 
pleased with the turn of events.

“No sound from there?” he asked in a whisper, nod­
ding in the direction of the library door.

“None,” I replied.
“They are still puzzled,” he continued, “which is all to 

the good, as I didn’t want to get the police in here too 
soon. There were one or two things I was not quite sure 
about. But now I know, so we’ll just pretend that we have 
departed and then we can telephone to Alverson.”

He said something at the top of his voice and then 
went to the front door, which he opened and reclosed with 
a bang; then, beckoning to me to follow, he tiptoed across 
the hall, and together we went down the back stairs, clos­
ing behind us the door, which cut the basement off from 
the hall.

“Now draw the bolts of the back door, Muggins,” Skin 
o’ my Tooth said to me, “while I ring up Alverson. There’s 
sure to be an extension to the telephone somewhere in the 
basement. I’ll meet you here at the foot of the stairs in a 
moment or two.”

I groped my way to the back door and undid the bolts. 
When I met my chief again I could feel that he was just 
chuckling with delight.

“Now we can quietly bide out time, Muggins,” he said, 
“and I may safely promise you some fun.”
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We were in total darkness. I sat down at the foot of 

the stairs, and after a while Skin o’ my Tooth sat down 
beside me. From time to time he drew a sigh of satisfac­
tion or gave a quick chuckle of delight. He would not 
allow me to smoke, which was a terrible trial during that 
hour and a half while we sat there waiting.

“Just patience, Muggins! That’s all we want now,” he 
said to me.

Over our heads we could hear at first the two men 
rattling away at the library door; but it was stout and 
solid, and apparently they would not go to the length of 
breaking it open.

Whether after our supposed departure they had made 
up their minds to telephone for someone in authority over 
them, or whether one or both had got out by the window, 
we knew not. But Skin 0’ my Tooth had been right in his 
surmise: they did not wish the police to get mixed up in 
this affair until they had consulted with their chief, who­
ever he was.

Then all at once we heard the tooting of a motor-horn. 
A car drew up outside the house, and presently the front 
door was opened and we heard again the rattling of the 
library door, which was followed by confused and agitated 
talking and footsteps going to and fro. This went on for 
some time, the car still remaining outside the door. After 
a while we heard the door at the top of the back stairs 
being opened and a woman’s voice saying:

“Shut up! I’d sooner see for myself.”
A woman was effectively coming down the stairs; we 

could hear the rustle made by a heavily beaded gown and 
the clatter of high heels upon the oilcloth. The woman, 
whoever it was, guided herself by means of a small electric 
torch; a man in breeches and leather leggings followed 
close behind her.
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And all at once Skin o’ my Tooth switched on the 
electric light, which lit up the whole of the back stairs and 
left us both in shadow. The woman gave a scream.

“Who’s there?” she called out.
“Only two poor burglars, lady,” Skin o’ my Tooth 

replied in a droning, nasal voice, “which can’t get out ’cos 
the back door is locked, blarst it.”

By the sudden glare of the electric light I had already 
recognised Lady Mary Wern. The man behind her might 
have been her chauffeur. He was tall and thin and fair 
and had a small toothbrush moustache. Lady Mary turned 
to him and said curtly:

“Call Lemon and Hinks down, Henry, and throw these 
men out.”

“Ain’t you goin’ to telephone for the p’lice, lady?” 
Skin o’ my Tooth said, almost whining. “My mate and I 
we haven’t got a home, and we’re really happiest sleeping 
in the p’lice cells or at Wormwood Scrubs. And our third 
mate, he’s already off with a nice swag; so won’t you tele­
phone to the p’lice, lady?”

“Do as I tell you, Henry,” was Lady Mary’s reply to 
this strange request. “Where is Hinks?”

Hinks, in answer to a call from the chauffeur, had al­
ready appeared at the top of the steps, and Lemon was 
close behind him. The three men would already have been 
on us, only that Lady Mary was in their way on the narrow 
^tairs. Now she stood aside, flat against the wall to enable 
them to pass.

“Let me telephone for you, lady,” Skin o’ my Tooth 
went on glibly. “I give you my word I’d rather.”

He had turned in the direction where stood the tele­
phone; quick as lightning, Henry, the chauffeur, took a flying 
leap over the banisters, down into the passage, with Hinks 
immediately behind him. In an instant they were right on 
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Skin 0’ my Tooth, and a very unequal fight raged for a 
few seconds whilst I ran to the back door, tore it open, 
blew' my police whistle, then turned back again, revolver in 
hand, covering the last man, Lemon, who threw up his 
hands.

I was not really afraid for my chief. He is a past­
master in the art of self-defence and as powerful and heavy 
as a Hercules. He could tackle two men more easily than 
most people could tackle one, and he had the advantage 
of position with his back to the wall in a narrow passage. 
With one eye I could see a medley of arms and legs; with 
the other I watched every movement, not only of Lemon 
the butler, but also of Lady Mary. I had them both covered, 
but I knew very well that I would not dare shoot, whatever 
they did. I was not in danger of my life, and was not de­
fending my own house and property, nor were my chief and 
I police officials discharging our duty.

But, of course, neither the lovely lady nor her three 
accomplices knew who we were. To them we probably 
were police officers on their track. I could see what was 
going on in Lady Mary’s mind; she was making a super­
human effort to conquer her surprise and terror, and to 
make a bolt of it, either to conceal certain evidences which 
would tell against her, or to reach her car and drive away 
somewhere, anywhere, before the arrival of the police.

However, she had not the time for either of these means 
of escape, for the next moment we had Inspector Rogers 
here with Burke and a couple more men. The whole gang 
tried to brazen it out, of course; Lady Mary talked loudly 
of “outrage” and “miscreants” and “fools,” whilst Henry 
the chauffeur and Hinks held the now unresisting Skin o’ 
my Tooth pinioned against the wall, swearing that her 
Ladyship had been attacked by three armed burglars, one 
of whom had already got away. Rogers, however, allowed 
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them to talk as much as they liked; he had his orders. 
These had been given to him by Mr. Alverson, the Assistant- 
Commissioner, following the conversation which he had with 
Skin o’ my Tooth on the telephone. He sent Burke and 
another man upstairs, and there in her Ladyship’s wardrobe 
was the whole paraphernalia of a complete suit of man’s 
clothes, together with the wig and the necessary make-up 
which she used when she accompanied one of her associates 
on a burglarious errand. It was she who was the dark, 
slender lad, who kept her hands in the pockets of her over­
coat, as they, by their size and shape, might have betrayed 
her sex.

It transpired afterwards, chiefly through her own con­
fession, that Captain Stegand had on more than one oc­
casion spied upon her, as she called it. No doubt he was 
still far from guessing the truth, but she felt that at any 
moment something might betray her. Thwarted in her 
nefarious calling, terrified of being found out, that extra­
ordinary woman, young, beautiful, adulated, devised the 
hellish scheme of throwing suspicion on the man who, quite 
unconsciously, was threatening her with exposure. Hinks, 
one of the gang who played the rôle of footman, took 
service with Captain Stegand, and the incident of the tur­
quoise stud and the shirt in the soiled-linen basket was 
devised for the undoing of the wretched Captain and car­
ried through by Hinks; a chance though very faint re­
semblance to Henry, who acted as chauffeur, did the rest. 
It was a cruel and wicked revenge to take on an innocent 
man, who, but for his timely visit to Skin 0’ my Tooth, 
might have drifted into the hands of a less skilful lawyer 
and fallen a victim to a miscarriage of justice.

As you know, Lady Mary Wern never stood her trial. 
While she was still out on bail she committed suicide by 
taking an overdose of veronal. Lemon, Hinks, and Henry, 
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her three associates, each got five years. They were men, 
mind you, quite well born and well educated. What had 
brought them to this life of crime it is impossible to say. 
It may have been greed and extravagance, a desire to have 
a good time and plenty of money to spend without having 
to work for it; or it may just have been that mad desire 
for excitement and novel thrills which is such a common 
state in young people these days.

Of their guilt there was not the shadow of doubt. 
Certain finger-prints photographed after the attack on the 
houses of Lord Ар-Owen and of Sir Arthur Seligman, 
which it seemed at one time could never be traced to their 
owners, finally furnished the police with the last and most 
conclusive proof of the guilt of the three men. Strangely 
enough, no finger-prints could be traced to Lady Mary 
Wern; the evidence against her was entirely circumstantial 
—a question of time, false alibis, the make-up found by 
Skin o’ my Tooth in her dressing-room, and so on; but her 
suicide, of course, set all doubts at rest as to her share in 
that huge and daring conspiracy. The attack on her house 
in Grosvenor Street was a blind, done in order to throw 
dust in the eyes of the police. The dust, however, did not 
settle in my chief’s eyes.

“They were just a shade too clever,” he said to me 
one day à propos of the case, “and there is no worse 
counsellor in the world than spite. That scheme about the 
turquoise stud very nearly proved the wretched Captain’s 
undoing; but you remember the insurance clerk and his 
girl, who saw him standing outside Lady Mary Wern’s 
house the night of the supposed burglary?”

“Yes, I do. I thought their testimony would do for the 
poor Captain.”

“Not a bit of it. It should have proved his salvation 
from the very first, because if what Lemon the butler had 
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said had been true, the Captain’s shirt would have been 
crumpled, and with its missing stud have presented an un­
tidy appearance which, to my thinking, would not have 
escaped the attention of the two witnesses. If you re­
member, they stated that at one moment the accused stood 
immediately under a street lamp and that they saw him 
quite distinctly.”

“No! No!” he went on, with his coy and gentle smile, 
“those rascals wanted to be too clever, and the lady was 
in too great a hurry to vent her spite upon the wretched 
man. Perhaps if she had waited for a more favourable 
opportunity to enact the cruel comedy of the missing stud, 
she might have brought about a miscarriage of justice. 
Certainly that fellow Hinks was the cleverest rascal of the 
lot, because he was, of course, the chief performer in what 
we may call the farce of the missing stud; that touch of 
the soiled shirt in the basket was a stroke of genius, and 
I understand was his invention. As for me, Muggins, you 
know that I have a way of knowing if a man is lying to 
me or speaking the truth, and the moment I knew that Cap­
tain Stegand was not lying, I also knew that the mystery 
of the burglary in Lady Mary Wern’s house and presumably 
all the other West End burglaries was to be sought inside 
that house in Grosvenor Street.”

And I may as well tell you that when Skin o’ my Tooth 
makes up his mind to a thing, he does not care what 
means he employs to achieve his end.
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Vili. OVERWHELMING EVIDENCE

I

Skin o’ my Tooth had several interesting cases of fraud 
to deal with recently, but none, I think, quite so sensational 
as what was known as the de Moinerie succession case. 
Funny name, isn’t it? It comes from Mombrai in Normandy, 
and the family is one of the oldest in the country, although 
its members have never figured conspicuously either in 
politics or in the social world. A title has never come 
their way, nor have they ever sought to obtain one; you 
may take it that they are probably too proud to figure in 
the honours’ lists of to-day. But if you look through the 
rolls of the early Middle Ages you will come across some 
de Momeries in various important capacities, mostly in con­
nection with county administration; there have also been 
several bishops in the family in the course of the centuries, 
and an Admiral de Momerie greatly distinguished himself 
in the seventeenth century during the wars against the 
Dutch.

However, the family history and family traditions of the 
Momeries have nothing to do with the succession case 
which created such a sensation a couple of years ago, and 
which cost the rightful heir half his fortune in legal ex­
penses before he finally established his claim to the en­
tailed estates of Mumbray in Glebeshire; indeed, it is to 
my chief, Mr. Patrick Mulligan, that the present squire owes 
the fact that he, and not the astute adventurer who claimed 
those estates, has remained in possession. But it was liter­
ally by the skin of his teeth that he won the case, and 
never did my chief more fully deserve his nickname.

Now let me remind you how it all happened. The old
12*
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Squire de Momerie, who was a Lieutenant-General in the 
army, and had served with distinction in the Ashanti and 
Zulu wars, as well as in New Zealand, was a man cursed 
with a violent temper. Some thirty years ago he quarrelled 
with his eldest son, for no apparent reason except that the 
young man had led rather a wild life at the ’Varsity and 
run somewhat heavily into debt; not a very unusual thing 
for young men to do. But, anyway, the father appears to 
have taken a very high-handed attitude toward his son in 
this matter, with the result that young Arthur de Momerie 
decided to cut his stick, and left home determined to gain 
his independence by starting life anew somewhere in the 
colonies. He embarked on the Jenoure en route for South 
Africa. He arrived in Cape Town all right, and, according 
to all accounts, he and two or three young jackanapes with 
whom he had chummed up during the voyage, proceeded 
to paint the town red for about a month; they got them­
selves mixed up in various scuffles with the police; young 
de Momerie even spent some days in prison. Presently, 
however, there came one of those wild rumours of a fresh 
goldfield up country; there was a mad rush for claims, 
and in this rush, somehow or other, all trace of Arthur de 
Momerie appears to have been lost. Whether he ever 
reached the new fields and pegged out a claim as some 
said, whether he quarrelled with his associate, as others 
declared, and was found one day in his shack with a knife 
between his shoulder blades, whether he disappeared volun­
tarily or involuntarily, no one ever knew. From time to 
time rumours would reach his old home in Glebeshire that 
he had been seen in various parts of the world, in Africa, 
Argentina, or China; there was a talk at some time that 
he had been found starving in a doss-house in New York, 
and at another that he was a noted cinema star, owning a 
magnificent property at Hollywood and earning £ i ,000 a 
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day. But, needless to say, none of these rumours was 
authentic. One thing only was certain, and that was that 
Arthur de Momerie had cut his stick with a vengeance, 
and that if he was alive—which, of course, was more than 
doubtful—he had given up all desire to return to his old 
home.

His mother had died in the meanwhile; some said of a 
broken heart.

There was an only daughter, Gertrude, who became 
one of the most baffling and mysterious personalities in 
that remarkable case. She was the eldest of the family, 
and about a year before Arthur left home she had married 
her first cousin, Archibald de Momerie. This marriage 
from the family point of view was a most unfortunate one, 
Archibald being looked upon by all his kindred as a 
wastrel; in those days society young men and women had 
not yet taken to the stage as a profession; actors were still 
held, especially in county society, to be rogues and vaga­
bonds—and Archibald de Momerie was not just an actor, 
who played in Shakespearian productions at the Lyceum, 
but he was actually on the music-hall stage—blacked his 
face and reddened the tip of his nose, wore false eyebrows 
and a diminutive hat, and sang comic songs—so said “the 
county” with hands uplifted and eyes turned up to heaven 
in holy horror.

Needless to say that the old Squire was furious about 
this marriage; Arthur, too, who was still at Oxford then, 
and had not yet quarrelled with his father, took a very high 
tone of disapproval which Gertrude seemed to have resented 
far more bitterly than she did her father’s more arbitrary 
opposition. Indeed, the Squire actually forbade that actor- 
fellow, as he called him, the house, whereupon Gertrude, 
highly incensed, declared her intention never to set foot 
inside her ancestral home again. As for Arthur, when his 
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turn came to quarrel with his father, he found neither sym­
pathy nor affection in his sister, and it was universally 
understood that as a matter of fact it was Gertrude who 
had brought Arthur’s extravagances to her father’s notice 
and thus precipitated the quarrel.

Be that as it may, the old Squire was now certainly 
cut off from his two elder children. The second son, 
Henry, alone stuck loyally to his father. Just before the 
outbreak of the war, when all news concerning Arthur de 
Momerie, however wild and unauthenticated, had ceased 
to drift Mumbraywards, Henry, then a man approaching 
middle-age, and a Major in a smart cavalry regiment, was 
naturally looked upon as the future Squire. He had mar­
ried the daughter of one of the neighbouring big-wigs, and 
had a young family of his own. They made their home 
in London, and only paid short visits twice a year to 
Mumbray. Then came the war. Major de Momerie quickly 
rose to the rank of Lieutenant-General, distinguished him­
self on several occasions, was mentioned in despatches, and 
retired from active service soon after the Armistice, with a 
G.C.B. The Squire, now an old man, had continued to 
live in his magnificent home, in a kind of splendid loneli­
ness; his temper, so it was said, had not improved with 
time, but he was greatly respected, nevertheless, for the 
grand way in which he kept up the old county traditions 
of generosity towards his tenants, regular attendance in church, 
and lavish subscriptions to local sports and local charities.

He had seemingly in a measure forgiven his daughter, 
Gertrude. Mrs. Archibald de Momerie had not kept to her 
word that she would never set foot inside Mumbray again. 
She did more than set foot inside it, she spent not only 
weeks and months, but some years under the paternal roof. 
Her husband, according to her, had not done so badly; 
he had had several good engagements in America and 
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Australia, and it was while he was abroad fulfilling these 
engagements that Gertrude took more and more frequently 
to spending her time with her father. It was her brother 
Henry, always kind and affectionate, who had originally 
brought about the reconciliation. But Archibald de Momerie 
proved more resentful, and to the end refused to have any­
thing to do with his father-in-law, who was also his uncle, 
by the way, and he certainly never did set foot inside 
Mumbray from the day of his marriage to that of his death 
—a matter of thirty years. He did now and again, it 
seems, visit England, but never came to Glebeshire. His 
wife on those occasions would join him in London. During 
the war, it seems, he remained in the States, where it 
appears that he had made quite a name for himself in the 
cinema world; at any rate, that was what his wife said, 
and this, of course, was another reason why the proud old 
Squire of Mumbray never would receive his son-in-law as 
a gentleman and an equal. All the same, he must have 
had a pretty good reputation as a cinema producer, be­
cause some time after the Armistice Gertrude de Momerie 
gave it out that her husband had received a splendid offer 
to manage a moving picture company which had just started 
production in Russia.

This was about a year before the death of the old 
Squire, which occurred early in 1923. Archibald de 
Momerie went out to Moscow in February of that year, and 
his wife, disdaining the advice of her friends, had actually 
decided to join him in that distressful city, when her father’s 
health, which had been failing for some time, took on a 
sudden turn for the worse, and she elected to remain at 
Mumbray in order to look after him.

It was generally conceded that Gertrude de Momerie 
nursed her father most devotedly to the end. Great, there­
fore, was everybody’s astonishment, and great must have 
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been her chagrin and disappointment, when it transpired 
that all that the old man had left her in his will was a 
paltry £500 a year.

A couple more years went by. General Sir Henry de 
Momerie was now installed at Mumbray with his family. 
Having retired from active service, he now devoted the 
whole of his time to the management of his property and 
to keeping up the same old traditions which had obtained 
in his family for hundreds of years; incidentally, he had 
been very generous to his sister, and supplemented her 
annuity by settling another £500 a year upon her.

Gertrude de Momerie was now a widow. It was 
generally understood in the county that her husband had 
not been able to battle against, the rigours of a Russian 
winter. She had a very sad tale to tell of how he con­
tracted bronchial trouble almost as soon as he arrived in 
Moscow: hard work, overstrain, hot to mention privations, 
to which he was n<>t accustomed, did the rest. He never 
had been very strong, it appears, and of course the life of 
a cinema producer is not always a bed of roses. Gertrude 
received a telegram from him telling her how ill he was, 
and begging her to come out to him. She started very 
pluckily, so she declared, but after a terribly trying journey 
she arrived in Moscow just too late. Her dear Archibald 
had died in the hotel where he had made his quarters, and 
she had a truly terrible time out there, far from home and 
kindred, alone amongst none too friendly strangers, sur­
rounded with red tape and formalities of all sorts. The 
funeral, without any religious ceremony, was, she declared, 
a nightmare, which she was vainly trying to forget.

After that she settled down in a flat in London. But 
she seldom came to Glebeshire since her widowhood, even 
though she remained on terms of close friendship with her 
brother Henry and his wife.
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II

The first intimation of the sensational affair occurred 
when Sir Jeremiah Pomfrait, who was the de Momerie’s 
family solicitor, and had been one of the executors under 
the late Squire’s will, received a communication from 
Messrs. Cussens and Cussens, solicitors, of Bedford 
Chambers, announcing the arrival in England of Mr. Arthur 
de Momerie, eldest son of the late Squire, who demanded 
an account from Sir Jeremiah of the administration of 
his father’s estate, of which he was now ready to take 
possession.

A post or two later there came a letter for General Sir 
Henry de Momerie, beginning, “My dear Fourpenny,” and 
ending, “Yrs. affectionately, Barebones.” The body of the 
letter contained a brief announcement of Arthur’s arrival 
in England and his proposed visit to Mumbray; but the 
point of that letter consisted in the two nicknames, which 
had been used by the two brothers toward one another 
when they were schoolboys. Arthur in those days had been 
known as Barebones because he was very thin and large­
boned, and Henry had been known as Fourpenny for no 
particular reason.

The whole thing partook of the nature of a thunderbolt. 
I cannot, of course, tell you what General de Momerie’s 
feelings were on the spur of the moment; what he did do 
was, firstly, to hold his tongue about the matter to his 
wife, and then to wire to Sir Jeremiah Pomfrait, asking him 
to come over to Mumbray as soon as possible. He also, 
on further thought, wired to his sister Gertrude.

Thus there was a regular family gathering, at which, 
however, Lady de Momerie was not present. As it hap­
pens, I am in a position to relate exactly what turn the 
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discussion took, as Skin o’ my Tooth subsequently had all 
the details from Sir Jeremiah’s notes. The latter, I must 
tell you, took the stand that the whole thing was an impos­
ture. He spoke of the Tichborne case, and of Arthur 
Orton, the butcher; but the General could not, it seems, 
get over that letter he had received with those once so 
familiar nicknames.

“Fourpenny,” he had said at the beginning of the inter­
view with a sigh of puzzlement; “no one but Arthur ever 
called me ‘Fourpenny,’ and it is forty years since last I 
heard anyone call me that. And then ‘Barebones’—that 
beats me, too—who could possibly know after all these 
years that I used to call old Arthur ‘Barebones’?”

Gertrude de Momerie was silent, too, in her way; but 
hers was the way of uncompromising incredulity.

“Just another Arthur Orton,” she agreed with Sir 
Jeremiah in her own determined manner. “You may take 
it from me, Sir Jeremiah, that if Arthur had been alive all 
these years he would not have left my father or my brother 
Henry alone; he would have been constantly at both of 
them, or at me, with demands for money. People said, I 
know, that he had made good, and that he was resentful, 
and therefore had made no attempt to return to Glebeshire. 
Well! I don’t believe it. Arthur was not one to make good, 
and I am far more inclined to believe the story that he 
ended his days in a doss-house in New York.”

“Don’t say that, Gertrude,” the Genera! put in gently. 
“It is unkind to the memory of Arthur—if he is dead.”

“Dead!” Mrs. de Momerie retorted acidly, “of course 
he is dead. Wouldn’t he have gone on sponging on father 
if he was not?”

“But,” the General argued with a sign of puzzlement, 
“Arthur never sponged on father, as you put it, from the 
time he left home.”
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“Not during the first few years,” Gertrude was willing 
to admit, “but afterwards he did.”

“I never heard of his doing so,” the General rejoined 
firmly. “I think father would have told me if he had heard 
from poor old Arthur.”

“Apparently he did not, though. But I know for a fact 
that Arthur did write to father, and when father did not 
respond to his demands for money, he wrote to me and 
tried to sponge on me.”

“How do you mean? Arthur tried to sponge on you? 
How? When?”

Gertrude de Moinerie did not reply immediately; she 
sat with lips tightly set, and eyes fixed searchingly upon 
her brother. Sir Jeremiah Pomfrait put it down in his 
notes that she gave him the impression at the time as if 
she half-regretted what she had said, and was trying to 
make up her mind whether to speak more fully or to 
entrench herself behind a barrier of silence. At last she 
said:

“Arthur wrote to me on two or three occasions, the 
last time just before the war. The burden of his letters 
was always the same; that he was on his beam-ends, that 
he had asked father for help, but had received no reply 
to his letters. He begged me to do something for him.”

“And,” the General asked, “did you?”
“Yes,” Gertrude replied, “I did.”
“You never said anything to me about it.”
“I thought you knew.”
“How should I know?”
“I thought father must have told you.”
Once more there was silence in the stately room where 

this strange family conclave was being held. Mrs. de 
Momerie was no doubt beginning to feel that her attitude 
with regard to the supposedly dead brother had aroused, 
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both in Sir Henry and in the family solicitor, a certain 
measure of mistrust, not to say antagonism, against her.

“Have you kept any of those letters you speak of, Mrs. 
de Momerie?” Sir Jeremiah asked after a moment or two.

“I am not sure about all of them,” Gertrude replied.
“But I know I can lay my hands on the last one.”

“When was that written?”
“Just after the outbreak of the war.”
“As lately as that!” Sir Henry broke in, with a note 

almost of horror in his tone and in the look which he 
threw to his sister. “Great heavens! You should have 
told me, Gertrude,” he added indignantly.

“I thought you knew,” Gertrude reiterated obstinately.
“One moment, please,” Sir Jeremiah now put in coolly. 

“Let us have all these facts correctly.”
He turned and faced Mrs. de Momerie squarely.
“You had a letter, you say,” he asked her, “from your 

brother Arthur soon after the outbreak of the war?”
“Yes, I did,” she replied coolly.
“Where from?”
“From Edmonton, Alberta. I was to send the reply 

care of the Canadian National Stores there. Arthur told 
me that he had been working on a farm in Alberta for the 
past two years, that he thought of joining the Canadian 
Expeditionary Force, but that he had been unable to save 
a sixpence and wanted a little money to get himself a few 
necessaries. He also told me in the letter that he had 
written to father, but had received no reply whatever, so 
he supposed that the old man was as obstinate and as 
irreconcilable as ever.”

“That is false,” the General broke in hotly. “I don’t 
believe that father ever got the letters; they were kept back 
from him------ ”

He was glaring at his sister now in open hostility, and
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Sir Jeremiah had to intervene quickly before more fatal 
words had been spoken.

“One moment, Sir Henry,” he begged, and then 
turned once more to Gertrude de Momerie.

“Now, Mrs. de Momerie,” he said, “you say that you 
still have the letter in question?”

“Yes,” she replied, “I have.”
“What about the handwriting? Without having that 

other letter before you, should you say that the one which 
Sir Henry received yesterday was written by your brother 
Arthur?"

And Sir Jeremiah placed the fateful letter beginning 
“Dear Fourpenny” before Mrs. de Momerie. Frowning, 
her face pale, her lips once more tightly set, she examined 
it carefully.

“Nothing,” she said drily and, of course, irrelevantly, 
“will convince me that this letter was written by Arthur. 
He was killed at Loos. I have proofs------ ”

“My dear Gertrude,” the General broke in with ob­
vious impatience, “how like a woman! Sir Jeremiah did 
not ask you what were your convictions. He wanted to 
know if the handwriting in this letter is, in your opinion, 
that of our brother Arthur.”

“I am quite sure that it is not,” she replied stoutly.
“It does not resemble Arthur’s handwriting, you mean?” 

the General insisted.
“I don’t think it does.”
“Well,” Sir Jeremiah now resumed composedly, “if you 

are right, Mrs. de Momerie, it will greatly strengthen our 
case. Now tell me: you say that in answer to the letter 
which you received in 1914 you sent your brother some 
money. In what form did you send it?”

“I sent.him a couple of five-pound notes.”
“Registered?”



SKIN O’ MY TOOTHi go

“No.”
“Did he acknowledge receipt?”
“He did not. But I concluded that, as my letter was 

not returned through the Dead Letter Office, he received 
it all right. On previous occasions when I sent him money 
he never condescended to acknowledge it.”

“We shall have to trace the Canadian National Stores 
at Edmonton,” Sir Jeremiah observed, turning for the mo­
ment to Sir Henry; “it should not be difficult.”

Then he turned once more to Gertrude de Momerie.
“I need not worry you much more, Mrs. de Momerie,” 

he said; “one or two little points, and I have finished. 
Tell me: weren’t you surprised when you received that 
letter from Canada?”

“No,” she replied. “During the previous five-and- 
twenty years I heard from him three or four times. His 
last letter had come from New York about 1908 or 1909. 
I remember he said something then about trying his luck 
in Canada.”

“Have you still got that New York letter?”
“I am afraid not.”
“Or any previous ones?”
“I don’t think I kept any of them.”
“But do you remember anything about them?”
“I remember which years I received them and where 

they came from.”
“Ah! that is both good and important. And their 

contents?”
“Vaguely. But I may have kept one or two,” Gertrude 

de Momerie went on hopefully. “1’11 have a good search 
and let you know.”

“You said something just now,” the lawyer rejoined, 
“about having proofs that your brother Arthur was killed 
at Loos. What did you mean?”
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“Just this,” she replied. “In the Edmonton letter 
Arthur said that he meant to join the Canadian Expe­
ditionary Force; he also said that when he took on work 
as a farm labourer he had dropped his name, and just 
called himself Arthur, and that he would enlist as John 
Arthur. Well, I followed the list of casualties in the 
Canadian forces pretty closely, I can tell you. John Arthur 
was reported missing, probably killed, after the Battle of 
Loos. That is nearly ten years ago,” she went on coldly, 
“and I have not heard from him since.”

“Until now,” the General exclaimed almost involuntarily. 
Gertrude de Momerie shrugged her shoulders.
“An imposture,” she declared firmly.
“I wish I could think so,” Sir Henry retorted with a sigh.
“I am inclined to agree with Mrs. de Momerie,” Sir 

Jeremiah put in. “In any case, our policy is one of splen­
did inactivity. We say nothing; we do nothing. Let the 
other side attack us; the burden of proving their case lies 
with them. In the meanwhile we shall collect all possible 
evidence that will upset their claim. I shall get in touch 
at once with the Canadian National Stores, also with the 
Canadian War Records Office, and Mrs. de Momerie will 
kindly send me the Edmonton letter and any other letters 
she may find. Failing any other letter from your brother 
Arthur, Mrs. de Momerie, I should like you to write me out 
a tabulated list of those which you remember having re­
ceived from him, with their contents, as far as possible.’

“I am afraid that my sister could hardly be relied upon 
for that,” Sir Henry remarked with a sigh.

“And why not, pray?” Gertrude snapped out sharply.
“You have prejudged the case, my dear,” her brother 

replied quite gently but firmly; “your dislike of Arthur has 
gone to the length of robbing him of any chance of seeing 
father before he died or obtaining his forgiveness.”
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“You mean,” she retorted drily, “that I kept father 
from seeing Arthur’s letters—stole them, in fact. I must 
thank you for your generous estimate of me.”

“My dear,” Sir Henry rejoined mildly, “by your own 
showing------ ”

“By my own showing,” she broke in tartly, “my poor 
husband and I were the only two members of the family 
who ever did anything for Arthur; although he behaved like 
a perfect cad to us at the time of our marriage. But it was 
Archibald who gave him food and shelter when he was 
literally starving in New York. How do I know,” she went 
on vehemently apostrophising her brother, “that he never 
wrote to you for help. You say he didn’t, but how do I 
know? You place such a Christian construction on my ac­
tions that you must forgive me if I do the same by yours. 
And I tell you straight and as an absolute fact that at least 
on two occasions when I was staying at Mumbray there was 
a letter from Arthur, and all father did was to read the 
letter through once, and without a word throw it straight 
into the fire.”

“I don’t believe it,” Sir Henry protested hotly.
Gertrude shrugged her shoulders and said nothing more. 

Sir Jeremiah, perplexed and worried, did not know what to 
make of this heated wordy warfare. He put it down in his 
notes that Sir Henry gave him the impression of a man 
groping only for truth, and, above all, desirous of righting 
a wrong at any cost to himself, if a wrong had indeed been 
committed. Sir Jeremiah’s estimate of Mrs. de Momerie, on 
the other hand, was less complimentary. He certainly had 
the impression that she was not altogether guiltless of hav­
ing kept open the breach between the late Squire and his 
eldest son; whether she had gone to the length of sup­
pressing letters was another and graver mystery which only 
coming events would reveal.
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III

The man who claimed to be Arthur de Momerie was at 
that time fifty-six years of age or thereabouts. His story 
was that after his quarrel with his father he had gone to 
South Africa, made a fortune in the gold-fields, and in­
tended to return home when a murderous attack made upon 
him laid him on a bed of sickness for months, during which 
his partner robbed him systematically of everything he pos­
sessed.

When at last he recovered sufficiently to be about again, 
the partner had fled the country, and he, Arthur, found 
himself practically destitute and with shattered health. He 
felt too obstinate and too proud to return home until he 
had made good again. But all his efforts in that direction 
proved of no avail. He knocked about the world in three 
continents, but never succeeded in saving a penny. At one 
time he had sunk so low that he slept in a doss-house in 
New York. Putting his pride in his pocket, he had made 
one or two appeals to his father, but the old man had 
proved hard and irreconcilable. In New York, when he was 
absolutely on his beam-ends, he met his cousin Archibald, 
who was then playing a minor part at one of the theatres. 
Archibald took pity on him and got him a place as scene­
shifter, and literally kept him from starvation for years until 
he, Arthur, finally went to Canada, hoping to get work there 
on a farm. For some time before this he had dropped his 
name, as he felt his was too high-sounding for the wretched 
vagrant that he had become. He was calling himself John 
Arthur, and it was under that name that he presently joined 
the Canadian Expeditionary Force. He fell into the hands 
of the Germans after the Battle of Loos and remained a 
prisoner until well into 19IQ, when the camp was broken

“Skin 0' my Tooth” Ij 



194 “SKIN O’ MY TOOTH”

up and he drifted eastwards to Poland and then north, first 
to Lithuania and then to Sweden, earning a precarious 
existence in various ways, chiefly as waiter or barman in 
the hotels of Warsaw or Stockholm.

More recently he had made his way into Holland; and 
it was at Amsterdam, in the bar of an hotel where he was 
serving, that he had heard a party of English visitors talk­
ing about Glebeshire and his old home. And thus, by what 
amounted to a miracle, he heard that his father was dead 
and that, his own death being presumed, his brother Henry 
had become the Squire of Mumbray. In a moment all the 
love for home and kindred revived in his heart; he collected 
what little money he had and took steamer for England; 
on the casual advice of a fellow-traveller, he sought out 
Messrs. Cussens and Cussens, put his case before them, 
wrote to his brother Henry, and now awaited the day 
patiently when justice would prevail and place him in pos­
session of his rightful heritage.

Public sympathy, as soon as the whole story became 
known, was almost unanimous in favour of the claimant. 
The whole thing was romantic and appealed to the popular 
imagination.

On the other hąnd, General Sir Henry de Momerie also 
had his share of sympathy and, above all, of respect. He 
was behaving all through like a high-minded gentleman. 
Acting on his solicitor’s advice, he remained in possession 
of the estates, but it was obvious that this was merely an 
official attitude; his private one was, equally obviously, a 
passionate desire to see justice done.

From the first he believed in the claimant, and but for 
Sir Jeremiah’s stern advice would have welcomed him with 
open arms as his long-lost brother and given up Mumbray 
to him without any intervention from die law. He could 
not get over that letter with the two nicknames. Nobody
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who was alive now, he argued, except his sister Gertrude, 
could possibly know about those. True, he had not seen 
his brother Arthur for over thirty years; he himself was a 
schoolboy of sixteen at Wellington College when the quarrel 
between father and son occurred, but he had an old photo 
of Arthur when the latter was a boy at Eton, and there was 
a picture by Ouless, R.A., of their mother with her three 
children, then aged thirteen, eleven, and three respectively, 
and even those in the county who were most sceptical and 
who were for ever quoting the Tichborne case could not 
deny the resemblance which undoubtedly existed between 
the old pictures of Arthur de Momerie as a boy and the 
middle-aged claimant of to-day. Any more than any eye— 
but a prejudiced one—could fail to see that the handwrit­
ing of the letter beginning “My dear Fourpenny” was, to 
the last stroke and the last dot, exactly similar to the one 
written to Mrs. Gertrude de Momerie from Edmonton, Al­
berta, just before the war.

Indeed, in the Chancery action brought by the claimant 
for the recovery of his lawful inheritance, Sir Jeremiah 
Pomfrait and the eminent counsel engaged on behalf of Sir 
Henry de Momerie had some very hard nuts to crack: so 
hard that they failed in the attempt. That case lasted four­
teen days, two of which were taken up by the learned 
judge’s summing up. There was a formidable array of wit­
nesses, some of whom swore positively that the claimant 
was Arthur de Momerie, whilst others swore equally posi­
tively that he was not. The most important witness for the 
defence was Mrs. Gertrude de Momerie; her attitude was 
one of uncompromising hostility toward the claimant: she 
denied on oath that he was her brother, refused to see the 
slightest likeness between him and her brother Arthur, or 
the slightest resemblance between the handwriting in the 
Edmonton letter and that of the claimant to-day.

13*
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But there were certain points which even she could 
neither deny nor explain away. I must tell you that she 
had made an affidavit which, she declared, or rather hoped, 
would cause the whole fabric of the claimant’s story to fall 
to the ground. Unable to produce any but the last letter, 
which she stated to have received from her brother Arthur 
before the war, she gave particulars of the missing letters 
—the approximate date, the place of origin, and the con­
tents.

Now, the claimant, on his side, had lodged an affidavit 
stating that he had written to his father and to his sister 
at different times during the twenty-five years preceding 
the war, and he also gave the approximate dates of those 
letters, outlined their contents, and named the places where 
they were posted. Those which he said he had written to 
his father could not, of course, be substantiated, but as far 
as the others were concerned his statements coincided point 
by point with those made by Mrs. Gertrude de Momerie.

He had a trying ordeal in the witness-box, which lasted 
from first to last nearly six hours. Sir Marbury Illcott, the 
eminent counsel for the defence, had him under cross- 
examination during the greater part of the time. With the 
help of a lavish expenditure of money, time, and ingenuity, 
the defence had built up a theory that the claimant was 
actually a man named John Arthur, who had knocked about 
the world, and become acquainted at one time with Arthur 
de Momerie, and learned from him the various details of 
past life and past events at Mumbray. To prove this theory, 
two witnesses had been brought over all the way from 
Canada, two men who had known and worked with a man 
named John Arthur on a farm at Alberta; they had lost 
sight of him at the outbreak of the war, but were told that 
he had joined the Expeditionary Force. They had known 
nothing about his circumstances over in England, but 
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always understood that he was a gentleman and had wealthy 
connections.

Of course, that was all very well as far as it went The 
military records of the Canadian Expeditionary’ Force also 
went to prove that this same John Arthur had, in spite of 
his age, succeeded in enlisting in the 2nd Division, and 
that he was reported missing after the Battle of Loos. But 
the whole of this theory fell to the ground during the 
examination and cross-examination of the claimant, whose 
memory of past events and incidents that had occurred not 
only at Mumbray, but during his school days at Eton and 
his university life at Oxford was positively prodigious. No 
third person could have had such intimate knowledge, unless 
one was prepared to suppose that Arthur de Momerie had 
years and years ago made up his mind that a certain John 
Arthur should impersonate him one day and claim his 
inheritance, and had deliberately primed him in all those 
details with a set purpose. That, of course, was an un­
tenable theory. On the other hand, Sir Henry de Momerie, 
from a spirit of justice, and his sister, from a spirit of spite, 
had instructed their counsel with regard to all those numer­
ous little details which they declared no one living except 
themselves or their brother Arthur could possibly know 
anything about. But never once was the claimant found to 
be wrong in any essential fact.

Indeed, it is safe to assert that it was the claimant him­
self who won his own case in the witness-box. Judgment 
was entered for him amidst cheers—quickly suppressed— 
from the public, and in the end, when Sir Henry de 
Momerie was seen walking up to his motor with his arm 
in that of his newly found brother, a hearty cheer greated 
him from the crowd which was waiting outside the Law 
Courts, and some young people started to sing: “For he’s 
a jolly good fellow!”
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And when Gertrude de Momerie presently appeared, 
she was greeted with more than one decided “Boo!”

IV

Now the last act of that curious drama began with the 
death of Sir Jeremiah Pomfrait. It occurred less than six 
months after the claimant had settled down in Mumbray, 
and been enthusiastically called upon by all the county.

Sir Henry de Momerie had stayed on with his supposed 
brother for a time, in order to help him with the management 
of the estate and make him acquainted with his tenants 
and employees. Lady de Momerie had once more settled 
down in London with her children; she had taken a house in 
Park Street and the General intended shortly to join her 
there. Quite apart from the entailed estates, his father, the 
old Squire, had left him personally quite a considerable 
sum of money for life in trust for his younger children: 
Lady de Momerie, too, had a small fortune of her own, 
and of course he had his pension, so the family was still 
quite well-off, but not sufficiently so to allow of Sir Henry 
continuing to give his sister Gertrude £500 a year. How­
ever, he was such a kind man that I am sure he did what 
he could in that direction. He was very much cut up at the 
death of Sir Jeremiah Pomfrait, who had been a friend of 
his family for so many years. Little did he guess, when he 
appeared as one of the chief mourners at the funeral, that 
this event would be the indirect means of restoring to him 
his filched heritage.

It was just about the time when that unfortunate Captain 
Stegand so narrowly escaped penal servitude for burglary, 
thanks to the courage and ingenuity exerted on his behalf 
by my chief, and Skin 0’ my Tooth’s name was on every 
lip. Neither he nor I were, therefore, the least surprised 
when on a fine July morning a charming, exquisitely dressed
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lady came to our musty old office and sent in her card, 
“Lady de Moinerie,” to my chief.

She had come, she said to Skin o’ my Tooth, as soon 
as she was closeted alone with him—I, “behind the arras” 
as usual—entirely on impulse. She had met Captain Stegand 
in society and liked him, and had admired the marvellous 
way in which his vindication and the punishment of the true 
evil-doers had been brought about.

Skin o’ my Tooth, looking benign and coy, sat before 
her with eyes downcast and lips pursed, looking very unlike 
the daring man of action who could bring any miscreant 
to justice. From my point of vantage I could see a slight 
frown of puzzlement and of disappointment pass over the 
lady’s brow as she contemplated in silence for a moment 
or two this fat and benign Irishman, in whose hands she 
had decided to place the fate and fortune of her family.

And suddenly he raised his eyes and gave her just one 
encouraging look. I know that glance. How often had it 
not brought a poor afflicted creature out of the depths of 
despair to the first sight of hope! Lady de Momerie was 
a middle-aged woman, extraordinarily handsome and ele­
gant, but even her beauty took on a more youthful appear­
ance after she had encountered that hope-giving glance.

“Mr. Mulligan,” she resumed quietly, “let me tell you 
at once that in all probability you will call me a visionary 
and advise me to go back home and be content with the 
life which Providence has mapped out for me. Well, in a 
way I am content. I am extraordinarily happy with a hus­
band who is one of the kindest and most generous of men; 
I have three children whom I idolise. But it is because I 
idolise my children and because my husband is so generous 
and kind that I cannot bear to see them and him defrauded 
by one of the most outrageous impostors that ever succeeded 
in throwing dust into the eyes of justice.”
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“Ah!” Skin o’ my Tooth remarked with a sigh of satis­
faction, “you have come to talk to me about the de Momerie 
claimant?”

She nodded acquiescence. I, too, felt elated at this turn 
of events, for I knew that my chief had just longed to have 
one of his fat fingers in that mysterious pie. And now he 
asked eagerly:

“You have some new evidence?”
“No—not that—but------ ”
“A theory, a suspicion?”
“Neither.”
“Then why------ ?” Skin o’ my Tooth queried with a

frown of impatience.
“Why am I taking up your time, you mean?” she broke 

in with a little catch in her throat. “I can’t tell you, Mr. 
Mulligan. I know nothing beyond what transpired during 
the law case; but I just feel it in my heart that the man is 
an impostor, and that there is only one man in the world 
who can unmask him, and that is you.”

“Did you ever have a talk with Sir Jeremiah Pomfrait 
about this?”

“Yes. Once. After the law case. He said that the 
evidence had been positively overwhelming, and that in any 
case nothing could be done, now that judgment had been 
pronounced. He admitted to me that he was just as con­
vinced as I am, and as I suppose my sister-in-law, Ger­
trude is, that the man is an impostor, but he really did not 
see how he could have combated the evidence successfully. 
Of course, he was already very ill when I had this con­
versation with him. Some of his friends believe that he 
broke his heart over that case.”

“Very likely,” Skin o’ my Tooth rejoined drily. “And 
I don’t wonder at it”

“What do you mean?”
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“That Sir Jeremiah Pomfrait was an old-fashioned 
lawyer, and went altogether wrong in that case. . . .”

“Then—you agree with me?” Lady de Momerie ex­
claimed eagerly.

Never had I seen my chief look less convincing or astute 
than he did at this moment, sitting opposite that eager and 
beautiful woman, with pink cheeks and eyes downcast, like 
the caricature of an Early-Victorian maiden. His black, 
broadcloth, ill-fitting suit, his bald head, his loose collar 
and shabby tie, the French novel that protruded from his 
coat-pocket, all contributed towards the completion of the 
picture of supineness and inattention which he presented. 
I could see tears of disappointment gather in Lady de 
Momerie’s eyes. But the next moment, psychologically, 
everything had changed. Lady de Momerie smiled, and a 
look of hope and trust illumined her handsome face. She 
held out her hand with an engaging gesture to my chief, 
who took it between his own podgy ones and patted it 
gently.

And this psychological transformation had been wrought 
solely through Skin o’ my Tooth raising his eyes and giv­
ing his client just one look.

“Have you patience, Lady de Momerie?” he asked. 
“Can you wait?”

“How long?”
“It might be a year—or even more. I am waiting for 

a certain eventuality to occur. Directly after that I can go 
ahead.”

“Will you tell me what it is?”
“Not on your life,” he replied with a smile.
“But if it does not occur?”
“It will. I give you my word.”
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V

Nothing much did occur during the next six months, 
and my chief strenuously refused to see Lady de Momerie 
during that time. Poor woman! she must by this time have 
been on the verge of despair. In the meanwhile Sir Henry 
had joined her in their London house; the new Squire of 
Mumbray was now comfortably installed in the magnificent 
old house, and was leading there such a gay and giddy 
life as would have caused his sober ancestors to turn in 
their grave. He entertained lavishly, and spent his money 
freely. The Mumbray estates had of late increased im­
mensely in value, as now practically the whole of the in­
dustrial town of Whittai was built upon land belonging to 
the new Squire.

You may imagine how the fact of his being a bachelor 
tended to increase his popularity with the ladies; but for 
the time being, at any rate, he appeared impervious to 
every effort that was made to draw him into the net of 
matrimony. At the same time, with all that entertaining, 
he did feel the want of a hostess at Mumbray; and pre­
sently the county was rather astonished to hear that a 
reconciliation had been effected between himself and his 
sister Gertrude. Everyone felt that the Squire showed a 
real Christian spirit by forgiving her spiteful opposition to 
his claim. Anyway, Mrs. de Momerie arrived at Mumbray 
and soon installed herself there as the virtual hostess. Gos­
sips declared that she would see to it that her brother 
never married, and that no new mistress of Mumbray should 
ever oust her from her enviable position.

It was soon after these events that my chief’s interest 
in the de Momerie case appeared to revive. He did not 
say much to me, because that was not his way; but I knew 
at the time that he went down into Lancashire and stayed 
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in a small village called St. Anselm’s Cray. I also knew 
that he remained in constant communication with an old 
woman who lived there and whose name was Mrs. Crowther. 
After that I was allowed to accompany him to Rugby, but 
was still kept in the dark as to what he was up to while 
he had an interview with an old lady who had, it seems, 
been the matron of one of the houses, thirty or more years 
ago, and with Dr. Fernichan, now retired, who was in 
practice in Rugby until the war. I may as well tell you 
that whenever my chief returned from any of those inter­
views his nice, pink, fat face was beaming, and from time 
to time he gave that favourite little chuckle of his, which 
proclaimed that he was satisfied with the way a case was 
progressing.

Soon after our visit to Rugby—that is to say, in August, 
1924—Skin 0’ my Tooth elected to spend his annual four 
weeks’ holiday in Glebeshire. He rented a small house, 
quite close to Mumbray, and took me down there with him. 
Through the kindness of a neighbour, who was a client of 
my chief’s, the latter was introduced to the Squire of Mum­
bray and to Mrs. de Momerie. He was asked to dinner, 
and even I received invitations to the big garden and tennis 
parties that had become such a feature of the social life of 
Glebeshire.

It was at the second of those wonderful parties that 
Skin 0’ my Tooth, after having tipped me the wink to fol­
low him, went and took a vacant seat beside Mrs. de Momerie, 
who was watching the tennis. He entered into conversation 
with her, and presently said casually:

“ I wonder, Mrs. de Momerie, if you ever knew my friend 
Mr. Archibald de Momerie, the actor and cinema producer?”

“Why, yes!” she replied. “He was my husband.”
“Not really?” Skin o’ my Tooth exclaimed, with well- 

feigned astonishment, “though, of course, the name being
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such an uncommon one, I guessed that he must have been 
some relation. But your husband------ ? Why, he never
told me he was married.”

“No?” she rejoined coolly. Then added after a second 
or two, “Where did you meet my husband, Mr. Mulligan?”

“In New York,” he replied boldly. “He was playing 
in—let me see—in—oh! I shall forget my own name next 
—what was it poor old Archie made such a success in, in 
New York?”

“I really couldn’t say,” the lady replied coldly. “My 
husband played many successful parts in his day, both in 
New York and elsewhere.”

“I have no doubt of that,” Skin o’ my Tooth assented 
blandly.

He held her glance, although she did give a quick look 
round, as if trying to find some other guest who would 
release her from the society of this inquisitive meddler. 
But for the moment everyone was engrossed in watching 
the tennis.

“Do just mention one or two of dear old Archie’s suc­
cesses, Mrs. de Moinerie,” Skin o’ my Tooth went on with 
perfect unconcern. “I was so fond of him, you know, and 
I am so vexed that my memory should be so poor. Tell 
me what he was playing in just before America came into 
the war. You must remember that?”

“I really don’t, Mr. Mulligan, and you must please 
excuse me. The Duchess has just arrived.”

She rose and walked away, leaving Slpn o’ my Tooth 
sucking at his cigar, and with an enigmatic smile round 
his lips.

We were not asked to the next garden-party at Mum 
bray, but we met the Squire and Mrs. de Momerie at the 
house of our kind neighbour. This time Skin o’ my Tooth 
entered into conversation with the Squire.
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“I was so interested in your law case, Mr. de Moinerie,” 
he said, “because of my old friend Archie. You said he 
had been so kind to you in New York. That was just like 
him. What theatre was he playing in when you met him?”

“I really couldn’t tell you,” the Squire replied abruptly, 
and turned his back on my chief.

That same afternoon Skin 0’ my Tooth also got in a 
few words with Gertrude de Momerie.

“I am going to Russia shortly, Mrs. de Momerie, on 
behalf of a client who is interested in a cinematograph 
company out there. Marvellous strides those Bolsheviks 
are making in the industry. I wonder if it is the same com­
pany dear old Archie worked for when he was in Mos­
cow?”

“I really couldn’t tell you,” Gertrude de Momerie re­
plied.

“I could easily find out, couldn’t I?” Skin 0’ my Tooth 
rejoined blandly; “there have not been more than two or 
three cinematograph companies operating in Russia since 
the war. What was the name of the one dear old Archie 
was connected with?”

But Gertrude de Momerie had already turned away 
from him. I thought that she was ill, for, as she turned 
away, she swayed slightly and steadied herself by clinging 
to the back of a chair.

The next day Skin 0’ my Tooth wrote to the Squire of 
Mumbray asking for an interview. This was refused. He 
wrote again, and was again refused. He called, and was 
denied admittance. In the meanwhile he had placed cer­
tain facts in the hands of the police, also certain affidavits; 
and presently the claimant and Mrs. de Momerie received 
a letter which they could not very well disregard. Accom­
panied by Assistant-Commissioner Alverson and myself, my 
chief made a formal call at Mumbray.
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I could not help admiring the woman under the ter­
rible ordeal which she had to undergo during this inter­
view. Mr. Alverson stood by incognito; he had three plain­
clothes men waiting outside in the garden. I, of course, 
was too insignificant a personage to be taken notice of by 
those two clever scoundrels. For clever they were, and 
scoundrels too, of that there remained not a shadow of 
doubt, though Mrs. de Moinerie tried to brazen it all out, 
and the claimant continued to posture and to bluster like 
the true actor that he was.

Skin 0’ my Tooth, however, was the finer actor of the 
two. The way he began by lulling those two into a sem­
blance of security by talking of dear old Archie was mar­
vellous.

“Dear old chap," he said blandly; “one of the best, 
you know; but there were certain little irregularities over in 
New York which we shall have to explain. It will be quite 
easy, my dear Mrs. de Moinerie,” he went on glibly, be­
cause the lady, thrown off her guard for the moment, 
looked more puzzled now than frightened, “and we will 
begin by establishing an alibi. Dear old Archie went out 
to Russia, I understand, in 1920 under contract with a 
cinematograph company. Now, if we have the name of 
that company we’ll get a proper affidavit from them, sworn 
before the British Consul at Moscow, that in 1920 they 
had an English gentleman named Archibald de Momerie in 
their employ. And so, my dear Mrs. de Momerie------”

He paused with pencil poised in one hand, notebook 
in another, while Gertrude de Momerie passed her tongue 
once or twice over her dry lips.

“How can I give you the name of a Russian company,” 
she said boldly at last. “It was an outlandish name, and 
I don’t know Russian.”

“Ah, well! Never mind, then,” Skin o’ my Tooth went 



OVERWHELMING EVIDENCE 207

on suavely. “We must find other means of disproving the 
scandalous gossip which avers that poor old Archie never 
was a successful actor in New York, nor a cinema producer 
anywhere, that after knocking about in various big cities in 
the States he drifted to Canada, and under the name of 
John Arthur worked on a farm in Alberta, enlisted in the 
Expeditionary Force, fell into the hands of the Germans 
after the Battle of Loos, and after many vicissitudes drifted 
back to England. Would you believe it, dear Mrs. de 
Momerie? those evil tongues actually say that dear old 
Archie never went to Russia, and therefore did not die 
there, but that he is very much alive at the present moment 
and sitting opposite to me now as the popular Squire of 
Mumbray.”

He sat there so benign and so bland, with podgy 
hands folded before him, beady eyes watching the play of 
emotion on tha face of those two scoundrels. They looked 
still brazen and still bold outwardly, but to me they ap­
peared hke two unfortunates who, finding themselves sud­
denly on the edge of a precipice, had looked down and 
turned giddy.

“Of course, that is all a pack of lies------ ” the claimant
began in a loud, dictatorial voice.

“Of course it is, my dear sir,” Skin o’ my Tooth 
assented calmly. “Did I not say that we would disprove 
it all? Why, I am going to Moscow myself next week to 
defy the Bolsheviks and find out all I can about that cine­
matograph company which cost poor old Archie his life.”

“It will cost you yours if you don’t look out,” Gertrude 
de Momerie said spitefully.

“Oh, I'll look after myself, dear lady,” my chief went 
on, still smiling benignly. “Now, last week when I went 
over to Loamshire to see dear old Mrs. Crowther------ ”
He paused abruptly and then queried with well-feigned 
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anxiety: “You are not feeling well, Mrs. de Momerie? Can 
I ring for something for you?”

Even now she was marvellous, and though her face was 
the colour of ashes, she said quite firmly:

“I am quite well, I thank you. As you were say­
ing------ ?”

“I was saying that dear old Mrs. Crowther was ever so 
kind to me and so chatty. You know she was your dear 
husband’s nurse, and she told me about that awful burn 
on his left arm, which he got when he was a schoolboy at 
Rugby, playing with fireworks. It left a terrible scar from 
the wrist right up to the elbow------- You are sure you are
not ill, Mrs. de Momerie? Do let me get you something. 
. . . Well, as I was saying, Mrs. Crowther told me that the 
scar was still there when she saw Archie just before he left 
for America in 1905. His mother had just died, and he 
had gone down to Loamshire to wind up her affairs. She 
left little, if anything, poor dear. Mrs. Crowther had re­
mained with her as a maid after Archie had grown up------ ”

“The old woman is a liar, I should say,” Gertrude de 
Momerie retorted coolly. “Archie’s mother was always too 
poor to keep a maid.”

“Ah! Really? How interesting! Now, strangely enough, 
when I went on to Rugby I came in touch with the matron 
of the house in which Archie was during his schooltime. 
She well remembers the dear boy, and also the terrible 
accident which caused the scar, and the doctor who 
attended to him at the time—quite an old fellow now— 
was kind enough to show me his notes about the case. It 
was a very serious one, and Dr. Fernichan assured me that 
even after fifty years the resultant scar would still be 
visible, as the flesh was literally scorched to the bone------
A glass of water, Mrs. de Momerie . . . or a drop of 
brandy. . . . I am sure you are ill. . . .”
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“Now then . . . stop that!” This came suddenly from 
Mr. Alverson, as the claimant, or rather Archie de Momerie, 
as he undoubtedly was, suddenly rose and tried to grip 
Skin 0’ my Tooth by the throat. Mr. Alverson, who is quick 
and powerful, soon overpowered him, however, and then 
sounded his whistle, whereupon the plain-clothes men 
entered the room by the tall French windows, and Mr. 
Alverson then drew from his pocket the warrant which he 
held for the arrest of Archibald and Gertrude de Momerie 
on a charge of conspiracy and fraud.

They went quietly enough both of them. I think they 
were absolutely dazed with this sudden collapse of the 
edifice of lies which they had so carefully built up. Their 
trial on the double charge did not last nearly so long as 
the original Chancery case had done. Some of the evidence 
which finally brought them both to justice was absolutely 
amazing. To my mind, the woman was the more re­
markable of the two: the way she had not only planned 
the fraud for years, but finally put it into execution, was 
nothing short of staggering. Equally remarkable was the 
way in which she had played the various rôles which she 
had assigned to herself, such as the sorrowing widow after 
the supposed death of her husband in Russia, and the 
circumstantial tale she told of her journeying out to Moscow 
to see him and finding him already dead in an hotel, of 
the funeral, and so on; also there was her rôle of a bitter 
opponent to the claimant, her reluctance to admit the 
slightest resemblance in his features or handwriting with 
her brother Arthur; all that was so admirably done that it 
was worthy of a better cause.

Directly after the trial at the Central Criminal Court, 
Sir Henry and Lady de Momerie had an interview with 
my chief in a private room. Naturally they were eager to 
know, now that there was no longer any doubt as to the 
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guilt of de Moinerie and his wife, what had led Skin o’ my 
Tooth to suspect them all.

“The case of that scoundrel in Chancery was so over­
whelmingly in his favour,” they argued.

“It was because it was so overwhelming,” my chief 
replied, “that I turned my attention to the one member of 
the family who never was mentioned once throughout the 
case. He was dead, and there was an end of him. But 
as I was absolutely convinced that Arthur de Momerie was 
dead, and that the claimant was an impostor, I tried to 
piece together the few facts I knew about him with the 
tale he told in court, and I came to the conclusion that, 
as no one living save an actual member of the family could 
possibly have known all the minute details of home life 
which the claimant rattled off so glibly, and as no one but 
a member of the family could have borne such a striking 
likeness to the dead man as to deceive those who had 
known the latter intimately, he could be none other than 
Archibald de Momerie, cousin and brother-in-law of the 
rightful Squire; always remembering, of course, that over 
thirty years had elapsed since either Arthur de Momerie 
or Archibald had been seen in Glebeshire.

“So I set to work to trace Archibald’s early life and 
family history. That sort of thing is, of course, child’s 
play, once one has the end of the thread in hand. It was 
only because everyone, including Jeremiah Pomfrait, was 
so entirely convinced that Archibald de Momerie had died 
in Russia that no one thought of picking up his tracks.

“It has been an amusing case,” he concluded. “Please 
don’t thank me. It is I must thank you for allowing me 
to have a finger in the pie.”
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IX. THE CASE OF MRS. NORRIS

I

I have always known Skin o’ my Tooth to hold the 
axiom that justice is invariably on the side of the cleverest 
lawyer. I might as well at this point record the fact that 
he held the learned gentlemen of the Bar in complete and 
withering contempt. “They are a necessary evil in the 
High Courts,” he would say; but then, to my esteemed 
employer, everybody in a court of law, from the judge 
downwards, was “a necessary evil.” He would have liked 
some arrangement by which he could have argued out a 
criminal case with another lawyer, that side to win who got 
the best of the argument.

I can recall one or two very narrow shaves, where a 
judge and jury’s decision really seemed a matter of tossing 
a halfpenny; it might go either way, and my chief fully 
deserved the nickname which the public had now univer­
sally bestowed upon him. But of the many interesting cases 
with which Skin o’ my Tooth was associated after the 
Duffield peerage case had brought his name so prominently 
before the public, none, I think, seemed at the first glance 
so intricate, and demonstrated his weird gifts more mar­
vellously, than the case of Mrs. Norris.

She was a pale, delicate-looking woman; I should not 
say more than twenty-five years of age, and no doubt among 
her own friends would be called pretty. Of course, when 
Skin o’ my Tooth sawr her in Holloway she was evidently 
worn out with sleepless nights and half crazy with the 
horror of the position in which she found herself. Her 
speech was very incoherent, and the curious mixture of self­
accusations and vigorous protestations of innocence, together 

4*



212 SKIN O’ MY TOOTH

with the marked obstinacy of her general attitude, would 
have irritated any man less devoted to his calling than 
Skin o’ my Tooth.

The facts, as far as they were known to the police and 
the public, and as far as Mrs. Norris herself was willing to 
admit, were briefly these:

On Thursday, April 17th, the inhabitants of Shircroft 
Mansions, Maida Vale, were startled at eleven o’clock at 
night by loud screams proceeding from one of the flats. 
Very soon the door of No. 22 was thrown violently open, 
and Mrs. Norris, who occupied the flat with her husband, 
came out on the landing, loudly calling for help.

To the neighbours, who immediately responded to her 
call, she seemed like one demented; her eyes were starting 
out of her head, her face was livid, and with trembling 
fingers she was pointing towards her own apartments, whilst, 
in answer to every query, her quivering mouth murmured 
repeatedly :

“In there—in the sitting-room!”
At last Mr. Daniell, from No. 23, less nervous and ex­

citable than the other neighbours, made up his mind to 
ascertain what it was that had so completely shattered Mrs. 
Norris’ nerves. One glance into the sitting-room, where the 
electric light was fully turned on, told him the whole grue­
some tale. The body of Mr. Norris was lying on the floor, 
with his throat cut. There was no doubt that he was dead 
—the body was rigid, the face livid, whilst the eyes stared 
up at the ceiling with a look of infinite terror; in his hand 
the unfortunate man held, tightly clutched, the razor with 
which evidently he had put an end to his life.

Following Mr. Daniell’s example, a few of the neigh­
bours had crowded into the small flat; a young fellow from 
No. 20, who owned a bicycle, suddenly bethought himself 
that perhaps a doctor or the police would be needful at 
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this juncture, so he went off, leaving a select few to gaze 
awestruck and helpless at the rigid body, and to offer well- 
meant but wholly ineffectual comfort to the half-crazed 
young widow.

It was, of course, very late in the night when at last 
the detective-inspector from the station, accompanied by 
two constables and the police divisional surgeon, came in 
response to the call from the cyclist. After that the crowd 
of eager and inquisitive neighbours had, perforce, to retire 
within the precincts of their respective flats.

From the very first the general public refused to believe 
in the suicide theory. The morning papers already on the 
following day threw out vague hints of possible sensational 
developments. The coroner’s inquest held on Monday only 
confirmed what already everyone had suspected—namely, 
that Mr. Norris had been murdered. The doctor declared 
that the wound in his throat had not been caused by the 
sharp razor found clutched in the dead man’s hand ; it had 
been inflicted by a much blunter instrument. Now, no 
knife of any kind was found upon the scene of the tragedy, 
but a few drops of blood were noticed by the detective­
inspector upon the earthenware sink in the kitchen, showing 
that the murderer had washed his hands and his instrument 
there. Probably after that he found the razor in the dressing­
room, and placed it in his victim’s hand in order to raise 
the question of suicide.

But it was the examination of Mrs. Norris which fur­
nished the truly sensational element of the tragedy. She 
repeated before the coroner what she already had told the 
police—namely, that on the fateful night she had been out 
to dine with a friend in the neighbourhood of Swiss Cot­
tage; she came home at eleven o’clock at night, and, going 
straight into the sitting-room and turning on the electric light, 
she saw her husband lying on the floor, dead. Horrified 
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beyond measure, she had screamed for help. She, too, had 
at first believed in the theory that Mr. Norris had for some 
unaccountable reason committed suicide; certainly he had 
no enemy, to her knowledge, and she professed herself 
quite unable to throw any light upon the mysterious 
affair.

It appears, however, that her attitude, when originally 
questioned by the police, was so strange, her confusion and 
excitement so manifest, that Mason, the detective who had 
charge of the case, set to work to immediately verify her 
statements. He saw the friend with whom Mrs. Norris had 
dined the evening of her husband’s death, but he also 
ascertained that she left that friend’s house at half-past 
nine o’clock.

Pressed by the coroner, now she seemed absolutely 
unable to give any account as to how she spent her time 
between 9.30 and 11 p.m. She had walked about the 
streets, she said; but as the night of the 17th had been 
pouring wet, this statement was, to say the least, peculiar. 
Unfortunately for her, no one in the Mansions had heard 
her come in; the outside doors not being closed until 11.30, 
anyone could' easily come in or go out unperceived.

The owners of the other flats in the same building 
could not give the police much help in the matter. One 
statement in connection with the Norrises, however, was 
quite unanimous among all witnesses—namely, that the 
quarrels between husband and wife amounted to positive 
scandal. According to Mr. Daniell, at No. 23, scarcely a 
day passed in the Norris menage without a domestic 
squabble. It was generally supposed that the young wife’s 
extravagance and love of dress, and the husband’s un­
governable temper, were the causes of this disunion. On 
the very night of Mr. Norris’ death, Mr. and Mrs. Wyatt, 
in the flat immediately below his, heard at half-past ten 
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o’clock at night the sound of a scuffle overhead. So loud 
was it that Mrs. Wyatt suggested that her husband should 
go upstairs and intervene, as she was quite sure Mr. Norris 
was murdering his wife.

I don’t think that anyone could blame the police for the 
course they adopted in this very mysterious affair; they 
arrested Mrs. Norris on a charge of murdering her husband. 
Brought before the magistrate, she pleaded “Not guilty,” 
and reserved her defence. All along she had repeated her 
story with wonderful obstinacy—she had dined with a 
friend, and from 9.30 to 11 had walked about the streets 
alone. Her whole manner on that subject was confused in 
the extreme. That there was something here which she 
wished to hide, was apparent to everyone. But the lie told 
against her, of course; and were it not for the fact that the 
magistrate was a peculiarly humane and kindly man, who 
took pity on her lonely position, and remanded her so 
that she might obtain legal advice immediately, there is 
no doubt that she would at once have been committed 
for trial.

II

It was at this point that Mrs. Norris’ relations ap­
proached Skin 0’ my Tooth, with the view that he should 
undertake her defence. The case had interested him from 
the first, and he was quite ready to give the unfortunate 
woman the benefit of his great skill.

We saw her in Holloway. She was obviously immensely 
relieved at having legal advice, and seemed inclined to be 
less reticent than she had been hitherto.

“I may have acted very thoughtlessly, Mr. Mulligan,” 
she said; “but I had no one to advise me; and, really, I 
have been half-crazy with this horrible accusation hanging 
over me.”
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“I think you were very foolish to make such a secret 
of how you spent your time between 9.30 and 11 on that 
fateful night; an alibi in a case like yours is imperative. I 
hope that you have quite made up your mind to be ab­
solutely frank with me.”

“I am afraid that when you hear how simple the ex­
planation is, you will think me worse than foolish.”

“It doesn’t matter what I think at this point,” remarked 
Skin 0’ my Tooth drily.

“After I left my friend at 9.30,” she began, speaking, 
I thought, with strange nervousness, “I went on to see 
another friend, in Hamilton Terrace, with whom I stayed 
until past eleven o’clock.”

“As you say, it is extremely simple,” said Skin 0’ my 
Tooth, who had noticed her curious and constrained manner, 
and was looking at her through his thick and fleshy lids. 
“The alibi is quite perfect. Of course, your friend will cor­
roborate this statement.”

She hesitated very palpably; then she added:
“I took a taxi to go home—no doubt the driver can 

be found.”
“No doubt; but it was a dark night, and the driver 

may not be able to identify you accurately. Still, it is ad­
ditional evidence, your friend’s being, of course, the most 
valuable. Will you give me her name and address, so that 
I may communicate with her immediately?”

Again Mrs. Norris hesitated visibly for a moment before 
she replied:

“Lady Ralph Morshampton, 196, Hamilton Terrace.”
Her attitude was a puzzle to me, and I could see that 

Skin 0’ my Tooth was both mystified and vexed. However, 
he dropped that point for the moment, and questioned Mrs. 
Norris on the probable motive of the murder.

“The police tell me that the rooms had evidently been 
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searched through and through, possibly for money or valu­
ables. Do you know of anything that may have tempted a 
murderer?”

“Nothing,” she replied most emphatically. “We were 
in very modest circumstances; we never kept money in the 
house, beyond a few pounds, and we had no valuables of 
any kind.”

“And you cannot account for the wild search which 
was evidently made through the rooms for something? 
You know that the dressing-bag was turned inside out, 
the drawers emptied; even the books in the bookcase were 
disturbed.”

“I don’t understand it,” she replied, with a return of 
that strange, nervous wilfulness which was so unaccountable, 
and which had already so much prejudiced her case; “I 
cannot account for it in any way.”

With marked impatience Skin 0’ my Tooth rose to go. 
I could see that he was within an ace of throwing up the 
case, for it was clear, of course, that Mrs. Norris was not 
absolutely frank, even with him. But the case had gripped 
him, and this additional puzzle only aroused his further 
interest in it; it seemed literally to bristle with mysteries. 
He controlled his rising temper for the moment and took 
leave of his client, promising to call again early the next 
morning.

“Why does that woman lie to me?” he said savagely, 
the moment we were outside. “She knows or guesses the 
motive of that murder, I’ll swear. Is she guilty herself, after 
all, or is she shielding a friend? And what in Heaven’s 
name has Lady Ralph Morshampton to do with it all?”

I, of course, could not answer these intricate questions, 
and we returned to Finsbury Square in silence. We found 
that during our absence from the office the boy had intro­
duced a visitor into Skin 0’ my Tooth’s private room.
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“A lady, sir,” he explained. “She wouldn’t give her 
name, and she wouldn’t wait here, so I had to show her in.”

I followed my chief into his private office, where the 
visitor was waiting. She was a lady very elegantly dressed, 
who rose with languid grace to greet Skin o’ my Tooth as 
he entered. “Mr. Mulligan?” she asked.

“That is my name,” replied my chief, as he drew an 
easy-chair forward for her and seated himself at his desk, 
viewing his elegant visitor with more than professional 
interest.

She seemed a little troubled at what to say next, and 
looked across at me somewhat doubtfully.

“My confidential clerk,” explained Skin o’ my Tooth. 
“As trustworthy as myself. Still, if you wish it, he can go.”

“Oh no! not at all. Since he has your confidence, I 
have nothing more to say. I did not leave my name with 
your office boy, Mr. Mulligan, as I would wish, as far as 
possible, that my interview with you should remain confi­
dential. I am Lady Ralph Morshampton. No doubt you 
know my husband by name: and I came to see you about 
a matter connected with the murder of a Mr. Norris, in 
Shircroft Mansions.”

“Indeed!” commented Skin o’ my Tooth.
“Yes,” she continued, with more composure. “I know 

a good deal about this Mrs. Norris, who is accused of mur­
dering her husband. As a matter of fact, I think I can 
explain to you the reason why that cruel and dastardly 
crime was committed.”

“Indeed!” repeated my employer, quite unmoved.
“As a matter of fact, Mrs. Norris was in my house only 

an hour or so before she committed that awful crime. She 
was pursuing a policy of blackmail against me, Mr. Mulligan; 
and finding that her poor husband would not be a party to 
that ignoble policy, she made him its victim.”
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“I don’t quite understand.”
“I must try to make it quite clear. Before my marriage, 

Mr. Mulligan, I was on the stage; and as it happened just 
before I was engaged to Lord Ralph Morshampton, a vil­
lainous scandal circulated amongst my envious colleagues, 
coupling my name with that of Adam Norris, a young dra­
matic author of much promise. Fortunately, that scandal 
never reached the ears either of the Marquis of Camberley, 
my father-in-law, or of the exalted society of which I was 
about to become a member. I was the daughter of a gentle­
man, and had always acted in Shakespearian drama only. 
Society, after my marriage, tolerated me from the first, but 
now, after strenuous efforts on my part, it has finally ac­
cepted me. I have a position within its circles which many 
envy. In the meanwhile, Adam Norris also married. Through 
some unaccountable carelessness on his part, which amounts 
practically to a sin, his wife got to know of that old and 
buried scandal anent himself and me. He had been fool 
enough to keep my letters. I believe they were distinctly 
compromising. I really had not remembered them at all, 
but Mrs. Norris, having caught sight of them once by ac­
cident, bethought herself of doing a bit of illicit traffic with 
them. She was inordinately fond of finery and gaiety, pas­
sions which her husband’s somewhat modest position would 
not allow her to indulge in. She wrote to me one day 
offering to sell me my old letters for a couple of thousand 
pounds and a few introductions in good society. Now, Mr. 
Mulligan, I am the wife of a very rich man, with plenty of 
money at my command with which to gratify any passing 
whim. In this case it was my whim to pay money down and 
regain possession of those letters sooner than allow my 
husband and my friends to know of their contents. I wrote 
to Mrs. Norris asking her to come and see me on Thursday 
evening, the 17th. She came at about ten o’clock, and we 
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had a short interview, in which it was agreed between us 
that I should give her £4,000 and no introductions, in ex­
change for the letters. I must tell you that she informed 
me then that she had not got the letters. Her husband had 
them still; but she seemed to think that she would have 
no difficulty in obtaining possession of them. I could not 
tell you exactly at what hour she left me,” concluded Lady 
Ralph Morshampton coldly, “but I imagine that she went 
straight home—well—and that she had some difficulty in 
persuading her husband to give up those letters. What do 
you think yourself, Mr. Mulligan?”

“I was merely wondering, Lady Morshampton, whether 
you are really convinced in your own mind that Mrs. Norris 
actually murdered her husband?”

“I really have not given that subject a thought. I merely 
came to you to-day because I thought that probably she 
would have given you her own version of her interview with 
me, and that you might take it into your head to cite me 
as a witness on her behalf. You will see for yourself, I am 
sure, that this would do your client no appreciable good; 
on the contrary, it would furnish the prosecution with a 
strong additional weapon against her—a motive.”

“You forget, Lady Morshampton,” retorted Skin o’ my 
Tooth, taken aback in spite of himself at this extraordinary 
display of callousness and egoism, “you forget that citing 
you as a witness would also give me an additional motive 
in my client’s defence.”

“I don’t understand.”
“The question of time.”
“Oh! that is very vague,” she retorted placidly. “I did 

not wish the servants to know of Mrs. Norris’s visit; that is 
why I had fixed the hour ten o’clock, when they were all 
at supper. I was on the watch for her, and opened the 
door to her myself. I let her out when our interview was 
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over—I could not tell you at what time that was—and I 
am quite sure that none of the servants even knew that she 
had been in the house.”

“But your husband?”
“Lord Ralph was in the smoking-room when Mrs. Norris 

called. I heard him go out a quarter of an hour or so 
later, and he certainly did not come in until after she left.”

“Therefore, if I cite you as a witness------ ”
“You do so at Mrs. Norris’ risk and peril,” said Lady • 

Ralph Morshampton, rising from her chair, and cooler than 
any cucumber. “I tell you that I could not swear positively 
at what hour she left me, and I know that she took a taxi 
lower down the road. I live in Hamilton Terrace, so it was 
only five minutes’ drive at most. I think,” she added finally, 
as she moved gracefully towards the door, “that I have 
succeeded in convincing you that it would be more prudent 
to leave my name out of this case altogether, have I not? 
Perhaps, after all, Mrs. Norris was wise and did not mention 
her visit to me, in which case there is no harm done, as I 
know I can rely on your discretion. By the way, I have not 
got those letters yet; will you tell Mrs. Norris that the 
bargain still holds good? Thank you so much. Good­
morning, Mr. Mulligan. A very wet spring, is it not? Let 
us hope we shall have fine weather for the Easter holidays. 
Don’t trouble to see me down. I haven’t my car, of course, 
but I shall get a taxi outside.”

When she had gone Skin o’ my Tooth turned to me 
with a heavy grunt.

“For Heaven’s sake, Muggins,” he said, “let’s have 
some air! Open those windows. Even the slushy London 
air is preferable to the moral atmosphere this elegant lady 
has left behind her.”
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III

We saw Mrs. Norris in prison that same afternoon. The 
interview was somewhat stormy, as Skin o’ my Tooth was 
furious with her. Nothing enrages him so much as a want 
of absolute confidence on the part of a client, and I am 
quite sure that in this instance he would have thrown up 
the whole case and let Mrs. Norris literally go hang, but for 
the fact that the ever-increasing mysteries in connection with 
it had roused all his passion for what was interesting in the 
history of crime.

There was no doubt that Lady Ralph Morshampton’s 
narrative had added fresh mystery to this already bewilder­
ing case. Mrs. Norris, sternly questioned by Skin o’ my 
Tooth, corroborated it in every detail. The reason why she 
had so obstinately held her tongue on the subject was be­
cause she felt convinced that her attempt at blackmailing, 
and her avowed interest in obtaining possession of certain 
letters belonging to her husband, would furnish the prosecu­
tion with an additional terrible weapon against her. More­
over, she felt instinctively—and there her instinct did not 
err—that Lady Ralph Morshampton would prove a bitter 
enemy whom it would be unwise to drag into the case more 
than was absolutely necessary.

“I did not dare tell anyone, Mr. Mulligan,” she pleaded 
pathetically. “Don’t be hard upon me. I was quite con­
vinced that something would turn up to prove that I did 
not commit that awful crime. I don’t believe now that 
justice can err quite to such an extent.”

“You certainly have done your level best to damage 
your own case,” growled Skin o’ my Tooth, somewhat molli­
fied; “but now tell me, at what time did you leave Lady 
Ralph Morshampton?”

“It was just after eleven. I took a taxi and told the 
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driver to put me down at the corner of Elgin Avenue. 
Shircroft Mansions are just a few yards further on.”

“But what about the letters?”
“I haven’t got them, Mr. Mulligan. Just before the in­

quest, and before I was accused, I looked for them in their 
accustomed place, but they had gone.”

“Where was their accustomed place?”
“Between some books in the bookcase. I don’t think 

that my husband attached much importance to them. Any­
way, I knew that I could easily get at them at any time.”

“The police did not find those letters, I know,” said 
Skin o’ my Tooth to me later in the day. “It is clear, 
therefore, that the murderer succeeded in getting hold of 
them, and clearer still that the crime was committed in 
order to obtain possession of them. Now, if Mrs. Norris 
speaks the truth, she was with Lady Morshampton until 
past eleven, when she went straight home.”

“Perhaps, after all,” I suggested, “Mr. Norris committed 
suicide, and his wife, on coming home, merely hunted for 
the letters, and, not finding them in their accustomed place, 
turned the room topsy-turvy before giving the alarm.”

To my astonishment, Skin o’ my Tooth did not receive 
my suggestion with the scorn which I feel sure it deserved, 
and which he usually bestows upon my attempts in that 
direction. It was clearest of all to me that my esteemed 
employer was completely at sea for the moment.

“You shall find out for me, Muggins, whether Mrs. 
Norris did speak the truth or not. I give you two days to 
do it in, and mind you don’t mention the subject to me 
during that time. You know how to set to work, of 
course?”

“I think I do, sir. In any case, I will have an advertise­
ment ready for all the daily papers to-morrow, and police 
notices all over the town, for the taxi-driver who drove a 



224 SKIN O’ MY TOOTH

lady from Hamilton Terrace to the corner of Elgin Avenue 
on Thursday, April 17th, at about 11 p.m.”

“That’s all right, Muggins. You are not quite such an 
ass as you look. Fire away, then; and whatever you do, 
don’t speak to me for two days.”

The next morning my advertisement was in every paper 
and my notices all over the town. Twenty-four hours after 
that I knew the name, address, and number of the taxi­
driver who drove a lady at the hour, on the day, and to 
the destination I had mentioned. Unfortunately, he had not 
seen the lady’s face, and certainly would not know her 
again.

In the meanwhile, life at the office was anything but 
pleasant. Skin 0’ my Tooth was in one of those tempers 
of his during which it was not good to talk to him. That 
he had got some fixed idea in his mind about that murder 
I was then already quite sure. I knew the symptoms so 
well. For all the world like a great frowsy hound smelling 
blood, he sat for hours curled up in his armchair, smoking 
his long-stemmed German pipe, whilst even his beloved 
French novels were discarded. Every now and then I would 
see that weird and cruel spark flash in his lazy blue eyes. 
Then I knew that the tracker of blood was on the scent, 
that he held a clue, and that his mind had already solved 
the problem which would bring the murderer of Mr. Norris 
inevitably to justice.

I told him the result of my investigations when the two 
days had elapsed. It was then ten o’clock in the morning, 
and we had both just arrived at the office.

“Sit down, Muggins,” he said. “I expect a visitor.”
I could see that he was very excited. He went himself 

to the door when presently a heavy step was heard in the 
passage. Skin 0’ my Tooth’s visitor was a big, burly fellow, 
wrapped from head to foot in a huge overcoat. The word
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“taxi-driver” seemed to be written all over his rubicund 
countenance. He had a copy of the Daily Mail in his hand, 
to which he was pointing somewhat anxiously as he walked 
into the room.

“You’re the gent, ain’t you, sir,” he asked presently, 
“who put this ’ere advertisement in the Mail?”

“Yes. I did put that advertisement in; and I got your 
letter this morning, so you see that I was expecting you.”

“Ah!” remarked the man, with a grin of satisfaction. 
“It says ’ere that you’d give ’un a fiver reward. What you 
want to know is ’00 drove a gent from ’Amilton Terriss to 
somewhere near Helgin Havenue on the hevening of 
April 17th?”

“That’s it exactly.”
“Now, I drove a swell from top of Carlton ’Ill to the 

corner of Helgin Havenue and Maida Vale at about a 
quarter past ten on that night. It was pourin’ wet; and 
when I ’ad dropped ’im I went into the Lord Helgin for a 
drink. Now, about three-quarters of an hour later that 
same swell picked me up again just as I was turning into 
Maida Vale, and I took ’im back to ’Amilton Terris.”

“You don’t know to what number?”
“No, I don’t; but I’d know that swell again if I saw 

him. I thought ’e looked as if ’e’d been drinking when ’e 
drove home—his clothes were all anyhow. ’E ’ad on a silk 
scarf round his neck, which ’e left in my cab.”

“I suppose you won’t mind throwing that scarf in with 
the most valuable information you have been good enough 
to give me,” suggested Skin 0’ my Tooth, “and for which 
I shall have much pleasure in handing you the promised 
five-pound note?”

A broad grin illuminated the worthy chauffeur’s counte­
nance. He drew from his pocket a large coloured silk 
scarf, which he placed on the desk. Then he stretched

“Shin о* my Tooth" I § 
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out a very large and very grimy fist towards the crisp 
bank-note which Skin o’ my Tooth was holding out to­
wards him.

“I am mighty glad, sir, that my heffort of memory is 
worth all that to ye,” he said sententiously.

“Not to me, my man,” said Skin o’ my Tooth, with a 
smile, “but to an unfortunate woman whom your excellent 
memory has saved from the gallows.”

“Lor’l it ain’t a case of murder, is it? I don’t like 
that.”

“Remember that you told this young gentleman here 
and myself that you would know the swell again,” said Skin 
o’ my Tooth sternly.

“Yes. I would,” replied the man, scratching his shaggy 
old head, “but I don’t like to be mixed up with p’lice and 
things.”

“Must do something for your five-pound note, eh?”
“Well, sir, p’r’aps you’re right.”
He was inclined to be loquacious, but Skin o’ my Tooth, 

having got what he wanted, was eager to be rid of him. I 
showed the amiable driver out. I was longing to ask my 
chief a hundred questions. I found him sitting beside his 
desk, carefully examining the coloured silk scarf.

“There are stains on it, Muggins,” he said quietly. “I 
am in luck to-day.”

“But I don’t understand, sir. What was the advertise­
ment about, and who was ‘the swell’ who drove from 
Hamilton Terrace to Elgin Avenue and back?”

“Why, Muggins, you are even a bigger ass than I took 
you to be. The swell, my boy, was Lord Ralph Mors- 
hampton, the murderer of Adam Norris.”

“But------ ”
“I suspected it the moment I saw that very elegant, 

very egoistical woman of the world, but I was afraid that
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it would be very difficult to prove. It was, no doubt, all 
settled between him and his wife, and Lady Ralph arranged 
that the interview between herself and Mrs. Norris should 
take place at a moment when it would be most convenient 
for my lord to tackle the unfortunate dramatic author; this 
insured the wife being safely out of the way. I don’t sup­
pose for a moment that murder was premeditated. Lord 
Ralph Morshampton probably lost his temper, and, finding 
Adam Norris obdurate, knocked him down.”

“But what made you think of it all, sir?”
“Only this, Muggins, that when people tell a lie I im­

mediately look about me for the motive which made them 
tell that particular lie. Lady Ralph Morshampton, if you 
remember, told me that her husband is a very rich man, 
and that she had plenty of money at her command with 
which to gratify any passing whim. Now, that is not true. 
Lord Ralph Morshampton is a younger brother of the 
present Marquis of Camberley. His father, the late Marquis, 
left each of his sons an annuity of £3,000 a year, payable 
out of the estate.

“My inquiries into Lord Ralph Morshampton’s financial 
position, as compared with the lie his wife had told me, 
gave me the first inkling—call it intuition if you will—of 
the possible state of the case, for clearly Lady Ralph could 
not indulge in the luxury of buying those letters for £4,000, 
however eager she might be to possess them; her appoint­
ment with Mrs. Norris, therefore, was a feint, either in order 
to gain time or in order to devise some other means of 
gaining possession of those letters. After that, Muggins, 
taking it absolutely for granted that the murder was com­
mitted for the sake of those letters, it became easy enough 
to reduce the number of people interested in their posses­
sion to three; there was Mrs. Norris, who wanted to sell 
them, and Lady Ralph Morshampton, who wished to destroy 

15*
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them. Putting aside the question that the murder was really 
far too gruesome and horrible for any woman of refinement 
to have committed, it soon became an established fact that 
the two ladies were actually together at 196, Hamilton 
Terrace at the time that the murder was being perpetrated. 
You remember that the people in the flat below the one 
occupied by Mr. Norris heard the noise and scuffle at half- 
past ten. There then loomed before me the question of 
Lord Ralph, the husband. I made inquiries among the 
servants of Hamilton Terrace and among the neighbours, and 
learned that he was passionately fond of his wife, and ever 
eager to hide her past history before his relatives and 
friends; he, too, then, would have a motive—far stronger 
than any, since it concerned the woman he loved—to bury 
for ever a scandal which might injure her position in society. 
Having got the motive, I soon sought for proof. I remem­
bered that Lady Ralph Morshampton herself had said that 
her husband left the house at a quarter past ten. I surmised 
that he would go to Shircroft Mansions to see Adam Norris, 
and that since he would not have much time at his com­
mand, he would go there in a taxi. I advertised in the 
terms you know already, and got this morning the very 
proof I sought for. You see, the whole matter became 
child’s play once I had a clue.”

“It was instinct, sir,” I said, with genuine admiration, 
“marvellous intuition.”

“Call it reflection, my boy, and you’ll be about right. 
You see, the moment those letters were destroyed the 
Morshamptons’ name slipped, as it were, right out of the 
case. My lady was right when she concluded that I could 
never have cited her on Mrs. Norris’ behalf. She was quite 
ready to see the unfortunate woman go to the gallows, and 
to swear anything that would achieve that end. That is 
why I am inclined to think that she planned the whole 
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thing, while her husband was but half willing. Now, Mug­
gins, run along and take this muffler to Scotland Yard. 
Mrs. Norris comes up before the magistrate to-morrow. Poor 
woman! she has had a narrow shave; but what a fool she 
has been!”

Mrs. Norris was discharged by the magistrate.
Everyone remembers, no doubt, the awful sensation 

caused by the suicide of Lord Ralph Morshampton in his 
house in Hamilton Terrace. As there is always a special 
law for those in his position, the whole matter of his guilt 
in the murder of Adam Norris was most effectually hushed 
up by the police, and the public never got to know the 
name of “the swell” who drove to Shircroft Mansions at a 
quarter past ten on that fatal night.

X. THE MURTON-BRABY MURDER

I

There is no occasion for me, I take it, to chronicle 
here the various cases which, following on that of Mrs. 
Norris, have made Skin o’ my Tooth’s name a familiar one 
throughout England. The Dartmouth Murder, the Trentham 
Will Case, and many others, are too well known to bear 
repetition; but I am not quite sure whether the public— 
the newspaper reading public, I mean—ever fully realised 
all the difficulties which surrounded the case of young Mr. 
Spender-Cole in connection with the Murton-Braby tragedy. 
To be quite candid, I was one of those who firmly believed 
in Mr. Spender-Cole’s guilt, and even now—but that is 
neither here nor there, for the facts, after all, cannot be 
denied, and they were as follows:

It appears that at eleven o’clock at night on Wednes­
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day, August 14th, there was a sudden alarm of fire in the 
small farm belonging to Mr. Earnslaw, which is immediately 
behind his house.

He was not yet in bed, and evidently intended at once 
to go and see what was amiss. Anyway, less than two 
minutes after the alarm of fire was raised, a loud cry of 
“Help!” and “Murder!” was heard from the direction of 
the house. Servants from the house and from the farm ran 
to the spot whence had proceeded the cry, and, to their 
horror, found Mr. Earnslaw lying on the ground just out­
side the back door, and bleeding profusely from a wound 
in the chest.

The fire in the farmyard was quickly extinguished, and 
but little damage was done, but poor Mr. Earnslaw’s in­
juries proved to be mortal. He had been stabbed with ter­
rific violence with some large clasp-knife or other weapon 
of that description, and only lived long enough to state that 
in the darkness, and also in the suddenness of the attack, 
he had not been able to recognise his assailant.

It became a terribly hard task to break the awful news 
to Miss Barbara, Mr. Earnslaw’s only daughter. She had 
been in her room, quietly getting into bed, while the awful 
tragedy which rendered her an orphan was being enacted 
downstairs; and as her room was in the front of the house, 
she had not heard her father’s cry for help, and only 
vaguely the noise connected with the fire, to which she 
had paid no attention.

She proved herself to be, however, much more sensible, 
cool, and level-headed than anyone would have given so 
young a girl credit for. With wonderful clearness and 
presence of mind she gave the necessary orders for con­
veying her father to his room without causing him needless 
pain, and then despatched two of the farm servants to 
Bl etch wick for a doctor and the police.
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From the very first the whole of the newspaper-reading 

public took the keenest interest in the extraordinary circum­
stances which attended the Murton-Braby tragedy. Murder, 
pure and simple, without any attempt at robbery, has al­
ways a great element of excitement and sensation con­
nected with it; it at once suggests some great, all-absorbing, 
evil passion as its mainspring—revenge, love, or both 
combined; bitter enmity or deadly hate. In the case of 
the murder of Mr. Earnslaw, the difficulty with which the 
police had to contend did not so much consist in ascer­
taining whether he had a bitter enemy at all, as in trying 
to discover which of his many enemies hated him suffi­
ciently to risk hanging for the sake of putting him out of 
the world.

Mr. Earnslaw was supposed to hail from New Zealand, 
I believe; but beyond that—even in the dens of gossip 
which English country places usually are—no one knew 
anything about his antecedents. It was generally supposed 
that he had made his money—of which he seemed to have 
plenty—in illicit traffic of some sort. At a time when the 
whole Empire was teeming with enthusiasm and loyalty, 
he was that peculiar anomaly, a colonial pro-German. His 
views on that subject, which he aired with arrogant 
freedom, did not tend to make him popular in the county.

Why he had chosen to settle down in the guise of an 
English country gentleman, in a remote Somersetshire 
village, no one knew or cared; and as far as the county 
families were concerned, he was left severely alone. On 
the other hand, a certain amount of genuine sympathy was 
shown to Miss Barbara in her isolated position. The fact 
that she was peculiarly good looking may have had some­
thing to do with this sympathy—at any rate, on the part 
of the male members of those same county families. One 
or two rumours, even, had been lately current in the im­
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mediate neighbourhood of Murton-Braby, of an impending 
marriage between Miss Barbara Earnslaw, daughter of Mr. 
Earnslaw, of Murton Farm, and one or the other of the 
eligible county bachelors, foremost among these supposed 
aspirants being the young Earl of Alderdale and Mr. 
Spender-Cole.

Needless to say, the relatives of both these young men 
did their utmost to give these rumours the lie, an alliance 
with the daughter of the notorious pro-German meaning 
probable social ruin in loyal Somersetshire. Moreover, Mr. 
Earnslaw himself strongly objected to the attentions paid 
to his daughter, and more than one servant at Murton 
Farm could testify to the quarrel which ensued when the 
master peremptorily forbade Mr. Spender-Cole ever to set 
foot inside his house again.

This quarrel occurred precisely in the morning of 
August the 14th, and it was the evening of the same day 
that Mr. Earnslaw was murdered.

II

The police were, of course, severely criticised for bring­
ing forward a witness of the mental calibre of James 
Pecover. But how it happened was this: it seemed at first 
quite impossible to obtain the slightest clue with regard to 
the murderer of Mr. Earnslaw. In the country, at eleven 
o’clock at night, most servants have already gone to bed; 
no one was about in Murton Farm until the alarm of fire 
sent everyone out of doors, and then everyone rushed 
towards the more distant haystack, whence the flames and 
smoke proceeded, and busied themselves with hose and 
pump, while the unfortunate master of the house was being 
murdered less than a hundred yards away. The murderer 
had thus been able to slip away from the grounds ab- 



THE MURTON-BRABY MURDER 233

solutely unperceived. In spite of the most strenuous efforts 
on the part of McMurdoch—one of the most able men on 
the detective staff—there did not come to light the faintest 
trace which might have led to the identification of the 
murderer. Completely at a loss where to turn for a clue, 
the police at the inquest—which was held in the dining­
room at Murton Farm, on the 17 th—had to admit that 
they had no evidence to place before the coroner. At this 
juncture Mrs. Pecover, the wife of Mr. Eamslaw’s head 
gardener, timidly suggested that she was quite sure her 
son could throw some light upon the mystery. He had 
been, as was his invariable custom, mooning about the 
garden that evening, and she thought, from what he had 
told her, that he had seen something.

James Pecover was a vigorous, but half-witted lad, who 
sometimes, when he was sane, helped his father in the 
garden, but otherwise was quite helpless and incapable; in 
his childhood his parents had believed him to be tongue- 
tied; and even now that he was grown up he hardly ever 
spoke, and then only under the pressure of some strong 
excitement. The only person who had any influence over 
him, and who even, at times, succeeded in turning the half­
witted lad almost into a rational being, was Miss Barbara 
Earnslaw. She had been wonderfully kind and patient 
with him, and the poor, half-witted creature had in con­
sequence bestowed upon her what little affection he was 
capable of. His indignation at the murder of Miss Bar­
bara’s father expressed itself with peculiar intensity; and 
his mother said that it had been quite pathetic to watch 
the efforts of his feeble mind trying to explain a certain 
something which he had evidently seen.

Of course, it was a moot point whether such a person 
should have been allowed to make a statement at all; nor 
had the police, I know, the faintest intention of taking 
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serious notice of James Pecover’s evidence; but they did 
hope that his half-coherent statement might give them the 
first inkling of truth in the impenetrable mystery which 
surrounded the crime.

Examined at the inquest, James Pecover, however, 
refused to speak. He stared about him with an inane 
smile on his soulless face. After ten minutes’ patient ques­
tioning, the coroner would have given up the task, but for 
Miss Earnslaw, who came to the rescue with that same 
wonderful self-possession which had characterised her 
throughout this trying ordeal.

“My father has been cruelly murdered,” she explained. 
“Whatever I can do to bring his murderer to justice, I will 
undertake, however painful the duty may be.”

The coroner adjourned the inquest until the morrow; 
and when the public had retired, Miss Barbara, aided by 
him, attempted with almost superhuman patience to elicit 
information from the poor idiot.

At a word from her, James Pecover was ready to speak. 
He had, as usual, strolled about the garden the whole even­
ing; whether he had heard the alarm of fire or not, he 
could not say; anyway, he paid no attention to it, but 
remained in the garden close to the house. He saw some­
one standing among the shrubs close to the back door. 
Then Mr. Earnslaw came out, and there was a sudden 
scuffle and a scream. Pecover had not quite realised what 
had happened; the next thing he remembered was seeing 
Mr. Earnslaw fall forward and his assailant run away. 
Then he, too, fled, for he was frightened and sick.

“You did not see who it was that struck my father?” 
asked Miss Barbara.

The idiot nodded.
“Do you know who it was, then?”
Again James Pecover nodded excitedly.
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“Then it was somebody you know?”
“Yes, Miss Barbara,” he stammered.
“Who was it?”
The idiot’s face expressed a hopeless blank.
Patiently the coroner, aided by Miss Barbara, named 

in turn every person employed about Mr. Earnslaw’s pro­
perty, and also some of the tradespeople of Murton-Braby 
or Bletchwick, with whom the arrogant pro-German had 
been notedly unpopular. But to each of these names the 
idiot shook his head with emphatic energy.

At last, moved by a sudden thought, Miss Barbara 
got up and left the room. She returned two minutes latef 
carrying a large packet of photographs.

“Now, James,” she said very gently, taking the idiot’s 
hand in hers and forcing him by the magnetism of her 
great sympathy to look straight into her eyes, “look through 
these pictures and see if among them you can find that of 
the man who killed my father and left me an orphan.”

James Pecover evidently understood what was expected 
of him, for with extraordinary care and deliberation he 
looked at each photograph and put it on one side. Sud­
denly, with violent energy, he took up a picture of a young 
man, and, pointing at it with trembling fingers, he said 
with perfect coherence:

“This is the man, Miss Barbara. I saw him as plainly 
as I see you. He wore brown knickerbockers, a Norfolk 
coat, and a straw hat. He killed Mr. Earnslaw. I saw 
him. Give me the chance and PII kill him, too!”

The coroner took the photograph from James Pecover’s 
trembling hands. It was that of Mr. Spender-Cole.

Ill

The coroner, I understand, refused to take any official 
cognisance of James Pecover’s statements. At the adjourned 
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inquest on the Monday following, he was not brought for­
ward as a witness, and a verdict of “Wilful murder against 
some person or persons unknown” was returned. But Miss 
Barbara had no legal scruples of any kind. She determined 
to bring the murder of her father home to its perpetrator; 
and directly after the verdict she saw McMurdoch, told 
him of the clue she held, and begged him in any case to 
follow it up, if only to set her mind at rest and prove its 
falseness.

The results were such that even the detective was taken 
aback. Within forty-eight hours he had collected evidence 
to prove that Mr. Spender-Cole was seen, by three witnesses 
who passed him on the road, to enter the grounds of 
Murton Farm at about a quarter-past ten on the evening 
of the 14th; he was then wearing the brown knicker­
bockers, the Norfolk coat, and straw hat described by 
James Pecover. His servants and family at Bletchwick 
Towers said that he was out the whole of that evening, 
only returning home at half-past eleven. Then, the whole 
question of Mr. Earnslaw’s quarrels with the young man 
was raised. Mr. Spender-Cole had had several open dis­
agreements with the Colonial pro-German, and on the very 
morning preceding the crime Mr. Earnslaw had, in most 
insulting terms, forbidden him the door.

Miss Barbara’s attitude throughout this time was one 
of passive coldness. Though many people in the county 
believed that she had been attached to Mr. Spender-Cole, 
and would have married him but for her father’s peremp­
tory and strenuous opposition, her only wish in the matter 
was to bring her father’s murderer to justice, whoever he 
might be. She heard with the same perfect impassiveness 
that the police had, after very arduous investigation and with 
due forethought, at last decided to apply for a warrant for 
the arrest of Mr. Spender-Cole on the capital charge.
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Throughout all these preliminaries Skin o’ my Tooth 
had watched the case with unflagging interest He had 
on more than one occasion declared to me that it was one 
of the most exciting ones he had ever come across, and 
expressed the hope and the belief that whoever was accused 
of the murder, that person should entrust his defence to 
him. It was only natural, when the evidence became so 
overwhelming against Mr. Spender-Cole as to call for his 
arrest, that his relatives should place the unfortunate young 
man’s case in the hands of the ablest lawyer in the British 
Isles. The Spender-Coles are very wealthy county people, 
Bletchwick Towers being one of the show places in Somer­
setshire. Skin o’ my Tooth knew that money would be no 
object, and that his own interests as well as his professional 
enthusiasm would allow him to throw himself heart and 
soul  into the mazes of the exciting case.

We journeyed down to Bletchwick on a fine August after­
noon, and the next morning saw Mr. Spender-Cole in gaol. 
He was a good-looking young fellow, I thought, somewhat 
of the gipsy type, with very dark skin and large, brown 
eyes. He appeared very delighted to see my chief, in whom 
he expressed his fullest confidence.

“You can get me out of this, Mr. Mulligan, I know,” 
he said quite cheerfully. “I have not done this thing, what­
ever I may have wished to do, and I am sure that no grave 
miscarriage of justice will occur in my case.”

“I am equally convinced of that fact,” replied Skin 0’ 
my Tooth pleasantly; “and, therefore, if you are wise, you 
will tell me the whole truth, good or bad, about this un­
fortunate business.”

“Well, I am afraid some of it is pretty bad, Mr. Mulli­
gan,” said the young man, blushing even underneath his 
swarthy skin. “You see, I unfortunately did go to Murton 
Farm on that night, less than half an hour before that 
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murder was committed; and as I went to see a lady, my 
visit had necessarily to be kept a secret.”

“A lady?”
“I had better be quite frank with you, Mr. Mulligan. 

My terrible position will account for my somewhat unchival- 
rous attitude. You must know that for some time I had 
been very deeply attached to Miss Barbara Earnslaw, and 
had every reason to believe that my love for her was re­
ciprocated. She frequently wrote me in terms of the deepest 
love, and had pledged herself to me with all the passion 
her strong nature was capable of. I worshipped her, and 
she had made me supremely happy, and I was only too 
ready to make her my wife before all the world as soon as 
she would give her consent. But her father saw fit to dis­
approve of me as a future son-in-law, hence the many 
quarrels that arose between us. But I hoped to break 
down—some day, soon—that barrier of filial deference 
which Barbara still placed between me and my wish to 
make her my wife. I thought I had at last succeeded, Mr. 
Mulligan, when suddenly without any warning her feelings 
for me seemed to change. She treated me with marked 
coldness and refused even to come and see me at our usual 
trysting-place. I begged for an explanation. In reply I had 
a curt note from her, requesting my presence in the shrub­
bery at Murton Farm on the evening of the 14th, at about 
ten o’clock, and demanding that I should bring with me all 
the letters and tokens I had ever received from her. It was 
a terrible blow, Mr. Mulligan, for of course I knew at once 
that something was amiss. I met Mr. Earnslaw that mor­
ning, for, like a love-sick idiot, I haunted the precincts of 
Murton Farm all day. He took that opportunity of forbid­
ding me his house; and I had then to remember that he 
was Barbara’s father, or I should have knocked him down. 
However, I obeyed my orders, and was in the shrubbery 
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by a quarter past ten. It all occurred just as I had feared. 
I was given my congé, with but a few regrets for the past 
happy time. The Earl of Alderdale had asked Barbara to 
marry him, and she, with all a woman’s love of title and 
position, then threw me over for these without a pang. I 
gave her back her letters, for she coolly explained to me 
that no shadow of scandal must ever touch now or in the 
future a Countess of Alderdale. Then I went away, for 
there was nothing more to be said. But I did not kill Mr. 
Earnslaw. Why should I? Alive or dead, he could not 
balk me now. It was she who did not care; I could see 
she was not acting on compulsion—it is easy to see that, 
isn’t it?”

He paused a moment in his narrative and stared ab­
sently before him. It was clear to me that the cheerfulness 
he had exhibited at the beginning of the interview was only 
outward show.

“You have not told me what happened after you had 
said good-bye to Miss Earnslaw and given up her letters,” 
said Skin 0’ my Tooth after a while.

“Oh yes! She walked with me as far as the gate, for 
it was very dark, and I think she was afraid I might betray 
my presence by stumbling or losing my way.”

“At what time was that?”
“It was five minutes to eleven when I left the gate. I 

remember looking at my watch.”
“Why did you not tell all this to the detectives who 

were trying to get up the case against you?”
“Because at first I thought that Miss Earnslaw would 

tell all that was necessary, when she saw that I was in 
trouble, and, after that------

“Yes? After that?”
“Well, somehow after that it seemed too late. As I 

had not spoken at first, and Miss Earnslaw had said



240 “SKIN O’ MY TOOTH”

nothing, I thought I should seem such an awful cad 
if------ ”

“If?” repeated Skin 0’ my Tooth, as the young man 
seemed to hesitate.

“Well, if she denied the whole thing, you see.” 
“Yes; I think I see,” rejoined my chief quietly.
Of course, at the time such a thing appeared to me 

positively preposterous. If Mr. Spender-Cole spoke the truth 
—and I had no reason to doubt it—surely no woman 
would allow a man to remain under a false accusation for 
the sake of her own social reputation, however highly she 
might prize it. I suppose that Skin 0’ my Tooth’s estimate 
of human nature was not so optimistic as mine, for he did 
not discuss the point with the young man; he succeeded, 
however, as he always does, in instilling into his client a 
firm belief in the truth and justice of his cause, and when 
he left him, after another half-hour’s pleasant talk, there 
was no doubt that Mr. Spender-Cole’s cheerfulness was no 
longer only on the surface.

Having left Bletchwick Gaol, Skin 0’ my Tooth sent 
me on to the Crown Hotel, where we were putting up, and 
told me to wait for him there while he drove on to Murton 
Farm.

“I expect nothing from the interview, Muggins,” he 
said to me, “but I fancy I would rather like to cross 
swords with Miss Barbara Earnslaw.”

He said this with one of his pleasant, jovial smiles and 
that funny casting down of the eyes which gave him quite 
a coy look. I watched the car disappearing down the 
dusty road, and then I strolled into the hotel bar and sat 
on one of the seats, with my hands buried in my trousers 
pockets, to think the whole matter out.

But think of it as I would, my solution to the mystery 
remained very preposterous—either that Mr. Spender-Cole
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had told a lie, or that Miss Barbara had set fire to her 
father’s hayricks and then murdered him, which, of course, 
on the part of a young girl but a little over twenty years 
old, was, to say the least of it, unlikely.

Less than an hour later I saw my esteemed employer’s 
fat and slouchy figure strolling down the road. He came 
in and sat down next to me, and I could see that same 
pleasant, amused smile hovering round the corners of his 
fat mouth.

“Well, sir?” I ventured to say at last.
“Well, Muggins,” he said, with a chuckle, “my inter­

view with Miss Barbara Earnslaw was of the briefest. She 
professed herself entirely at a loss to understand why I 
had troubled her at all with Mr. Spender-Cole’s affairs. 
Her acquaintance with him, she said, was of the slightest. 
The suggestion that she had at any time had any intimacy 
with him she absolutely repudiated, qualifying it as un­
pardonable impertinence; and, of course, to the story that 
she had an interview with him just before the murder of 
her father, and herself saw him out of the gate, she gave 
most emphatic and haughty denial.”

He chuckled again, smiling quietly to himself. Then 
he added, with a touch of genuine enthusiasm:

“But, by Jove! Muggins, she is a handsome woman.”

IV

The next morning Mr. Spender-Cole was charged be­
fore the local magistrates, and, formal evidence as to his 
arrest having been given, Skin 0’ my Tooth had no diffi­
culty in obtaining a remand for him, pending the pro­
duction of some important evidence.

During the past few hours, ever since his interview with 
Miss Earnslaw, Skin 0’ my Tooth had scarcely spoken a 

“Shin o' my Tooth” 16 
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word. I could see that beneath that fleshy mask of his, 
thoughts were crowding in his mind thick and fast; and 
when I heard him ask for a remand for his client, pending 
important evidence, I knew that already in that shrewd 
brain the whole history of the mysterious crime had been 
reconstructed.

After we had had some luncheon we walked down to 
Murton-Braby, the pretty little village which nestles on the 
outskirts of the Doespring Woods, a couple of miles from 
Bletchwick. Skin o’ my Tooth had asked McMurdoch to 
accompany us, and the detective, whose belief in Mr. 
Spender-Cole’s guilt was firmly rooted, treated us the whole 
way to all the arguments which tended to prove his case.

We made a halt by the gate of Murton Farm, and as 
we did so it was opened, and a lady and gentleman on 
horseback came out, attended by a groom. She certainly 
was one of the handsomest women I had ever seen, and 
she sat her horse with perfect ease and grace.

“Miss Earnslaw and the Earl of Alderdale,” whispered 
McMurdoch to me. “They are to be married, 1 believe, 
as soon as her mourning is over.”

They certainly made a very handsome couple, and 
mentally I endorsed my chief’s enthusiastic praise of Miss 
Earnslaw’s beauty. She frowned a little, I thought, when 
she recognised Skin o’ my Tooth and the detective, both 
of whom had bowed respectfully to her as she passed, and 
for a moment it seemed to me that she meant to stop and 
speak to them; but the next instant she had cantered off 
with Lord Alderdale down the shady road.

I watched her until she was out of sight; and when 
I turned I saw that Skin o’ my Tooth had gone up to the 
man who had opened the gate, and who still stood there 
leaning against it, also watching the two retreating figures 
down the road. I don’t think that in the whole course of
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my life I had ever seen a faqe so full of hopeless despair 
and dormant, passion as was that of this man.

“Hallo, Pecover!” ejaculated McMurdoch jovially.
Hearing the name, I looked at the young man with 

still keener interest. This, then, was the half-witted creature 
whose irresponsible statements had brought poor Mr. 
Spender-Cole within measurable distance of the gallows. 
Skin 0’ my Tooth touched him lightly on the arm.

“She is very beautiful, isn’t she, James?” he asked 
with that kindly sympathy which he knows so well how to 
impart to his voice.

James Pecover sighed and then looked inquiringly at my 
chief, as if wondering whence came all the sympathy.

“No wonder you love her so much,” added Skin o’ my 
Tooth.

The young man did not speak; his eyes expressed all 
that he would have said.

“Suppose you let me come into the lodge and give me 
and my friends some tea? We have come all the way from 
Bletchwick to see Miss Earnslaw; and now, you see, she has 
gone out riding, and we would like to wait until she comes 
home.”

Quietly he pushed open the gate, and, taking James 
Pecover’s arm, he led him towards the lodge. The gardener 
and his wife were both out. The young fellow, however, 
as if under the spell of Skin o’ my Tooth’s kindly sympathy, 
led the way to the pretty little parlour, where he soon began 
to spread the table for tea. My chief watched him with 
unceasing persistency as he moved to and fro in the room, 
getting tea and bread and butter ready with that mechanical 
precision which often characterises the dull-witted. McMur­
doch said nothing. He, too, felt at that moment, as I did, 
that wonderful magnetic influence which seemed to emanate 
from the uncouth Irish lawyer when he was in the pursuit 

16*
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of his favourite occupation, the investigation—or, rather, 
the instinctive scenting—of crime. When everything was 
ready, Skin o’ my Tooth sat down before the tea-party and 
said cheerfully:

“This is excellent, James. Now I’ll pour out tea for 
everyone. You sit here beside me.”

I watched him as he poured out the tea, and suddenly 
he took a flask from his pocket and emptied half its con­
tents into one of the cups, which he then filled with water. 
It was brandy, I could see, and he passed that cup to 
James Pecover, whose dull eyes had glistened as he took 
it from him.

“It does improve tea, doesn’t it?” said Skin o’ my 
Tooth, as he quietly watched the young man swallow down 
the contents of that cup at one gulp.

“Now we can talk,” he added, noting the immediate 
change which had come over the dull, impenetrable face 
of James Pecover. His eyes brightened up, a warm glow 
spread over his cheeks; he smacked his lips once or twice 
and then handed his cup to Skin o’ my Tooth, with the 
laconic word:

“More.”
“Oh yes; presently. It is good, isn’t it? But you have 

to tell me one or two things first; then you shall have some 
more.”

“Yes! yes! I’ll tell! Give me more! I’ll tell!” mur­
mured the idiot excitedly.

“You shall tell me first of all,” said Skin o’ my Tooth, 
quietly fingering his flask and leaning across the table, 
“why you killed Mr. Earnslaw.”

A look of almost demoniacal hatred, which positively 
made me shudder, lighted up the half-witted creature’s face.

“I hated him!” he hissed between his clenched teeth. 
“He horsewhipped me—struck me with his horsewhip— 
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there—in the shrubbery! You can see the marks—across 
my back!”

And feverishly, with trembling hands, he loosened his 
coat and flannel shirt, and, bending his neck, showed his 
back, across which great purple marks still testified to the 
truth of what he said.

“I expect you deserved that horsewhipping, James,” said 
Skin 0’ my Tooth coldly.

This added fuel to the raging fire of James Pecover’s 
wrath. His excitement grew in intensity, and as it did so 
it loosened his tongue, already quickened by a taste of the 
brandy.

“Ay!” he said, “and he deserved the blow I struck him 
there, right in the chest! He struck me with his horsewhip, 
because—once—I don’t know how it was—I found Miss 
Barbara alone in the shrubbery—I loved her, and I kissed 
her—I couldn’t help it—she was so beautiful. She was 
angry and told Mr. Earnslaw. He horsewhipped me, and I 
killed him. I put a light to the hayricks—I knew he would 
come out to see what was wrong; so when I had fired the 
ricks I went back to the house and waited for him. When 
he came out I stabbed him.”

It would be impossible to render with any exactitude 
the curious, weird tones, so full of the most deadly hatred, 
with which that dull-witted creature had spoken. And now, 
when he had finished, he still repeated with the obstinacy 
so characteristic of the feeble-minded:

“I stabbed him—I killed him! He horsewhipped me!” 
“Why did you fasten your guilt on Mr. Spender-Cole, 

then?” asked Skin o’ my Tooth sternly.
“I was frightened—and I knew he was in the garden. 

I had seen him—with her—I hated him because she loved 
him.”

And you thought you could get rid of two enemies at 
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once, eh ? That was very ingenious. But where did you get 
the knife with which you stabbed Mr. Earnslaw, and what 
did you do with it afterwards?”

“It was my own knife—I used to kill rabbits with it. 
I threw it into the rhodo bush when I had done with it; 
then the next night I buried it.”

“Under the rhodo bush?”
The idiot nodded. The excitement was slowly but per­

ceptibly dying out of his eyes. The effect of the brandy 
had been sudden, as is usually the case on feeble brains, 
but it was not lasting; the alcohol seemed to have pervaded 
his body, his limbs looked heavy, his head nodded, then 
drooped forward upon his chest. Once or twice he roused 
himself, the look of deadly hatred stole again into his bleary 
eyes, and he repeated slowly:

“He horsewhipped me, and I killed him!”
Skin 0’ my Tooth placed a finger to his mouth, and 

gently McMurdoch stole out of the room, while we remained 
watching beside the idiot.

Ten minutes later the detective came back. He was 
carrying a bundle, which he quickly placed upon the table 
and then unfolded. It was an old working coat, covered 
with stains and mud; the stains all down the front were 
obviously those of blood; wrapped in it was a large clasp­
knife, covered with the same gruesome stains. We were all 
three examining these things, while James Pecover nodded 
in an inane fashion across the table, murmuring incoherent 
words to himself, when a frightful shriek caused us all to 
turn quickly towards the door.

Mrs. Pecover, the gardener’s wife, was standing there, 
her eyes staring horror-struck at her son’s coat and knife 
lying upon the table. She had not spoken a word, but her 
awful shriek seemed to have roused her son from his idiotic 
apathy. With a cry half of mad rage and half of hopeless 
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terror, he sprang up and with one bound fell upon Skin o’ 
my Tooth, gripped him by the throat, and dragged him 
down with him upon the floor, where the madman’s shrieks 
drowned Skin o’ my Tooth’s feeble call for help. McMur- 
doch and I had some difficulty in extricating my chief from 
the wild grip of the maniac. With a last effort at intelli­
gence, James Pecover had, I suppose, realised that with his 
kindly sympathy Skin 0’ my Tooth had set a trap for him, 
into which he had fallen.

Had they been alone together at the time, the madman 
would have made short work of my chief, in spite of the 
latter’s powerful physique. As it was, McMurdoch and I 
succeeded at last in dragging James Pecover away. Then, 
with Skin 0’ my Tooth’s help, who had quickly recovered 
himself, we managed to hold him down. Mrs. Pecover, ter­
rified, had sunk sobbing into a chair.

“I had brought the sedative with me, as well as the 
stimulant,” remarked my chief presently, as he drew a small 
phial from his pocket. “I thought that I should probably 
need both. Give me the cup, Muggins. I think I can get 
him to drink this.”

When James Pecover had taken the draught, which he 
did without a murmur, he became quite quiet, and soon 
McMurdoch suggested one of us going to Bletchwick for 
assistance. Mrs. Pecover had recovered herself sufficiently 
to realise the gravity of the situation. She went herself 
round to the garage and got the chauffeur to drive me down 
to Bletchwick.

“I shouldn’t be sorry,” she confided to me with that 
stolidity so peculiar to people of her class, “to get ’im put 
in the asylum. I tell you, sir, I ’ave lived a life of terror 
ever since the day Mr. Earnslaw laid ’is whip across the 
lad’s back. ’E ’as not been the same boy, and I tell you 
my life nor ’is father’s ’ave not been safe since.”
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With the same stolidity she and her husband saw their 
idiot son conveyed to Bletchwick, escorted by two constables 
whom I had fetched. He was quite quiet, and gave no 
further trouble. He was taken to the county asylum the 
next day, by order of the magistrate, as he was certified 
hopelessly insane.

The next day Skin o’ my Tooth placed before the 
magistrate the proofs of James Pecover’s guilt, and Mr. 
Spender-Cole was, of course, exonerated from all blame in 
connection with the murder of Mr. Earnslaw.

I once asked my esteemed employer what had originally 
made him think of the idiot as the probable culprit.

“Well, you see, Muggins,” he said, “to me it seemed 
obvious that the murder was committed by someone who 
knew the ways of the house and its master very well. The 
hayricks were fired in order to attract Mr. Earnslaw out of 
doors, and the person who fired them knew exactly where 
to lie in wait for his victim. The whole thing was so cun­
ning that it suggested the work of a madman. James 
Pecover’s accusation of Mr. Spender-Cole being a false one, 
my thoughts naturally turned towards his accuser. You 
can always loosen an idiot’s tongue with stimulant. I sup­
pose many humanitarians would blame me for resorting to 
such means; but surely the life of an innocent man was 
worth the destruction of the last glimmer of reason in the 
brain of a homicidal maniac.”

“At one time I actually thought that Miss Barbara 
Earnslaw murdered her father.”

“Oh no! She was too dainty a lady for that; but she 
would have allowed Spender-Cole to hang sooner than clear 
him by admitting her clandestine meeting with him. I hear, 
by the way, that she is officially engaged to the Earl of 
Alderdale; so she has achieved her heart’s desire, and Mr. 
Spender-Cole has remained chivalrous to the last”
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XI. A SHOT IN THE NIGHT

I

I find it really difficult to disentangle from the mass of 
notes which I took at different times while I was in Mr. 
Mulligan’s employ those that relate to cases which gripped 
the attention of the public, and those which from their 
peculiar nature and intricacies specially appealed to me 
personally. But I don’t think that I shall be far wrong if 
I put on record the circumstances which so nearly brought 
that unfortunate Mr. Legge-Bright to the gallows—indeed, 
would have brought him there but for the extraordinary 
courage and intuition displayed on his behalf by Skin 0’ 
my Tooth.

The tragedy occurred about a couple of years ago. At 
that time Mitre Court, a pretty Queen Anne house not far 
from Oakminster, was occupied by a childless couple, Mr. 
and Mrs. Greeneadge. Mitre Court had been originally a 
farmhouse, built over two hundred years ago in the simple 
elegant style of the period. There were only six rooms 
altogether in the main square building; three on the ground 
floor and three above. The front door gave straight on the 
fine hall and really beautiful staircase; immediately on the 
left as you entered there was a small boudoir, and facing 
you was the door leading into the large morning-room, with 
a small dining-room leading out of it on the right. Upstairs 
were three bedrooms, one large and two small.

About twenty years ago an annexe was added to the 
main building; this now contained three or four servants’ 
bedrooms, the kitchen, and the other offices. There were 
two doors of communication between the house and the 
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annexe, one on the half-landing going up the main stair­
case, and the other on the right of the front door facing 
that of the small boudoir.

I am obliged to give these simple architectural details 
so as to make it clear how it was that though Mr. and Mrs. 
Greeneadge were fairly well to do and kept three or four 
servants, they were entirely isolated at night in their part 
of the house. The walls of Mitre Court were extraordinarily 
thick, and it was a long way from the best bedrooms up­
stairs, down the main staircase to the half-landing, then 
through the communicating door, which for appearance 
sake was masked by a heavy curtain, then down a few 
steps to the butler’s room, the first along a passage, on 
which gave the other servants’ rooms.

Mrs. Greeneadge had often remarked quite lightly that 
she and Mr. Greeneadge might easily be murdered in their 
beds before the servants heard any sound proceeding from 
the house. She herself slept in the large bedroom over the 
morning-room, and Mr. Greeneadge occupied the one above 
the front boudoir, whilst the one above the dining-room was 
a spare-room often occupied by a guest.

And now when I have told you that a door, always 
barred and bolted at night, gave straight from the morning­
room into the very pretty garden at the back and that the 
garden was encircled on that side by a ha-ha beyond, 
which was a six-acre field surrounded by tall elm-trees and 
a containing wall, I shall have put before you the main 
features of the very pretty house where the tragedy oc­
curred.

This part of England, although so near to London and 
other busy centres, always strikes one as extraordinarily 
lonely. Standing, say, on the flat roof of Mitre Court, one 
would see great stretches of meadow and corn land, with 
here and there, dotted about, clumps of walnut or elm 
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trees, amid which nestle other dwelling-houses, mostly of 
the same type as the one where Mr. and Mrs. Greeneadge 
had their home. The absence of hedges and the flatness 
of the country accentuate in a measure the sense of vast­
ness which the view over the country gives, vastness 
seldom if ever met with anywhere else in England. I 
have heard these parts compared to certain com-growing 
districts in mid-Europe.

The Greeneadges led rather a lonely life. He wTas a 
man retired from business, whose principal income— 
amounting to £1,500 a year—consisted of an annuity paid 
to him by his nephew, Ralph Legge-Bright, to whom he had 
made over his business on that consideration. This he had 
done about two or three years before he met the present 
Mrs. Greeneadge and married her. She was a youngish 
and attractive widow, noted for her athletic prowess on the 
tennis court and golf course, he a man then approaching 
fifty, and no doubt he often regretted the transaction 
whereby he had parted from his lucrative business for a 
mere annuity. It turned out subsequently that he and his 
wife did at different times discuss the question of her 
financial position after his death; he had not at the time 
thought of taking out a life insurance, as his was not what 
an insurance company would call a good proposition; the 
premium, in any case, would have been very high. Hus­
band and wife decided therefore that they would settle 
down at Mitre Court, and live as simply as they could, 
merely setting aside every year as substantial a portion of 
the annuity as possible for the ultimate benefit of Mrs. 
Greeneadge.

One point more in this affair is worthy of note, and 
that is, that just before Mr. Greeneadge retired from busi­
ness in favour of his nephew he had had a very serious ill­
ness, from which one or two expensive specialists decided 
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that he would never recover; they only gave him two or 
three years at most in which he might still enjoy life. Mr. 
Greeneadge took this verdict philosophically; he w’as a 
bachelor then, with no near relations to mourn his death 
when it occurred, but on the advice of those same expen­
sive specialists he decided to retire from business and take 
the remainder of his life as easily as possible. His nephew, 
Ralph Legge-Bright, was clearly indicated as his most 
desirable successor in the management of the old family 
business, but as he had no capital available for a purchase 
outright, it was arranged that the retiring vendor should 
receive an annuity of £1,500 for life.

Two years later, not only had the so-called doomed 
man recovered from that fatal illness, but he was enjoying 
the best of health, and finally one fine day he announced 
his marriage to Ethel Mary, relict of the late Somebody or 
Other of Tooting. Great, I imagine, must have been Ralph 
Legge-Bright’s chagrin. He had reckoned on purchasing 
the business from what was practically a dying man, and 
on having to pay the annuity for two or three years at 
most, instead of which he now saw himself faced with the 
likelihood of being saddled with a huge annual payment, 
which might go on for the next ten or fifteen years—or 
even longer.

Horrible thought! And the health of Mr. Greeneadge 
went on improving, and every time Ralph Legge-Bright 
went to stay at Mitre Court he found his uncle lobking 
gayer and considerably younger than before. Relations 
between the two men became more and more strained, and 
Mr. Greeneadge—now a middle-aged man verging on sixty 
—made no secret of the fact that he made a shrewd guess 
as to the cause of his nephew’s ill-humour. And the idea 
greatly tickled him.

“I am living too long for my nephew, that’s what’s the 
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matter,” he would say with a chuckle; “he is just longing 
to see me underground. But there’s a lot more he’ll have 
to pay me, before I gratify his wish.”

Then came the war. Ralph Legge-Bright, who was 
running a business that employed a couple of hundred men, 
and was considered of national importance, was exempt 
from military service, but in the end strenuous work, with 
a diminished staff brought on a nervous breakdown. He 
came down to Mitre Court for a rest cure. He came for 
a fortnight and stayed three months. The business after 
the Armistice was going through a period of deadly slump; 
the payment of the annuity to Mr. Greeneadge must by this 
time have become an almost insupportable burden. Re­
lations between uncle and nephew became more and more 
strained, and servants even were often witnesses to violent 
quarrels between them. These quarrels were invariably 
followed by fits of sullenness on the part of Mr. Greeneadge, 
who, according to the butler’s testimony, would often pace 
up and down the length of the morning-room muttering 
words that sounded like:

“The cad; the ungrateful skunk! But I’ll teach him a 
lesson------ ” or words to that effect.

But although these quarrels became more and more 
frequent as the years went by, the visits of Ralph Legge- 
Bright to Mitre Court went on just the same. In fact, he 
came much more often than he used to, and would stay 
either for long week-ends, or at holiday-time for days and 
weeks on end. The only member of the party who kept her 
serenity throughout this trying time was Mrs. Greeneadge; 
she came and went with perfect unconcern in this atmo­
sphere of warring elements; always smiling, always cheer­
ful, she would keep conversation going while her husband 
sat glowering at the head of the table, and Ralph Legge- 
Bright hardly had a civil word in his mouth. Not that 
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there was any question of husband and wife not being on 
the best of terms, but from what the servants said sub­
sequently it seemed as if Mrs. Greeneadge kept a perfectly 
open mind and did not take sides in the quarrels between 
the two men. She spent most of her time in keeping up 
her splendid physique, became president of a noted feminine 
philathletic club, and collected trophies and silver cups 
which she won at various sports and athletic competitions.

II

And that is how matters stood at Mitre Court during 
the time immediately preceding the tragedy. It was mid­
September, Mr. Legge-Bright was staying at Mitre Court, 
and during his stay he had been asked once or twice to 
shoot at Gaunters, Lord Westerham’s place close by. A 
neighbour whose house was not far from Mitre Court had 
on those occasions always called for him in his car and 
driven him over to Gaunters, but on this day the neighbour 
was either sick or away from home—I forget which—and 
Mr. Legge-Bright very naturally asked his uncle to let him 
have the use of his car and chauffeur. A very simple request, 
surely, which however Mr. Greeneadge categorically refused.

A violent quarrel ensued; Mercer, the butler, heard 
snatches of it, so did the housemaid, Emma Tozer.

“I don’t keep a car for your entertainment, my friend,” 
was one of the remarks which Mercer overheard. It came, 
of course, from Mr. Greeneadge.

“If I didn’t sweat blood in your damned business,” 
Mr. Legge-Bright retorted, “there would be no car for you, 
or Mitre Court for a matter of that. It would be the work­
house most likely.”

“Or the grave—what?” Mr. Greeneadge went on with 
a sneer. “You would like that best, wouldn’t you?”
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Whereupon Mr. Legge-Bright said emphatically:
“ I would ! ” and he added a few strong expletives, which 

Emma Tozer, the housemaid—who we may take it had her 
ear glued to the key-hole—was too genteel to repeat.

At this moment Mrs. Greeneadge came in, all smiles, 
ready dressed to drive out to Oakminster for shopping.

“ Gaunt ers is not much out of my way,” she said, as 
soon as Mr. Legge-Bright in a few sulky words had told her 
the cause of this newest quarrel. “I will drop you there, 
and no doubt you will find somebody to drive you back 
this evening.”

She tripped up to her husband, put her arms round 
him and murmured softly:

“Dear old bear, aren’t you?” and kissed him most af­
fectionately. Then she added lightly: “Come along, Ralph. 
We’ll pick the car up at the garage.”

Mercer, the butler, who was in the hall by that time 
and opened the front door to let Mrs. Greeneadge and Mr. 
Legge-Bright out, overheard her say:

“You must not take any notice of Edward, Ralph. His 
bark is worse than his bite. He is getting old, you know, 
and he has a lot to put up with.”

“Not half so much as I have,” Mr. Legge-Bright retorted. 
“The old devil! I wish some of those murdering Irish 
would put a bullet into him by mistake.”

This I must tell you was a reference to certain Irish 
roughs who were supposed to be haunting the neighbour­
hood with a view to shooting a highly unpopular ex-Irish 
Secretary, who had recently bought a property close by.

When Mercer went back to his master in the morning­
room he found him in a state of great agitation. He was 
pacing up and down the room, muttering to himself; Emma 
Tozer, who had been busy dusting the dining-room, de­
clared that just before Mercer came in Mr. Greeneadge had
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burst into tears like a child, and cried out some such words 
as: “Intolerable! I can’t—I can’t------”

It seemed as if in recent years his whole nature had 
changed. He had become silent and morose in the ex­
treme, and would fly into a rage at the slightest provocation, 
or else fall into fits of terrible depression.

However, on this occasion he appeared to be more calm 
as the day wore on. Mrs. Greeneadge came home in time 
for lunch and chatted away quite pleasantly, in spite of the 
fact that her husband was rather taciturn and only answered 
her in monosyllables.

Of course, people may say what they like, and material­
ists may scoff: I am only an old-fashioned fellow and some­
thing of a fatalist. I think I have seen too many dramas 
and tragedies in human life not to ascribe to Fate—sheer, 
blind Fate—her just share in the ordaining of our destinies. 
Now take this Mitre Court case: wasn’t it just a blind Fate 
that decreed that on this very day after the more than 
usually bitter quarrel between Mr. Greeneadge and his 
nephew, Mercer, the butler, should slip on the stairs with a 
heavy tray and hurt his hip? If that accident hadn’t hap­
pened, if Mercer had been about as usual, the terrible 
tragedy which cast its black pall over the pretty Queen 
Anne house and nearly brought an innocent man to the 
gallows would never have occurred, simply because Mercer 
would in the usual order of things have answered the front 
door bell. But, as it happened, Mercer did fall on the stairs 
and hurt his hip, and therefore could not answer the front 
door bell because he had to go to bed. In consequence of 
all this, Emma Tozer, the housemaid, had to bring in tea; 
she also had to put up the shutters and bolt and bar the 
back door.

She sounded the dinner-gong a quarter of an hour later 
than usual, and then only on being peremptorily ordered



A SHOT IN THE NIGHT 257
to do so by Mr. Greeneadge. She meekly suggested to him 
that Mr. Legge-Bright had not come in yet, and should cook 
keep something hot for him. But Mr. Greeneadge replied 
quite roughly:

“Certainly not. If Mr. Legge-Bright chooses to be late 
for dinner, he can go without.”

Mrs. Greeneadge was just coming downstairs at the mo­
ment and, as usual, she poured oil on the troubled waters.

“It is all right, Emma,” she said. “Mr. Legge-Bright is 
sure to be in directly. Just serve dinner, will you?”

But Mr. Legge-Bright was not in directly, and the dinner 
proceeded in silence on the part of Mr. Greeneadge, and in 
an effort at conversation on that of his wife.

Emma Tozer cleared away the dinner things. When 
she finally took away the coffee tray, Mrs. Greeneadge said 
to her:

“Don’t trouble about the front door, Emma; I’ll let Mr. 
Legge-Bright in when he comes.”

At ten o’clock the three servants went to bed. Mr. Legge- 
Bright had not yet come in. Cook, it seems, was rung for 
by her mistress at about 9.30, and just as she was coming 
through the door from the annexe into the front hall, Mrs. 
Greeneadge came out of the morning-room, and cook heard 
Mr. Greeneadge’s voice saying very loudly and determinedly:

“He can sleep out in the ha-ha for aught I care.”
Well! you know what a pusillanimous lot female ser­

vants usually are, especially country servants. It did not, 
therefore, surprise even the police or the coroner when 
those three at Mitre Court—cook, housemaid, and kitchen- 
maid—made no attempt to move out of their rooms when 
shortly before eleven o’clock that night they heard a ring 
at the front door, and this preliminary ring followed by 
more ringing, banging, knocking, and repeated shouting. It 
was very obviously Mr. Legge-Bright wanting to get in. Mr.

•‘.Skin о’ тпу Tooth" 17 
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and Mrs. Greeneadge had gone up to bed about half an 
hour before then, all lights were out, windows, shutters, and 
doors barred and bolted for the night. Incidentally it had 
started to rain about this time, and rather heavily.

The noise at the front door went on for about five or 
ten minutes, the dogs barking all the time, so that there 
was really a din, as the servants said, fit to wake the dead. 
Poor old Mercer was the only one who tried to get up, but 
he was so bruised and stiff that he could not manage for a 
long time to get his trousers on, and by the time he had 
succeeded in that necessary operation the noise had ceased, 
and he concluded that Mr. Greeneadge had come down 
ultimately and let Mr. Legge-Bright in. Mercer was glad 
enough then to crawl back to bed. I must tell you that 
the chauffeur did not sleep in the house; he lodged in a 
cottage at the top of the road, about half a mile away.

Up to this point, then, the inmates of Mitre Court agreed 
as to the sequence of events on that memorable night, as 
well as on the exact time when they occurred, but, after 
this, evidence became somewhat more vague and certainly 
conflicting. Emma Tozer, the housemaid, whose bedroom 
window gave on the back of the house, said that some little 
time after the noise at the front door had subsided, she 
heard a final bang louder than the rest, but from whence 
this came she couldn’t say. She thought at the time that 
it came from a burst tyre in the road, and certainly not 
from the neighbourhood of the back door, which was not 
very far from her bedroom window. The girl admitted 
that she had been far too frightened all along to attempt 
to go and open the door to Mr. Legge-Bright; she was quite 
sure that Mr. and Mrs. Greeneadge had heard the noise, 
and if neither of them got up to let their guest in, it was 
obviously not her (Emma’s) place to do so, after the orders 
which she had received.
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So finally, the noise having subsided, she turned over 
and went to sleep. Hardly had she dozed off, however, 
when she was awakened once more, this time by what she 
distinctly recognised as the sharp report of a gun, not far 
from her bedroom window. The report was followed by 
absolute silence save for the patter of the rain. The sound 
also aroused her room-mate, the young kitchenmaid, who, 
it seems, had gone fast asleep after the noise at the front 
door had subsided, and had heard nothing at all until the 
sound of the gun wakened her. Mercer hád been in too 
much pain to notice anything at first beyond the intermittent 
banging and knocking. As a matter of fact, neither he nor 
Mrs. Dickon, the cook, whose rooms were in the front of 
the house, heard any sound at all except the report of the 
gun.

After that all four servants seemed to have cowered in 
their beds like so many scared rabbits until Mrs. Greeneadge 
came running into cook’s room. She was in her dressing- 
gown and slippers and had a small electric torch in her 
hand.

“Dickon, Dickon,” she called in a terrified voice, “do 
come. Mercer can’t move, and I am sure something awful 
has happened.”

Mrs. Dickon jumped out of bed and quickly slipped on 
some clothes. Her mistress appeared terrified, as white as 
a sheet, panting, and her teeth chattering; she seemed hardly 
able to stand, and pressed her hand against her heart (her 
chest, Mrs. Dickon called it), as if she couldn’t get her 
breath.

“Oh? I am so frightened, Dickon,” she kept on mur­
muring. “I am so frightened. Mr. Greeneadge was so 
angry and . . . . Oh! I am so frightened!”

Dickon caught hold of her by the elbow and led her 
through the hall and into the morning-room. On entering 

17* 



2 бо SKIN О’ MY TOOTH”

the morning-room she switched on the electric light, but 
Mrs. Greeneadge at once switched it off again.

“We shouldn’t be able to see,” she said under her 
breath.

“What ’m?” Dickon asked stolidly.
Mrs. Greenèadge did not reply, only pointed to the 

back door. It was wide open. Dickon took the electric 
torch and went to the door. It was still raining very 
heavily. To use her own words, her knees were shaking 
so that she could hardly move, and she felt sick and faint. 
Nevertheless, she went on and turned the light of the torch 
upon the step, where she had caught sight of a dark, hud­
dled mass. Then she gave an awful cry and all but fell 
down in a faint, for there, lying half in the path and half 
over the step, with the rain streaming down upon it, was 
the body of Mr. Greeneadge, face downwards, hatless, his 
arms outspread, his overcoat, soaked through with wet and 
mud, lying partly over him and partly over the path.

“Is he dead, ’m?” Dickon asked, terrified.
And Mrs. Greeneadge nodded in silence. Dickon turned 

away, sick and faint, and all she could do was to hurry 
back to Mrs. Greeneadge’s side, for the latter had evidently 
reached the end of her tether; she just gave one long sigh 
and fell in a dead faint on the floor.

Imagine those three female servants after that. It must 
be admitted that the situation was so awful that it would 
have scared hardier natures than theirs. In their own 
stupid parlance, they would sooner have died than lift that 
inert and huddled mass from the doorstep, and thus ascer­
tain at least whether their unfortunate master was dead or 
no. You know what women are: Either they surpass in 
coolness or heroism anything any man can do, or—if they 
happen to be cowards—then their cowardice is almost un­
believable. My experience is that in all emotions and all 
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weaknesses, in all virtues and in all vices, women invariably 
outdo the men.

But this is beside the point.
In this case the cook, Mrs. Dickon, had just sufficient 

sense to get the other two servants out of bed, and, after 
they had carried Mrs. Greeneadge upstairs and laid her on 
her bed, to send the two girls together over to the cottage 
where the chauffeur lodged, with orders to come along im­
mediately. This took some persuasion, too, I imagine. But 
anyway, Emma Tozer and the kitchenmaid went off, and 
Dickon sat down to watch over her mistress.

Nothing happened for the next quarter of an hour ex­
cept that Mrs. Greeneadge came to. Then the chauffeur, 
Frank Barker, turned up with the two girls, who already 
had given him a highly coloured account of what had 
occurred. The first thing he did was to telephone to the 
police, which, of course, should have been done before; 
then he had a look at his master’s body, turned him over, 
and tried to lift him. He gave it as his opinion that Mr. 
Greeneadge was indeed dead. He had a wound in the 
chest, in the region of the heart, his shirt-front, waistcoat, 
and underclothes were saturated with blood. The three 
women, huddled one against the other, did not dare to 
look. After that the party adjourned to Mercer’s room, 
there to talk over the events of this night.

Barker’s presence in the house seemed to have spread 
an atmosphere of comparative calm over the household. 
He had seen all sorts of terrible sights during the war, 
and whilst everyone waited anxiously for the arrival of the 
police he regaled them with stories, which, though terrifying 
in themselves, helped to pass away the time.

Upstairs, Mrs. Greeneadge lay on her bed like a log, 
moving her head upon the pillow from side to side, and 
moaning piteously.
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III

; ■: .The Mitre .Court tragedy was, of course, seized upon 
as a titbit by all the sensation brokers in the country; but 
at .first little, if anything, leaked out beyond the bare facts; 
and to the public the story was one of a quarrel between 
two men for a motive that was variously put down as 
jealousy or else of a financial nature, a quarrel which cul­
minated in a cold-blooded murder.

The police were naturally very reticent, as the person­
ages involved were not of the class usually associated with 
a crime of that sort. The Greeneadges were well-known 
people, and Mr. Legge-Bright, on whom suspicion imme­
diately fastened, had, on the very day preceding the tragedy, 
been a guest at a shooting-party given by one of the chief 
magnates of the county. That suspicion had fastened on 
Mr. Legge-Bright could not be denied. His enmity with 
his uncle was well-known throughout the neighbourhood, 
and many friends before now had been at pains to under­
stand how he could have continued to accept the hospitality 
of a man for whose death he had so often and so openly 
longed. The ladies over their tea-tables, and the men at 
the County Club, soon came to the conclusion that Mrs. 
Greeneadge had all along been the attraction which brought 
Legge-Bright so frequently to his uncle’s house.

“See,”, they argued, “how she always threw herself in 
the breach and poured oil over troubled waters. She would 
not allow a deadly quarrel between the two men because 
she wanted Legge-Bright to continue his visits to the 
house.”

Questioned by the police, she did her very best to 
shield the young man in every way she could; so much 
so, in fact, that at one time she was warned by the chief 
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inspector in charge of the case, because of a statement 
which she had made and which was subsequently dis­
proved.

In the meanwhile it had transpired that the business in 
which Mr. Legge-Bright was engaged, and which he had 
acquired from his uncle under what had seemed very easy 
terms at the time, was far from prosperous. As a matter 
of fact, for the past two years it had been run at a loss, 
owing to the heavy annuity which he had to pay to Mr. 
Greeneadge. The latter had on several occasions been 
asked to make a fresh arrangement with regard to the 
business, but had invariably and categorically refused. There 
was more than one business friend who was able to testify 
that the annuity had been openly discussed between uncle 
and nephew, and there was one friend in particular—a 
Mr. Hurd-Smith—who had been asked to mediate with a 
view to obtaining a modification of the original agreement, 
but Mr. Greeneadge’s final word on the subject was in­
variably this:

“If properly managed, the business should bring in a 
clear profit of £3,000 a year. I made it yield me that 
amount when I was at the head of it; but then, I neither 
drank, nor gambled, nor spent my nights at a night club. 
I worked. We all worked in those days. One thousand 
five hundred pounds a year was the sum we agreed on 
when I sold the business. To accept less would be hor­
ribly unfair on my wife. She would have to modify her 
style of life; we should have to give up Mitre Court. I 
have just taken out a life insurance policy and have a 
heavy premium to pay on that; but I had to do it because 
I can’t tell from one day to the other whether that young 
wastrel won’t ruin the business altogether, once I am under­
ground and no longer there to pull it out of the slough if 
need be. No! Most emphatically no! I don’t see why I 
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should be called upon to make sacrifices in order to enable 
my nephew to cut a jaunty figure in society.”

This conversation occurred less than a year before the 
tragedy. Mr. Greeneadge was, of course, an old man by 
this time, who did not even attempt to understand post-war 
conditions in trade, and no doubt he held the firm belief 
that his nephew was perfectly able to pay him the annuity 
out of the business: and all Legge-Bright’s protests to the 
contrary only had the effect of irritating him and bringing 
on further bitter quarrels between the two men.

This and other matters then became gradually known 
to the public; newspaper men have a wonderful way of 
ferreting out such things. Two days before the inquest, for 
instance, it was known that Mr. Greeneadge had been shot 
in the breast at close range, with a revolver which hap­
pened to be his own property. It was found lying in the 
road the other side of the boundary wall, which in itself 
was over forty yards from the back of the house where the 
body lay. The shot had pierced the heart through and 
through. Death must have been practically instantaneous. 
The unfortunate man was fully dressed, in the smoking 
suit and dress shoes which he had been wearing for dinner; 
his overcoat he had evidently just thrown across his shoul­
ders when he went downstairs.

Thus the first day of the inquest revealed very little 
more than what the public and the newspaper men already 
knew. The police asked for an adjournment pending further 
investigations. Interest by now had, of course, centred 
round the revolver. Medical as well as other scientific 
opinion was unanimous in declaring that suicide was out 
of the question. It would have been impossible for the 
deceased, after being hit in the way he was, to have had 
sufficient strength to walk forty yards to the boundary wall, 
fling the revolver out into the road, then walk forty yards 
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back again and fall down dead on the doorstep. The very 
idea of such a thing was preposterous. Everything, there­
fore, went to prove that the unfortunate man could not 
have committed suicide, and that he was shot by a person 
at present unknown, who, after firing off the revolver at 
close range, had made good his escape across the garden 
and over the boundary wall, and then thrown the revolver 
down in the road.

How, then, did the unfortunate man’s own revolver 
come into the hands of the murderer? The servants at 
Mitre Court—both indoor and outdoor—had told the 
police that Mr. Legge-Bright prided himself on being a 
first-class revolver shot. He had persuaded Adams, the 
gardener, to help him set up a miniature range at the 
bottom of the six-acre field, and not only would he spend 
a great deal of his time at revolver practice when he stayed 
at Mitre Court, but he persuaded Mrs. Greeneadge to join 
him, and every now and then she would go down with 
him to the miniature range and try her hand at revolver 
shooting.

Now, on the day preceding the tragedy, right up to 
the very hour when it occurred, Mr. Legge-Bright had not 
been inside Mitre Court. He had gone off in the car in 
the morning for a day’s shooting at Gaunters. The ques­
tion, then, was: Had he put his uncle’s revolver in his 
pocket before starting? It was certainly not very likely. A 
man does not usually carry a revolver about with him 
when asked to a shooting-party.

Mrs. Greeneadge, who had driven Mr. Legge-Bright over 
to Gaunters in the car, declared emphatically that he had 
no revolver with him, only his gun. When she was asked 
how she could possibly know that, seeing that if Mr. Legge- 
Bright did have a revolver with him, he would have had it 
in his pocket, she was forced to admit that she had no 
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real means of knowing. This, in fact, was the occasion on 
which the chief inspector had to warn her to be more, 
careful in what she said; and this was because the butler, 
Mercer, had made a remarkable statement, proving that 
Mrs. Greeneadge had, at any rate, some doubt whether Mr. 
Legge-Bright did take the revolver with him that morning 
or not. It was soon after luncheon and just before Mercer 
met with his accident; he was crossing the hall with a tray 
laden with silver and glass when Mrs. Greeneadge called 
to him from upstairs.

“Mercer,” she said, “have you seen your master’s re­
volver anywhere?”

Mercer had not, and Mrs. Greeneadge went on:
“You don’t know by any chance if Mr. Legge-Bright 

took it with him this morning?”
“No, ’m; I do not,” Mercer had replied.
A moment or. two after that he had slipped with the 

tray in his hands, and the incident which he now related 
had escaped his memory until he was questioned by the 
police. He said that the revolver in question was the one 
which Mr. Legge-Bright habitually used for practice, and it 
was usually kept in the drawer of a bureau in the hall. 
Mercer understood from Mrs. Greeneadge, though he could 
not quote her exact words, that she wanted to have her 
practice at the miniature range that afternoon, and he was 
under the impression that she could not find the revolver 
and did not therefore get her practice.

Mrs. Greeneadge, now seriously warned, was bound to 
admit the truth of the incident as related by Mercer. She 
remembered now quite well that she did want to practice 
at the range that day, but had to give up the idea because 
she could not find the revolver.

There were one or two more incidents, some of them 
trifling in themselves, which also came to light during the 
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course of the inquest. For one thing it was demonstrated 
that two shots had been fired from the revolver, although 
one only had caused the death of Mr. Greeneadge. This, 
in view of the fact that the weapon was constantly in use 
for target practice, would have meant little, but for Emma 
Tozer’s story of the loud bang which she had put down to 
a burst tyre, and which, according to her, occurred some 
little time before she heard the report of the gun at the 
back door. Also, there was some story of Mr. Legge-Bright 
having promised to give a display of his prowess with the 
revolver on a very fine range which Lord Westerham had 
set up at Gaunters, on the very day that he, Legge-Bright, 
went there for the shooting, but for some reason this dis­
play did not come off. Two of his fellow-guests at the 
shooting party told this story to the coroner, and they were 
closely questioned as to whether the question of Mr. Legge- 
Bright having his own revolver with him or not had cropped 
up, but both of them refused to swear one way or the 
other.

But you see, don’t you, how a net was being gradually 
tightened round the unfortunate man. The police had, 
very naturally perhaps, quite made up their minds that he 
did slip his uncle’s revolver into his pocket that morning 
before going to Gaunters, with the idea of giving a display 
of his prowess on the range there as he had promised to 
do. With that same revolver and on that same evening he 
killed his uncle in an access of rage, provoked, no doubt, 
by being refused admittance into the house, and also per­
haps by rough and insulting words spoken by Mr. Greene­
adge when the latter finally went to speak to him at the 
back door.

Everything, the police argued, pointed to him as the 
murderer; never had circumstantial evidence led more con­
clusively to one man, and only one as the author of a 
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crime. Mr. Greeneadge had no other enemy in the world; 
his private life had been raked through and through, and 
no other human being was discovered who could possibly 
have wished him ill, or wrho could have benefited by his 
death. Though he certainly had become dreadfully morose 
and ill-tempered of late, he was on the best of terms with 
his wife; his servants did not mind his sullen ways, and 
the people of the neighbouring village had nothing much to 
do with him. The only person in the world who wished 
him ill, and that for obvious reasons, was his nephew, 
Ralph Legge-Bright. The business was being carried on 
at a loss entirely owing to the huge annuity which had to 
be paid to Mr. Greeneadge, and the latter had obstinately 
and persistently refused to make any modification in the 
original agreement. The quarrels between the two men 
had often been of a violent character. Legge-Bright had 
not only declared quite openly that the old man had lived 
too long, and that he wished to see him in his grave, but 
he had more than once gone so far as to use threats, 
whilst on the night of the tragedy he certainly had been 
subjected to grave provocation. It seems that at about 
half-past eleven he had turned up at the Wheatsheaf, the 
local public-house up the road, und had roused the land­
lord, asking for lodging for the night. He was well known 
in the neighbourhood, and was, of course, admitted, but 
the landlord said afterwards to his wife that: “Mr. Legge- 
Bright, he don’t seem like hisself. Too much drink, that’s 
what’s the matter with him. I wouldn’t give him no more. 
My licence, I says, won’t allow me. But, Lor’, he nearly 
went for me ’cos I said that.” I don’t think I need record 
any other detail in connection with the inquest, which 
dragged on its weary course for several days. But in the 
meanwhile the police had already applied for a warrant 
against Ralph Legge-Bright, and he was brought before 
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the county magistrates charged with the murder of Edward 
Greeneadge by shooting him with a revolver.

Legge-Bright at once sent for Skin o’ my Tooth, who 
had done some business for him before this; he, of course, 
advised the young man to plead “Not Guilty,” and to re­
serve his defence. Legge-Bright was then committed for 
trial at the next assizes, and as Skin o’ my Tooth im­
mediately remarked with his accustomed flippancy, “The 
fun was then ready to begin.”

IV

I don’t know whether I have sufficiently impressed upon 
you the fact of Skin o’ my Tooth’s extraordinary intuition 
and, of what was more remarkable still, his belief in his 
own unerring powers. The moment he had, as it were, his 
client’s very soul stripped naked before him, and was con­
vinced of his innocence, his mind fastened on the salient 
facts of the crime and within twenty-four hours he had the 
whole tragedy before his mental vision. He saw every phase 
of it, and concentrated on proving what he knew to be the 
truth.

Thus it was with this case. After half an hour with 
Legge-Bright, and a day spent in questioning Mrs. Greeneadge 
and the servants at Mitre Court, he knew exactly what had 
happened on that tragic night. The actors in the drama 
moved before his mental gaze like puppets ordered by him 
to bear their parts. But the question was to prove it. I 
must tell you that as soon as the police were called in at 
Mitre Court they took possession of the place—that is to 
say, those portions of the house which the deceased must have 
traversed when he went to meet his death. His own room, 
with everything untouched and left just as it had been that 
night, was locked, as was also the morning-room. No one
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was allowed access to the back door, where, unfortunately, 
footprints had been eradicated by the rain, almost as soon 
as made. The servants were permanently relegated to the 
annexe and not allowed to come into the house. Mrs. 
Greeneadge had left the morning following the tragedy 
and was staying with a sister in London.

Never shall I forget my first impression of that house, 
when I accompanied my chief there on his first turn of in­
spection. The Assistant Commissioner, Mr. Alverson, of 
Scotland Yard, who was Mr. Mulligan’s intimate friend, was 
with us, and the three of us wandered through the deserted 
rooms, which I declare had an odour about them as of the 
grave. Skin o’ my Tooth had already propounded his 
theory to Mr. Alverson, and what he did now was to point 
out to his friend and to me all the facts which tended to 
prove his assertions.

He led us first of all to the late Mr. Greeneadge’s 
bedroom. It was perfectly tidy; the bed had not been slept 
in; it was neatly turned down as any well-trained house­
maid would leave it, with the pyjamas laid tidily upon it, 
and on one of the chairs the dressing-gown was carefully 
laid, and below it the bedroom slippers. On a chest of 
drawers in one corner of the room the police had laid out 
the clothes which the unfortunate man had been wearing 
on the fatal night; the dress suit, shirt, underclothes, over­
coat, and so on, all terribly soiled, then the socks and shoes, 
as well as a pair of walking shoes, which Mr. Alverson ex­
plained were lying in the room when the police were called 
in, and which were picked up by the chief inspector and 
submitted to close examination. The shoes were the pro­
perty of the deceased; Mercer had testified to that. A con­
siderable amount of mud clung to them, and this was 
analysed by the great expert, Mr. A. E. Marshall, and pro­
nounced to be composed of the same elements as the soil
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in the garden of Mitre Court. Mercer had put forth the 
theory that probably Mr. Greeneadge had gone out into the 
garden either before or after dinner; he did go out like 
that sometimes, it seems, “to have a look round,” and, as 
it was raining, had slipped off his dress shoes and put on 
some thicker ones, and then changed back into his dress 
shoes again for dinner. As this really seemed the only 
possible explanation, it had, perforce, to be accepted.

“Why should we accept it, my friend?” Skin o’ my 
Tooth queried blandly in response to Mr. Alverson’s ex­
planation.

“Simply because there is no other,” Mr. Alverson re­
torted. “They are the late Mr. Greeneadge’s shoes. He 
must have had them on that evening, as they were thrown 
down under the foot of the bed, just as a man would throw 
his shoes down if he was in a hurry to change.”

“And do you mean to tell me that the careful house­
maid who laid out her master’s pyjamas and dressing-gown 
with such meticulous care, would have left a pair of dirty 
shoes in the room?” Skin 0’ my Tooth rejoined with slow 
emphasis.

“They may not have been there when she tidied the 
room.”

“She said in evidence that she tidied her master’s room 
just before she went up to bed at ten o’clock. The shoes 
were not there then. The wretched man would hardly have 
gone out after that hour just to have a look round in the 
pouring rain.”

“But, hang it all, man, the man did wear his shoes 
and did go out in them------ ”

“Who says that he wore his shoes and went out in 
them?”

“But------ ”
“Someone wore his shoes—someone went out in them,”
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Skin o’ my Tooth went on quietly, “which is quite another 
proposition.”

“But who could------ ?”
“Why not his wife?”
Mr. Alverson gave a gasp. For a moment or two his 

face expressed a kind of blank amazement; then gradually 
I could see his air of puzzlement yield to one of under­
standing, then of incredulity:

“Are you accusing that young Mrs. Greeneadge of hav­
ing murdered her husband?” he exclaimed indignantly.

“Not I,” Skin 0’ my Tooth replied blandly. “I merely 
accuse her of having worn her husband’s shoes and walked 
about in them for a time in the rain.”

“But with what object, in Heaven’s name?”
“To realise the sum of £10,000 on her husband’s life 

insurance policy, which I am afraid, however, the insurance 
company will, after my defence of Legge-Bright, refuse to 
pay her.”

Mr. Alverson looked more puzzled than ever.
“Then you think that------ ?”
“I don’t think, my friend,” Skin 0’ my Tooth broke in 

gently; “I know.”
“What?”
“Simply that old Greeneadge shot himself in this very 

room; and that the bang which Emma Tozer put down to 
a burst tyre in the road was nothing but the shot which 
ended this poor old chap’s life. Remember, my good man, 
that Greeneadge had nothing to live for. The business out 
of which he derived his annuity was going to the dogs, and 
his wife’s affection had gradually been alienated from him. 
It’s no wonder to me that on this night, when so many 
things had already occurred to upset him, he finally decided 
to put an end to everything.”
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“But,” Mr. Alverson argued, “how do you construct 
Mrs. Greeneadge’s rôle in all this?”

“Into the one overwhelming desire,” my chief replied, 
“to make her husband’s death appear as murder, instead 
of suicide.”

“But why?”
“Because the old man had insured his life for £10,000 

less than a year ago, and, as you know, the insurance com­
pany would in the event of a verdict of ‘suicide’ refuse to 
pay Mrs. Greeneadge the money. And remember that that 
£10,000, except for a small sum which had in the course 
of years been put by for her benefit, was all the money she 
could look forward to in the world. The poor old buffer 
didn’t, I suppose, think of that in his despair, or, if he did, 
perhaps he dismissed the thought. But she thought of it 
all right, and that is why she acted as she did. I don’t 
know if Legge-Bright cared enough about her to think of 
marriage, but, anyway, with his business entirely ruined, he 
hadn’t much to bless himself with. You don’t suppose for 
a moment, do you, that she did not hear the shindy which 
Legge-Bright was kicking up at the front door? and haven’t 
we been told by every witness that she was always ready 
to pour oil on the troubled waters and smooth down the 
tempers of both men? Don’t you think that, hearing the 
noise, she would naturally get out of bed, ready to let the 
belated guest in, if her husband wouldn’t do it?”

“Then why didn’t she let him in?”
“Simply because Greeneadge proved to be more ob­

stinate, more violent, stronger, too, this time, both morally 
and physically, to enforce his will than before. Legge-Bright 
should not be allowed inside the house. But who can tell 
exactly what passed between husband and wife, while 
Legge-Bright cursed and swore and hammered away at the 
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doors? What quarrel, what argument, what taunt, brought 
about the final tragedy? But the tragedy had been pre­
meditated by Greeneadge; the revolver which usually rested 
in a drawer of the bureau in the hall was in his own desk 
throughout the day, while he pondered, and thought, and 
brooded over the wreckage of his life. Then maddened no 
doubt by something she said, by thought of that man who 
had robbed him of his wife’s affection as well as of his 
fortune, he suddenly took up the revolver and shot himself 
then and there in the region of the heart. Can you see 
the wretched woman now? Aghast! terrified! pausing for 
one minute only to ascertain if indeed her husband was 
dead? forgetting for the moment the very cause of all this 
trouble—Legge-Bright—who tired of banging on the doors 
had at last made up his mind to go off and spend the 
night at the Wheatsheaf.

“I can see her wondering—and thinking—then gradu­
ally, self-interest overcoming fear and horror, realising that 
in consequence of this suicide she would lose the £10,000 
which stood between her and penury. And her cool, cal­
culating mind at once set to work to solve this puzzle; how 
to give the tragedy the appearance of murder. This meant 
first of all the clearing away of any trace of blood that 
might appear on carpet or furniture; fortunately for the 
woman’s scheme the shot fired at such short range had 
caused a wound which had soiled the poor man’s clothes, 
but no more. Then the body! and here we must remem­
ber that we have no ordinary woman to deal with, but an 
athlete, a person of great physical strength and fitness. For 
a woman like that to wrap the man’s overcoat around his 
body so as to avoid any possible stain on her own clothes, 
and then to carry the body down a flight of steps and 
across a room was easy enough. I can see her in my mind, 
carrying her gruesome burden, afraid only of one thing, 
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that one or other of the servants might venture out as far 
as the hall—and see her.

“Luck and the cowardice of the servants favoured her. 
She reached the back door unseen, and was able to lay the 
body face downwards on the step with the overcoat lying 
half across it. But there was still the revolver to negotiate. 
Let it be found as far removed from the body as was pos­
sible with the resources at her command; but for this her 
own footsteps must not betray her; the rain might obliterate 
them, but it was best to be on the safe side. So she ran 
upstairs once more, picked up the revolver, and then had 
the presence of mind to slip on a pair of her husband’s 
shoes over her own slippers, before she ran down again 
ready for her task. Mind you,” Skin o’ my Tooth went on, 
“I will do the woman the justice to say that she had prob­
ably forgotten for the moment all about Legge-Bright, and 
the possibility of any suspicion fastening upon him. All that 
was in her mind was the idea of her husband’s death ap­
pearing as an accident or a murder, instead of a suicide. 
The revolver, as you know, she flung over the wall into the 
road, and then she slipped back into her room to throw a 
last look around for any possible trace of the tragedy, and 
incidentally to wash her hands and face. When all and 
every trace had been obliterated she finally went and roused 
the servants—and you know the rest.

“That is the line of defence I am going to work on, on 
behalf of my client, who, of course, is innocent of the 
murder. I don’t think that I am much mistaken in my 
belief that Mrs. Greeneadge at this hour would give much 
to undo the mischief which she has done. Remember that 
she has done everything in her power to combat the sus­
picions which she feels may presently bring the wretched 
Legge-Bright to the gallows. Short of an actual confession, 
she has been prepared to swear to anything that would 

18* 
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exonerate him. She is the chief witness for the Crown, but 
we have briefed Sir Philip Scott-Daimler for the defence, 
and I think you will find that Mrs. Greeneadge will break 
down under cross-examination.”

She did. Skin o’ my Tooth was right, as usual. Sir 
Philip Scott-Daimler accepted his theory and worked upon 
it with all the skill which has rendered him famous at the 
Criminal Bar. His cross-examination of the poor woman 
was masterly. Frankly, I was sorry for her. Her full con­
fession created an unparalleled sensation; and no wonder, 
for, misdirected though they were, the resourcefulness and 
courage which she had displayed on that fatal night in 
order to carry through her idea were nothing short of mar­
vellous.

As Skin o’ my Tooth had guessed, that idea did come 
to her almost as soon as she realised that her husband had 
indeed committed suicide, as he had more than once, it 
seems, threatened to do. She was herself reduced to penury 
through his death, and as in a flash the thought came to 
her to give it the semblance of accident, perhaps, or else 
murder. There had been talk, she remembered, of those 
Irish roughs who were known to haunt the neighbourhood. 
They might have come to the door------ Why not? . . .
Mr. Greeneadge may have picked up his revolver before he 
went down to meet them. . . . There might have been a 
scuffle, during which the weapon was wrenched out of his 
hand and turned against him by one of the gang. . . . 
Again, why not? . . .

With this in mind, she lifted her husband’s body and 
carried him downstairs and deposited him on the steps of the 
back door, just as Skin o’ my Tooth had conjectured. With 
the same strength of purpose she flung the revolver over 
the wall into the road, having taken the precaution of slip­
ping her husband’s shoes over her own. We must think of 
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mination, as well as of great physical strength, or she never 
could have gone on with the tragi-comedy. When you think 
that after she had disposed of the revolver and returned to 
the back door, and stepped over her husband’s dead body 
in order to re-enter the house, she had the presence of 
mind to take off the tell-tale shoes before she entered the 
morning-room, then to run upstairs and place the shoes 
neatly under the bed, run down again, call Mrs. Dickson, 
and play her rôle as she did, you will agree with me that 
there was an exceptional woman.

One thing only was decidedly in favour of her plan: 
she was practically sure that no one would see her. Mercer 
was helpless in bed; the female servants would certainly not 
get out of theirs, unless actually summoned, and, their 
rooms being in the annexe, very little noise, if any, would 
penetrate through the thick walls that separated them from 
the house.

She was, of course, right in her surmise. The cause of 
death appeared so obvious that it was practically never 
questioned, and she would have been quite safe on that 
score but for the fact that suspicion had fastened on Legge- 
Bright, and that the latter happened to have turned for legal 
advice to Skin o’ my Tooth.

What the poor woman would have endured, or how she 
would have acted if án innocent man had actually been 
condemned to the gallows, it is impossible to say. She was 
certainly a remarkable woman in many ways, with a mind 
as athletic as her body.

And all that for so little! Ten thousand pounds insurance 
money ! But there are any number of instances in the annals 
of crime w'hen a criminal will risk the gallows or a life 
sentence for a five-pound note.
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XII. THE HUNGARIAN LANDOWNER

I

It all began with the visit to our office of a high per­
sonage closely connected with the Imperial Family of Austria, 
whose name I am not at liberty to mention, but to whom I 
will, with your permission, refer as the Archduke.

He had come to consult Skin 0’ my Tooth about a very 
delicate affair, which would require great tact and discre­
tion, and had done this on the recommendation of Sir 
Henry de Momerie, who had at one time been British 
Military Attache at the Court of Vienna. Before embarking 
on the main portion of his story, our exalted client threw 
a quick glance about him; his eyes, I could see, rested for 
one second upon the heavy curtain behind which I was in­
stalled.

“We are alone, of course, Mr. Mulligan?”
“Of course,” my chief replied unblushingly.
The conversation, I must tell you, was carried on in 

German, a language with which I am familiar, though I do 
not speak it fluently. My chief, I must tell you, speaks it 
like a native. Indeed, his linguistic powers are nothing 
short of marvellous. Not only does he speak French, 
German, and Italian as easily as he does English, but in 
the course of his world wanderings he has acquired a 
smattering of half a dozen more or less exotic languages. 
I know, for instance, that he has a fair knowledge of Japa­
nese, that he speaks both Spanish and Russian, and I once 
heard him carry on an animated conversation with an 
Hungarian.

“I must begin by telling you, Mr. Mulligan,” the Arch­
duke resumed after a while, “that before the war I had in 
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my service a family of highly respected and devoted 
Hungarians named Várlay. There was an oldish man who 
was my chief gamekeeper, his nephew, whom he had 
adopted and who was my personal body servant, and his 
daughter, who was beautiful, modest, and charming in the 
extreme; so much so, in fact, that I as a young man fell 
desperately in love with her. Had I not been hedged in 
with family traditions which I could not override, I would 
gladly have married her. But this I could not do without 
the consent of my cousin, who was the head of our family, 
and a regular autocratic tartar; failing his consent, I should 
have been forced to renounce my titles and dignities and 
quite a large portion of my estates. Katinka—that was her 
name, sir—was, on the other hand, too proud to accept 
any other position in my house but that of my lawful wife. 
Well, sir, I could not very well quarrel with my family then 
—it was during the first stages of the war—and Katinka 
would not put her pride in her pocket. I suppose you 
would argue from this that there could not have been much 
love on either side, but that is as it may be. Anyway, I 
felt that I could no longer keep the Várlay family in my 
employ, nor would they have cared to remain; but I still 
entertained a great deal of esteem for them and deep affec­
tion for Katinka. With a view to compensating them col­
lectively for the trouble brought upon them by our un­
fortunate love affair, and also with a view to providing for 
Katinka with a handsome dowry in the years that were to 
come, I presented old Várlay with a small property which 
I owned in Southern Hungary. To a Hungarian of any 
class, from the highest to the lowest, the ownership of 
land is the Ultima Thule of ambition. The Várlays there­
fore left my senice comparatively happy and thoroughly 
satisfied.”

The Archduke paused one moment, and I was glad of 
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a breather. Of course, I am only giving you the gist of 
what he said, my knowledge of German not being sufficient 
to enable me to take shorthand notes.

“Two or three years went by,” the Imperial Highness 
went on, after he had satisfied himself that he still held 
Skin o’ my Tooth’s full attention. “There came the Ar­
mistice, the revolutions in the conquered countries; my family, 
as you know, fell on evil days. On the other hand, the Varlays 
had had nothing but luck. On the property which I had 
light-heartedly given them a rich oil-well had been dis­
covered. Old man Varlay was in a fair way of becoming 
a millionaire. His nephew had distinguished himself in the 
war, been severely wounded, and invalided home just before 
the revolution. In the winter of 1922 the old man took 
his daughter for a holiday on the Lido. Here they fell in 
with a man named von Wildemeer, who was cutting a great 
figure just then in the various Continental resorts, where 
wealth and aristocracy, and, I may add, adventurers of all 
nations congregate. Though of German descent, the man 
had a British passport, and had therefore presumably estab­
lished his British nationality. Well, Sir, to my horror and 
astonishment, I learned presently through the medium of 
the newspapers that my still-beloved Katinka had married 
this man, whom I already suspected of being an adventurer 
or worse. Whether she was coerced into the marriage or 
merely was influenced by pique, I know not. I had during 
the past few years made many attempts to get in touch 
with her once more; but she always refused to see me. 
Again, I cannot tell you whether this was due to her own 
choice or to coercion from her father.”

“And thus ended a perfect idyll,” my chief remarked 
with a sigh and a benign look directed at his distinguished 
visitor.

“Not altogether,” the Archduke rejoined. “My interest 
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in Katinka will only cease with my life. And now,” he 
continued, “I come to the main point of my story. About 
a month ago I happened to be in Budapest, and there I 
met Anton Varlay, the old man’s nephew, and therefore 
Katinka’s near relative. He had been in town some time, 
he told me, settling his affairs, as his uncle had recently 
died. I, of course, asked him news of Katinka; at once he 
appeared troubled. He had had a letter a day or two ago 
from Wildemeer, begging him to come over to England im­
mediately. Katinka, never very strong, had consulted a 
London specialist, who advised a serious operation. Von 
Wildemeer, distracted with grief, begged Anton to come at 
once so that Katinka should have someone of her own 
kindred near her, in case matters took on a fatal turn. 
Naturally,” the Archduke went on, “I pressed Anton with 
questions. He told me that von Wildemeer and his young 
wife were now permanently settled in England, and that he, 
Anton, had just been down to the Sleeping Car Company 
and booked his berth on the Paris-Calais express for the 
following day. We then took leave of one another, but not 
before I had made Várlay give me his word of honour that 
he would send me news of Katinka directly he arrived in 
England.”

“Well,” Skin o’ my Tooth asked, “and did he?”
“Not a word, sir,” the Archduke replied, “and I have 

been nearly mad with anxiety.”
“You wrote to him, I suppose, or telegraphed?”
“I didn’t know where to find him; London is a big 

place. But I did go to the length of wiring to the principal 
hotels, but in each case had the reply: ‘No one here of that 
name.’ ”

“But what about this man Wildemeer?”
“That’s just it, Mr. Mulligan,” the Archduke exclaimed.

“I want you to help me to find him.”
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“This Mr.—er—Várlay—is that the name? Didn’t he 
give you the man’s address?”

“No.”
“Or where he himself would be staying?”
“No.”
“Don’t you think that perhaps ‘no news may be good 

news’? He may have forgotten to write, or Mrs. Wildemeer 
may have stopped his doing so.”

“I nourished that hope for some time, Mr. Mulligan, 
although I knew Anton Várlay to be a man of his word; 
but I made tentative inquiries in the Bànàt, where his pro­
perty is situated, and found that neither his administrator, 
nor his lawyer, nor his bankers had heard a word from him 
from the moment he left Budapest a month ago.”

“Was it your idea, then, to come to England and look 
for your friend?”

“For him and for Katinka,” the Archduke replied re­
solutely. “I am convinced that there is some villainy afoot 
on the part of that scoundrel Wildemeer.”

“Does your Highness know much about him?” Skin 
o’ my Tooth queried blandly.

“I know,” the Archduke replied with a shrug, “that, 
far from being a man of wealth, he is just an adventurer, 
and was at one time, under various aliases, pretty well 
known to the police in Central Europe. I am certain that 
he only married my little Katinka because he thought 
that she was an heiress, and that her life must be a perfect 
hell now that he knows she is not.”

Again there was a pause. Skin o’ my Tooth, I could 
see, was pondering over what he had heard, and I, who 
knew every line of expression in that funny pink face of his, 
could also see that he was puzzled.

“Let me get this question of the property with the oil­
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well a little more clear,” he said presently. “It was left, 
you say, to your friend, who has disappeared?”

“To Anton Várlay. Yes.”
“By his uncle?”
“Yes.”
“Absolutely?”
“ Absolutely.”
“Why didn’t the old man leave it to his daughter? or 

at any rate leave her a reversion?”
“For the simple reason, sir, that his daughter had 

married a foreigner, and that a Hungarian of that class 
hates to see the land in the possession of any foreigner.”

“Very good,” Skin 0’ my Tooth assented with a nod, 
“in that case, as Mrs. Wildemeer has no interest in her re­
lative’s estate, her husband would have none either, and 
therefore one great motive for foul play is at once eli­
minated.”

“Yes, that is so,” the Archduke admitted. “And I will 
confess to you, sir, that this is the chief cause of my trouble. 
There seems no motive for foul play, and yet — I am 
sure------ ”

You should have seen Skin 0’ my Tooth at that mo­
ment, huddled up in his huge armchair, his black clothes 
sitting all anyhow on his unwieldy person, his face and 
hands shiny and pink, his eyes downcast, for all the world 
like an Early-Victorian maiden listening to her first pro­
posal. I could see a frown of impatience and disappoint­
ment gathering like a thundercloud on the Archduke’s brow.

“You will understand, Mr. Mulligan,” he said at last, 
“that it is impossible for me to go to the English police 
myself about this matter for a dozen reasons. Firstly, I do 
not wish for my family’s sake to have my name mixed up 
in an affair which will probably end in the criminal court; 
secondly------”
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“Pardon me,” Skin o’ my Tooth broke in blandly, with 
an elegant gesture of his podgy hand, “but I find your first 
reason such an excellent one that I need not trouble you 
with eleven more.”

Again the Archduke frowned. He didn’t like this fat, 
frowzy Irishman’s levity, and was, I am sure, half wishing 
he had not come. There was an awkward silence, and I 
could hear the tap-tap of an impatient foot on the worn 
linoleum. And then suddenly the whole atmosphere in the 
office appeared changed. The Archduke’s frown had van­
ished, his foot no longer tapped impatiently. With an en­
gaging gesture he held out his hand. “I can see that I 
may trust you, sir,” he said.

“You may bet your boots that you can,” Skin 0’ my 
Tooth replied as he shook the young man warmly by the 
hand.

And this change had come about just because Skin 0’ 
my Tooth had suddenly looked up and encountered his 
client’s puzzled glance. It was wonderful how much that 
man could convey just by one look.

The Archduke, I may tell you, went away full of hope 
and trust.

II

Tentative inquiries by the police elicited nothing of any 
value. True, it was established that a man armed with a 
Hungarian passport, on which he was described as Anton 
Varlay, landed proprietor, a native of Temesvàr in the 
Bànàt, and so on, had gone through the passport examina­
tion office at Dover on the 28th of last month, and that 
he was met there by a gentleman with whom he drove away, 
luggage and all, in a Wolseley four-seater, which belonged 
to a well-known garage at Croydon; but who was the hirer 
of that car on that particular day, or whither it was driven, 
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remained a mystery. All that the owners of the garage 
could remember was that a gentleman whom they did not 
know called on that afternoon; he wanted to hire a car 
without a chauffeur; he gave a name and address which, 
of course, were fictitious, but he not only paid for the hire 
of the car in advance, but left a fairly substantial sum on 
deposit as a guarantee that the car would be returned the 
following day in perfect condition.

He brought the car back the following forenoon; the 
deposit was, of course, refunded to him, and there the 
transaction ended. As for the destination of the car and 
the use to which it was put, the garage proprietors could 
say nothing. It had been driven about 200 miles, or rather 
more than the distance from Croydon to Dover and back, 
and it had been seen on the road by an A.A. man as far 
north as Hendon. There were, this man said, three oc­
cupants in the car and a small quantity of luggage.

That was as far as information went. Skin 0’ my Tooth 
had put the police on the track, and they would, of course, 
pursue investigations, but in the meanwhile I could see that 
my chief was anxious. Close on four weeks had gone by 
since Anton Várlay landed at Dover, and since that day no 
one with whom he had any connection, either in this country 
or in Hungary, had heard a word from him. Skin o’ my 
Tooth had had some correspondence with the police at 
Budapest. They had confirmed the Archduke’s account 
of the Várlay family in general, and had ascertained that 
Anton Várlay had obtained an English visa on his pass­
port about a week before he left for England. After that, 
as far as the Hungarian authorities were concerned, the 
earth might have swallowed up that unfortunate young man. 
I must say that both the police in Hungary and the people 
whom Várlay employed in the administration of his pro­
perty were extraordinarily supine. They seemed to think 
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that the whole matter was the business of the English police; 
it was for Scotland Yard, they argued, to find this young 
man who had landed safely at Dover, and they washed their 
hands of the affair.

When I tell you that all possible inquiries had been set 
on foot to trace an Anglo-German named Wildemeer, who 
had a house presumably somewhere in the neighbourhood 
of London, and had a young Hungarian wife, and that all 
such inquiries had failed, you will understand how difficult 
had become Mr. Mulligan’s task. Wildemeer had disap­
peared just as effectually as young Anton Varlay. “We 
shall have to do something more venturesome,” Skin o’ my 
Tooth said to me one day, “or we shall be too late.”

“You suspect murder, then,” I asked.
“Murder for a motive which escapes me for the mo­

ment,” he replied, “but murder nevertheless. But we 
shall see.”

The next morning the following advertisement appeared 
in the “Personal” column of The Times.

“A gentleman, middle-aged, with sound knowledge of 
several languages, would undertake work in any capacity. 
Russian, Hungarian, and Japanese a speciality. Legal or 
other documents accurately translated. Write Box XV. 193, 
The Times, E.C.4.”

This was the “something more venturesome” which 
Skin 0’ my Tooth had planned. All day and the next he 
waited anxiously for a reply to his advertisement. It was 
repeated on four consecutive days. On the fourth day he 
had an answer. It was a letter written on business paper 
which bore the heading: Thomas Peppitt, Commission 
Agent, 153, Tilney Street. It was signed Thomas Peppitt, 
and requested advertiser to call at the office on the follow­
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ing morning at 10 o’clock. There was a P.S. stating that 
the office was on the third floor, and that there was no 
brass plate on the door.

“I may be wrong,” Skin 0’ my Tooth said with a 
chuckle, “but I think------ ” He paused a moment, then
concluded drily: “I think, Muggins, that we shall have 
some fun.”

The following morning when I arrived at the office I 
found my chief so fantastically attired that when I first be­
held him I genuinely failed to recognise him. Sparse black 
hair stood out in tufts all over his cranium: a beard and 
moustache that looked as if they had been gnawed, inter­
mittently clothed his chin and upper-lip. He wore a broad­
brimmed black felt hat, a soft shirt and collar none too 
clean, steel-rimmed spectacles, and a bright green tie. He 
looked for all the world as if he had a bomb ready for 
explosion in either pocket of his brown velvet coat. He 
started off for Tilney Street very gaily telling me to wait 
for him at the office; he might be back in an hour, and 
he might be all day.

Now, as I told you just now, my rôle in this affair was 
absolutely nil; what there was of it consisted in waiting all 
that day and the next and the intervening night in an 
agony of anxiety. Most of the second day I spent in Mr. 
Alverson’s private bureau. Though it is a hard and fast 
rule in our office that I never speak of my chief’s affairs 
to anyone without his sanction, I felt that the circumstances 
this time were so unusual and the eventualities so awful to 
contemplate, that that rule must be broken at all costs. 
Mr. Alverson was as anxious and upset as I was. He pro­
mised me the utmost discretion, but at the same time he 
at once set secret machinery going to find out something 
about my chief’s mysterious disappearance. He agreed 
with me that it was unlike Skin 0’ my Tooth not to have 
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telephoned or otherwise communicated with me or with 
him. That he had not done so sounded ominous.

“He is either being held in duress,” Mr. Alverson re­
marked thoughtfully, “or of course he may have been taken 
to some remote village whence telephonic communication 
is impossible. I refuse to believe,” he concluded, placing 
his kindly hand on my shoulder, for he saw that I was 
terribly anxious: “I refuse to believe that anything more 
serious has happened to him.”

He went himself, and allowed me to accompany him, 
to 153, Tilney Street. Together we climbed up to the third 
floor, where we were confronted by three doors, two of 
which bore name-plates. The third one was locked. We 
inquired at the others, and in each instance were told that 
the third office on this floor had been unlet for about a 
month, but that a few days ago two persons came to look 
over it—two men, one of whom seemed the clerk, or per­
haps servant, of the other. They had apparently obtained 
the key from the house agent. They returned again a day 
or two later—yesterday, namely—and spent about an hour 
on the premises, during which time they received the visit 
of a third party.

The clerk who gave us this information could not give 
us a very accurate description of the three individuals in 
question; he had not noticed them particularly. All he 
could tell us was that one was very tall and handsome, 
with reddish-fair moustache, and was dressed like a gentle­
man; the other had a stubby, red beard, and wore a broad­
brimmed Homburg hat all the time. The man who came 
yesterday to visit those two was, in the clerk’s opinion, ob­
viously a foreigner; the description which the witness gave 
us of him tallied in every respect with my chief’s disguise.

It seems that after the interview the three men went 
downstairs together and entered a traveller’s brougham
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which had been waiting at the door. To trace an ordinary 
traveller’s brougham through the maze of traffic round 
about Shaftesbury Avenue was for the moment an im­
possible task. Mr. Alverson and I, having ascertained the 
name and address of the house agent in charge of the pre­
mises at Tilney Street, went on there, but our inquiries in 
that direction wrere fruitless. They never entrusted the key 
of those offices to anyone; a clerk always accompanied any 
intending tenant who wished to view the rooms; nor had 
they any recollection of a tall, handsome gentleman with a 
fair moustache making any inquiries about the premises. 
Obviously someone with a felonious intent had gone to the 
place, taken a wax imprint of the lock, and used the 
premises for some nefarious—at present unknown—pur­
pose.

I confess that I went home that afternoon in a state 
bordering on frenzy. The whole of that day went by and 
the next and the intervening night with no news from my 
chief. Mr. Alverson was kindness itself, and assured me 
that if another twelve hours went by without news, he 
would take it upon himself to set the entire machinery of 
Scotland Yard in search of my chief.

“I am convinced that he is all right,” he said over and 
over again to me; “and that my life and yours won’t be 
worth an hour’s purchase when he knows that we have 
interfered in his affairs.”

I could not share his optimism and what I endured 
within the next twelve hours beggars description.

It was not until the small hours of the following mor­
ning that—but I must not anticipate. Suffice it for the 
present to say that Skin 0’ my Tooth himself told me and 
Mr. Alverson of the adventure which befell him after he 
left our office on that memorable morning to go to 153, 
Tilney Street.

“Skin o’ my Tooth" 19
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III

I think I’d better give you Skin o’ my Tooth’s account 
of his adventure in his own words. He gave it to Mr. Alver­
son and to me, and I made shorthand notes of the most 
salient portions of his narrative.

What he said to us was this:
“Precisely at ten o’clock on the morning you both know 

of, I walked up the half-dozen flights of steps to the third 
floor of 153, Tilney Street; when I reached the landing I 
paused a moment or two wondering which of the three 
doors facing me I ought to enter, when one of them was 
opened and out came a man, whose chief characteristics 
were a stubby, red beard and somewhat darker, stiff, un­
ruly hair. He professed to know at once who I was, and, 
anyway, appeared to have been on the lookout for me. 
He asked me to step into the office. It was entirely devoid 
of furniture, floor-covering, and even blinds, and the dust 
lay thick everywhere. On my left there was a door which 
bore the legend, Private, and through this I was ushered 
into an inner office almost as void of furniture and cer­
tainly quite as thickly coated with grime as the other. 
Moreover, it was very dark, as a tattered blind was drawn 
down over the window.

“There was a table in the middle of the room, also a 
chair on which sat with his back to the window a tall, 
broad-shouldered man dressed something like a family 
lawyer or a member of the Stock Exchange. He wore 
large, bone-rimmed spectacles with tinted glasses. But I 
need not describe him any further: you have both seen him 
by now.

“A great joy entered my soul,” Skin 0’ my Tooth went 
on with a chuckle. “We have all seen that kind of mise- 
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en-scène before, and the very first glance had told me that 
here was quarry for my friend Alverson, even if this well- 
dressed gentleman was not the actual person I was after. 
But I was pretty well sure by now that he was. Of course, 
he began with a long rigmarole about having borrowed 
this office from a friend for a few days, without having 
seen it previously; I stood by—since there were no chairs 
—twiddling my hat and sniffing as if I had a bad cold.

“Then followed a still wilder rigmarole about his being 
over in England for the purpose of negotiating various 
landed properties in Central and South-Eastern Europe; 
his trouble at the moment being that a wealthy client of 
his was desirous of completing the sale of a piece of land 
in Southern Hungary before he died. He was very ill, so 
my interlocutor explained, and wanted this transfer done 
and his signature affixed as soon as possible. It was a 
question of righting a great wrong, and if this sale did not 
go through, the land would pass to the government of Yugo­
slavia, who, as I surely knew, were the deadly enemies of 
Hungary and the Hungarians.

“Of course, I listened to all that trash with the utmost 
deference and interest, and when my friend paused in order 
to take breath, I asked him humbly in what way I could 
be of service to him. ‘You will translate into Hungarian/ 
he replied to me, ‘the deed of sale which my client’s Eng­
lish lawyer has prepared for him; when that is done the 
document will only require my client’s signature, and as 
you will be on the spot, you might as well sign as a wit­
ness. By the way,’ he went on airily, ‘what is your name 
and occupation, and where do you live?’

“I told him that my name was Wilhelm Müllenkamp, 
that I lived at 175, Mill Street, Upper Tooting, that I 
had been a lawyer’s clerk, but that unmerited misfor­
tune, etc.------This seemed to delight him, for he asked

19* 
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me quite jovially if I had ever ‘done time.’ I assured him 
that I had not, and also that I was both willing and able 
to do the required work for him, as I was thoroughly con­
versant with the Hungarian language. ‘What could be 
better?’ my amiable friend retorted glibly; ‘why shouldn’t 
you come with me right away? We can get the business 
completed to-day, and there will be a £5 note for you for 
your trouble.’

“Of course, this time,” Skin 0’ my Tooth resumed after 
a slight pause, “I knew that I was on the right track, and 
was blessing the inspiration which led me to put the ad­
vertisement in The Times. I followed my friend down the 
stairs, the other with the red, stubby beard bringing up the 
rear. Down below one of those large, one-horse broughams, 
such as are used by commercial travellers, was waiting at 
the door. My friend graciously invited me to step in, 
which I did.”

But at this point Skin 0’ my Tooth’s narrative was 
broken into by an exclamation from Mr. Alverson.

“And do you mean to tell me, Mulligan, that you’got 
into that vehicle then and there, in the company of those 
two murderers------ ?”

“How else should I have known where they kept that 
wretched young man hidden?” Skin 0’ my Tooth retorted 
blandly.

“Couldn’t you have------ ?”
“I could have done nothing that suited my purpose 

better than to go and investigate everything for myself. 
Anyway, I went, and, as I expected, found the inside of 
the brougham in total darkness, with shutters—not merely 
blinds—on all the windows. My friend made a casual 
remark about his eyes being worried by the light, which, 
of course, I ignored. I had been made to sit beside him, 
with the red-haired beauty opposite me. The drive lasted 
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over an hour; I tried to keep some idea of my bearings, 
but after a while the want of air, and no doubt some subtle 
soporific also, made me more and more drowsy. Neither 
of my companions spoke, and presently something roused 
me with a jerk. Apparently I had dropped asleep.

“We had now come to a standstill. The two men got 
out and bade me follow them. As I stepped out on the 
pavement I took a quick glance about me; we were in a 
street of semi-detached houses with the usual small gardens 
front and rear, and a railway embankment at the back. 
A train rushed through just at the moment, and through 
the space between two blocks of houses I caught sight of 
a L. and N.E. engine. From this and the lay of the land 
I made out that we were somewhere in the neighbourhood 
of Finsbury Park or South Tottenham. But, needless to 
say, I was given no time for further investigation. The man 
with the red beard took me by the arm and I allowed 
myself to be bundled into the house, not without noticing 
that it bore the number 171, and that No. 173 attached 
to it was to let.

“You will laugh when I tell you that the very first 
thing that struck me when I entered that house was the 
smell of steak and onions; not an unpleasant smell in itself, 
but it simply pervaded everything.

“I was shown into the dining-room on the ground 
floor, and my new employer told me very jovially that I 
had better have lunch with him. I accepted with alacrity, 
but begged leave to telephone first to my mother, who 
would be expecting me home. ‘Sorry, my friend,’ he re­
marked drily, ‘but there’s no telephone in the house, and 
the nearest public one is half a mile away, and luncheon 
is getting cold.’ I could see that the two hyenas, now 
they were in their lair, took less trouble to try and throw 
dust in my eyes. I naturally appeared as unsuspecting and 
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innocent as they could wish. In the course of lunch my 
new friend told me that his name was de Florian, and 
that he was Italian; he also talked a lot more trash about 
his international affairs.

“We were waited on by the red-haired man, whom de 
Florian—I will call him that, if you don’t mind—addressed 
as Smith.

“After lunch my employer took me to a room on the 
second floor at the back of the house; there was a table 
facing the window; the latter was of thick ground glass; 
there were also a couple of chairs, an armchair—very 
shabby—some bookshelves, and other bits of dilapidated 
furniture. De Florian took a book from one of the shelves, 
and placed it on the table before me. ‘My work,’ he said 
curtly, ‘I want it translated into English. The client I 
spoke to you about is away for a couple of days. You can 
fill in the time by doing this important work. You will 
stay in the house for the present. I will pay you £2 a 
day in addition to the £5 I promised you, and I will lend 
you what you require for the night. Any letter you write 
you can give to Smith; he goes to the post every day at five.’

“There was a packet of manuscript paper on the table, 
a blotting pad, a fountain pen. De Florian gave me some 
cigarettes and a box of matches, then he went away.

“I glanced at the book. It was in Hungarian and 
entitled ‘Memoirs of a Hungarian Aristocrat at the Court 
of Francis Joseph I.’ Of course, the translatian was a blind, 
and equally, of course, I was a prisoner in the house. I 
tried to open the window; it was securely fastened, and I 
couldn’t move it. I began by getting through a certain 
amount of the translation; then when it got dark I sat down 
and thought things over. The situation interested me, and 
I thought of Muggins getting more and more anxious about 
me, and hoped he would not make an ass of himself. I 
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was left alone the whole of that blessed afternoon, and I 
had got through at least five thousand words of the Hun­
garian aristocrat’s memoirs when my friend Smith uncere­
moniously burst into the room and told me that dinner 
would be on the table in a quarter of an hour. I asked 
him to show me to my room so that I could get a wash, 
and this he did. The room was a horrible hole next to 
the one where I had been at work, and the window here, 
too, was of thick glass and absolutely immovable. ‘Good!’ 
I thought, and sailed serenely downstairs. The smell of 
steak and onions was more marked even than before. As 
we had had that delectable dish for luncheon, I wondered 
whether we were going to have it again.

“To my astonishment, when I entered the dining-room 
I found not only de Florian sitting at the table, but a 
young and charming lady, whom he introduced to me as 
his wife. She was very beautiful, and would have been 
ravishing but that she looked so ill, and that her eyes 
showed obvious traces of tears. She never said a word all 
through dinner, and I only once caught a quick, inquiring 
glance which she furtively directed at me. The rest of 
the time she sat with her eyes fixed on her plate, while 
de Florian talked and lied like a gasmeter.

“After dinner she left me to the sweet companionship 
of her precious husband, and presently we could hear the 
sweet strains of her voice coming from the next room. 
She was singing some of those lovely Hungarian folk-songs, 
so full of passion and melancholy, with which Hubay and 
Brahms have made us familiar. Even if I had had the 
slightest doubt of the identity of de Florian, I should have 
had it set at rest now. This was the Archduke’s sweetheart, 
Katinka Varlay, a prisoner, like myself, of this scoundrel 
Wildemeer, alias de Florian and what-not besides, but, un­
like myself, a prisoner who had long ago given up hope.
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“At ten o’clock she murmured something that resembled 
‘Good-night.’ Smith then brought in whisky-and-soda, 
which I declined, and presently I went up to my room. 
And so to bed. It was, of course, ages before I could get 
to sleep; but I must have dozed off at one time, for sud­
denly I woke with a start, certain that I had heard a 
human cry. Did I mention that there was no electric light 
in the house? and that in an airless room I had not fancied 
the idea of going to sleep with the gas half-turned on? 
Fortunately I am one of those methodical people wrho never 
go anywhere without a small electric torch in my pocket. 
I switched that on and sat up in bed listening. Over my 
head I heard a heavy tread and a murmur of voices, then 
nothing more.

“Nothing more occurred until about three o’clock the 
next day. I had had breakfast alone, worked at those 
silly memoirs until lunch-time, and had had lunch with de 
Florian and his silent, melancholy young wife. Needless to 
say that I had distinct proof now that I was indeed a 
prisoner. All doors, including the street door, were securely 
locked against me, and the windows were barred, shuttered, 
and padlocked at night. Not that I wanted to get away 
yet; I wanted to get to the bottom of the mystery of Anton 
Várlay before I did that; and those two scoundrels were 
quite clever enough and ready to make a bolt of it directly 
they discovered that I had given them the slip. I also 
strongly suspected that there were more than the two ras­
cals in the house.

“At three o’clock, then, de Florian came into my room 
and gave me the draft of a document in English for trans­
lation into Hungarian. It was, as I expected, a deed of 
sale for the sum of £20,000 sterling of property including 
some oil-wells, executed by Anton Várlay in favour of his 
cousin, Katinka Várlay, wife of Simon D. Wildemeer, of 
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London, England, and contained the ominous sentence: 
‘Receipt for which I hereby acknowledge.’ Thus was the 
main portion of the infernal plot revealed to me; soon I 
should, I hoped, be in possession of the rest. Over one 
thing I was reassured: Anton Várlay was still alive.

“Wildemeer, alias de Florian, sat in my room smoking 
cigarettes while I got the translation ready. When I had 
finished, he picked up the documents, both the English 
one and the translation, and curtly ordered me to come 
along with him. He led the way upstairs to a room just 
above mine, and I followed him in. Although it was still 
daylight out of doors, the curtains were drawn and the gas 
was alight. There were two people in the room—a revolt- 
ingly fat female and, sitting in an armchair by the mantel­
piece, a man who at the very first glance appeared to be 
dying.

“When we entered he looked up at Wildemeer just like 
a dog that expected a beating. But Wildemeer beamed 
and smiled at him and said jovially: ‘Hallo, Anton! Feel­
ing better to-day—what?’ The fat female then shrugged 
her shoulders and remarked drily: ‘Oh, he’s all right now! 
He won’t give us trouble.’

“I can assure you,” Skin 0’ my Tooth went on em­
phatically, “had I been sure that there were not more than 
the two rascals and the fat female in the house, I would 
have taken my chance of knocking them down then and 
there, one after the other, and getting the wretched Anton 
Várlay and Katinka out of the house as best I could; but 
I had already heard Smith’s footsteps on the stairs behind 
me, and another besides that. Heroics, I felt, would only 
have sealed poor Anton’s doom as well as my own.

“Wildemeer now put the two documents on the table, 
and, taking a couple of rubber stamps and an ink-pad from 
his pocket, he proceeded to stamp the documents, and 



2q8 SKIN O’ MY TOOTH

finally he affixed a couple of postage stamps of high value 
upon them. I had already noted that the rubber stamps 
bore the legend ‘Hungarian Legation, London.’ Wildemeer 
now held a fountain pen out to Anton. ‘Now then,’ he 
said genially, ‘sign here, will you?’ But Anton did not take 
the pen. ‘I won’t sign,’ he said huskily. ‘Don’t be a fool,’ 
Wildemeer retorted quietly; ‘you owe it to Katinka, if not 
to yourself’ Anton, however, was obstinate. Sign he would 
not, and I was admiring his pluck and obstinacy when 
Wildemeer did a very funny thing. He went up to a kind 
of large oak cupboard which stood in a corner of the room, 
and he threw open its doors. Immediately I became con­
scious of that awful smell of steak and onions which had 
worried me all along. I was looking at Anton at the 
moment, and in a flash the whole of the devilry was made 
clear to me. These fiends were starving the wretched boy 
into submission to their schemes, and putting on the screw 
by giving him food to smell when he was more than usually 
obstinate. Even now he turned green and fell back in what 
looked like a deathly swoon. God! but I had some diffi­
culty, I can tell you, in keeping a serene, unsuspecting face. 
I tried hard to look a complete fool, and fortunately I suc­
ceeded, for Wildemeer murmured quite genially: ‘That’s 
the worst of this house, the smell of cooking pervades 
everything.’ Then he added: ‘Well, we won’t worry the 
poor fellow any more to-day. I dare say he’ll feel better 
to-morrow. The worst of it is that the young rascal has 
already had his cheque for £20,000, the proceeds of the 
sale, and so long as he does not sign these transfers, I, as 
the agent of the buyer, am responsible to her for the 
amount.’ He then led the way out of the room, taking the 
documents away with him.

“When I was ready to go up to bed that night, he said 
to me: ‘To-morrow will see this business through, I am 
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sure, and then I suppose you will wish to go back home.’ 
Well, of course, I had realised by now that there was no 
time to be lost if that wretched young Varlay was to come 
out of this house alive. You must remember that, though 
I knew myself to be a prisoner, I had not before this 
desired to escape. But now matters were different. To­
night, at all risks, I must get out of the house and in touch 
with the police.

“Love laughs at locksmiths, and so does yours truly, 
and at one a.m. I started on my adventure. I crept down­
stairs, feeling my way by the light of my small torch. My 
intention was to explore every mode of egress first, and if 
the worst came to the worst and I found every door locked 
against me, to return to my room and make a bolt of it by 
smashing the window, at risk, of course, of rousing the 
entire gang of murderers. It was for the sake of that 
wretched Anton that I was anxious and hopeful to make a 
noiseless exit out of this hospitable house.

“Presuming that Wil demeer and his wife occupied the 
floor just below me, I did not try the doors on that landing, 
but made my way soundlessly to the passage on the ground 
floor. The street door was securely fastened, and so were 
the doors of the dining and sitting-rooms, which gave on 
the passage. None of these could be made to yield without 
a considerable amount of noise. I next made my way down 
to the basement. Here I found a kitchen and other small 
offices, the doors of which were open, but the windows 
had wooden shutters in front of them, held in place by a 
flat iron bar, which was secured by a padlock. I put my 
friend Smith down as a good workman for that kind of job, 
as houses in South Tottenham or Finsbury Park are not 
usually provided with fittings of that sort.

“Anyway, there was no possible egress that way. For 
a moment the thought of a file went through my mind. If 
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I could file one of those iron bars through . . . I opened 
the drawer of the kitchen table and dresser in the vague 
hope of finding such a thing, when suddenly, without the 
slightest warning, I felt a terrible blow on the top of my 
head. I saw stars, I can tell you, and the next moment I 
had measured my length on the stone floor. What hap­
pened next is, of course, pure surmise. I imagine that 
Smith slept somewhere down in the basement, that I had 
made more noise than I had supposed, and that during 
the time that I was engaged in opening the kitchen table 
drawer the rascal had caught me in the act, crept up be­
hind me, and knocked me down. After which he would 
naturally go up and tell Wildemeer what he had done, and 
the two rascals would then decide whether it would be 
worth while to murder me at once or wait for another 
opportunity. Right through my state of semi-consciousness 
I was dimly aware of the sound of movement somewhere in 
the house, and presently of the tinkling of a bell. You 
know how consciousness gradually returns. Well, in this 
case it was that persistent tinkle which brought my per­
ceptions back with a jerk.

“The telephone! Heaven be praised! there was a tele­
phone somewhere near, and if only those murderers up 
there gave me five minutes’ grace . . . It was pitch dark, 
of course. But now for a bit of luck. When I had opened 
the kitchen drawer I had my little electric torch in my 
hand, half concealed in the pocket of my coat. If in fall­
ing I had not put it out of gear, I would be able to act 
more surely and more expeditiously. I groped in my pocket 
The torch was there. It worked all right. Thank God for 
that. I struggled to my feet. You know I have the physique 
of a horse, and, though I felt giddy enough, I could stand 
and I could walk. The sound of the tinkling bell guided 
me. The telephone was just outside the kitchen door.
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Three more minutes and all would be well. I took off the 
receiver—just in time, I think, because in the dim distance 
above my head I had vaguely detected the sound of the 
opening and shutting of a door, and voices and movement 
more clear than before. I would have given much to have 
known who rang up this den of thieves at this hour of the 
night, but there was no time for that. I waited sixty in­
terminable seconds, while from the upstairs landing came 
the sound of Smith’s voice in voluble conversation, followed 
by some hard swearing from Wildemeer. My God ! Those 
seconds! I can tell you I’ve never known time go by so 
slowly. Then at last I felt I could safely call up the Ex­
change again, and I don’t think that ever in my life did I 
hear a more welcome ‘Hallo!’ I replied: ‘Put me through 
in double quick time to the police station nearest to the 
place I am speaking from, and give them this telephone 
number at the same time and tell them to ring up at once 
as they value their lives.’ Fortunately the operator at the 
other end was both quick and intelligent, and so was the 
police-sergeant who got through to me within the next two 
minutes. Heavens above! those two minutes! When I tell 
you that I could hear Smith and Wildemeer coming down 
the stairs, you may imagine how I felt. Luckily, like so 
many foreigners, they carried on a voluble conversation all 
the time, and paused on the half-landing, no doubt in order 
to settle the special way in which I was to be silenced for 
ever. Then at last I was through to the police station, told 
them to locate the house through its telephone number, to 
send half a dozen men here at once, and to force an en­
trance into the house. I gave them my name, which is
pretty well known at every London police station, and
finally hung up the receiver. Just in time, I assure you.
Those murderers were already in the passage just above 
me. But I was all right now; I switched off the torch and 
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crawled back to the kitchen, where I deposited myself so 
heavily on the stone floor that I gave my poor old skull 
another crack that made me see a constellation of stars 
once more. I did feel pretty sick and queer now, and, I 
suppose, must have looked it, for I was only vaguely con­
scious of the approach of those two beauties, and after a 
while of Wildemeer’s voice saying pleasantly: ‘Isn’t he dead 
yet?’ There were some murmurs which I did not quite 
catch, and then a woman’s voice, which I took to be that 
of the fat female—it certainly wasn’t Katinka’s — said: 
‘Clear out, you two. I’ll turn on the gas. It saves a meśs.’ 

“Pleasant, wasn’t it?” Skin o’ my Tooth went on with 
his inimitable chuckle. “And she did it, too, the old devil. 
I could hear her stamping about the room; no doubt she 
was busy stopping cracks and crevices round doors and 
windows and stuffing paper up the chimney. Then off she 
went, and within the next minute I already became con­
scious of that sickening smell of gas. I groped for the torch 
in my pocket. It wouldn’t work. . . . Well, I won’t bore 
you with an account of the next few minutes, which I spent 
in total darkness, sick and giddy with the cracks on my 
head, and trying to locate the spot whence came that awful 
smell of gas. I really thought that I was in for it this time, 
when suddenly, at the moment when resignation to Fate 
was my dominant sensation, I heard the loud clang of a 
bell, followed by banging and hammering at the front door.

“The police at last! The sound gave me a certain re­
crudescence of strength. I groped for the door now, found 
it luckily enough, just as my senses were going, and all I 
know is that presently I was found by Sergeant Murray, 
sprawling face downwards and arms outstretched, across 
the passage outside the kitchen door.

“I believe that the fat female fought like a demon when 
Murray and his men finally broke into the house. Smith 
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tried to make a bolt of it through an upstairs window, but 
was caught in the attempt. As for Wildemeer, he just col­
lapsed: nerve, and the pluck often associated with villainy, 
completely deserted him.”

IV

Nerve and pluck! Heavens above! Have you ever 
heard a more thrilling narrative of nerve and pluck told 
with such good humour and modesty? Skin 0’ my Tooth 
seemed to take his adventure as a matter of everyday 
business.

The whole gang, I must tell you—there were four of 
them, apparently, as Skin o’ my Tooth had indeed sus­
pected—was charged with attempted murder. Anton Várlay 
and my chief prosecuted. The ingenuity which Wildemeer 
had displayed throughout his hellish plot against Anton was 
nothing short of marvellous. And it must have taken some 
doing too. He got the wretched boy over from Hungary 
and into the house which turned out to be in Reporton 
Street, South Tottenham, which he had rented for the pur­
pose. Here he welcomed him and then tried by every pos­
sible means to get him to make over his property to Ka- 
tinka. At last he hit on the hellish idea of starving his man 
into submission. He had every kind of villainy at his fingers’ 
ends, and knew exactly how a Hungarian legal document 
ought to look. He got the rubber stamp made to represent 
the Hungarian Legation; but his difficulty was that he did 
not know enough Hungarian to manufacture a document 
that would appear plausible in the courts over there. Ka- 
tinka, I think—who was a brave little woman—would have 
allowed herself to be killed before she lent a hand to the 
villainy, and I imagine that Wildemeer was on the lookout 
for someone when Skin 0’ my Tooth’s advertisement ap­
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peared in the nick of time. Who Smith was, and what share 
he was to have had in the transaction, was never really 
established. The third man had to be discharged, as nothing 
could be proved against him. But what did come out at 
the trial was that the fat female was the one and only 
Mrs. Wildemeer, so that pleasant gentleman added bigamy 
to his pretty catalogue of delinquencies.

Anton Varlay and Katinka went back to Hungary after 
the trial. Poor little woman! I wonder if our friend the 
Archduke has made up to her for all she suffered in the 
past. I hope so! He seemed a decentish fellow, and there 
are no longer any family traditions to keep up these days!

THE END
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Arbour 2 V.

Betham-Edwards, M.
The Sylvestres tv. — Felicia 2 v. — 
Brother Gabriel 2 v. — Forestalled 1 v. 
— Exchange no Robbery, and other 
Novelettes IV. — Disarmed 1 v. — 
IV. — Pearla IV. — Next of Kin 
Wanted i v. — The Parting of the Ways 
IV. — The Romance of a French Par­
sonage 1 v. — France of To-day 1 v. — Two 
Aunts and a Nephew 1 v. — A Dream of 
Millions IV. — The Curb of Honour 1 v. 
— France oiTo-day ^SecondSeries') 1 v.— 
A Romance of Dijon 1 v. — The Dream- 
Charlotte IV. — A Storm-Rent Sky t v. — 
Reminiscences 1 v. — The Lord of the 
Harvest IV. — Anglo-French Reminis­
cences, 1875 — 1899 i v.— A Suffolk Court­
ship IV. — Mock Beggars’ Hall 1 v. — 
East of Paris 1 v.—A Humble Lover 1 v.— 
Barham Brocklebank, M.D. 1 v.— Martha 
Rose, Teacher 1 v. — From an Islington 
Window i v.

Birchenough, Mabel C.
Potsherds i v.

Birmingham, G. A.
Fidgets Iv. — The Runaways 1 v.

Bisland, E. (Am.): •uide Rhoda Brough­
ton.

Bismarck, Prince: vide Butler. Vide 
also Wilhelm Görlach (Collection of 
German Authors, p. 27), and Whitman.

Black, William, t 1898.
In Silk Attire 2 V. — A Princess of Thule 
2v. — Kilmeny i v.—TheMaidofKilleena, 
and other Stories 1 v.—Three Feathers 2 v. 
— Madcap Violet 2 v. — Green Pastures 
and Piccadilly 2 v. — Macleod of Dare 2 v. 
— Sunrise г v. — The Beautiful Wretch 1 v. 
— Shandon Bells 2 v. — Judith Shake­
speare 2 v. — The Wise Women of In­
verness, etc. IV. — White H eather 2 v. — 
Sabina Zembra 2 v. — In Far Lochaber 
2 v. — The New Prince Fortunatus 2 v. — 
Stand Fast, Craig-Royston I 2 v. — Donald 
Ross of Heimra 2 v. — The Magic Ink, 
and other Tales 1 v. —Wolfenberg 2 v. — 
The Handsome Humes 2 v. — Highland 
Cousins 2 v.— Briseis 2 v.—Wild Eelin 2 v.

Blackmore, Richard Doddridge, t 1900.
Alice Lorraine 2 v. — Mary Anerley 3 v. 
— Cbristowell 2 v. — Tommy Upmore 
2 V.—Perlycross 2 V.

“Blackwood."
Tales from “Blackwood’’ (First Series) 
IV. — Tales from “Blackwood” (Second 
Series) i v.

Blessington, Countess of (Marguerite 
Gardiner), t 1849.

Meredith IV. — Strathern 2 v. — Me­
moirs of a Femme de Chambre 1 v.
Marmaduke Herbert 2 v. — Country 
Quarters 2 v.

Boldrewood, Rolf.
Nevermore 2 v.

Braddon, Miss (Mrs. Maxwell), * 1837, 
t 1915-

Aurora Floyd 2 v. — Eleanor’s Victory 
2 v. — John Marchmont’s Legacy 2 v.— 
The Doctor’s Wife 2 v.— Sir Jasper’s 
Tenant 2 v. — The Lady’s Mile 2 v. — 
Rupert Godwin 2 v. — Dead-Sea Fruit 
2 v. — Run to Earth 2 v. — Fenton’s 
Quest 2 v. — The Levels of Arden 2 v. — 
Strangers and Pilgrims 2 v. — Lucius Da- 
voren 3 v. — Taken at the Flood 3 V. — 
Lost for Love 2 v. — A Strange World 2 v. 
— Hostages to Fortune 2 v. — Joshua 
Haggard’s Daughter 2 v. — Weavers and 
Weft IV. — In Great Waters, and other 
Tales i v. — An Open Verdict 3 v. — Vixen 
3 v. — Asphodel 3 v. — Mount Royal 
г v. — The Golden Calf г v. — Flower 
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and Weed I v. — Phantom Fortune 3 v. — 
Ishmael 3 V. — One Thing Needful 2v. — 
Cut by the County i v. — Like and Unlike 
2 v. — The Day will come 2 v. — Gerard 
2 v. — All along the River 2 v. — Thou 
art theMan 2 v. — The Christmas Hire­
lings, etc. tv. — Sons of Fire 2 v. — 
London Pride 2 V. — Rough Justice 2 v. 
— In High Places 2 v. — His Darling Sin 
i v. —The Infidel 2 v. —The Conflict 2 v. 
— The Rose of Life 2 v.

Brassey, Lady, t 1887.
Sunshine and Storm in the East 2 v. — In 
the Trades, the Tropics and the Roaring 
Forties 2 v.

“ Bread-Winners, the,” Author of (Am.). 
The Bread-Winners 1 v.

Bret Harte: ■vide Harte.

Brock, Rev. William, t 1875.
Sir Henry Havelock, K. C. B. 1 v.

Bronte, Charlotte: -vide Currer Bell.

Bronte, Emily & Anne: vide Ellis Ł 
Acton Bell.

Brooks, Shirley, t 1874.
The Silver Cord 3 V. — Sooner or Later 
3 v-

Broome, Lady (Lady Barker).
A Year’s Housekeeping in South Africa 
IV. — Letters to Guy, and A Distant 
Shore — Rodrigues 1 v. — Colonial 
Memories i v.

Broughton, Rhoda, * 1840,11920.
Cometh up as a Flower 1 v. — Not 
wisely, but too well 2 v. — Red as a Rose 
is She 2 v. — Tales for Christmas Eve 
IV. — Nancy 2 v. —Joan 2 y. — Second 
Thoughts 2 v. — Belinda 2 v. — Doctor 
Cupid 2 V. — Alas I 2 v. — Mrs. Bligh 
tv. — Foes in Law 1 v. — Between Two 
Stools I v.

Broughton, Rhoda, & Elizabeth Bisland 
(Am.).

A Widower Indeed 1 v.
Brown, John, t 1882.

Rab and his Friends, and other Papers 1 v.
Browne, K. R. Q.

Following Ann Iv. — A Lady from the 
South IV. — A Knight and a Day 1 v.

Browning, Elizabeth Barrett, t 1861.
Aurora Leigh 1 v.

Bullen, Frank T, t 1915.
The Cruise of the “ Cachalot” 2 v.

Bulwer, Edward, Lord Lytton, f 1873.
Pelham IV. — Zanoni 2 v. — The 
Last Days of Pompeii 1 v. — Rienzi 
2 v. — Athens 2 V. — The Poems and Bal­
lads of Schiller IV. — Lucretia 2 v. — The 
NewTimon.and St. Stephen’s 1 v. —The 
Caxtons 2 v. — My Novel 4 v. —What will 
he do with it? 4 v. — Caxtoniana 2 v. — 
Miscellaneous Prose Works 4 V. — Odes 
and Epodes of Horace 2 v. — Kenelm 
Chillingly 4 v. — The Parisians 4 v. — 
Pausanias, the Spartan 1 v.

Bulwer, Henry Lytton (Lord Dalling), 
t 1872.

Historical Characters 2 v.
Bunyan, John, t 1688.

The Pilgrim’s Progress 1 v.
“Buried Alone," Author of (Charles 

Wood).
Buried Alone i v.

Burnett, Mrs. Frances Hodgson (Am.).
Through one Administration 2 v. — Little 
Lord Fauntleroy 1 v. — Sara Crewe, 
ąnd Editha’s Burglar 1 v. — The.Secret 
Garden i v.

Burns, Robert, t 1796.
Poetical Works 1 v.

Burroughs, Edgar Rice (Am.).
Tarzan of the Apes 1 v. — The Return 
ofTarzan 1 v.—JungleTalesofTarzan 1 v. 
— The Beasts of Tarzan 1 v. — Tarzan 
and the Golden Lion 1 v. — The Son of 
Tarzan 1 v.

Bury, Baroness de: vide “All for Greed."
Butler, A. J.

Bismarck. His Reflections and Re­
miniscences. Translated from the great 
German edition, under the supervision of 
A. J. Butler. With two Portraits. 3 v.

Buxton, Mrs. B. H., t 1881.
Jennie of “The Prince’s,” 2 v. — Won ! 
2 v. — Great Grenfell Gardens 2 v. — 
Nell—on and off the Stage 2 v. — From 
the Wings 2 у.

Byron, Lord, t 1824.
Poetical Works 5 v.
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Caffyn, Mrs. Mannington (lota).
A Yellow Aster IV. — Children of Cir­
cumstance 2 v. — Anne Maule verer г v.

Caine, Sir Hall.
The Bondman 2 v. — The Manxman 
2 v. —The Christian 2 v. — The Eternal 
City 3 v. — The Prodigal Son 2 v. — The 
White Prophet 2 v. — The Woman thou 
gavest me 3 V. — The Master of Man 2 v.

Caine, William, 11925.
The Strangeness of Noel Carton 1 v. _
Mendoza and a Little Lady 1 v. _ The
Author of “ Trixie ” i v. — Lady Sheba’s 
Last Stunt i v.

Cameron, Verney Lovett
Across Africa 2 v.

Cannan, Gilbert.
Annette and Bennett 1 v.

Campbell Praed: vide Praed.
Carey, Rosa Nouchette, f 1909.

“ But Men must Work” 1 v. — Sir God­
frey’s Granddaughters 2 v. — Herb of 
Grace 2 v. — The Highway of Fate 2 v. 
— A Passage Perilous 2 v. — At the Moor-

Carlyle, Thomas, 11881.
The French Revolution 3 V. — Essays 
on Goethe tv.—Un Heroes,Hero-worship, 
and the Heroic in History 1 v. — Historical 
and Political Essays 1 v. — Essays on Ger­
man Literature i v.

Carnegie, Andrew (Am.), f 1919.
Problems of To-Day 1 v.

Carr, Alaric.
Treherne’s Temptation 2 v.

Castle, Agnes Ł Egerton.
The Star Dreamer 2 v. — Incomparable 
Bellairs IV. — French Nan 1 v. — “ If 
Youth but knew ! ” 1 v.— My Merry Rock­
hurst tv. — Flower 0’ the Orange 1 v. — 
Wroth 2 v. — Diamond Cut Paste 1 v. — 
The Grip of Life 2 v.

Castle, Egerton.
Consequences 2 v. — “La Bella," and 
Others i v.

Cather. Willa (Am.).
The Professor’s House 1 v. — My Mortal 
Enemy i v. — A Lost Lady 1 v. — Death 
Comes for the Archbishop 1 v.

Charles, Mrs. Elizabeth Rundle, 11896: 
•vide “Chronicles of the Schönberg- 
Cotta Family."

Charlesworth, Maria Louisa, I 1880.
Oliver of the Mill i v. VVide p. 27.)

Chesterfield, Earl of.
Letters to his Son 1 v.

Chesterton, G. K.
The Man who was Thursday 1 v. — What’s 
Wrong with the World 1 v. — The Inno­
cence of Father Brown 1 v. — The Flying 
Inn IV,— Tales of the Long Bow 1 v.— 
The Incredulity of Father Brown 1 v. — 
The Wisdom of Father Brown 1 v. — The 
Outline of Sanity Iv. — The Return of 
Don Quixote IV,— The Secret of Father 
Brown i V.

Cholmondeley, Mary.
Moth and Rust 1 v. — The Lowest Rung

Christian, Princess: -vide Alice, Grand- 
Duchess of Hesse.

“ Chronicles of the Schönberg-Cotta 
Family," Author of (Mrs. E. Rundle 
Charles), t 1896.

Chronicles of the Schönberg-Cotta Fa­
mily 2 v. — On Both Sides of the Sea 2 v. 
— Winifred Bertram 1 v. — Diary of Mrs. 
Kitty Trevylyan 1 v. — The Victory of the 
Vanquished 1 v. — The Cottage by the 
Cathedral and other Parables 1 v. — 
Against the Stream 2 v. —The Bertram 
Family 2 v. — Conquering and to Conquer 
Iv. — Lapsed, but not Lost 1 v.

Clemens, Samuel L. : vide Twain.
Clifford, Mrs. W. K.

The Last Touches, and other Stories 1 v. 
— Mrs. Keith’s Crime 1 v. — A Flash of 
Summer i v. — A Woman Alone 1 v. — 
Woodside Farm 1 v. — The Modern Way 
i v. 7— Mere Stories IV. — Eve’s Lover, 
and Other Stories 1 v. — Sir George’s 
Objection IV. — Miss Fingal 1 v.

Clive, Mrs; Caroline, t 1873: vide 
Author of “Paul Ferroll."

Gobbe, Frances Power, t 1904.
Re-Echoes i v.

Coleridge, C. R.
An English Squire 2 v.

Coleridge, M. E, t 1907.
The King with two Fares 2 v.
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Collins, Charles Allston, t 1873.
A Cruise upon Wheels 2 v.

Collins, Mortimer, t 1876.
Sweet and Twenty 2 v. — A Fight with 
Fortune 2 v.

Collins, Wilkie, t 1889.
Hide and Seek 2 v. — No Name j v. — 
Armadale3 V. — Poor Miss Finch 2 v. — 
The New Magdalen 2 v. — The Frozen 
Deep tv. — My Lady’s Money, and Percy 
and the Prophet 1 v. — Heart and Science 
2 v. — “I say No,” 2 v.

“Cometh up as a Flower”: vide Rhoda 
Broughton.

Conrad,Joseph t 1924.
An Outcast oí the Islands 2 v. — Tales 
of Unrest i v. —The Secret Agent 1 v. — 
A SetofSix IV. — UnderWestern Eyes 1 v. 
—’Twixt Land and Sea Tales 1 v.—Chance 
2 v. — Almayer’s Folly 1 v. — The Rover 
IV. — Tales of Hearsay 1 v. — Suspense 
i v. — Loid Jim IV. — Youth, and Two 
Other Stories IV. — The Nigger of the 
11 Narcissus ” i v. — The Shadow Line 1 v. 
— Typhoon, and Other Stories 1 v.

Conway, Hugh (F. J. Fargus), t 1885.
Called Back 1 v. — Bound Together 
2 v. — A Family Affair 2 v. — Living or 
Dead 2 v.

Cooper, Mrs.: vide Katharine Saunders.
Corelli, Marie t 1924.

Thelma 2 v. — The Mighty Atom 1 v. — 
Ziska tv. — Boy. A Sketch. 2 v. — The 
Master-Christian 2 v. — Love—and the 
Philosopher i v.

Cotes, Mrs. Everard.
Set in Authority IV. — Cousin Cinderella

“County, the," Author of.
The County i v.

Craik. Mrs. (Miss Dinah M. Mulock), 
t 1887.

A Life for a Life 2 v. — Romantic Tales 
i v. — Domestic Stories 1 v. — The 
Ogilvies IV. — Lord Erlistoun 1 v. — 
Christian’s Mistake 1 v. — Olive 2 v. — 
Studies from Life 1 v. —Poems 1 v. — The 
Unkind Word, and other Stories 2 v. — 
A Brave Lady 2 v. — Hannah 2 v. — 
Sermons out of Church 1 v. — The 
Laurel-Bush ; Two little Tinkers 1 v. — 
A Legacy 2 v. — Young Mis. Jardine 

2 v. — His Little Mother, and otherTales 
and Sketches 1 V. —Plain Speaking 1 v. — 
Miss Tommy 1 v. — King Arthur 1 v.

Craik, Georgiana M. (Mrs. A. W. May). 
Lost and Won IV. — Faith Unwin’s 
Ordeal i v. — Leslie Tyrrell 1 v. —Wini­
fred’s Wooing, etc. tv. — M ildred 1 v. — 
Hero Trevelyan 1 v. — Without Kith or 
Kin 2 v. — Only a Butterfly 1 v. — Sylvia’s 
Choice; Theresa 2 v. — Anne Warwick 
IV. — Dorcas 2 V.

Craik, Georgiana M., & M. C. Stirling.
Two Tales of Married Life (Hard to 
Bear, by Miss Craik ; A True Man, by M. 
C. Stirling) 2 V.

Craven, Mrs. Augustus: vide Lady Ful­
lerton.

Crawford, F. Marion (Am.), 11909.
Mr. Isaacs 1 v. — To Leeward 1 v. — 
A Roman Singer 1 v. — A Tale of a 
Lonely Parish 2 v. — Saracinesca 2 v. — 
Paul Patoff 2 v.— With the Immortals 1 v. 
— The Three Fates 2 v. — Marion Darche 
IV. — Adam Johnstone’s Son 1 v. — In 
the Palace of the King 2 v. — Marietta, 
a Maid of Venice 2 v. —1 he Primadonna 
2 v. — The White Sister 1 v.

Crockett, S. R., * i860, 11914.
The Raiders 2 v. — The Dark 0’ the 
Moon 2 V.

Croker, B. M.. t 1920.
The Serpent’s Tooth 1 v. — In Old M adras 
i v. — Lismoyle tv. — The Chaperon 1 v. 
— The Pagoda Tree 1 v.

Cudlip, Mrs. Pender: vide A. Thomas.
Cummins, Miss (Am.), t 1866.

Haunted Hearts 1 v.
Cushing, Paul.

The Blacksmith of Voe 2 v.
“ Daily News.”

War Correspondence, 1877, by Archi­
bald Forbes and others 3 v.

Danby, Frank.
An Incompleet Etonian 2 v. — Lettile Roof 
fall in 2V.

Dane, Clemence.
A Bill of Divorcement ; Legend 1 v.

“ Dark,” Author of.
Dark i v.
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Davis, Richard Harding (Am.).
Van Bibber and Others I v. — Ranson’s 
Folly i v.

De Foe, Daniel, t 1731 
Robinson Crusoe 2 v.

Delafield, E. M.
Mrs. Harter tv. — The Chip and the 
Block tv. — Jill IV. — The Suburban 
Young Man tv. — What is Love? 1 v.

Deland, Margaret (Am.).
John Ward, Preacher 1 v.

Dell, Floyd (Am.).
This Mad ideal 1 v. — Runaway 1 v. — 
Love in Greenwich Village 1 v.

“Democracy," Author of (Am.). 
Democracy 1 v.

De Morgan, William.
Joseph Vance 2 v.

De Quincey, Thomas.
Confessions of an English Opium-Eater 1 v 

“Diary and Notes": vide Author of 
“Horace Templeton."

Dickens, Charles, t 1870.
The Pickwick Club 2 v. — Oliver Twist 
2 v. — Nicholas Nickleby 2 v. — 
Sketches 2 v. — Martin Chuzzlewit 2 v. 
— A Christmas Carol ; The Chimes ; The 
Cricket on the Hearth 1 v. — Master 
Humphrey’s Clock lOld Curiosity Shop ; 
Barnaby Rudge, etc.) 3 v. — Dombey and 
Son 3 V. — David Copperfield 3 v. — 
Bleak House 4 v. — Little Dorrit (with 
Illustrations) 4 v. — A Tale of two 
Cities 2 v. — Christmas Stories, etc. 1 v. 
— Our Mutual Friend (with Illustrations) 
4 V. — Vide also Household Words, 
Novels and Tales, and John Forster.

Extra volumes at special prices:
A Christmas Carol . . . Jf, —.70
The Chimes . . . . Л —.70
The Cricket on the Hearth Л —.70 
The Battle of Life . . . VM і.—
The Haunted Man . . . Ji 1.—
A Child’s History of Eng­

land. 2 vols..........................X j.60
Disraeli, Benjamin, Lord Beaconsfield, 

t 1881.
Lothair 2 v.

Dixon, Ella Hepworth.
The Story of a Modern Woman 1 v. — One 
Doubtful Hour i v.

Dixon, W. Hepworth, t 1879.
The Holy Land 2 v. — Spiritual Wives 
2 v. — Her Majesty’s Tower 4 V. — Free 
Russia 2 v. — History of two Queens 6 v. 
— White Conquest 2 v. — Diana, Lady 
Lyle 2 v.

Dixon, Jr., Thomas (Am.).
The Leopard’s Spots 2 v.

Dougall, L. (Am.).
Beggars All 2 v.

Dowie, Nènie Muriel.
A Girl in the Karpathians 1 v.

Doyle, Sir A. Conan.
The Sign of Four tv. — Micah Clarke 
2 v.— The Captain of the Pole-Star, and 
other Tales tv. — The White Company 
2 v. — A Study in Scarlet 1 v. — The 
Great Shadow, and Beyond the City 1 v. — 
The Adventures of Sherlock Holmes 2 v. 
— The Refugees 2 v. — The Memoirs of 
Sherlock Holmes 2 v. —Round the Red 
L-und i v. — The Exploits of Brigadier 
Gerard Iv. — Uncle Bernac 1 v. — The. 
Tragedy of the Korosko 1 v. — A Duet 
i v. —The Green Flag 1 v. —The Hound 
of the Baskervilles 1 v. — Adventures of 
Gerard IV, — The Return of Sherlock 
Holmes 2 v. —Through the Magic Doori v. 
— Round the Fire Stories 1 v. — The Mys­
tery of Cloomber IV. — The Last Galley 
1. v.— The Lost World 1 v. — The Poison 
Belt i v. — The Land of Mist 1 v. — The 
Case-Book of Sherlock Holmes 1 v.

Drinkwater, John
Poems i v.

Dufferin, the Earl of, t 1902.
Letters from High Latitudes 1 v.

Duncan, Sara Jeannette: vide Mrs. 
Cotes.

Dunton: vide Th. Watts-Dunton.
Earl, the, and the Doctor.

South Sea Bubbles 1 v.
Eastwick, Edward B., t i88j.

Autobiography of Lutfullah 1 v.
Eccles: vide O’Conor Eccles, page 19.

Edwardes, Mrs. Annie.
Steven Lawrence, Yeoman 2 v. - A 
Vagabond Heroine 1 v. — Leah: A 
Woman of Fashion 2 v. — A Blue- 
Stocking i v. —Jet: Her Face or Her 
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Fortune? IV. — Vivian the Beauty i v. 
— A Ballroom Repentance 2 v. — A Girton 
Girl 2 v. — A Playwright’s Daughter, and 
Bertie Griffiths IV. — Pearl-Powder 1 v.

Edwards, Amelia B., t 1892.
Barbara’s History 2 v. — Hand and 
Glove IV. — Half a Million of Money 
2 v. — Debenham’s Vow 2 v. — In the 
Days of my Youth 2 v. — Monsieur 
Maurice i v. — A Night on the Borders 
of the Black Forest 1 v. — A Thousand 
Miles up the Nile 2 v. — I.ord Bracken- 
bury 2 v.

Edwards, M. Betham- : vide Betham.
Eggleston, Edward (Am.), t 1902.

The Faith Doctor 2 v.
Elbon, Barbara (Am.).

Bethesda 2 v.
Eliot, George (Miss Evans—Mrs. Cross), 

t 1880.
Adam Bede 2 v. —The Mill on the Floss 
2 v. — Silas Marner 1 v. — Romola 2 v.
— Felix Holt 2 v. — Impressions of 
Theophrastus Such 1 v.

“ Elizabeth vide Elinor Glyn and 11 Let­
ters of her Mother to Elizabeth.”

“Elizabeth and her German Garden,” 
Author of.

Elizabeth and her German Garden 1 v. — 
The Solitary Summer 1 v. — Princess 
Priscilla’s Fortnight 1 v. — The Adven­
tures of Elizabeth in Rügen 1 v. — Frau­
lein Schmidt and Mr. Anstruther 1 v. — 
Vera IV. — The Enchanted April 1 v. — 
Love IV. — Introduction to Sally 1 v.

Elliot, Mrs. Frances, t 1898.
Diary of an Idle Woman in Italy 2 v.— 
Old Court Life in France 2 v. — The 
Italians 2 v. — The Diary of an Idle 
Woman in Sicily 1 v. — Pictures of Old 
Rome IV. — The Story of Sophia 1 v. — 
Diary of an Idle Woman in Constan­
tinople Iv. — Old Court Life in Spain

Emerson, Ralph Waldo (Am.), t 1882.
Representative Men 1 v. — Essays I v. — 
Nature and Thought 1 v. — English Traits 
IV. — Conduct of Life i v.

“English Fairy Tales." 1 v.
Erroll, Henry.

An Ugly Duckling i v.

Esler, E. Rentoul.
The Way they loved at Grimpât 1 v.

„ Estelle Russell,” Author of.
Estelle Russell 2 v.

Esterre-Keeling, Elsa D'.
Three Sisters is-. — A Laughing Philo­
sopher i v. — The Professor’s Wooing 1 v. 
— In Thoughtland and in Dreamland 
IV. — Orchardscroft 1 v. — Appassionata 
IV. — Old Maidsand Young 2 v. — The 
Queen’s Serf i v.

“Euthanasia,” Author of.
Euthanasia 1 v.

Ewing, Juliana Horatia, t 1885.
A Flat Iron for a Farthing 1 v. — The
Brownies, and other Tales 1 v.

“Expiated," Author of.
Expiated 2 v.

Fergus, F. J.: vide Hugh Conway.
Farrar, F. W. (Dean), t 1903.

Darkness and Dawn 3 v.
“Fate of Fenella, the,” Authors of.

The Fate of Fenella, by 24 Authors 1 v.
Felkin, Alfred Laurence: vide E. T. 

Fowler.
Felkin, Mrs.: vide E. T. Fowler.

Fendali, Percy: vide F. C. Philips.

Fenn, George Manville.
The Parson 0’ Dumford 2 v. — The 
Clerk of Portwick 2 v.

Ferber, Edna (Am.).
Show Boat i v. — So Big 1 v.

Findlater, Mary Ł Jane (Am.): vide 
Kate Douglas Wiggin.

Fitzgerald, Edward.
Rubáiyát of Omar Khayyam 1 v.

Fleming, George (Am.).
Andromeda 2 v.

Forbes, Archibald, 119°°-
My Experiences of the War between 
France and Germany 2 v. — Vide also 
“Daily News,” War Correspondence.

Forrest, R. E.
Eight Days 2 v.



ІО Taiichnitł Edition. Complete List.

Forrester, Mrs.
Viva 2 V. — Rhona 2 v. — My Lord and 
My Lady 2 v. — I have laved and Loved 
2 v. —June 2 v. —Although he was a Lord, 
and otherTalesi v. — Corisande.and other 
Tales tv.—Once A gain 2 v.—Of the World, 
Worldly tv. — Dearest 2 v. — The Light 
of other Days 1 v. — Too Late Repented

Forster, John, t 1876.
The Life of Charles Dickens (with Illus­
trations and Portraits) 6 v. — Life and 
Times of Oliver Goldsmith 2 v.

Fothergill, Jessie.
Probation 2 v. — Made or Marred, and 
“One of Three” i v. — Peril 2 v. — 
Borderland 2 v.

“Found Dead,” Author of: vide James 
Payn.

Fowler, Ellen Thorneycroft (Mrs. Alfred 
Laurence Felkin).

A Double Thread 2 v. — Place and 
Power 2 V. — In Subjection 2 V. — Miss 
Fallowfield’s Fortune 1 v.

Fowler, Ellen Thorneycroft (Mrs. A. L. 
Felkin), & Alfred Laurence Felkin.

Kate of Kate Hall 2 v.
Fox, Caroline, 11871.

Memories of Old Friends from her Jour­
nals and Letters, edited by Horace N.

Francis, M. E.
The Duenna of a Genius 1 v.

Frederic, Harold (Am.), t 1898.
Illumination 2 v.

Freeman, Edward A., t 1892.
The Growth of the English Constitution 
tv. — Sketches from French Travel 1 v.

Froude, James Anthony, t 1894.
Oceana tv. — The Spanish Story of the 
Armada, and other Essays I v.

Fullerton, Lady Georgiana, t 1885.
Ellen Middleton Iv. — Lady Bird 2 v. 
— Too Strange not to be True 2 v. 
— Constance Sherwood 2 v. — Mrs. 
Geralds’ Niece 2 v. — The Notary’s 
Daughter IV. — The Lilies of the Valley, 
and The House of Penarvan 1 v. — 
The Life of Luisa de Carvajal 1 v. — A 

Will and a Way, and The Handkerchief 
at the Window 2 v. — Eliane 2 v. (by Mrs. 
Augustus Craven, translated by Lady Ful­
lerton). — Laurentia 1 v.

Galsworthy, John, * 1867.
The Country House i v.— Fraternity 1 v.— 
Villa Rubein i v. — A Man of Devon, 
tec. IV. — A Motley i v. —The Patrician 
i v. —Justice, and Other Plays 1 v. — The 
Silver Box, and Other Plays 1 v. — The 
Inn of Tranquillity 1 v. —The Island Pha­
risees tv. — The Dark Flower 1 v. — A 
Bit 0’ Love, and Other Plays 1 v. — A 
Family Man, and Other Hays 1 v. — Cap­
tures i v. — The White Monkey 1 v. — The 
Forsyte Saga 3 v. — The Silver Spoon 1 v. 
— Beyond tv. — Castles in Spain, and 
Other Screeds Iv. — Two Forsyte Inter­
ludes tv. — The Forest, and Six Short 
Plays i v.

Gardiner: vide Lady Blessington.

Gaskell, Mrs., t 1865.
Ruth 2 v. — J.izzie Leigh, and other 
Tales IV. — The Life of Charlotte Bronte 
2 v. — Lois the Witch etc. 1 v. — Sylvia’,s 
Lovers 2 v. — Wives and Daughters 3 v. 
— Cranford i v.

“Geraldine Hawthorne,” Author of: 
vide Author of “ Miss Molly."

Gerard, Dorothea (Madame Longard de 
Longgarde).

Lady Baby 2 v. — Recha 1 v. — Ortho­
dox i v. — TheWrong Man 1 v. — A Spot­
less Reputation IV. — One Year 1 v._ The
Supreme Crime 1 v. — The Blood-Tax 1 v. 
— The Eternal Woman 1 v. — Made of 
Money Iv. — The Bridge of Life 1 v. — 
The Three Essentials 1 v. — The Improb­
able Idyl i v. — The Compromise 2 v. — 
Itinerant Daughters r v. — Restitution 1 v. 
— PompandCircumstancei v. —TheGrass 
Widow IV. — A Glorious Lie 1 v. — The 
Unworthy Pact 1 v.

Gerard, E. (Emily de Łaszowska).
A Secret Mission tv. — A Foreigner 2 v. 
— The Extermination of Love 2 v.

Giberne, Agnes.
The Curate's Home 1 v.

Gladstone, W. E., t 1898.
Rome and the Newest Fashions in Re­
ligion IV. — Bulgarian Horroni, and 
Russia in Türkistan, with other Tracts 
i v. — The Hellenic Factor in the Eastern 
Problem, with other Tracts I v.
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Glyn, Elinor.
The Visits of Elizabeth i v. — The Re­
flections of Ambrosine i v. — The Vicissi­
tudes of Evangeline IV. — Beyond the 
Rocks tv. — Three Weeks i v. — Eliza­
beth Visits America i v. — His Hour i v. 
— The Reason Why i v.— Halcyone i v.— 
The Contrast i v.— Guinevere’s Lover I v. 
— Man and Maid i v. — Six Days i v. — 
The Great Moment I v. — Love’s Blind­
ness IV. — “It,” and Other Stories i v.

Godfrey, Hal: vide Charlotte O’Conor
Eccles.

Goldring, Douglas.
Nobody Knows Iv. — Cuckoo i v. — The 
Merchant of Souls I v. — The Façade I v.

Goldsmith, Oliver, t i?74-
Select Works 2 v.

Goodman, Edward J.
Too Curious i v.

Gordon, Julien (Am.).
A Diplomat’s Diary i v.

Gore, Mrs., t 1861.
Castles in the Air i v. — The Dean’s 
Daughter 2 v. — Progress and Prejudice 
2 v. — Mammon 2 v. — A I.ife’s Lessons 
2v. — The Two Aristocracies a v. — Heck- 
ington 2 V.

Grand, Sarah,
Our Manifold Nature i v. — Babs the 
Impossible 2 v. — Emotional Moments i v.

Grant, Miss.
Victor Lesear 2 v. — The Sun-Maid 2 v. 
— My Heart’s in the Highlands 2 v. — 
Artiste 2 V. — Prince Hugo 2 V.

Gray, Maxwell.
The Reproach of Annesley 2 v.

Grenville: Murray, E. C. (Trois-Etoiles), 
f i88i.

The Member for Paris 2 v. — Young 
Brown 2 v. — The Boudoir Cabal 3 v. — 
French Pictures in English Chalk (Second 
Series) 2 v. — Strange Tales 1 v. — 
That Artful Vicar 2 v. — Six Months in 
the Ranks 1 v.

Grey, Zane (Am.).
Tappan's Burro, and Other Stories 1 v. — 
The Call of the Canyon 1 v. — The Thun­
dering Herd 1 v.

Grimwood, Ethel St.Clair.
My Three Years in Manipur 1 v.

Grohman, W. A. Baillie.
Tyrol and the Tyrolese 1 v.

Guthrie, F. Anstey: vide Anstey.

“Guy Livingstone," Author of (George 
Alfred Laurence), t 1876.

Guy Livingstone Iv. — Sword and 
Gown IV. — Border and Bastillei v. — 
Maurice Dering 1 v. — Sans Merci 2 v. 
— Breaking a Butterfly 2 v. — Anteros 
2 V. — Hagarene 2 v.

Habberton, John (Am.).
Helen’s Babies & Other People’s Chil­
dren i V.

Haggard, Sir H. Rider, t 1925.
King Solomon’s Mines 1 v. — She 2v. — 
Jess 2 v. — Allan Quatermain 2 v. — 
Cleopatra 2 v. — The Wizard 1 v. — 
Ayesha. The Return of ‘She’ 2 v. — 
The Lady of Blossholme 1 v. — Morning 
Star IV. — Queen Sheba’s Ring 1 v. — 
Child of Storm 1 v. — The Wanderer’s 
Necklace IV. — Wisdom’s Daughter 1 v. 
— Heu-Heu, or The Monster tv. — Queen 
of the Dawn IV. — The Treasure of the 
Lake tv. — Allan and the Ice-Gods т v.

Hall, Mrs. S. C., t 1881.
Can Wrong be Right? 1 v. — Marian 2 v.

Kamerton, P. G., t 1894.
Marmorne 1 v. — French and English 2 v.

Hardy, Rev. E. J.
How to be Happy though Married 1 v.— 
Still Happy though Married 1 v.

Hardy, Miss Iza: vide Author of “Not 
Easily Jealous."

Hardy, Thomas t 1928.
Far from the Madding Crowd 2 v. — The 
Return of the Native 2 v. — A Pair of 
Blue Eyes 2 v. — A Group of Noble 
Dames 1 v. — Tess of the D’Urbervilles 
2 v. —Life's Little Ironies i v. —Jude 
the Obscure 2 v. — A Changed Man 1 v. 
— The Romantic Adventures of a Milk­
maid i V.

Harraden, Beatrice.
Ships that pass in the Night 1 v. — The 
Fowler 2 v. — Youth Calling 1 v.— Rachel 

i i v. — Search Will Find It Out 1 v.
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Harrison, Agnes.
Martin’s Vineyard i v.

Harrison, Mrs. : Lucas Malet.
Harte, Bret (Am.), t 1902.

Prose and Poetry vol. 1 — Jeff Briggs’s 
Love Story, and other Tales 1 v. — f lip, 
and othei Stories 1 v. — Snow-bound 
at Eagle’s, and Devil’s Ford 1 v. — 
The Crusade of the “ Excelsior” 1 v. 
— The Heritage of Dedlow Marsh, and 
otherTales tv. — A First Family of Tasa- 
jara i v. — Sally Dows, etc. 1 v. — The 
Bell-Ringer of Angel’s, etc. 1 v. — 
The Ancestors of Peter Atherly, etc. 1 v.— 
— Mr. Jack Hamlin’s Mediation, and 
other Stories i v.

Sir Henri Havelock: vide Rev.W. Brock.
Hawthorne, Nathaniel (Am.), f 1864.

The Scarlet Letter 1 v. — Passages from 
his English Note-Books 2 v.

Hay, John (Am.), t 1905; vide “The 
Bread-Winners,” Author of.

Hay, Marie.
Mas’aniello 1 v. — The Evil Vineyard 1 v.

Hearn, Lafcadio, t 1904.
Kokoro tv. — Kwaidan 1 v. — Glimpses 
of Unfamiliar Japan (First Series) 1 v. 
— Glimpses of Unfamiliar Japan (Second 
Series) IV. — Gleanings in Buddha-Fields 
IV. — Out of the East 1 v. — The Romance 
of the Milky Way, etc. 1 v.

Hector, Mrs.: vide Mrs. Alexander.
“Heir of Redclyffe, the," Author of: 

vide Charlotte M. Yonge.

Helps, Sir Arthur, t 1875.
Friends in Council 2 v.— Ivan de Biron 2 v.

Hernans, Mrs. Felicia, t 1835.
Select Poetical Works 1 v.

Henry, 0 (Am.), t 1910. 
Cabbages and Kings 1 v.

Heroert, A. P.
The Trials of Topsy 1 v. 
Flame i v.

The Old

Hergeshelmer, Joseph (Am.).
Java Head 1 v. — Cytherea 1 v. — Moun­
tain Blood IV. — The Three Black Pennys 
IV. — Linda Condon 1 v. — The Bright 
Shawl IV. — Balisand 1 v. — Tampico 1 v. 
— Quiet Cities I V.

Hewlett, Maurice.
Little Novels of Italy 1 v. — The Queen’s 
Quair; or, The Six Years’ Tragedy 2 v. — 
The Fool Errant 2 v. — The Stooping 
Lady IV. — Halfway House 2 v — Rest 
Harrow IV. — Lore of Proserpine 1 v.

Hichens, Robert.
Flames 2 v. — The Woman with the Fan 
2 v. — The Garden of Allah 2 v. — The 
Black Spaniel, and Other Stories 1 v. — 
The Call of the Blood 2 v. — A Spirit in 
Prison 2 v. — Barbary Sheep 1 v — Bella 
Donna 2 v. — The Spell of Egypt 1 v.— 
The Dweller on the Threshold 1 v. — The 
Londoners IV. — An Imaginative Man 1 v. 
— The Way of Ambition 2 v. — The Holy 
I-and tv. — The Last Time, and Other 
Stories i v. — After the Verdict 2 v. — The 
God Within Him 2 v.

Hobart Pasha, Admiral, t 1886.
Sketches from my Life 1 v.

Hobbes, John Oliver (Mrs. Craigie) 
(Am.), t 1906.

The Gods, Some Mortals and Lord 
Wicken ham 1 v. — The Serious Wooing 
IV. — The Dream and the Business 2 v.

Hoey, Mrs. Cashel.
A Golden Sorrow 2 v. — Out of Court 2 v.

Holdsworth, Annie E.
The Years that the Locust bath Eaten 
IV. — The Gods Arrive 1 v. — The Val­
ley of theGreatShadow 1 v. — Gi eat Low­
lands IV. — A Garden of Spinsters 1 v.

Holme Lee: vide Harriet Parr.

Holmes, Oliver Wendell (Am.), t 1894.
The Autocrat of the Breakfast-Table 
i v. —The Professor at.the Breakfast- 
Table IV. — The Poet at the Breakfast- 
Table i V.

Hope, Anthony (Hawkins).
Simon Dale 2 v. — The King’s Mirror 
2 v. — Quisanté 1 v. — The Intrusions of 
Peggy 2 v. — Double Harness 2 v. — 
Sophy of Kravonia 2 v. — Little Tiger 1 v.

Hopkins, Tighe. 11919.
An Idler in Old France 1 v. — The Silent 
Gate i v.

“Horace Templeton," Author of 
Diary and Notes 1 v.
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Hornung, Ernest William.
A Bride from the Bush i v. — Under 
Two Skies i v.—Some Persons Unknown 
IV. — The Rogue’s March i v. — Peccavi 
IV. — Denis Dent tv. — Fathersof Men 
2 v. — The Thousandth Womafi r v. — 
The Crime Doctor I v.

“Household Words."
Conducted by Charles Dickens. 1851-56. 
36 v. — Novels and Talks reprinted from 
Household Words by Charles Dickens. 
1856-59. II V.

Houstoun, Mrs.: vide “Recommended to 
Mercy."

“How to be Happy though Married”: 
vide Rev. E. J. Hardy.

Howard, Blanche Willis (Am.), t 1898. 
Aunt Serena 1 v. — Guenn 2 v. — Tony, 
the Maid, etc. 1 v.

Howard, Blanche Willis, 11898, Ł Wil­
liam Sharp (Am.), t 1905.

A Fellowe and His Wife 1 v.
Howells, William Dean (Am.).

A Foregone Conclusion 1 v. — The 
I.ady of the Aroostook 1 v. — A Modern 
Instance 2 v. — The Undiscovered Country 
IV. — Venetian Life 1 v. — Italian 
Journeys IV. — A Chance Acquaintance 
IV. — Their Wedding Journey 1 v. — A 
Fearful Responsibility, and Tonelli’s 
Marriage 1 v. — A Woman’s Reason 2 v. 
— Dr. Breen's Practice 1 v. — Miss 
Bollard’s Inspiration 1 v.

Hughes, Thomas, t 1898.
Tom Brown’s School-Days 1 v.

Hungerford, Mrs. (Mrs. Argles), t 1897. 
Mrs. Geoffrey 2 v. — Faith and Unfaith 
2 v. — Loys, Lord Berresford, and other 
Tales i V. — Rossmoyne 2v.— A Maiden 
all Forlorn, etc. 1 v. — A Pasives Crime, 
andother Stories 1 v.— A Mental Struggle 
2 v. — Her Week’s Amusement, and 
Ugly Barrington IV. — Lady Valworth’s 
Diamonds 1 v. — A Modern Circe 2 v. — 
Marvel 2 v. — Under-Currents 2 v.— In 
Durance Vile, etc. 1 v. — A Troublesome 
Girl, and other Stories 1 v. — A Life’s 
Remorse 2 v. — A Born Coquette 2 v. — 
Lady Verner’s Flight 1 v. — Nora Creina 
2 v. — A Mad Prank, and other Stories 
IV. — The Hoyden 2 v. — A Tug of 
War i v. The Professor’s Experiment 

2 v. — A Point of Conscience 2 v. — A 
Lonely Girl tv. — Lovice 1 v. — The 
Coming of Chloe 1 v.

Hunt, Mrs.: vide Beaumont.
Hunt, Violet.

The Human Interest 1 v. — White Rose 
of Weary Leaf г v. — The Wife of Alta­
mont i v.

Hutten, Baroness von (Am.).
Julia IV. — Candy, and Other Storips 1 v.
— Flies IV. — Eddy and Edouard 1 v.

Huxley Aldous
Two or Three Graces, etc. 1 v. — Those 
Barren Leaves 1 v.

Ingelow, Jean, t 1897.
Off the Skelligs 3 v. — Poems 2 v. — 
Fated to be Free 2 v. — Sarah de 
Berenger 2 v. — Don John 2 v.

Inglis, the Hon. Lady.
The Siege of Lucknow 1 v.

Ingram, John H.: vide Poe.

lota: vide Mrs. Caffyn.

Irving, Washington (Am.), t 1859.
The Sketch Book 2 v. — The Life of 
Mahomet 1 v. — Life of George Washing­
ton 5 V.

Jackson, Mrs. Helen (H. H.) (Am.), 11885.
Ramona 2 v.

Jacobs, W. W.
Many Cargoes 1 v. — The Skipper’s 
Wooing, and The Brown Man's Servant 
і v. — Sea Urchins 1 v. — A Master of 
Craft tv. — Light Freights 1 v. — AtSun- 
wichPort iV. — The Lady ofthe Barge 1 v. 
— Odd Craft IV. — Dialstone Lane v. 
— Captains All 1 v. — Short Cruises 1 v. 
— Salthaven 1 v. — Sailors’ Knots tv. — 
Ship’s Company 1 v. — Sea Whispers 1 v. 
— The Castaways 1 v.

James, Charles T. C.
Holy Wedlock i v.

James, Q. P. R., t i860.
Forest Days 1 v. —The False Heir 1 v. — 
Arabella Stuart 1 v. — Rose d’Albret 
i v. — Arrah Neil 1 v. — Agincourt 1 v. — 
The Smuggler tv. — The Step-Mother 
2 v. — Beauchamp 1 v. — Heidelberg 
IV. — The Gipsy IV. — Darnley 1 v. — 
Russell 2 v. — SirTheodore Broughton 2v.
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James, Henry (Am.).

Daisy Miller; An International Episode; 
Four Meeting's IV,— Roderick Hudson 
2 v. — Washington Square, etc. 2 v. — 
Foreign Parts i v. — Portraits of Places 
IV. — A Little Tour in France i v.

Jeaffreson, J. Cordy, f 1901
A Book about Doctors г v. — A 
Woman in spite of Herself 2 v. — The 
Real Lord Byron 3 v.

Jenkin, Mrs. Charles, t 1885.
“ Who Breaks—Pays” 1 v. — Skir­
mishing i V. — Once and Again 2 v.— 
Two French Marriages 2 v. — Jupiter’s 
Daughters i v.

Jenkins, Edward.
Ginx’s Baby, his Birth and other Mis­
fortunes ; Lord Bantam 2 v.

“Jennie of ‘The Prince’s,'" Author of: 
vide B. H. Buxton.

Jerome, Jerome K., t 1927.
The Idle Thoughts of an Idle Fellow 
i V. — Diary of a Pilgrimage, and Six 
Essays i v. — Novel Notes 1 v. — Sketches 
in Lavender, Blue and Green 1 v. — 
The Second Thoughts of an Idle Fellow 
IV. — Three Men on the Bummel tv. — 
Tea-Table Talk 1 v. — Tommy and Co. 
IV. — Idle Ideas in 1905 1 v. — The Passing 
of the Third Floor Back 1 v. — The Angel 
and the Author—and Others 1 v.—They 
and I, i v. — All Roads Lead to Calvary 
i v. —Anthony John 1 v.

Jerrold, Douglas, 11857.
History of St. Giles and St. James 2 v.

“John Halifax, Gentleman," Author of: 
vide Mrs. Craik.

Johnny Ludlow: vide Mrs. Henry Wood.
Jelly, Emily.

Colonel Dacre 2 v.
“Joshua Davidson," Author of: vide 

Mrs. E. Lynn Linton.

Kavanagh, Miss Julia, t 1877.
Nathalie 2 v. — Daisy Burns 2 v. — 
Rachel Gray 1 v. — Adèle 3 v. — A 
Summer and Winter in the Two Sicilies 
2 v. — Seven Years, and other Tales 2 v. 
— French Women of Letters 1 v. _
English Women of Letters 1 v. — Queen

Mali 2 v. — Beatrice 2 v. Dora 2 v. _
Silvia 2 v. — Bessie 2 V. —John Dorrien 
3 v. — Two Lilies 2 v. — Forget-me- 
nots 2 v. ( Vide p. 27.)

Kaye-^mlth, Sheila,
The End of the House of Alard 1 v. — Iron 
and Smoke 1 v.

Keary, Annie, t 1879.
Oldbury 2 v. — Castle Daly 2 v.

Keary, C. F.
The Mount i v.

Keeling, D’Esterre- : vide Esterre.

Kennedy, Margaret,
The Constant Nymph 1 v.

Kimball, Richard B. (Am.), f 1892.
Saint Leger IV. — Romance of Student 
Life Abroad 1 v. — Was he Successful?

Kingsley, Charles, t 1875.
Two Years ago 2 v.— Hereward the Wake 
2 v. — At Last 2 v.

Kingsley, Henry, t 1876.
Austin Elliot tv. — Geoffry Hamlyn 2 v. 
— The Hillyars and the Burtons 2 v. — 
Leighton Court IV. — Reginald Hethe- 
rege 2 V. — The Grange Garden 2 v.

Kinross, Albert.
An Opera and Lady Grasmere 1 v.

Kipling, Rudyard,
Plain Tales from the Hills 1 v. — The 
Second Jungle Book 1 v. — The Seven 
Seas IV. — “Captains Courageous” 
i v. — The Day’s Work 1 v. — A Fleet 
in Being IV, — Stalky & Co. 1 v. — From 
Sea to Sea 2 v. — The City of Dreadful 
Night i v. — Kim IV. — Just So Stories 1 v. 
— Ihe Five Nations 1 v. — Traffics and 
Discoveries IV. — Puck or" Pook’s Hill 1 v. 
— Actions and Reactions 1 v. — Rewards 
and Fairies 1 v. — Land and Sea Tales 1 v. 
— Debits and Credits 1 v.

Laffan, May.
I' litters, Tatters, and the Counsellor 1 v.

Langdon, Mary (Am.).
Ida May 1 v.

“Last of the Cavaliers, the,” Author of 
(Miss Piddington).

The Last of the Cavaliers 2 v. — The 
Gain of a Loss 2 v.

taszowska, Mme de: vide E. Gerard,
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Laurence, George Alfred: vide “Guy 
Livingstone,"

Lawless, the Hon. Emily, t 1913.
Hurrish i v.

Lawrence. D. H.
England, My England 1 v.

Mrs. Lean: vide Florence Marryat.
“Leaves from the Journal of our Life In 

the Highlands”: vide Victoria R. I.
Lee, Holme: vide Harriet Parr.
Lee, Vernon.

Pope Jacynth, etc. 1 v. — Hortus Vitae, 
and Limbo 1 v. — Vanitas 1 v. — Louis 
Norbert IV. — The Tower of the Mirrors 
it. — The Golden Keys 1 v.

Le Panu, J. S., t 1873.
Uncle Silas 2 v. — Guy Deverell 2 v.

Lemon, Mark, 11870.
Wait for the End 2 v. — Loved at Last 
2 v. — Falkner Lyle 2 v. — Leyton Hall, 
and other Tales 2 v. — Golden Fetters 2 v.

Author of “ Letters from a Self-Made 
Merchant to his Son”; vide George 
Horace Lorimer.

Author of “ The Letters of Her Mother to 
Elizabeth"; vide Trowbridge.

Lever, Charles, t 1872.
The O’Donoghue IV. — The Knight of 
Gwynne 3 V. — Arthur O’Leary 2 v. — 
Harry Lorrequer 2 v. — Charles O’Mal­
ley 3 V. — Tom Burke of “ Ours” 3 V. — 
Jack Hinton 2 V. — The Daltons 4 V. — 
The Dodd Family Abroad 3 V. — The 
Martins of Cro' Martin 3 V. — The For­
tunes of Glencore 2 v. — Davenport 
Dunn 3 V. — Confessions of Con Cregan 
2 v. — One of Them 2 v. — Maurice 
Tiernay 2 v. — Barrington 2 v. — A Day's 
Ride 2 v. — Luttrell of Arran 2 v. — Tony 
Butler 2 v. — Sir Brook Fossbrooke 2 v. 
— The Bramleighs of Bishop’s Folly 2 v. 
— A Rent in a Cloud 1 v. — That Boy 
ofNorcott’s IV. — St. Patrick’s Eve ; Paul 
Gosslett’s Confessions it. — Lord Kil- 
gobbin 1 v.

Levett-Yeats, S.
The Honour of Savelli it. — The 
Chevalier d’Auriac 1 v. —The Traitor's 
Way it. — The Lord Protector ,x v. —

Lewes, G. H., t 1878.
Ranthorpe IV. — The Physiology of
Common Life 2 v.

Lewis, Sinclair. (Am.)
Babbitt tv. — Our Mr. Wrenn it. —
Arrowsmith 1 v.

Linton, Mrs. E. Lynn, t 1898.
The true History of Joshua Davidson 
IV. — Patricia Kemball 2 v. — The 
Atonement of Leam Dundas 2 v. — The 
World well Lost 2 v. — Under which 
Lord? 2 v. —Todhunters’at Loanin’Head, 
and other Stories tv. — lone г v.

Lockhart, L. W. M., t 1882.
Mine is Thine 2 V.

Loftus, Lord Augustus.
Diplomatic Reminiscences 1837 -1862 2 v.

London, Jack (Am.), f 1916.
Burning Daylight 1 v. — The Call of the 
W ild tv. — When God Laughs 1 v. — The 
Sea-Wolf 2 v. — South Sea Tales 1 v. — 
Martin Eden 2 v. — A Son of the Sun 1 v. 
— The Son of the Wolf i v. — The Valley 
of the Moon 2 v.

Longard, Mme de: vide D. Gerard.

Longfellow, Henry Wadsworth (Am.), 
t 1882.

Poetical Works 3 v. — The New- 
England Tragedies IV. — The Divine 
Tragedy IV, — Flower-de-Luce, and 
Three Books of Song 1 v. — The Masque 
of Pandora, and other Poems 1 v.

Lonsdale, Margaret.
Sister Dora i v.

Loos, Anita (Am.). 
‘‘Gentlemen Prefer Blondes’’ 1 v.

Lorimer, George Horace (Am.).
Letters from a Self-Made Merchant to his 
Son i V. — Old Gorgon Graham 1 v. — 
Jack Spurlock, Prodigal 1 v.

“Lost Battle, A" 2 v.
Lowndes, Mrs. Belloc.

Studies in Wives IV. — The Lodger 1 v. 
— The End of her Honeymoon 1 v. — Why 
They Married 1 v. — The Terriford Mys­
tery tv. — Some Men and Women 1 v. 
— Bread of Deceit 1 v. — What Really 
Happened IV. — " Thou Shalt Not Kill ” 
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i v. — The Story of Ivy IV. — Cressida : 
No Mystery i v.

Lubbock, Sir John (Lord Avebury), 
* 1834, t Ю13.

The Beauties of Nature (with Illustrations) 
1 v.—Essays and Addresses 1900-1903 1 v.

“Lutfullah": inde Eastwick.
Lyall, Edna, t 1903.

We Two 2 v. — Donovan 2 v. — 
Knight-Errant 2 v. — Wayfaring Men 
2 v. — Hope the Hermit 2 v. — In Spite 
of All 2 v. — The Hinderers 1 v.

Lytton, Lord : vide E. Bulwer.

Lytton, Robert Lord (Owen Meredith), 
t 1891.

Poems 2 v. — Fables in Song 2 v.

Maartens, Maarten, t 1915
The Sin of Joost Avelingh r v. — An 
Old Maid’s Love 2 v. — God’s Fool 2 v. 
— The Greater Glory 2 v. — My Lady 
Nobody 2 v.—Her Memory 1 v.—MyPoor 
Relations 2 v. — Dorothea 2 v. — The 
Healers 2 v. — The Woman’s Victory, and 
Other Stories 2 v. — The New Religion 2 v. 
— Brothers All i v.—The Price of Lis Doris 
2 v.—Harmen Pols : Peasant 1 v.—Eve 2 v.

McAulay, Allan (Am.): vide Kate 
Douglas Wiggin.

Macaulay, Lord, t 1859.
History of England 10 v. — Critical and 
Historical Essays 5 V. — I.ays of Ancient 
Rome i v. — Speeches 2 v. — Bio­
graphical Essays i v. — (See also Trevel­
yan).

Macaulay, Rose.
Told by an Idiot 1 v. — Orphan Island 1 v. 
— A Casual Commentary 1 v. — Crewe 
Train IV. — Keeping up Appearances 1 v.

McCarthy, Justin.
The Waterdale Neighbours 2 v. _
Dear Lady Disdain 2 v. — Miss Misan­
thrope 2 v. — Donna Quixote 2 v. — A 
Short History of our Own Times. 2 v. — 
A Short History of our Own Times.
Vol. 3 (supplemental).

MacDonald, George, 11905.
Alec Forbes of Howglen 2 v. — David 
Elginbrod 2 v. — The Vicar’s Daughter 
2 v. — Malcolm 2 v. — St George and 

St. Michael 2 v. — Tlie Marquis of 
Lossie 2 v. — Sir Gibbie 2 v. — Mary 
Marston 2 v. — The Gifts of the Child 
Christ, and other Tales 1 v. — The Prin­
cess and Curdie 1 v.

Mackarness, Mrs., t 1881.
Sunbeam Stories 1 v. — A Peerless
Wife 2 v. — A Mingled Yarn 2 v.

Mackay, Eric, t 1898.
Love Letters of a Violinist, and other 
Poems i v.

Mackenzie, Compton.
The Old Men of the Sea 1 v.

McKnight, Charles (Am.), t 1881.
Old Fort Duquesne 2 v.

Maclaren, Ian, t 1907.
Beside the Bonnie Brier Bush 1 v. _
The Days of Auld Langsyne 1 v.

Macleod, Norman, t 1872.
The Old Lieutenant and his Son 1 v.

Macquoid, Mrs.
Patty 2 v. — Miriam’s Marriage 2 v. — Pic­
tures across the Channel 2 v. — My Story 
2 v. — Diane 2 v. — Beside the River 2 v. — 
A Faithful Lover 2 v.

“Mademoiselle Mori,” Author of (Miss 
Roberts).

Mademoiselle Mori 2 v. — Denise 1 v. 
— Madame Fontenoy 1 v. — On the 
Edge of the Storm 1 v. — The Atelier du 
Lys 2 v. — In the Olden Time 2 v.

Mahon, Lord : vide Stanhope.

Maine, E. S.
Scarscliff Rocks 2 v.

Malet, Lucas (Mrs. Mary St. Leger 
Harrison).

Colonel Enderby’s Wife 2 v. — The 
History of Sir Richard Calmady 3 V. — The 
Far Horizon 2 v. — The Score 1 v. _
Adrian Savage 2 v.

Malmesbury, the Earl of.
Memoir* of an Ex-Minister 3 v.

Mann, Mary E.
A Winter’s Tale tv. — The Cedaz 
Star i v.

MansMeld, Robert Blachford.
The Log of the Water Lily 1 v.
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Mark Twain: vide Twain.
Marlowe, Christopher, t 1593.

Doctor Faustus; Edward the Second ; The 
Jew of Malta 1 v.

“Marmorne," Author of: vide P. G. 
Hamerton.

"Marriage,” the Authors of (Am.). 
Marriage. Short Stories of Married Life 
by American Writers 1 v.

Marry at, Capt., t 1848.
The Privateer’s-Man 1 v. —The Children 
of the New-Forest 1 v. — Valerie 1 v. — 
Mr. Midshipman Easy 2 v. — (Pi<Z#p. 27.)

Marryat, Florence, t 1809.
Love’s Conflict 2 v. — The Confessions 
of Gerald Estcourt 2 v. — Nelly Brooke 2 v. 
— Véronique 2 v. — Petronel 2 v. — Her 
Lord and Master 2 v. — The Prey of the 
Gods IV. — Life and Letters of Captain 
Marryat tv. — Mad Dumaresq 2 v. — 
No Intentions 2 v. — Fighting the Air 
2 v.—The Poison ofAsps, andotherStories 
i v. — “My own Child ” 2 v. — A Harvest 
of Wild Oats 2 v. — A Little Stepson 1 v. 
—Written in Fire 2 v. —Her World against 
a Lie 2 v. — The Root of all Evil 2 v. — 
The Fair-haired Alda 2 v. — With Cupid’s 
Eyes 2 v. — My Sister the Actress 2 v. — 
Phyllida 2 v.—Facing the Footlights 2 v.— 
A Moment of Madness, and other Stories 
IV. — The Ghost of Charlotte Cray, and 
other Stories i v.— Peeress and Player 2 v. 
— Under the Lilies and Roses 2 v. — The 
Heart of Jane Warner 2 v. — The Heir 
Presumptive 2 v. — The Master Passion 
2 v. — Spiders of Society 2 v. — Driven 
to Bay 2 v. — A Daughter of the Tropics 
2 v. — Mount Eden. A Romance 2 v. 
— Blindfold 2 v. — A Bankrupt Heart 
2 v. — The Beautiful Soul 1 v. — At 
Heart a Rake 2 v. — The Strange 
Transfiguration of Hannah Stubbs 1 v. 
—■ The Dream that Stayed 2 v. — A 
Passing Madness 1 v. — The Blood of 
the Vampire 1 v. — A Soul on Fire 1 v. 
— Iris the Avenger 1 v.

Marsh, Mrs, Anne, t 1874.
Ravenscliffe 2 v. — Emilia Wyndham 
2 v. — Aubrey 2 v. — The Heiress of 
Haughton 2 v.—The Rose of Ashurst 2 v.

Marshall, Mrs. Emma, 11899.
Mrs. Mainwaring’s Journal 1 v. —
Benvenuta i v. — Lady Alice 1 v. — 

Daysnring tv. — Life’s Aftermath 1 v. — 
In theEastCountry 1 v.—No. X1H ; or,The 
Story of the Lost Vestal 1 v. — In Four 
Reigns i v. — On the Banks of the Ouse 
IV. — Alma tv. — Under Salisbury Spire 
tv. — Winchester Meads 1 v. — Eventide 
I.ight i v. — Winifrede’s Journal 1 v. — 
Bristol Bells IV. — A Lily among Thorns 
IV. — Penshurst Castle tv.— Kensington 
Palace IV. — The Master of the Music­
ians tv. — An Escape from the Tower 
IV. — A Haunt of Ancient Peace 1 v. — 
Castle Meadow 1 v. — In the Choir of 
Westminster Abbey 1 v. — The Young 
Queen of Hearts 1 v. — Under the Dome 
of St. Paul’s i v. — tyide p. 27.)

Mason, A. E. W.
The Broken Road 1 v. — At the Villa Rose 
tv. — The House of the Arrow 1 v. — 
The Winding Stair 1 v. — No Other Tiger

Mathers, Helen (Mrs. Henry Reeves).
“Cherry Ripe!” 2 v. — “Land 0’ the 
Leal ” IV. — My Lady Green Sleeves 2 v. 
— As he comes up the Stair, etc. 1 v. — 
Sam’s Sweethearts v. — Eyre’s Acquittal 
2 v. — Found Out i v.—The Fashion of this 
World (80 Pf.) — Blind Justice, and “Who, 
being dead, yet Speaketh ” 1 v. — What 
the Glass Told, and A Study of a Woman 
IV. — Bam Wildfire 2 v. — Becky 2 v. — 
— “ Honey ” i v.—The New Lady Teazle, 
andOtherStories and Essays 1 v.— Tally 
Ho ! 2 v. — Pigskin and Petticoat 2 v. — 
Gay Lawless 1 v.

Maugham W. Somerset.
The Trembling of a Leaf 1 v. — The 
Painted Veil IV. — Ashenden or theBrithh 
Agent IV. — The Casuarina Tree 1 v.

Maurice, Colonel.
The Balance of Military Power in 
Europe i v.

Maurier, George du, 11896.
Trilby 2 v. — The Martian 2 v.

Maxwell, Mrs.: vide Miss Braddon.

Maxwell, W. B.
The Ragged Messenger 2 v. — In Cotton 
Wool 2 v. — The Day’s Journey 1 v. — 
Children of the Night 1 v. — Fernande 
ir.— Spinster of this Parish 1 v. — The 
Case of Bevan Yorke 1 v. — Gabrielle 1 v. 
— We Forget Because We Must 1 v.

“Mehalah" : vide Baring-Gould.
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Melville, George J. Whyte, 11878.
Kate Coventry tv. — Digby Grand 1 v. 
— Good for Nothing 2 v. — The Queen’s 
Maries 2 v. — The Gladiators 2 v. — The 
Brookes of Bridlemere 2 v. — Cerise 2 v. 
— The Interpreter 2 v. — The White Rose 
2 v. — M. or N. IV. — Contraband 1 v. 
— Sarchedon 2 v. — Uncle John 2 v. — 
Katerfelto IV. — Sister Louise 1 v. — 
Rosine IV. — Roys’ Wife 2 v. — Black 
but Comely 2 v.

Mencken, H. L. (Am.).
In Defence of Women 1 v.

Meredith, George, t 1909.
The Ordeal of Richard Leverei 2 v. — 
Beauchamp’s Career 2 v. — The Tragic 
Comedians 1 v. — The Egoist 2 v. — 
Rhoda Fleming 2 v.

Meredith, Owen : vide Robert Lord Lytton.
Merrick, Hope.

Магу-Girl i v.
Merrick, Leonard.

Cynthia IV. — One Man’s View 1 v. — 
The Worldlings tv. — When Love flies 
out 0’ the Window i v. — Whispers 
about Women 1 v. —The Man who Under­
stood Women, etc. i V.

Merriman, Henry Seton, 11903.
Prisoners and Captives 2 v. — From 
One Generation to Another 1 v.—Flotsam 
IV. — Roden’s Corner 1 v.

Mill, John Stuart, *1806, f 1873.
On Liberty and The Subjection of Women

Milne, James. •
The Epistles of Atkins 1 v.

Milton, John, t 1674.
Poetical Works 1 v.

“Miss Molly,” Author of.
Geraldine Hawthorne 1 v.

“Molly Bawn," Author of: vide Mrs.
Hungerford.

Montague, 0. E.
Rough Justice IV. — Right off the Map 

Montgomery, Florence.
Misunderstood i v. Thrown To
gether sv. — Wild Mike 1 v. — Colonel 
Norton 2 y.

Moore, Frank Frankfort.
•‘I Forbid the Banns” 2 v. — One Fair 
Daughter 2 v. — Nell Gwyn — Come­
dian IV. — A Damsel or Two 1 v. — Castle 
Omeragh 2 v. — Shipmates in Sunshine 
2 v. — The Original Woman 1 v. — The 
White Causeway 1 v. — The Artful Miss 
Dill IV. — The Marriage Lease 1 v. — An 
Amateur Adventuress 1 v. — Priscilla and 
Charybdis 2 v. — The Food of Love 1 v. — 
The Laird of Craig Athol 1 v.

Moore, George.
The Untilled Field 1 v. — Confessions of a 
Young Man i v. — The Lake 1 v. — Muslin 
2 v. — The Coming of Gabrielle 1 v. — 
Celibate Lives i v.

Morgan, Lady, t 1859.
Memoirs 3 v.

Morrison, Arthur.
A Child of the Jago 1 v. — To London 
Town IV. — Cunning Murrell IV. — 
The Hole in the Wall 1 v. — The Green 
Eye of Goona IV. — Divers Vanities 1 v. 
— Green Ginger i v.

Mulock, Miss: vide Mrs. Craik.
Murray, David Christie.

Rainbow Gold 2 v.
Murray, Grenville: vide Grenville.
“ My Little Lady," Author of : vide E. 

Frances Poynter.
New Testament, the.

The Authorised English Version, with 
Introduction and Various Readings from 
the three most celebrated Manuscripts of 
the Original Text, by Constantine Tischen­
dorf (vol. 1000, published 1869) i v.

Newby, Mrs. C. J.
Common Sense 2 v.

Nicholls, Mrs.: vide Curren Bell.
“Nina Balatka," Author of: vide An­

thony Trollope.
“No Church," Author of (F.Robinson).

No Church 2 v. — Owen :—a Waif 2 v.
Noel, Lady Augusta.

Hithersea Mere 1 v.
Norris, W. E.

A Bachelor’s Blunder 1 v. — The Rogue
2 v. — Miss Shafto 2 y. — Mrs. Fenton 1 y. 
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— Misadventure 2 v. — Saint Ann’s 1 v. 
— A Victim of Good Luck 1 v. — Clarissa 
Furiosa 2 v. — Marietta’s Marriage 2 v. 
— The Fight for the Crown 1 v. — The 
Widower tv. — Giles Ingilby 1 v. — The 
Flowerofthe Flock 1 v. — His Own Father 
IV. — The Credit of the County tv. — 
Lord Leonard the Luckless 1 v. — Nature’s 
Comedian 1 v. — Nigel’s Vocation 1 v. — 
Barham of Bekana 1 v. — Harryand Ursula 
IV. — The Square Peg 1 v. — The Perjurer 
IV. — Not Guilty IV. — Paul’s Paragon 
IV. — The Triumphs of Sara 1 v. — Tony 
the Exceptional 1 v.

Norton, Hon. Mrs., 11877.
Stuart of Dunleath 2 v. — Old Sir Douglas

“Not Easily Jealous," Author of (Miss 
Iza Hardy).

Not Easily Jealous 2 v.
“Novels and Tales": vide “Household 

Words.”
“ Nursery Rhymes.” 1 v.
O'Conor Eccles, Charlotte (Hal God­

frey) .,
The Matrimonial Lottery 1 v.

Oldmeadow, Ernest.
Susan i v.

Oliphant, Laurence, 11888.
Altiora Peto 2 v. — Masollam 2 v.

Oliphant, Mrs., 11897.
The Last of the Mortimers 2 v. — Mrs. 
Margaret Maitland 1 v. — Agnes 2 v. — 
Madonna Mary 2 v. — The Minister’s 
Wife 2 v. — The Rector and the Doctor’s 
Family IV. — Salem Chapel 2 v. — The 
Perpetual Curate 2 v. — Miss Marjori- 
banks 2 v. — Ombra 2 v. — Memoir of 
Count de Montalembert 2 v. — May 2 v. — 
Innocent 2 v —For Love and Life 2 v.— 
The Story of Valentine and his Brother 
2 v. — Whiteladies 2 v. — The Curate in 
Charge IV. — Phoebe, Junior 2 v. — Mrs. 
Arthur 2 v. — Carità 2 v. — Young Mus­
grave 2 v. — The Primrose Path 2 v.
Within the Precincts 3 v. — The Greatest 
Heiress in England 2 v. — He that will not 
when he may 2 V. — Harry Joscelyn 2 v. — 
In Trust 2 v. — It was a Lover and his 
Lass 3 v. — The Ladies Lindores 3 V. — 
Hester 3 V. — The Wizard s Son 3 V. —A 
Country Gentleman and his Family 2 v. — 

Neighbours on the Green 1 v. — Ihe 
Duke’s Daughter 1 v. — The Fugitives 1 v. 
— Kirsteenz v. — Life of Laurence Oliphant 
and of A lice Oliphant, his Wife 2 v. — The 
Little Pilgrim in the Unseen i v. —The Heir 
Presumptive and the Heir Apparent 2 v. — 
The Sorceress 2 v. — Sir Robert’s Fortune 
2 v. — The Ways of Life 1 v. — Old Mr. 
Tredgold 2 v.

“One who has kept a Diary": vide 
George W. E. Russell.

Oppenheim E Phillips
Prodigals of Monte Carlo 1 v.

Orczy, Baroness.
The Scarlet Pimpernel 1 v. — I will Repay 
tv. — The Elusive Pimpernel 1 v. — Eldo­
rado 2 v. — Nicolette tv. — The Ho­
nourable Jim tv. — Pimpernel and Rose­
mary Iv. — Unravelled Knots 1 v. — The 
Celestial City tv. — Sir Percy Hits Back 
IV. — “ Skin 0’ My Tooth ’• i v.

Osbourne, Lloyd (Am.).
Baby Bullet Iv. — Harm’s Way 1 v. — 
The Kingdoms of the World 1 v.

Ouida, 11908.
Idalia 2 v. — Puck 2 v. — Folle-Farine 
2 v. — Cecil Castlemaine’s Gage, and 
other Novelettes IV. — Madame la Mar­
quise, and other Novelettes 1 v. — Pas- 
carèl 2 v. — Two little Wooden Shoes 1 v. 
— Signa 3 v. — Ariadne 2 v. — Friends­
hip 2 v. — Moths 3 v. — A Village Com­
mune 2 v. — In Maremma 3 V.— Wanda 
3 v. — Frescoes and other Stories 1 v. — 
Othmar 3 v. — A Rainy June (60 Pf.). 
Don Gesualdo (60 Pf.). — A House Party 
IV. — Guilderoy 2 v. — Syriin 3 v. •— 
Santa Barbara, etc. 1 v. — Two Offenders 
i v. — The Silver Christ, etc. 1 v. — Le 
Selve, and Tonia 1 v. — An Altruist, and 
Four Essays 1 v. — Helianthus 2 v.

“Outcasts, the," Author of : vide “ Roy
Tellet."

Parker, Sir Gilbert.
The Battle of the Strong 2 v. —The Seats 
of the Mighty 2 V. — The Judgment House

Parr, Harriet (Holme Lee), t 1900.
Basil Godfrey’s Caprice 2 v. — For Richer, 
for Poorer 2 v. — The Beautiful Miss Bar­
rington 2 v. — Her Title of Honour IV. — 
Echoes of a Famous Year 1 v. — Kathe­
rine’s Trial IV. — The Vicissitudes of 
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Bessie Fairfax 2 v.— Ben Milner’sWooing 
IV. — Straightforward 2 v. — Mrs. Denys 
of Cote 2 v. — A Poor Squire 1 v.

Parr, Mrs.
Dorothy Fox IV. — The Prescotts of 
Pamphillon 2 v. —The Gosau Smithy, etc. 
IV. — Robin 2 V. — Loyalty George 2 v.

Paston, George.
A Study in Prejudices 1 v. — A Fair 
Deceiver i V.

Pasture,Mrs. Henry de la.
Master Christopher 2 v.

Paul, Mrs.: vide “Still Waters."

“Paul Ferrell,” Author of (Mrs.Caroline 
Clive), t 1873.

Paul Ferroll IV. — Year after Year 1 v. 
— Why Paul Ferroll killed bis Wife 1 v.

Payn, James, f 1898.
Found Dead 1 v. — Gwendoline's Har­
vest IV. — Like Father, like Son z v. — 
Not Wooed, but Won 2 v. — Cecil’s Tryst 
i v. — A Woman’s Vengeance 2 v. — 
Murphy's Master 1 v. — In the Heart of 
a Hill, and other Stories 1 v. — At Her 
Mercy 2 v. — The Best of Husbands 2 v. — 
Walter’s Word 2 v. — Halves 2 v. — 
Fallen Fortunes 2 v. — What He cost Her 
2 v — By Proxy 2 v. — Less Black than 
we’re Painted 2 v. — Under one Roof 
2 v. — High Spirits IV. — High Spirits 
(Second Seríes) i v. — A Confidential 
Agent 2 v. — From Exile 2 v. — A Grape 
from a Thorn 2 v. — Some Private Views 
IV. — For Cash Only 2 v. — Kit : A Me­
mory 2 v. — The Canon’s Ward (with 
Portrait) 2 v. — Some Literary Re­
collections IV. — The Talk of the Town 
IV. — The Luck of the Darrells 2 v. — 
The Heir ofthe Ages 2 v.— Holiday Tasks 
IV. — Glow-Worm Tales (Hrst Series) 
i v. — A Prince of the Blood 2 v. — The 
Mystery of Mirbridge 2 v. — The Burnt 
Million 2 V. — The Word and the Will 
2 v. — A Modern Dick Whittington 
2 v. — A Stumble on the Threshold 
2 v. — A Trying Patient 1 v. — Gleams 
of Memory, and The Eavesdropper 1 v.— 
In Market Overt 1 v. — Another’s Burden 
etc. IV.—The Backwater of Life, or Essays 
of a Literary Veteran 1 v.

Peard, Frances Mary.
One Yearav.—The Rose-Garden 1 v.— 
Thorpe Regis Tv. — A Winter Story 1 v. 

— A Madrigal, and other Stories 1 v. — 
Cartouche tv. — Mother Molly 1 v. — 
Schloss and Town 2 v. — Contradictions 
2 v. — Near Neighbours 1 v. — Alicia 
Tennant tv. — Madame'sGranddaughter 
IV. — Number One and Number Two 1 v. 
— The Ring from Jaipur 1 v. — The 
Flying Months i v.

Pemberton, Max.
A W oman of Kronstadt 1 v. — The Garden 
of Swords IV. — The Footstepsof a Throne 
IV. — The Giant’s Gate 2 v. — I crown 
thee King i v. —Red Morn 1 v. — Mid 
the Thick Arrows 2 v. — Mý Sword for 
Lafayette 1 v. — The Lodestar 1 v. — 
Love the Harvester 1 v.

Percy, Bishop Thomas, t 1811.
Reliques of Ancient English Poetry 3 V.

Perrin, Alice.
Government House I v. — Rough Passa­
ges i V.

Philips, F. C.
The Dean and his Daughter 1 v. — Lucy 
Smith IV.— A Lucky Young Woman iv. 
— Jack and Three Jillk 1 v. — Young 
Mr. Ainslie’s Courtship 1 v. — Exten­
uating Circumstances, and A French 
Marriage I v. — More Social Vicissitudes 
i v. — Constance 2 v. — That Wicked 
Mad’moiselle, etc. 1 v. — A Doctor in 
Difficulties, etc. iv. — “One Never 
Knows” 2 v. — Of Course i v. — Miss 
Ormerod's Protégé tv. — My little Hus­
band iv. — Mrs. Bouverie iv. — A 
Question of Colour, and otherStories iv.— 
A Devil in Nun’s Veiling 1 v. — A Full 
Confession, and other Stories 1 v. — The 
Luckiest of Three 1 v. — Poor Little Bella 
iv. — Eliza Cla.rke, Governess, and Other 
Stories iv. — Schoolgirls of To-day, etc. 
i v. — If Only, etc. iv. — An Unfortunate 
Blend iv. — A Barrister’s Courtship 1 v.

Philips, F. C., & Percy Fendali.
Margaret Byng 1 v. — Disciples of Plato

Philips, F. C., Ł C. J. Wills.
The Fatal Phryne iv. — The Scudamores 
iv. — A Maiden Fair to See iv. — Sybil 
Ross’s Marriage 1 v.

Phillpotts, Eden.
Lying Prophets 2 v. — The Human Boy 
iv. — Sons of the Morning 2 v. — The 
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Good Red Earth I v.— The Striking Hours 
IV. — The Farm of the Dagger i v. — 
Ťhe Whirlwind 2 v. — The Human Boy 
Again tv. — From the Angle of Seventeen 
IV. — The Bronze Venus i v. — The Grey 
Room IV. — The Red Redmaynes i v. — 
A Human Boy’s Diary i v. — Cheat- 
the-Boys IV. — A Voice from the Dark 
IV. — The Marylebone Miser i v. — The 
Jury i V.

Phillpotts, E., & Arnold Bennett.
■ The Sinews of War i v. —The Statue i v.

Piddington, Miss: vide Author of “The 
Last of the Cavaliers."

Poe, Edgar Allan (Am.), 11849.
Poems and Essays, edited with a new 
Memoir by John H. Ingram 1 v. — Tales, 
edited byJohn H. Ingram 1 V. — Fantastic 
Tales i v.

Pope, Alexander, 11744.
Select Poetical Works 1 v.

Poynter, Miss E. Frances.
My Little Lady 2V.—Ersilia 2 v.— Among 
the Hills i V.

Praed, Mrs. Campbell.
Affinities IV. — The Head Station 2 v.

Prentiss, Mrs. E. (Am.), t 1878.
Stepping Heavenward 1 v.

Prince Consort, the, 11861.
Speeches and Addresses 1 v.

Pryce, Richard.
Miss Maxwell’s Affections 1 v. — The 
Quiet Mrs. Fleming 1 v. — Time and the 
Woman i v.

Pym, H. N. : vide Caroline Fox.

Quiiler-Couch. Sir A. T. (“ Q ”).
I Saw Three Ships 1 v. — Dead Man’s 
Rock IV. — Ia and other Tales 1 v. — 
The Ship of Stars 1 v. — Fort Amity 1 v. 
— Shakespeare’s Christmas, and Other 
Stories it. — The Mayor of Troy 1 v. — 
Merry-Garden, and Other Stories 1 v. — 
Brother Copas 1 v.

Quincey: vide De Quincey.

Rae, W. Fraser, 11905.
Westward by Rail 1 v. — Miss Bayle's 
Romance 2 v. — The Business ofTravel 1 v.

Raimond, C. E.: vide Elizabeth Robins 
(Am.).

“ Rajah's Heir, the." 2 v.

Reade, Charles, t 1884.
Hard Cash 3 v. — Put Yourself in his 
Place 2 v. — A Terrible Temptation 2 v. 
— Christie Johnstone 1 v. — A Simpleton 
® v. — The Wandering Heir 1 v. — 
Readiana 1 v.

“Recommended to Mercy," Author of 
(Mrs. Houstoun).

Zoe’s “Brand" 2 v.

Reeves, Mrs.: vide Helen Mathers.
Rhys, Grace.

Mary Dominic 1 v. — The Wooing of 
Sheila Iv. — About many Things 1 v.

Rice, James: vide Walter Besant.
Richards, Alfred Bate, 11876.

So very Human 3 v.
Richardson, S., 11761.

Clarissa Harlowe 4 v.
Riddell, Mrs. (F. G. Trafford).

George Geith of Fen Court 2 v. — Max­
well Drewitt 2 v. — The Race for Wealth 
2 v. — The Earl’s Promise 2 v. — Mor- 
tomley’s Estate 2 v.

Ridge, W. Pett.
Name of Garland 1 v. — Thanks to Sander­
son IV. — Miss Mannering 1 v. — The 
Lunch Basket 1 v. — Just like Aunt Bertha

“Rita.”
Souls i V. — The Jesters IV. — The Mas­
queraders 2 v. — Queer Lady Judas 2 v._
Prince Charming 1 v. — The Pointing 
Finger i v. — A Mancino Importance r v. 
Calvary 2 v. — That is to say— 1 v.

Ritchie, Mrs. Anne Thackeray: vide 
Miss Thackeray.

Roberts, Miss: vide Author of “Made­
moiselle Mori."

Elizabeth Robins (C. E. Raimond) (Am.). 
The Open Question 2 v. — The Magnetic 
North 2 v. — A Dark Lantern 2 v. — The 
Convert 2 v. — The Florentine Frame 1 v. 
— Way Stations 1 v. — The Secret That 
Was Kept i v.

Robinson, F.: vide “No Church."
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Ross, Charles H.
The Pretty Widow tv. — A London 
Romance 2 v.

Ross, Martin: vide Somerville.
“Roy Tellet”

The Outcasts i v. — A Draught of 
Lethe tv. — Pastor and Prelate 2 v.

Ruck, Berta.
Sir or Madam? i v. — The Dancing Star 
i v. — Lucky in Leve i v. — The Clouded 
Pearl i v. — The Immortal Girl i v. — 
Kneel to the Prei liest tv. — The Pearl 
Thief i V. — Her Pirate Partner i v. — 
Money for One i v. — The Youngest Venus

Ruffini, J., t 1881.
Lavinia 2 v. — Doctor Antonio i v. — 
Vincenzo 2 v. — A Quiet Nook in the Jura

Ruskin, John, * 1819, f 1900.
Sesame and Lilies 1 v. — The Stones of 
Venice (with Illustrations) 2 v. — Unto this 
Last and Munera Pulveris i v. — The Seven 
I.amps of Architecture (with 14 Illustra­
tions) IV. — Mornings in Florence 1 v.— 
St. Mark’s Rest 1 v.

Russell, W. Clark, t 1911.
A Sailor’s Sweetheart 2 v. — The 11 Lady 
Maud” 2 v. — A Sea Queen 2 v.

Russell, George W. E.
Collections and Recollections. By One 
who has kept a Diary 2 v. — A Londoner’s 
Log-Book i v.

“Ruth and her Friends”: vide p. 27.
Sala, George Augustus, t 1895.

The Seven Sons of Mammon 2 v.
Saunders, John.

Israel Mort, Overman 2 v. — The Ship­
owner’s Daughter 2 v.— A Noble Wife 2 v.

Saunders, Katherine (Mrs. Cooper).
Joan Merryweather, and other Tales 
IV. — Gideon’s Rock, and other Tales 
i v. —The High Mills 2 v. —Sebastian 1 v.

Savage, Richard Henry (Am.), t 1903.
My Official Wife tv. — The Little Lady 
of Lagunitas 2 v. — Prince Schamyl’s 
Wooing IV. — The Masked Venus 
2 v. — Delilah of Harlem 2 v. _
A Daughter of Judas 1 v. — Miss 
Devereux of the Mariquita 2 v.—Checked 
Through 2 v. — A Modern Corsair 2 v. 
— In the Swim 2 V. — In the House of 

His Friends 2 v. — The Mysteiy of a 
Shipyard 2 v.

Scott, Sir Walter, 11832.
Waverley 2 v. — Ivanhoe 2 v. — Kenil­
worth 2 v. — Quentin Durward 2 v.

Seeley, Prof. J. R., t 1895.
Life and Times of Stein 4 V. — The Ex­
pansion of England i v.

Sewell, Elizabeth, t 1906.
Amy Herbert 2 v. — Ursula 2 v. — A 
Glimpse of the World 2 v. — The Journal 
of a Home Life 2 v. — After Life г v. — 
The Experience of Life 2 v.

Shakespeare, William, t 1616.
Plays and Poems (Second Edition) 7 v. 

Shakespeare's Plays may also be had in 
37 numbers, each number sold separately.

Sharp, William, t 1905: vide Miss Ho­
ward, Fiona Macleod and Swinburne.

Shaw, Bernard.
Man and Superman 1 v. — The Perfect 
Wagnerite i v. — Cashel Byron’s Pro­
fession IV,— .Plays Pleasant and Un­
pleasant (The Three Unpleasant Plays 1 v. 
— The Four Pleasant Plays 1 v.). — Get­
ting Married & The Shewing-up of Blanco 
Posnet i v. — The Doctor’s Dilemma & 
The Dark Lady of the Sonnets 1 v.— Three 
Plays for Puritans 1 v.—John Bull’s Other 
Island etc. IV. — Androcles and the Lion ; 
Pygmalion IV.— Misalliance 1 v. — Fan­
ny’s First Play, etc. tv. — Heartbreak 
House, etc. Iv. — Back to Methuselah 1 v. 
— Saint Joan 1 v.

Shelley, Percy Bysshe, t 1822.
A Selection from his Poems 1 v.

Sheppard, Nathan (Am.), fi888.
Shut up in Paris i v.

Sheridan, R. B., t 1816.
The Dramatic Works 1 v.

Shorthouse, J. Henry, f 1903.
John Inglesant 2 v. — Blanche, Lady 
Falaise 1 v.

Sidgwick, Mrs. Alfred.
The Lantern Bearers 1 v.— Anthea’s Guest

May Sinclair.
Anne Severn and the Fieldings r v. — Un­
canny Stories Iv. — A Cure of Souls 1 v. 
— Arnold Wateilow: a Life 1 v. — The 
Rector of Wyck i v. — Far End 1 v. — 
The Allinghams 1 v. — History of Anthony 
Waring i v.



Tauchnitz Edition. Complete List. 23
Snaith, J. C.

An Affair of State i v. — Time and Tide 
i v. — Thus Far i v.

“Society in London,” Author of.
Society in London. By a Foreign 
Resident i v.

Somerville, E. Œ., Ł M. Ross.
Naboth’s Vineyard i v. — Dan Russel 
the Fox IV.

“ Spanish Brothers, the." 2 v.
Stanhope, Earl (Lord Mahon), f 1875.

Reign of Queen Anne 2 v.
Steel, Flora Annie.

The Hosts of the Lord 2 v.
Sterne, Laurence, 11768.

Tristram Shandy 2 v. — A Sentimental 
Journey i V.

Stevenson, Robert Louis, t1894.
Treasure Island 1 v. — Dr. Jekyll and 
Mr. Hyde, and An Inland Voyage 1 v. — 
Kidnapped tv. — The Black Arrow 1 v. — 
TheMaster ofBallantrac 1 v. — The Merry 
Men, etc. i v. — Across the Plains, etc. 1 v. 
— Island Nights’ Entertainments 1 v. — 
Catriona 1 v. — In the South Seas 2 v. — 
Tales and Fantasies 1 v.

“Still Waters,” Author of (Mrs. Paul). 
Still Waters IV. — Dorothy 1 v. — De 
Cressy IV. — Uncle Ralph 1 v. — Maiden 
Sisters tv. — Martha Brown 1 v.—Vanessa

Stirling, M. C. : vide G. ІИ. Craik.

Stockton, Frank R. (Am.), 11902.
The House of Martha 1 v.

“ Story of a Penitent Soul, the." 1 v.

“Story of Elizabeth, the," Author of: 
vide Miss Thackeray.

Stowe, Mrs. Harriet Beecher (Am.), 
t 1896.

Uncle Tom's Cabin 2 v. — A Key to Uncle 
Tom’s Cabin 2 v. — Oldtown Folks 2 v.

“Sunbeam Stories,” Author of: vide 
Mrs. Mackarness.

Swift, Jonathan (Dean Swift), t 1745. 
Gulliver’s Travels 1 v.

Swinburne, Algernon Charles, 11909. 
Atalanta in Calydon: and Lyrical Poems 
selected, with an Introduction, by William 

Sharp) IV. — Love’s Cross-Currents 1 v. 
— Chastelard and Mary Stuart 1 v.

Swinnerton, Frank.
The Three Lovers 1 v. —The Elder Sister 
IV. — Summer Storm 1 v. — Tokefield 
Papers i v.

Symonds, John Addington, t 1893.
Sketches in Italy 1 v. — New Italian 
Sketches i v.

Synge, John M, f 1909.
Plays IV. — The Aran Islands 1 v.

Tagore, Rabindranath.
The Home and the World 1 v. — The 
Gardener IV. — Sädhanä 1 v. — The 
Wreck Iv. — Gitanjali; Fruit-Gathering 
i V.

Tallentyre, S. G.: vide H. S. Merriman.
Tarkington, Booth (Am.).

Women IV. — The Plutocrat 1 v. — Claire 
Ambler i v.

Tasma.
Uncle Piper of Piper’s Hill 2 v.

Tautphoeus, Baroness, f1893.
Cyrilla 2 V. — Quits 2 V.

Taylor, Col. Meadows f 1876. 
Tara; a Mahratta Tale 3 v.
Tellet: vide “Roy Tellet."

Templeton: vide Author of “Horace 
Templeton.”

Tennyson, Alfred (Lord), f 1892.
Poetical Works vol. 5,8.— LocksleyHall, 
sixty Yearsafter; The Promise of May; 
Tiresias and other Poems iv.— A Memoir. 
By His Son 4 v.

Testament the New: vide New.
Thackeray, William Makepeace, f 1863. 

Vanity Fair 3 V. — Miscellanies Vol. 2, 
3, 5. — The Newcomes 4 V. — The Vir­
ginians vol. I, 2. — The Adventures of 
Philip 2 v. — Roundabout Papers г v. 
— The Paris Sketch Book 2 v.

Thackeray, Miss (Lady Ritchie).
Old Kensington 2 V. — Bluebeard’s Keys, 
and other Stories 1 v. — Five Old Friends 
iv. — Miss Angel iv. — Fulham Lawn, 
and other Tales 1 v. — From an Island. A 
Story and some Essays iv. — Da Capo, and 
other Tales iv. — Madame de Sévigné; 
From a Stage Box; Miss Williamson’s 
Divagations 1 v. — A Book of Sibyls 1 v. 
— Mrs. Dymond 2 v. — Chapters from 
some Memoirs 1 v.
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Thomas, A. (Mrs. Pender Cudlip).
Denis Donne 2 v. — On Guard 2 v. — 
Walter Goring 2 v. — Played Out 2 v. — 
Called to Account 2 v. — Only herself 
2 v. — A Narrow Escape 2 v.

Thomson, James, t 1748.
Poetical Works 1 v.

“Thoth,” Author of.
Thoth i v.

Thurston, E. Temple.
The Greatest Wish in the World 1 v. — 
Mirage i v. — The City of Beautiful Non­
sense i v.—The Garden of Resurrection 1 v. 
— The Apple of Eden 1 v. — The Antago­
nists i v. — The Open Window i v. — 
Richard Furlong 1 v.—The Eye of the Wift 
IV. — Achievement 1 v. — May Eve 1 v. 
— The Green Bough 1 v. — Charmeuse 1 v. 
— Mr. Bottleby Does Something 1 v. — 
Jane Cartoli 1 v.

Tischendorf Constantine: v. New Testa-

Tomlinson H. M.
Gallions Reach 1 v.

Trafford, F. Q. : vide Mrs. Riddell.
Trois-Etciles : vide Grenville.
Trollope, Anthony, f 1882.

Doctor Thorne 2 v. — The Bertrams 
2 v. — The Warden 1 v. — Barchester 
Towers 2 v. — Castle Richmond 2 v. — 
Framley Parsonage 2 v. — North America 
3 v. — Orley Farm 3 v. — The Belton 
Estate 2 v. — Nina Balatka 1 v. — The 
I.ast Chronicle of Barset 3 v. — Phineas 
Finn 3 v. — Ralph the Heir 2 v. — 
Australia and New Zealand 3 V. — 
Lady Anna 2 v. — Harry Heathcote 
of Gangoil tv. — The Way we live 
now 4 V. — The Prime Minister 4 v. — 
South A frica 2 v. — An Eye for an Eye 1 v. 
— John Caldigate 3 v. — The Duke’s 
Children 3 v. — Dr. Wortle’s School 1 v. — 
The Fixed Period 1 v. — Marion Fay2 v. — 
Alice Dugdale, and other Stories 1 v. — 
La Mère Bauche, and other Stories 1 v. 
— The Mistletoe Bough, and other Stories 
IV. — An Autobiography 1 v. — An Old 
Man’s Love i v.

Trollope, T. Adolphus, t 1892.
The Garstangs of Garstang Grange 2 v. 
— A Siren 2 v.

Trowbridge, W. R. H.
The Letters of Her Mother to Elizabeth 
IV. — That Little Marquis of Branden­

burg Iv. — A Dazzling Reprobate 1 v. 
— The White Hope i v.

Twain, Mark (Samuel L. Clemens) 
(Am.), t 1910.

The Adventures of Tom Sawyer 1 v. — 
The Innocents Abroad ; or, The New 
Pilgrims’ Progress 2 v. —A Tramp Abroad 
2 v. — “Roughing it” IV. — The In­
nocents at Home i v. — The Prince and 
the Pauper 2 V. — The Stolen White 
Elephant, etc. IV. — Life on the Mis­
sissippi 2 v. — Sketches IV. — Huckle­
berry Finn 2 v. — Selections from Ameri­
can Humour IV. — The American 
Claimant 1 v. —The/) 1000000 Bank- 
Note and other new Stories 1 v. — Tom 
Sawyer Abroad 1 v. — Pudd’nhead Wil­
son IV. — Tom Sawyer, Detective, and 
other Tales tv. — More Tramps Abroad 
2 v. — A Double-Barrelled Detective 
Story, etc. IV. — The $30,000 Bequest, 
and Other Stories 1 v. — Christian Science 
IV. — Captain Stormfield’s Visit to 
Heaven & Is Shakespeare Dead? т v.

“Two Cosmos, the." 1 v.
Vachell, Horace Annesley.

Teh Hill IV. — An Impending Sword 1 v. 
— Quinneys’ IV. — Change Partners 1 v. 
— The Yard 1 v. — Quinney’s Adventures 
IV. — Walling’s for Worth 1 v. — A 
Woman in Exile 1 v. — Dew of the Sea, 
and Other Stories 1 v. — Miss Torrobin’s 
Experiment i v.

Vechten, Carl van (Am.).
Nigger Heaven IV. — Spider Boy 1 v.

“Venus and Cupid.” 1 v.
“Véra,” Author of.

Vera tv. — The Hôtel du Petit St. 
Jean Iv. — Blue Roses 2 v. — Within 
Sound of the Sea 2 v. — Ninette 1 v.

Victoria R. I t 1901.
Leaves from the Journal of our Life in 
the Highlands from 1848 to 1861 1 v. — 
More Leaves, etc. from 1862 to 1882 1 v.

“Virginia.” 1 v. »
Vizetelly, Ernest Alfred.

With Zola in England 1 v.
Walford, L. B.

Mr. Smith 2 v. — Pauline 2 v. — Cousins 
2 v. — Troublesome Daughters 2 v. — 
Leddy Marget 1 v.

Wallace, Edgar.
The Book of All-Power 1 v. — The Valley 
of Ghosts i v. — Chick 1 v. — Captains of 
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Souls IV. — The Missing Million 1 v. — 
The Face in the Night 1 v. — The Door 
with Seven Locks 1 v. — The Avenger 1 v. 
— Terror Keep Iv. — The Traitor’s Gate 
i v. — The Feathered Serpent 1 v. — The 
Ringer i v.

Wallace, Lew. (Am.), t 1905.
Ben-Hur 2 v.

Walpole. Hugh.
J eremy and H amlet 1 v. — The Old Ladies 
IV. — Portrait of a M an with Red Hair 1 v. 
— Harmerjohn 1 v.—Jeremy at Craie 1 v. 
— Wintersmoon 2 v. — The Silver Thorn

Warburton, Eliot, t 1852. Darien 2 v.
Ward, Mrs. Humphry, t 1020.

Miss Bretherton tv. — Marcella 3 v. — 
Bessie Costrell IV. — Fenwick’s Career 
2 v.— Diana Mallory 2 v. —Daphne; or, 
“Marriage à la Mode” 1 v—The Case of 
Richard Mey nell 2 v.

Warner, Susan: "vide Wetherell.
Warren, Samuel, 11877.

Diary of a late Physician 2 v. — Ten 
Thousand a-Year 3 V. — Now and Then 
IV. — The Lily and the Bee 1 v.

“Waterdale Neighbours, the," Author 
of : vide Justin McCarthy.

Watson, H. B. Marriott.
The Excelsior i V.

Watts-Dunton, Theodore, t 1914.
Aylwin 2 v.

Wells, H. G.
The Stolen Bacillus, etc. 1 v. — The War 
of the Worlds IV.— The Invisible Man 1 v. 
— The Time Machine, and The Island of 
Doctor Moreau 1 v. — When the Sleeper 
Wakes IV. — Tales of Space and Time 1 v. 
— The Plattner Story, and Others 1 v. — 
Love and Mr. Lewisham r v.—TheWheeis 
of Chance i v. — Anticipations 1 v.—The 
FirstMen in the Moon 1 v.— The Sea Lady 
i v. — Twelve Stories and a Dream 1 v. — 
The Food of the Gods 1 v. — A Modern 
Utopia i v. — Kipps 2 v.—In theDaysofthe 
Comet i v.— The Future in America 1 v. — 
NewWorlds for Old 1 v. — The War in the 
Air IV. — Tono-Bungay 2 v.— First and 
Last Things 1 v.—TheNewMachiavelli 2 v. 
— Marriage 2 v. — The Passionate Friends 
2 v. — An Englishman looks at the World 
i v. —The World Set Free iv.—A Short 
History of the World (with twelve Maps) 
i v.—Men Like Gods 1 v.—TheDream 1 v. 
— Bealby iv. — The Secret Places of 

the Heart iv. — The Country of the 
Blind, and Other Stories 1 v. — Christina 
Alberta’s Father 1 v. — The Undying Fire 
iv. — Meanwhile i V. —The World of 
William Clissold 2 v. — Mr. Bleitsworthy 
on Rampole Island 1 v.

Westbury, Hugh. Acte 2 v.
Wetherell, Elizabeth (Susan Warner) 

(Am.), t 1885.
Queechy 2 v. — The Hills of the Shatemuc 
2 v. — Say and Seal 2 v. — The Old Hel­
met 2 V.

Weyman, Stanley J.
The Story of Francis Cludde 2 v. — The 
Man in Black 1 v. — From the Memoirs 
of a Minister of France 1 v. — The Red 
Cockade 2 v. — Shrewsbury 2 v. — Sophia 
2 v.—In Kings’ Byways 1 v. — The Abbess 
of Vlaye 2 v. — Chippinge 2 v. — Laid up 
in Lavender 1 v.

"Whim, a." iv.
Whitby, Beatrice.

The Awakening of Mary Fenwick 2 v. — 
In the Suntime of her Youth 2 v.

White, Percy.
Mr. Bailey-Martin 1 v.-The West End 2 v. 
—The New Christians 1 v.— Park Lane 2 v. 
— The Triumph of Mrs. St. George 2 v.— 
A Millionaire’s Daughter 1 v. — A Pas­
sionate Pilgrim iv. — The System 2 v. — 
The Patient Man 1 v. — Mr. John Strood 
i v. — The Eight Guests 2 v. — Mr. Strudge 
iv. — Love and the Poor Suitor 1 v. — 
An Averted Marriage 1 v.

Whitelng, Richard.
The Island; or, An Adventure of a Per­
son of Quality iv. — The Life of Paris 1 v. 
The Yellow Van 1 v. — Ring in the New 
iv. — All Moonshine iv. — Little People

Whitman, Sidney, 11925.
Imperial Germany 1 v.— The Realm ofthe 
Habsburgs iv. — Teuton Studies 1 v. — 
Reminiscences of the King of Rouniania 
iv. — Conversations with Prince Bismarck 
iv. — Life of the Emperor Frederick 2 v. 
— German Memories 1 v.

“ Who Breaks—Pays," Author of : vide 
Mrs. Jenkin.

Whyte Melville, George J.: vide Melville
Wiggin, Kate Douglas (Am.).

Penelope’s Irish Experiences 1 v. — 
Rebecca of Sunnybrook Farm 1 v. — Rose 
0’ the River iv.— The Old Peabody Pew, 
and Susanna and Sue 1 v.
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Wiggin, K. D., hl. & J. Findlater, Ł Allan 
McAulay.

The Affair at the Inn i v. — Robinetta i v.
Wilde, Oscar, t 1900.

The Picture of Dorian Gray 1 v. — De Pro­
fundis and The Ballad of Reading Gaol 
tv. — A House of Pomegranates 1 v. — 
Lord Arthur Savile's Crime, and Other 
Prose Pieces i v.—Lady Windermere’s Fan 
IV. — An Ideal Husband 1 v.— Salome 1 v. 
— The Happy Prince, and Other Tales 1 v. 
— A Woman of No Importance 1 v.— The 
Importance of Being Earnest 1 v. — Poems

Wilkins, Mary E. (Am.).
Pembroke i v. — Madelon 1 v. — Jerome 
2 v. — Silence, and other Stories 1 v.

Williamson, C. N. Ł A. M.
The Lightning Conductor iv.—Lady Betty 
across the Water 1 v.—The Motor Maid 1 v. 
— Lord Loveland discovers America 1 v. 
— It Happened in Egypt 2 v. — The Wed­
ding Day i v. — The Lion’s Mouse 1 v. — 
The Lady from the Air 1 v.

Williamson. Alice M.
Cancelled Love 1 v. — Told at Monte 
Carlo iv. — Sheikh Bill 1 v.

Wills, C. J.: vide F. C. Philips.
Wodehouse, P. G.

Ukridge iv. — Bdl the Conqueror 1 v. — 
Carry on, Jeeves I iv. — Sam the Sudden 
i v. — Love among the Chickens 1 v. — 
The Heart of a Goof 1 v. — Psmith, Jour­
nalist iv. — Leave it to Psmith 1 v. — The 
Small Bachelor 1 v. — A Damsel in 
Distress iv. — The Ad ventures of Sally 1 v.

Wood, C. : vide “ Buried Alone."
Wood,H. F.

The Passenger from Scotland Yard 1 v.
Wood, Mrs. Henry (Johnny Ludlow), 

t 1887.
East Lynne 3 v. — The Channings 2 v. — 

Mrs. Halliburton’s Troubles 2 v.  
Verner’s Pride jv.— The Shadow of Ash- 
lydyatj v. —Trevlyn Hold 2 v. — Oswald 
Cray 2 v. — Mildred Arkell 2 v. — St. 
Martin’s Eve 2 v. — Lady Adelaide’s Oath 
2 v. — Roland Yorke 2 v. — George 
Canterbury’s Will 2 v. — Bessy Rane 
2 v. — The Foggy Night at Offord; 
Martyn Ware’s Temptation ; The Night- 
Walk over the Mill Stream 1 v.  
Johnny Ludlow 2 v. — Told in the Twilight 
2 v. — Adam Graingeri v. — Edina* v.

Pomeroy Abbey 2 v. — Court Netherleigh 
2 v. — (The foil wing by juunny Ludlow) : 
Lost in the Post, and Other Tales 1 v. — 
ATale of Sin, and Other laies 1 v. — 
Anne, and Other Tales 1 v. —The Mystery 
of Jessy Page, etc. iv. — Helen 
Whitney’s Wedding, etc. 1 v. — The Story 
of Dorothy Grape, etc. I v.

Woodroffe, Daniel.
TangledTrinities iv.—The Beauty-Shop 1 v.

Woods, Margaret L.
A Village Tragedy 1 v. — The Vaga­
bonds i v. — Sons of the Sword 2 v. — The 
Invader i v.

Wraxall, Lascelles, f 1865. 
Wild Oats i v.

Yates, Edmund, t 1894.
Land at Last 2 v. — The Forlorn Hope 2 v. 
— Black Sheep 2 v. — The Rock Ahead 
2 v. — Wreckedin Port 2 v. — Dr. Wain­
wright’s Patient 2 v. — A Waiting Race 
2 v. — The yellow Flag 2 v. — The 
Impending Sword 2 v. — Two, by Tricks 
iv. — A Silent Witness 2 v. — Recollec­
tions and Experiences 2 v.

Yeats: vide Levett-Yeats.
Yeats, W. B.

A Selection from his Poetry 1 v.
Yonge, Charlotte M., t 1901.

Heartsease 2 v. — The Daisy Chain 2 v.  
Hopesand Fears 2 v. — The Young Step- 
Mother 2 v. — The Trial 2 v. — The Clever 
Woman of the Family 2 v. — The Dove 
in the Eagle’s Nest 2 v. — The Danvers 
Papers; The Prince and the Page 1 v. — 
The Chaplet of Pearls 2 v. — The two 
Guardians 1 v. — The Caged Lion 2 v. — 
The Pillars of the House 5 v. — Lady 
Hester iv. — My Young Alcides 2 v. — 
Womankind 2 v. — Love and Life 1 v. — 
Stray Pearls 2 v. — The Armourer’s 
Prentices 2 v. — Nuttie’s Fallier 2 v. — 
Beechcroft at Rockstone 2 v. — A Re­
puted Changeling 2 v. — Two Penniless 
Princesses iv. — That Stick 1 v. — Grisly 
G riseli i v. — The Long Vacation 2 v. — 
Modern Broods 1 v. l^Vide p. 27.)

Zangwill, I, * 1864, t 192b.
Dreamers of the Ghetto 2 v. — Ghetto
Comedies 2 v. — Ghetto Tragedies 2 v.

“Z. Z.”
The World aud a Man 2 v.



Series for the Young.
Published with Continental Copyright as the Collection of English 

and American Authors. Vide page з.

Charlesworth, Marla Louisa, 11880: Min­
istering Children i v.

Craik, Mrs. (Miss Mulock), f1887: Our 
Year i v.

Kavanagh, Bridget 4 Julia: The Pearl 
Fountain, and other Fairy-Tales 1 v.

Lamb, Charles & Mary, f 1834 and 1847: 
Tales from Shakspeare 1 v.

Marryat, Captain, f 1848: Mastermap 
Ready i v.

Marshall, Mrs. Emma, f 1899: Rex and 
Regina i v.

“Ruth and her Friends," Author of: Ruth 
and her Friends. A Story for Girls 1 v.

Yonge, Charlotte M., t 1901 : Kenneth; or, 
the Rear-Guard óf the Grand Army 1 v. 
— The Stokesley Secret 1 v. — Hen­
rietta’s Wish i v. — The Lances of 
Lynwood; the Pigeon Pie 1 v. — P’s 
and Q’s i v. —Aunt Charlotte’s Stories 
of English History tv. — Bye-Words

Collection of German Authors.
Translations from the German, published with universal copyright. 

These volumes may be imported into any country.

Auerbach, Berthold : On the Heights 3 v. 
— Brigitta i v.

Ebers,G : An EgyptianPrincess 2V. - Uarda 
2 v. — Homo Sum 2 v. — The Sisters 
2 v. — Joshua 2 v. — Per Aspera 2 v.

Fouqué, De la Motte : Undine, Sintram 1 v. 
Gtirlach,W.: PrinceBismarck (w.Portr.) iv.
Goethe, W. V., t 1832 : Faust i v
Gutzkow, K. : Through Night toLight 1 v.
Hackländer, F. W., t 1877: Behind the 

Counter [Handel und Wandel] i v.
Heyse, Paul: L’Arrabiata 1 v. — Bar­

barossa i V.
Hillern, W v. : TheVulture Maiden [Geier- 

Wally] iv. — The Hour will come 2 v.

Kohn, Salomon: Gabriel 1 v.
Lewaid, Fanny, t 1889: Stella 2 v.
Marlitt, E., t 1887 : The Princess of the 

Moor [Das Haideprinzesschen] 2 v.
Nathusius, Maria : Joachim v. Kamern, and 

Diary of a Poor Young Lady 1 v.
Reuter, Fritz, f 1874 : In the Year ’13 1 v. 

— An old Story of my Farming Days 
[Ut mine Stromtid] 3 V.

Richter, J. P. Friedrich (Jean Paul), f1825: 
Flower, Fruit and Thorn Pieces 2 v.

Scheffel, Victor von: Ekkehard 2 v.
Taylor, George: Klytia 2 v.
Zschokke, Heinrich: The Princess of Bruns­

wick-Wolfenbüttel, etc. i V.

Kellner, Dr. Leon, Die englische Literatur der neuesten Zeit. Von 
Dickens bis Shaw. Zweite, wesentlich veränderte Auflage der 
„Englischen Literatur im Zeitalter der Königin Viktoria”, gr. 8°. 
1921. Gebunden in Leinen 9.—

Schücking, Levin L., Die Charakterprobleme bei Shakespeare, gr. 8°. 
Zweite, verbesserte Auflage. 1927. Gebunden in Leinen Jt 8.—

Chaucer-Handbuch für Studierende. Ausgewählte Texte mit Einlei­
tungen, einem Abriß von Chaucers Versbau und Sprache und einem 
Wörterverzeichnis. Herausgegeben von Max Kalüza, Professor a d. 
Universität Königsberg. 2.Aufl. 248 S. gr. 8°. 1927. Geb. Jt 3.50
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Herausgegeben von DR. KARL WILDHAGEN 

о. Professor der englischen Philologie an der Universität Kiel

Bisher sind erschienen:

i John Galsworthy : Justice. Mit Anmerkungen und Wörterbuch, bear­
beitet von Studienrat Dr. A. Koch, Magdeburg . . . Jí 1.80

2. H. G. Wells: A Short History of Modern Times. Being the Last 
Eleven Chapters of “A Short History of the World.” Mit Anmer­
kungen und Wörterbuch, bearbeitet von Oberstudienrat Dr. G. Schad, 
Höchst a. Main..................................................................... Jí 1.80

3. John Galsworthy : Strife. Mit Anmerkungen, bearbeitet von Studien­
rat Dr. Fr. Oeckel, Stettin................................................ Jí 1.50

4. A Thomas Hardy Reader. Eine Auswahl aus Thomas Hardys Prosa 
und Dichtung. Zusammengestellt und herausgegeben von Prof. Dr. Ph. 
Aronstein, Berlin. Mit Anmerkungen und Wörterbuch . JÍ 1.80

5. H. G. Wells: The Dream. Mit Anmerkungen und Wörterbuch, 
bearb. von Dr. H. T. Price, Lektor a. d. Universität Kiel. Jí 1.80

6. H. G. Wells: The Country of the Blind. Mit Anmerkungen und 
Wörterbuch, bearbeitet von Studiendirektor Dr. Müller, Lage 
(Lippe)....................................................................................... ft 1.20

7. John Masefield: Reynard the Fox. Mit Wörterbuch, bearbeitet von 
Dr. Albert Eichler, о.Professor an der Universität Graz . Jí 2.—

8. G. К. Chesterton: The Innocence of Father Brown. Mit Anmer­
kungen und Wörterbuch, bearbeitet von Dr. H. T. Price, Lektor am 
Institut für Weltwirtschaft u.Seeverkehr an der Universität Kiel. Jí 1.80

9. Arnold Bennett: Elsie and the Child. Mit Anmerkungen und 
Wörterbuch, bearbeitet von Studienrat Dr. Helmut Kißling, 
Leipzig........................................................................................^1.80

10. Oscar Wilde: The Happy Prince and Other Tales. Mit Anmer­
kungen und Wörterbuch, bearbeitet von Studienrat Dr. Alfred Hein­
rich, Berlin-Tempelhof....................................................Jí 1.80

11. Hugh Walpole: Jeremy and Hamlet. Mit Anmerkungen und Wör­
terbuch, bearbeitet von Dr. W. F. Schmidt, Studiendirektor in 
Lemgo (Lippe)................................................................... Л 1.80
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12. H. A. Vachell: The Hill. Mit Anmerkungen und Wörterbuch, be­
arbeitet von Dr. Rasmussen, Studiendirektor in Eckernförde. Jl 1.80

13. John Galsworthy: Selected Tales. Mit Anmerkungen und Wörter­
buch, bearbeitet von Studienrat Dr. Liening, Bocholt . 1.80

14. Joseph Conrad: The Tale. Mit Anmerkungen und Wörterbuch, 
bearbeitet von Studienrat Dr. Fr. Oe ekel, Stettin . . . .^1.20

15. Sheila Kaye-Smith: The End of the House of Alard. Mit Anmer­
kungen und Wörterbuch, bearbeitet von Studienrat Dr. К. Arns, 
Bochum.............................................................................. Jt 1.80

16. John Galsworthy: The Silver Box. Mit Anmerkungen und Wörter­
buch, bearbeitet von Studienrat Dr. G. Kirchner, Jena . Jt 1.80

Die Sammlung wird in regelmäßiger Folge fortgesetzt

Shakespeare-Jahrbuch

Wolfgang Keller
o. ö. Professor an der Universität Münster i. W.

Band 64 / Neue Folge / V. Band

geh. Л 8.—, in Ganzleinen geb. 10.—

Die früheren Jahrgänge des Shakespeare-Jahrbuches (Bd. 1—63, 
1865—1927) sind ebenfalls einzeln — soweit vorrätig — durch 

den Verlag von Bernhard Tauchnitz in Leipzig zu beziehen.



3° Shakespeare Plays
Each, number sold separately at the price of Ji —,6o

No. I. Measure for Measure.
„ 2. The Comedy of Errors.
„ 3. Much Ado about Nothing.
,, 4. Love’s Labour’s lost.
„ 5. Midsummer-Night’s Dream.
„ 6. Merchant of Venice.
„ 7. As you like it.
„ 8. Taming of the Shrew.
„ 9. All’s Well that ends Well.
„ 10. Twelfth-Night: or, What you 

will.
,, и. The Winter’s Tale.
„ 12. King John.
„ 13. The Life and Death of King 

Richard II.
,, 14. First Part of King Henry IV.
,,15. Second Part of King Henry IV.
„ 16. King Henry V.
„ 17. First Part of King Henry VI.
„ 18. Second PartofKingHenry VI.

N0.19. Third Part of King Henry VI 
„ 20. King Richard III.
,, 21. King Henry VIII.
,, 22. Troilus and Cressida.
„ 23. Titus Andronicus.
„ 24. Coriolanus.
,, 25. Romeo and Juliet.
„ 26. Timon of Athens.
„ 27. Julius Cæsar.
„ 28. Macbeth.
„ 29. Hamlet.
„ 30. King Lear.
„ 31. Othello.
„ 32. Antony and Cleopatra.
» 33- Cymbeline.
,, 34. Pericles, Prince of Tyre.
,, 35. The Tempest.
„ 36. The two Gentlemen of Ve­

rona.
„ 37. Merry Wives of Windsor.

Separate editions of “Sonnets” (./¿ -.60) and “Poems” (includ. Sonnets) 1.-)

Englische Bibliothek
Herausgeg. von Dr. Max Förster, Geh. Hofrat u. o. ö. Prof. a. d. Univ. München
i.Band. Englisch-deutsches Shakespeare-Wörterbuch. Von Dr.

LEON KELLNER,ehemals Professor a. d. Universität Czernowitz. Geb. —
г. Band. Protestantismus und Literatur. Neue Wege zur engl.

Literatur des 18. Jahrhunderts. Von Dr. Herbert Schöffler, 
Professor an der Universität Köln. Geheftet Jt 4.—

3. Band. Shakespeare der Mensch. Von Helene Richter. 
Geheftet Л 3.50

4. Band. Restoring Shakespeare. Von Dr. Leon Kellner, ehem. 
Professor an der Universität Czernowitz. Geheftet Ji 6.—. Gebunden ІП 
Leinen Jt 8.50

5. Band. John Davidson und sein geistiges Werden unter 
dem Einfluß Nietzsches. Von Dr. Gfrtrud von Petzold. 
Geheftet J4 5.—



Beiträge zur englischen Philologie з* 
Herausgeg. von Dr. Max Förster, Geh. Hofrat u. o. ö. Prof. a. d. Univ. München 

i. Heft. Studien zu Shelleys Lyrik von Dr. Herbert Huscher.
1919. Vergriffen.

2. Heft. Thackeray als historischer Romanschriftsteller von 
Dr. Gudrun Vogel. 1920. Vergriffen.

3. Heft. Die Hamletfrage. Von Dr. JOSEF WJHAN, Privatdozentin 
Prag. -1921. Geheftet Ví 2.50

4. Heft. Gotik und Ruine in der engl. Dichtung des 18. Jahrh. 
von Dr. Reinhard Haferkorn. 1924. Geheftet J4 3.—

5. Heft. Die englischen Kalenderstäbe v. Prof. Dr. E. Schnippel, 
Berlin. 1926. Geheftet Jl 5.—

6. Heft. The Court of Sapience. Spät-rnittelenglisches allego­
risch-didaktisches Visionsgedicht. Von Dr. Robert Spindler.
1927. Geheftet JŁ 10.—

7. Heft. Raleghs staatstheoretische Schriften. Die Einführung 
des Machiavellismus in England. Von Nadja Kempner. 1928. 
Geheftet Jh 9.—

8. Heft. Darstellerzahl und Rollenverteilung bei Shake­
speare. Von Dr. Maria Sack. 1928. Geheftet Ji 4.—

9. Heft. Die lateinische Vorlage der westsächsischen Evan- 
gelienversion. Von Dr. Hans Glunz. 1928. Geheftet Jí 6,—

Kölner Anglistische Arbeiten
Herausgeg. von Dr. Herbert Schöffler, o. ö. Professor an der Universität Köln

1. Band. John Page’s Siege of Rouen v. Dr. Herbert Huscher, 
Privatdozent an der Universität Köln. I926. Geheftete IO.—

2. Band. Der steigende Ruhm Miltons. Von Dr. Alfred Gertsch. 
1927. Geheftet Jí 4.—

3. Band. William Morris’ Sozialismus und anarchistischer Kom­
munismus. Von Dr. phil. Gustav Fritzsche. Geheftet Jt 6,—



BERNHARD lAUCHNlTZ. LEIPZIG

Tauchnitz Dictionaries
For sale and. for use in all countries

Crown 8vo
English-German and German-English. (James.) Fifty-first Edition. 

Bound in cloth Ji 8.— ; also to be had in two volumes, Jt 4-50 each. 
English-French and French-English. (JamesaMolé.) Twenty-fourth

Edition. Bound in cloth Ji 8.—
English-Italian and Italian-English. (James & Grassi.) Seventeenth 

Edition, by Albert de Beaux. Bound in cloth 8.—
Tolhausen, Technological Dictionary in three Languages. Complete 

in three parts. Each part with a new large Supplement including all modern 
terms and expressions in Electricity, Telegraphy and Telephony. Bound in cloth.

Vol. I. Fr an çai •-A 11 e m a n d-A n g ia is. gth Edition.
Vol. II. E n g lish - Ger m an - F r ench. gth Edition.
Vol. III. D eu tsch - E n g I iscb - Fra n xösisch. gth Edition.

Each volume is sold separately. Price jK io.— each.

Pocket Dictionaries (same size as Tauchnitz Edition)
Bound in cloth

These Dictionaries are constantly revised and kept carefully up to date 
English-German and German-English. Fortieth Edition. 
Franz.-Deutsch und Deutsch-Franz. Zweiundzwanzigste Aufl.. 
Italienisch-Deutsch und Deutsch-Italienisch. Zwölfte Auflage. 
English-French and French-English. Forty-third Edition, .fi 4.50 
English-Italian and Italian-English. Thirtieth Edition, each 
English-Spanish and Spanish-English. Thirty-eighth Edition. 
Latin-English and English-Latin. Twenty-first Edition. 
Espagnol-Français et Français-Espagnol. Neuvième Édition. 
*Spanisch-Deutsch und Deutsch-Spanisch ft S-—

* Also to be had in two volumes, 2.75 each.

Imperial 4°
Italienisch-Deutsch und Deutsch-Italienisch. (RigU’ini & Bulle.) 

2 Bände. Bd. I: 7. Auflage. Bd. И: 7. Auflage in Leinen geb. 
je Jt 12.50

Spanisch-Deutsch und Deutsch-Spanisch. (Tolhausen.) 2 Bandę 
Bd. I: 10. Auflage. Bd. II: 10. Auflage. In Leinen geb. je .fi 12.50

Etymologisches Wörterbuch der englischen Sprache von F. Holt­
hausen, Professor der englischen Philologie an der Universität Kiel. 
Zweite, vermehrte und verbesserte Auflage, gr. 8°. 1927. In 
Leinen geb. Л 8,—•

PRINTED BY BERNHARD TAUCHNITZ, LEIPZIG
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to the negroes of Charleston, and cover­
ing chiefly, the period oi the first hall of 
the 19th century.

The Feathered Serpent. By 
Edgar Wallace. 1V.-4855.

It is impossible to reveal here how 
the figure of an Aztec god, the feathered 
serpent, came to be the central mystery of 
a highly intriguing tale of crime, enacted 
in London. Mr. Wallace is here at his 
best; his admirers will enjoy watching 
him unravel the web of this enthralling 
tale which holds one spellbound from 
beginning to end.

The Ringer. By Edgar 
Wallace, i vol.-4856.

The author has excelled himself in 
the book version of one of the most ex­
citing mystery stories, that hasever gained 
world-wide popularity as play and film. 
Until the end, the solution remains con­
cealed from even the most sophisticated 
reader of detective stories.

Nigger Heaven. By Carl 
van Vechten, i voL-4857.

The author is one of the most original 
American writers of to-day, whose fame 
as a novelist has been carried far beyond 
the confines of his own country by his 
widely-read book “Nigger Heaven,” one 
of the greatest and most successful literary 
achievements of recent years. Harlem, the 
negro suburb of New York, with its multi­
farious coloured inhabitants, is the subject 
of an absorbing tale, revealing vividly, 
under picturesque and even gorgeous ex­
ternals, the tragedy of race prejudice.

Spider Boy. By Carl van
Vechten, i voL-4858.

Carl van Vechten, whose great literary 
success, “Nigger Heaven,” caused asen- 
sation on both sides of the Atlantic, has 
achieved in his latest volume “ Spider 
Boy,” oneof the wittiest of modern novels.

He relates with whimsical drollery how a 
young American author of retiring dis­
position flies West to escape from the re­
sults of his successful play. He is captured 
by the celebrated film star Imperia Star­
ling, and dragged much against his will 
into the mad turmoil and intrigues of 
Hollywood.

Two Forsyte Interludes. By
John Galsworthy, i vol.- 
4859-

America is the scene of these two Inter­
ludes, in the first of which Jon Forsyte 
wins the love of his future wife, the epi­
sode taking place in the years which elapse 
between the two trilogies of the Forsyte 
Saga. In “Passers By” the journey round 
the world referred to at the close of “The 
Silver Spoon” has been well-nigh accom­
plished, and Soames Forsyte reflects in 
Washington on America and the Ameri­
cans. Carefully avoiding disturbing cir­
cumstances, he looks forward to home 
and the future.

The Forest, and Six Short 
Plays. By John Galsworthy, 
і vol.-4860.
Contents: The Forest: A Drama in 
four Acts. — Six Short Plays : The 
First and the Last. — The Little Man. 
— Hall-Marked. — Defeat. — The Sun. 
— Punch and Go.

The Silver Thorn. By Hugh 
Walpole, i vol.-4861.

The author’s well-known versatility 
is made evident within the compass of a 
volume of deeply interesting short stories, 
in which the characteristic traits, virtues 
and shortcomings of human beings are 
dealt with in Mr. Walpole’s inimitable 
manner. In handling the souls of the 
people of Moscow he is a* successful as he 
is when he returns to his old friends in 
Polchester. Tragedy, pathos and a deli­
cate humour pervade the book.

Continued on page 4 of cover
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Mr. Blettsworthy on Ram­
pole Island. By H. G. Wells, 
i vol.-4862.
Mr. Wells has here achieved a book, 

unique even among his finest works, exhib­
iting all the facets of his genius in which 
brilliant wit and biting sarcasm alternate 
with idyllic romance and subtle fancy. 
An Oxford graduate, disillusioned and 
troubled, voyages to the Pacific, where 
he is rescued from a shipwreck. Of his 
further experiences “The Spectator” 
says, “This new Gulliver is too good to 
die in one generation.” The hero’s return, 
his subsequent adventures in Europe during 
and after the Great War are rendered in 
the author’s best vein.

The Haunted House. By 
Hilaire Belloc, i V.-4863.

Mr. Hilaire Belloc is wellknown as a 
leading English politician and a widely 
read author of high repute. “The Haunted 
House,” his latest mystery story, is an 
amusing satire on this popular form of 
literature, in which brilliant wit plays upon 
various aspects of society life in post-war 
England. In the tense drama expounded 
many surprises await the reader.

What is Love? By E. M.
Delafield, i vol.-4864.

Miss Delafield handles the problem of 
her latest novel and its solution with the 
convincing logic already set forth in “ Mrs. 
Harter.” An interesting theme is evolved, 
by placing a girl, brought up with pre­
war ideals, in contrast with young women 
of to-day. Love in its greatest intensity is 
shown to be incapable of bridging the 
gulf which separates the views of two 
periods.

The Squeaker. By Edgar 
Wallace, i vol.-4865.

Edgar Wallace has added to the num­
ber of his famous mystery stories an in­
tensely thi tiling tale of crime entitled “The 
Squeaker.” In it, a daring ruse is prac­
tised, in order to run to earth a dangerous, 

unknown purchaser of stolen jewels, who 
dominates thieves, by turning police-in­
former if the price demanded is too high, 
and who has long baffled the authorities 
and his fellow-criminals.

Orlando: A Biography. By 
Virginia Woolf, i V.-4866.

Much com ment has been excited among 
those who appreciate excellence in litera­
ture by the works of this author, whose 
new book, “Orlando,” gives proof of 
poetic imagination of the highest order. 
The heroine, as an achievement unique, 
lives in her dreams as a young gallant, 
evoking the spirit of great periods in 
English history, in fantastic adventures 
during three centuries. The crisp, bril­
liantly witty narrative reflects, in due 
order, vivid images of splendour, grace 
and gloom.

Mrs. Dallo way. By Virginia
Woolf, i vol.-4867.

The author has attained complete suc­
cess, in using new methods of handling 
form and subject of the novel. The most 
widely read of her works, “Mrs. Dallo- 
way,” ranks high in the opinion of English 
and foreign critics. Here are set forth, 
with the utmost clarity and delicacy, pro­
foundly moving experiences in the soul 
of a woman, together with interruptions 
brought about in her train of thought, by 
the manifold cares of a wife, mother and 
hostess, during one day in the Lor don 
season.

Spook Stories. By E. F.
Benson, i vol.-4868.

Since “Dodo” appeared, Mr. Benson’5 
position as first among English society 
novelists has been undisputed. Following 
the mystic trend of the present day towards 
supernatural matters, he was eminently 
successful with a novel, entitled “Visible 
and Invisible.” His new volume of tales 
will, assuredly, draw many readers into the 
circle of his numerous admirers of long 
standing.


